
Merton Council
Council  meeting
Membership
The Mayor: Councillor Brenda Fraser
The Deputy Mayor: Councillor Stan Anderson
Councillors: Agatha Mary Akyigyina, Stephen Alambritis, Mark Allison, Laxmi 
Attawar, Hamish Badenoch, John Bowcott, Mike Brunt, Michael Bull, Adam Bush, 
Tobin Byers, Charlie Chirico, David Chung, Caroline Cooper-Marbiah, Pauline 
Cowper, Stephen Crowe, Mary Curtin, David Dean, John Dehaney, Nick Draper, 
Edward Foley, Fidelis Gadzama, Ross Garrod, Suzanne Grocott, Jeff Hanna, Joan 
Henry, Daniel Holden, James Holmes, Janice Howard, Mary-Jane Jeanes, Abigail 
Jones, Philip Jones, Andrew Judge, Sally Kenny, Linda Kirby, Abdul Latif, Najeeb 
Latif, Brian Lewis-Lavender, Gilli Lewis-Lavender, Edith Macauley MBE, Russell 
Makin, Peter McCabe, Oonagh Moulton, Ian Munn BSc, MRTPI(Rtd), Katy Neep, 
Jerome Neil, Dennis Pearce, John Sargeant, Judy Saunders, David Simpson CBE, 
Marsie Skeete, Peter Southgate, Geraldine Stanford, Linda Taylor OBE, Imran 
Uddin, Gregory Patrick Udeh, Jill West, Martin Whelton and David Williams

Date: Wednesday 12 April 2017 
Time: 7.15 pm
Venue: Council chamber - Merton Civic Centre, London Road, 

Morden SM4 5DX
This is a public meeting and attendance by the public is encouraged and welcomed.  
For more information about the agenda please contact  
democratic.services@merton.gov.uk or telephone 020 8545 3616.

All Press contacts: press@merton.gov.uk, 020 8545 3181

mailto:press@merton.gov.uk


Council  meeting
12 April 2017 
1  Apologies for absence 

2  Declarations of Pecuniary Interest 

3  Minutes of the previous meeting 1 - 20

4  Announcements by the Mayor, Leader of the Council and Chief 
Executive 

5  Public questions to cabinet members
The questions and written responses will be circulated at the 
meeting.

6  Councillors' ordinary priority questions to cabinet members
The questions and written responses will be circulated at the 
meeting

7a  Strategic theme: Councillors' questions to cabinet members
The questions and written responses will be circulated at the 
meeting.

7b  Strategic theme: Main report 21 - 32

7c  Strategic theme: motions

8  Report from Raynes Park Community Forum 33 - 38

9  Report from Mitcham Community Forum 39 - 42

10  Report from Wimbledon Community Forum 43 - 44

11  Report from Morden Community Forum
TO FOLLOW

12  Conservative Motion 1 45 - 46

13  Equality Strategy 2017-21 47 - 76

14  Local Authority Property Company 77 - 260

15  Changes to membership of committees and related matters 261 - 
264

16  Petitions 265 - 
266

17  Business for the next ordinary meeting of the Council 



18  Morden Leisure Centre 267 - 
282

19  Exclusion of the public
To resolve that the press and public are excluded from the 
meeting during consideration of the following report on the 
grounds that it is exempt from disclosure for the reasons stated 
in the report.

20  Morden Leisure Centre - Appendix 2 283 - 
284

Note on declarations of interest

Members are advised to declare any Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in any matter to be considered at 
the meeting.  If a pecuniary interest is declared they should withdraw from the meeting room during 
the whole of the consideration of that mater and must not participate in any vote on that matter.  If  
members consider they should not participate because of a non-pecuniary interest which may give 
rise to a perception of bias, they should declare this, .withdraw and not participate in consideration of 
the item.  For further advice please speak with the Assistant Director of Corporate Governance.



This page is intentionally left blank



All minutes are draft until agreed at the next meeting of the committee/panel.  To find out the date of the next 
meeting please check the calendar of events at your local library or online at www.merton.gov.uk/committee.

1

COUNCIL
1 MARCH 2017
(7.15 pm - 9.55 pm)
PRESENT The Mayor, Councillor Brenda Fraser

The Deputy Mayor, Councillor Stan Anderson 

Councillors Agatha Mary Akyigyina, Stephen Alambritis, 
Mark Allison, Laxmi Attawar, Hamish Badenoch, John Bowcott, 
Michael Bull, Adam Bush, Mike Brunt, Tobin Byers, 
Charlie Chirico, David Chung, Caroline Cooper-Marbiah, 
Pauline Cowper, Stephen Crowe, Mary Curtin, David Dean, 
John Dehaney, Nick Draper, Edward Foley, Fidelis Gadzama, 
Ross Garrod, Suzanne Grocott, Jeff Hanna, Joan Henry, 
Daniel Holden, James Holmes, Janice Howard, Mary-
Jane Jeanes, Abigail Jones, Philip Jones, Andrew Judge, 
Sally Kenny, Linda Kirby, Abdul Latif, Najeeb Latif, Brian Lewis-
Lavender, Gilli Lewis-Lavender, Edith Macauley, Russell Makin, 
Peter McCabe, Oonagh Moulton, Ian Munn, Katy Neep, 
Jerome Neil, Dennis Pearce, John Sargeant, Judy Saunders, 
David Simpson, Marsie Skeete,  Peter Southgate, 
Geraldine Stanford, Linda Taylor, Imran Uddin, Gregory Udeh, 
Jill West, Martin Whelton and David Williams

1 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE (Agenda Item 1)

There were no apologies for absence.

2 DECLARATIONS OF PECUNIARY INTEREST (Agenda Item 2)

Councillor Russell Makin declared a non-pecuniary interest as he is a trustee of 
Merton Community Transport. 

3 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING (Agenda Item 3)

RESOLVED: That the minutes of the special meeting and ordinary meeting held on 1 
February 2017 are agreed as an accurate record.

4 BUSINESS PLAN 2017-21 (Agenda Item 4)

The Mayor outlined the procedure for this Budget Council meeting. She also 
reminded the Council that all budget related decisions, including proposed 
amendments, were required to be recorded within the minutes with a list of the 
names of those who voted for or against the decision or who abstained from voting. 
To accommodate that, a roll call vote would be taken for the substantive budget 
motion or any amendments to it. 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3

http://www.merton.gov.uk/committee


2

At the invitation of the Mayor, the Director of Corporate Services presented the 
Business Plan 2017-2021.  The Director then responded to questions from 
Councillors Pauline Cowper, David Williams, Judy Saunders, Brian Lewis-Lavender, 
Peter Southgate, Joan Henry, Janice Howard, Russell Makin, Stephen Crowe, Linda 
Kirby, David Simpson, Jill West, Gilli Lewis-Lavender, Daniel Holden, and Suzanne 
Grocott. 
 
The Leader of the Council presented the Business Plan 2017-21and formally moved 
the recommendations in the report whilst making his budget speech to Council, a 
copy of which is appended to the minutes as Appendix A.
 
Councillor Tobin Byers formally seconded the recommendations, and reserved his 
right to speak. 

The Mayor then invited the oppositions Group Leaders in turn to respond to the 
Budget proposal and the Business Plan.
 
The Leader of the Conservative Group, Councillor Oonagh Moulton addressed the 
meeting and her speech is attached to the minutes, as Appendix B. As part of her 
speech, she presented the proposed amendment to the Business Plan 2017-21.
 
The Leader of the Merton Park Ward Independent Residents Group, Councillor Peter 
Southgate, addressed the meeting and his speech is attached to the minutes, as 
Appendix C.

The following members of the Cabinet addressed the meeting:   Councillors Mark 
Allison, Katy Neep, Ross Garrod and Caroline Cooper-Marbiah.

The Mayor then invited members to move proposed amendments to the Business 
Plan.

Councillor Oonagh Moulton moved the Conservative amendment which was 
seconded by Councillor David Williams.

Councillor Mary-Jane Jeanes moved the Liberal Democrat amendment 1.  The 
amendment was not seconded.

Councillor Mary-Jane Jeanes moved the Liberal Democrat amendment 2.  The 
amendment was not seconded.

The Mayor then opened up the general debate on the proposed amendment and on 
the proposed substantive Business Plan.  The following members spoke in the 
debate:  Councillors Peter McCabe, David Williams, Abigail Jones, Suzanne Grocott, 

Page 2



3

Jerome Neil, Najeeb Latif, John Dehaney, John Bowcott, Mary Curtin, David 
Simpson, Laxmi Attawar, Mary-Jane Jeanes, Mike Brunt, Daniel Holden, Sally 
Kenny, James Holmes, Agatha Akyigina, Adam Bush, Martin Whelton, Charlie 
Chirico, Judy Saunders, Hamish Badenoch, Imran Uddin and, finally, Tobin Byers.

At the conclusion of the debate, the Mayor called for a roll-call vote on the 
Conservative amendment to the Business Plan 2017-2021.  Voting was as follows:

Votes in favour:  Councillors Hamish Badenoch, John Bowcott, Michael Bull, Adam 
Bush, Charlie Chrico, Stephen Crowe, David Dean, Suzanne Grocott, Joan Henry, 
Daniel Holden, James Holmes, Janice Howard, Abdul Latif, Najeeb Latif, Brian 
Lewis-Lavender, Gilli Lewis-Lavender, Oonagh Moulton, David Simpson, Linda 
Taylor, Jill West, David Williams (21).

Votes against:  Councillors Agatha Akyigyina, Stephen Alambritis, Mark Allison, Stan 
Anderson, Laxmi Attawar, Mike Brunt, Tobin Byers, David Chung, Caroline Cooper-
Marbiah, Pauline Cowper, Mary Curtin, John Dehaney, Nick Draper, Brenda Fraser, 
Fidelis Gadzama, Ross Garrod, Jeff Hanna, Mary Jane-Jeanes, Abigail Jones, Philip 
Jones, Andrew Judge, Sally Kenny, Linda Kirby, Edith Macauley, Russell Makin, 
Peter McCabe, Ian Munn, Katy Neep, Jerome Neil, Dennis Pearce, Judy Saunders, 
Marsie Skeete, Geraldine Stanford, Imran Uddin, Gregory Udeh, Martin Whelton (36)

Not voting: Councillors Edward Foley, John Sargeant, Peter Southgate (3).

The Mayor declared the amendment to be lost. 

The Mayor then called for a roll-call vote on the substantive motion for the Business 
Plan 2017-21.  Voting was as follows:

Votes in favour:  Councillors Agatha Akyigyina, Stephen Alambritis, Mark Allison, 
Stan Anderson, Laxmi Attawar, Mike Brunt, Tobin Byers, David Chung, Caroline 
Cooper-Marbiah, Pauline Cowper, Mary Curtin, John Dehaney, Nick Draper, Brenda 
Fraser, Edward Foley, Fidelis Gadzama, Ross Garrod, Jeff Hanna, Joan Henry, 
Abigail Jones, Philip Jones, Andrew Judge, Sally Kenny, Linda Kirby, Edith 
Macauley, Russell Makin, Peter McCabe, Ian Munn, Katy Neep, Jerome Neil, Dennis 
Pearce, John Sargeant, Judy Saunders, Marsie Skeete, Peter Southgate, Geraldine 
Stanford, Imran Uddin, Gregory Udeh, Martin Whelton (39).

Not voting: Councillors Hamish Badenoch, John Bowcott, Michael Bull, Adam Bush, 
Charlie Chrico, Stephen Crowe, David Dean, Suzanne Grocott, Daniel Holden, 
James Holmes, Janice Howard, Mary-Jane Jeanes, Abdul Latif, Najeeb Latif, Brian 
Lewis-Lavender, Gilli Lewis-Lavender, Oonagh Moulton, David Simpson, Linda 
Taylor, Jill West, David Williams  (21). 

Page 3



4

RESOLVED:  That the Council agrees the Business Plan 2017-21 including:

A. the General Fund Budget;
B. the Council Tax Strategy for 2017/18 equating to a Band D Council 

Tax of £1,135.31, which is an increase of 3% for Adult Social Care 
flexibility;

C. the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) for 2017-2021;
D. the Capital Investment Programme (as detailed in Annex 1 to the 

Capital Strategy);
E. the Capital Strategy (Section 4)
F. the Treasury Management Strategy (Section 5), including the 

detailed recommendations in that Section , incorporating the 
Prudential Indicators as set out in this report; 

And agrees the formal resolutions as set out in Appendix 1 to the report, 
as follows:

Revenue Report:

1. Members consider the views of the Overview and Scrutiny Commission set 
out in a report to Cabinet on 13 February 2017 (agenda Item 6), and 
approve the proposed budget for 2017/18 set out in Section 2 of the 
revenue report, together with the proposed Council Tax levy in 2017/18.

2. That it be noted that at its meeting on 12 December 2016  the Cabinet 
calculated its Council Tax Base for the year as 72,442.3 in accordance 
with regulation 3 of the Local Authorities (Calculation of Council Tax Base) 
Regulations 2012(SI 2012: 2914).

3. That it be noted that the Cabinet calculated the Wimbledon and Putney 
Commons Conservators (WPCC) Tax Base for the year as 11,131.2 in 
accordance with regulation 6 of the Regulations, as the amounts of its 
Council Tax base for the year for dwellings in those parts of its area to which 
one or more special items relate.

4. That the Council agrees 4(a) - 4(i) below, which are calculated in accordance 
with Section 31A to 49B of the Localism Act 2011, amending Section 32 of 
the Local Government Finance Act 1992.

a) being the aggregate of the amounts which the Council estimates for 
the items set out in Section 31A (2) (a) to (f) of the Act

Page 4



5

£m
Gross Revenue Expenditure of Service Committees
Corporate Provisions
Amounts Payable to the Levying Bodies 
Contribution to/(from) Financial Reserves 
Gross Expenditure

522.984
0.317
0.933 

(3.533)
520.701

b) being the aggregate of the amounts which the Council estimates for 
the items set out in Section 31A (3) (a) to (d) of the Act

£m
Gross Income 438.138

c) being the amount by which the aggregate at 4(a) above exceeds the 
aggregate at 4(b) above, calculated by the Council, in accordance 
with Section 31(4) of the Act, as its Council Tax Requirement for the 
year

£m
Council Tax Requirement for the Council’s own purposes
for 2017/18 (including special expenses re WPCC)

82.563

d) being the aggregate of the sums which the Council estimates will 
be payable for the year into its General Fund in respect of 
revenue support grant, and baseline funding (NNDR) to constitute 
the Council’s formula grant

£m
Revenue Support Grant including Transition Grant
Baseline funding NNDR inc. top-up & Section 31 Grant

15.520
36.518

Settlement Funding Assessment 52.038

e) being the amount at 4(c) above, divided by the amount for Council 
Tax Base at 2 above,  calculated by the Council above, in 
accordance with Section 31B of the Act as the basic amount of its 
Council Tax for the year (including special items (WPCC)).

£
Merton’s General Band D Council Tax Levy (including
properties within Wimbledon and Putney Commons
Conservators area)

1,139.71

f)     being the aggregate amount of all special items referred to in Section 
34(1) of the Act

Page 5



6

£
Wimbledon and Putney Commons Conservators
Special Levy

318,443

g)  being the amount at 4(e) above, less the result given by dividing the 
amount at 4(f) above by the amount  of the Council Tax Base at 2 
above in accordance with Section 34 (2) of the Act, as the basic 
amount of its Council Tax for the year for dwellings in those parts of 
its area to which no special items (WPCC special levy) relates.

£
Merton’s General Band D Council Tax Levy
(excluding WPCC)

1,135.31

h)  being the amounts given by adding to the amount at 4(g) above, the 
amounts of the special item or items relating to dwellings in the area 
of Wimbledon and Putney Commons Conservators (WPCC) 
mentioned above at 4(f) divided by the amount at 3 above, 
calculated in accordance with Section 34(1) of the Act, as the basic 
amounts of its Council Tax for the year for dwellings in the area of 
WPCC.

£
Wimbledon and Putney Commons Conservators
Band D

1,163.92

i)  being the amounts given by multiplying the amounts at 4(g) and 4(h) 
above by the number which, in the proportion set out in Section 5(1) of 
the Act, is applicable to dwellings listed in a particular valuation band 
divided by the number which in that proportion is applicable to dwellings 
listed in valuation band D, calculated by the Council, in accordance with 
Section 30 and 36 of the Local Government Finance Act  1992, as the 
amounts to be taken into account for the year in respect of categories of 
dwellings listed in different valuation bands.

Valuation Bands

Part of the 
Councils 
Area

A
£

756.87

B
£

883.02

C
£

1,009.16

D
£

1,135.31

E
£

1,387.60

F
£

1,639.89

G
£

1,892.18

H
£

2,270.62

Parts inc.
WPCC

775.95 905.27 1,034.60 1,163.92 1,422.57 1,681.22 1,939.87 2,327.84

5.  To note that the Greater London Authority have issued precepts o the Council in 
accordance with Section 40 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 for each 
category of dwellings in the Council’s area as indicated in the table below, and 

Page 6



7

that the Council agrees the Council Tax levy for 2017/18 by taking the aggregate 
of 4(i) above and the Greater London Authority precept.

Valuation Bands
A
£

B
£

C
£

D
£

E
£

F
£

G
£

H
£

Precepting
Authority
G L A 186.68 217.79 248.91 280.02 342.25 404.47 466.70 560.04

For information purposes this would result in the following Council Tax Levy for 
Merton residents:

Valuation Bands

Part of 
the

Council’s
Area

A
£

943.55

B
£

1,100.81

C
£

1,258.07

D
£

1,415.33

E
£

1,729.85

F
£

2,044.36

G
£

2,358.88

H
£

2,830.66

Parts inc.
WPCC

962.63 1,123.06 1,283.51 1,443.94 1,764.82 2,085.69 2,406.57 2,887.88

Page 7



8

Appendix A:  Leader of the Council, Councillor Stephen Alambritis’ Speech 

Madam Mayor

This year’s budget is full of help and hope for our residents 

Help and hope for all parts of this great borough of ours

Help and hope for all our people be they from the West, East, North or South of 
Merton  

In numbers this budget gives help and hope to all 200,000 residents living in over 
80,000 households served by around 7,000 enterprises 

Wherever you live in Merton, whatever you do in Merton this is a budget for you

A budget for everyone and a budget for a better brighter future in these hard times

Madam Mayor

I therefore move the business plan and the budget proposals as set out in 
Recommendation 1 with particular reference to the formal Resolutions as set out in 
Appendix 1 to the Report before us tonight

In doing so I want to single out a few people for special thanks
Cllr Mark Allison my deputy leader and cabinet member for finance 

All councillors who chair and who sit on our scrutiny panels.  We have as always 
listened to suggestions from scrutiny members 

Thanks also go to Cllr Peter Southgate the chair of scrutiny

To my cabinet members and to all councillors on this side of the chamber 

To Cllr Oonagh Moulton and to all her councillors on that side of the chamber 

And can I also thank our Liberal friends here in Merton represented by the one and 
only Cllr Mary-Jane Jeanes!

We are as always grateful to Ged Curran, to our directors and staff.  And a really big 
thank you to Caroline Holland

Madam Mayor

Each year we have a duty to balance the budget

We have done so in the past we do so tonight and will continue to do so in the future

Page 8



9

Now we all know that councils get much of their funding from central government 

And that funding has been cut to local authorities by as much as 50 per cent 
Not only that but this year we are being cut while the Treasury promise to send more 
money to their chums in Surrey

A sweetheart deal for Surrey Council is in the offing

The leader there was intent on calling a Referendum to hike the council tax by  15% 
to pay for ASC

But lo and behold the Referendum is now called off 

How do we know this?

In an exchange of text messages between the Leader of Surrey and the Treasury, 
Surrey’s Leader texted this:

“The numbers you indicated are the numbers I understand are acceptable for me to 
call off the R…”

What does R stand for you may ask?

Well it stands for Referendum….a Referendum he is now calling off because of his 
very own sweetheart deal

So to the councillors opposite I say this…. “Where is our sweetheart deal?”

Madam Mayor

In Merton we think it is important to look after older disabled residents
So, despite the government’s cuts to our funding, we have agreed to spend over £9 
million extra on adult social care in the coming year with further investment in the 
following years 

Here I would like to thank Cllr Tobin Byers 

Now the Government have not given us any extra money to help pay for ASC
Instead they have created a new council tax increase they call a “precept” which they 
expect all councils to charge

So Merton’s core element of the council tax remains frozen for the seventh year 
running 

But council tax bills will increase by the government’s special 3% precept for ASC
This will still not be enough to address the crisis in ASC

We will be lobbying the government hard to face up to their responsibility to properly 
fund the  adult social care system

Page 9



10

Madam Mayor 

In addition to looking after those relying on our ASC services we also need to look 
after the children of this borough and here I want to thank Cllr Katy Neep

This Budget will see £1million of growth for Children’s Services in the coming year

Cllr Neep has also overseen Merton welcoming twenty unaccompanied asylum 
seeking children from all over the world 

Merton has also been a refugee meeting point, reuniting thirty  refugees with their 
families who live outside the borough

Madam Mayor

We on this side of the chamber appreciate that whatever way people voted in last 
year’s EU Referendum, many people will be worried about how Brexit will affect their 
families’ finances

That is why we think any council tax increases should be reasonable and affordable 

Again, we on this side of the chamber do not want to make things harder for families 
in Merton, especially those who live in the less well off parts of the borough

There are also those people worrying about changes in benefits

There are stories in the press about how council tax benefit for people on low 
incomes has been cut, and some people unable to pay as a result

So I am pleased to announce that for the fifth year running, Merton Council will not be 
passing this cut on to people on low income in this way 

A measure welcomed by the leading charity the Child Poverty Action Group, a charity 
urging other councils to follow Merton’s example

So Madam Mayor, what do the party opposite say about all this?  Nothing apart from 
tabling an amendment tonight to undo our support for those on low pay 

Their  amendment talks about passporting onto poorer  households a 10% hike in 
their council tax payments

Why punish households on low income I ask?

Madam Mayor

This budget also means we are able to build a brand new  comprehensive secondary 
school in the very centre of the borough in South Wimbledon to meet demand for 
places

Page 10



11

Here I want to thank Cllr Caroline Cooper Marbiah 

Caroline is also working with all our heads and governors to join with us in lobbying 
the Tories who are busy cutting funding to our schools

The government’s new funding system for schools will see a loss of about £210 per 
pupil in Merton according to London Councils research

Perhaps the side opposite will care to go to a brilliant website: “Fair Funding For All 
Schools”.  There they can download a model MP letter they may care to send to 
Stephen Hammond to put a stop to these unnecessary cuts in funding to our schools

Madam Mayor

Now we know the Member for Wimbledon has a soft spot for the Village but does he 
have empathy for the businesses there  

It does not seem so because his own Ministers are rejecting demands for a rethink of 
recent business rate hikes 

This despite warnings they could destroy local business communities throughout the 
country

Madam Mayor

We in Labour Merton are doing our best to protect SME’s from the ravages of the 
Government’s new rates system

Here I would like to thank Cllr Martin Whelton  who overseas our small business rate 
relief scheme

Who has also ensured the operation of  a special local rate discount scheme to help 
new businesses 

We will of course soon have one new commercial ratepayer when AFC Wimbledon 
return to Plough Lane 

Thanks again  to Martin for keeping everyone’s eye on the ball in this endeavour so 
the stadium is on course

Madam Mayor

Small businesses operate better in a safer environment and many rely on our public 
realm cameras to ensure a safe shopping experience for their customers

And so it is satisfying that we remain one of the safest boroughs in London 
Thanks here are due to Cllr Edith Macauley and her work with Safer Merton. 

Page 11



12

This budget means we continue to maintain a 24/7 CCTV service while other 
boroughs are reducing their coverage 

We have also invested in moving from analogue to digital cameras

So a budget for investment 

Investment also in our Libraries with Colliers Wood’s new library on track to open this 
summer 

Here I want to thank Cllr Nick Draper who has gone out of his way to garner 
residents’ views to define the facilities the library will contain
 
Merton residents, school pupils and college students are set to enjoy three levels of 
brand new library space in their new building

Cllr Draper is also pioneering a new leisure centre in Morden, replacing the current 
expensive building with a new affordable pool that will also cost less to run and to 
look after

Madam Mayor

With continued pressure on budgets I now want to turn to Cllr Ross Garrod.  
I want to commend him on finding new ways of delivering cleaner streets, waste and 
recycling collections and green spaces to a continued high standard but at a lower 
cost

By working with other neighbouring councils in the areas highlighted above we will be 
saving Merton Council taxpayers an estimated £2million a year

Madam Mayor

As I come to the end of my speech, let us not forget the stunning Capital programme 
of £40million to include investment for the long term in our roads, roadways, bridges 
and the expansion of our Special Educational Needs schools

Madam Mayor

Let me  mention again growth monies in the coming year 

£9million for ASC

£1million for Town Centre Regeneration 

£1million for Children’s Services

Madam Mayor

I commend this budget to the chamber

Page 12



13

Appendix B:  Leader of the Opposition, Councillor Oonagh Moulton’s speech

Thank you, Madam Mayor,

If a week is a long time in politics, a year must be an eternity. It certainly feels longer 
than 12 months since we all sat here listening to the following words: 

“In Labour we believe in straight talking, honest politics

We made a promise and we are sticking to it”

Yes, that really was the Leader of the Council speaking! The same Cllr Alambritis 
talking about ‘honest politics’ who is currently under two independent investigations 
at taxpayers’ expense. 

But the challenge is knowing which Labour promise the Leader was referring to. It’s 
been hard to keep up with his plethora of broken manifesto commitments over the 
last year:

First they voted to introduce fortnightly rubbish collections…..despite pledging to 
protect the weekly bin collection. 

Then they pushed through big rises in the cost of parking permits for the owners of 
diesel vehicles…..despite saying they would freeze parking permits for 4 years. 

And now their promise to freeze council tax for 4 years is another promise lying in 
tatters.    

Labour may of course claim it’s a precept and not a council tax rise.  But if they said 
raising an Adult Social Care precept constituted a council tax rise in March 2016 then 
it must also be a council tax rise now. To claim otherwise would be  beyond even Cllr 
Alambritis’ capabilities in the art of spin.  

We may now inhabit a ‘post truth’ world but that would be taking ‘alternative facts’ to 
the extreme!

And the new Mayor of London is no better with his series of broken election pledges 
since last May.

When it comes to ‘straight talking, honest politics’, Labour time and again simply can’t 
be trusted. 

As this tired administration limps on, Cllr Alambritis’ colleagues must be ruing that 
day last year when they decided against levying a precept for 2016-17. Who would 
have thought it would set off such a chain of events? A resignation, two suspensions, 
two investigations and a bogus council tax consultation for a start. 

Page 13



14

It sounds like a classic British Carry On comedy but there’s nothing funny about this 
situation. Or for the residents bearing the brunt of Labour’s financial incompetence: 

 For the vulnerable residents no longer able to attend their local day centre 

 For the older people who rely on meals on wheels.

 For the carers crying out for occasional respite from looking after their loved 
one. 

We met with the Merton Centre for Independent Living recently.  They have big fears 
about sustainable funding for Adult Social Care over the medium to long term. Yet, 
under Labour since 2010 there has been no plan. More worryingly there is still no 
plan for the future.  

Labour’s only answer is to lambast our national government and seek to lay sole 
responsibility for its own problems at the door of 10 Downing Street. Yet, this same 
government is dealing with the record deficit left by their Labour colleagues whilst 
having also:

 Delivered faster economic growth in 2016 than any other major advanced 
economy;

 Got more people into work than ever before;

 Taken the lowest paid out of income tax; and

 Implemented a new National Living Wage.

Of course national government has an important role in ensuring adequate funding to 
support Adult Social Care services here and across the country.  Conservative 
colleagues and I on the O&S Commission fully supported the recommendations to 
Cabinet on lobbying government. 

So, let me be very clear. We on this side are very happy to play our part in lobbying 
the government for a better settlement for Merton. Indeed we have been doing so 
both through our excellent local MP, Stephen Hammond, as well as via the LGA and 
London Councils. 

Whilst we do need a better government settlement, this does not explain the dire 
state of Merton Council’s finances. Uncertainty around Adult Social Care has been 
exacerbated by Labour’s poor financial management. Many of the problems they face 
today are of their own making.

The council’s finances are on a cliff edge. There is a serious risk that this authority 
could go bust in the next year or two. That would be catastrophic not only for all those 
vulnerable residents who rely on the council’s frontline services but also for every 
Merton taxpayer who would inevitably have to pick up the pieces. 

Page 14



15

Merton Labour have consistently under budgeted for Adult Social Care. This year’s 
overspend for that service alone is currently £8.3million. Yet despite significant 
overspends, Labour have imposed cut after cut in recent years despite knowing they 
were unlikely ever to be delivered. 

Cllr Alambritis and Cllr Allison’s approach has been utterly incoherent just as it has 
on council tax and balances and reserves. The only lense through which they have 
looked at the council’s finances is political expediency.  Every financial parameter 
has been ignored. 

They have known for some time what support to expect from central government in 
the coming years but have been in complete denial. 

The Director of Corporate Services has confirmed that this council could have had an 
additional £22million to fund frontline services if a different approach had been taken 
to council tax. Labour chose not to. 

Just as they chose not to levy the Adult Social Care precept last year even though it 
would not have cost council taxpayers a penny more on their bills. Indeed Merton 
was among just a small handful of councils across the whole country who didn’t do 
so. 

Only in January this year did Labour realise these past decisions had come back to 
roost. Now as well as a 3% precept, Merton residents will be hit with a double Labour 
whammy as Mayor Sadiq Khan’s element of the council tax is also going up. 

In fact if you happen to own a diesel vehicle, it’s a triple whammy as your diesel levy 
demands from Labour will be landing on the doormat this April too.

Labour’s record on managing council balances and reserves is no better. In their first 
6 years they stashed away £26million of council tax income. Money which should 
have been left in residents’ pockets or used to protect services for the vulnerable and 
elderly.

Having first pocketed residents’ money, they now plan on emptying out some 
£20million over the next 2 years to plug the gaping hole in their budget. 

A financially competent administration would use balances to smooth budgets from 
one year to the next. To spend almost all of them in just 2 years is highly 
irresponsible not least when the Director has confirmed it would leave Merton with 
the lowest level of balances she could legally agree to.

But the pain doesn’t stop there. Unless the Social Care precept is levied again in 
2018-19, next year’s budget hole will be £8.5million but with nothing left in the coffers 
to fill the gap. 

And Labour can’t rely on efficiency savings or revenue raising measures to solve 
their budget crisis. The Deloitte report commissioned by Cllr Williams during the last 

Page 15



16

Conservative administration may have seen them through the first few years since 
2010. However, now that’s been exhausted Cllr Allison seems devoid of new ideas of 
his own. 

Like the helpful opposition we are, Conservatives have suggested various 
commercial revenue raising measures via the scrutiny process. Many have even 
been agreed by Cabinet and yet, as Cllr Holmes will highlight, in almost all cases 
they have not been implemented. Millions of pounds of potential income for this 
council have been squandered. 

Even where Labour have sought to transform service delivery and release savings, 
they have been unsuccessful:

The Customer Contact Programme – DELAYED indefinitely

Or Automatic Number Plate Recognition where the software is yet to be fully 
functional 8 months after the go-live date

Thousands of pounds lost from botched attempts to hold music events in Wimbledon 
Park and a further £150,000 wasted on a masterplan….just to agree virtually no 
change!

And of course Morden Park Pool is so many years’ delayed now that residents must 
be wondering if it will ever really happen! 

Finally the famous Phase C contract where costs rocket month on month whilst 
projected savings shrink. With the council now picking up the entire cost of employer 
pension contributions for all outsourced staff, the contractors must be laughing all the 
way to the bank.

If you ran a business like this, it would be bankrupt. Just like the country was in 2010 
after 13 years of Labour. Indeed, when we win back control in Merton next year, I 
expect to find on Cllr Alambritis’ desk the note Liam Byrne so famously left for his 
successor:

“I'm afraid there is no money. Good luck!"

Labour have learnt nothing from their time in government nor from their previous 
administrations in Merton. It was the same 15 years ago when there was no more 
than a few thousand pounds in the council coffers. The same when Cllr Brunt 
increased council tax by 12.8% over 2 years or Cllr Jones by 12% in just 1 year. And 
the same when Cllr Judge left a £5.5million black hole in the Adult Social Care 
budget. 

It’s the same cycle of financial mismanagement in which our elderly, disabled and 
youngest residents ultimately suffer. Labour can’t be trusted with the finances so it 
falls to the Conservatives to come to the rescue. That’s why our amendment tonight 
sets out a new approach. 

Page 16



17

Madam Mayor, there is a better way. And Merton’s residents certainly deserve better: 
- A council that works for everyone!

I move our amendment.

Page 17



18

Appendix C:  Leader of the Merton Park Independent Residents, Councillor 
Peter Southgate’s speech

In contrast to the drama of last year’s budget meeting, with its eleventh hour 
agreement to hold a consultation on whether council tax should increase to fund 
Adult Social Care, the progress towards tonight’s meeting has been quite orderly.  
There seems to be a consensus around levying the ASC precept at 3%, the 
permitted maximum for the next two years.

Levying the precept became inevitable once the scale of the overspend in Adult Care 
was recognised as permanent and irreversible.  The signs had been there for some 
years in the demographic changes we’re all familiar with; people are living much 
longer, and needing more complex care in their final years.  But for some years the 
implications were concealed by underspends elsewhere.

All that’s changed now.  Care homes are no longer willing to freeze fees for local 
authorities, and some are exiting the market; witness this morning’s news that Mitie 
has sold its care homes for just £2.  But as we place more emphasis on supporting 
the elderly to continue living in their own homes, it becomes apparent that for those 
with complex needs, the costs of day and night care packages can be very high 
indeed, probably exceeding the costs of residential care.  Right sizing the budget for 
adult social care is a welcome development, but money alone will not solve the 
problem, we need more radical solutions that involve the wider community.  In this 
context I’ve asked the Healthier Communities panel to look into Homeshare, a 
scheme that matches elderly people living alone in a home bigger than they need, 
with young workers looking for a room but unable to pay London rents, in exchange 
for companionship and 10 hours help a week.  This stops short of formal care, but 
equally it could delay its onset.  Local authorities cannot be expected to meet the full 
costs of adult care alone, and we hope the Chancellor will recognise this when he 
delivers his budget next week. 

But for the time being we have to look to our own resources to fund the budget gap in 
future years, £3.5m in 2018/19 and £9.7m in 2019/20.  Thereafter we’re investing our 
expectations in the 100% retention of business rates, and we should definitely be 
accepting the government’s invitation to become a pilot authority in 2018/19.  If it’s 
good enough for Surrey County Council, it’s good enough for Merton.

You will remember that we favoured introducing the ASC precept last year. Had we 
increased council tax by the maximum amount permitted last year, and were we to do 
so again this year and next year, we would have raised the council tax base by 
£6.5m which would take us two thirds of the way towards closing the £9.7m gap in 
2019/20.  Now we failed to do that last year, and we’re not going to propose an 
amendment to increase council tax by the maximum amount permitted for next year, 
because I know it would not be supported.

But the choices we have to make are becoming more difficult all the time, and we 
don’t want to be reduced to providing only statutory services like adult care.  What 
defines Merton as a place, what makes our residents pleased they chose to live here, 

Page 18



19

are our universal services – our thriving libraries, our parks and open spaces, and our 
leisure centres including the new Morden Park Pool.  These are the things that make 
us proud and set Merton apart, but they’re also discretionary services.  Should it 
become necessary, I would have thought that 2% on council tax was a price worth 
paying to keep such valuable assets.

I’m sorry that I’ve not left sufficient time to do justice to the Conservative amendment, 
which contains many interesting ideas – but not enough I’m afraid, for us to feel fully 
confident in supporting it.  Overall we don’t think it’s wise to fetter Cabinet by 
imposing an overly prescriptive approach to the budget setting process, and the core 
principles applicable in 2017/18 may not survive to later years.

Do we really want to commit to raising fees for parking permits every year? – that’s 
going to be mightily unpopular.

“Everyone should pay something” towards their council tax sounds fine in principle, 
but the practical experience of councils like Brent and Lewisham when trying to 
collect suggests otherwise.

There are some really strong ideas here, but we’ve already got the structures in 
scrutiny to progress them, notably the Financial Monitoring Task Group.

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



Committee: Full Council
Date: 12th April 2017
Wards: All

Subject: Strategic Theme Report - Sustainable Travel 
Lead officer: Director for Environment and Regeneration - Chris Lee 
Lead member: Cabinet Member for Regeneration, Environment and Housing - 
Councillor Martin Whelton.
Contact officer: Head of Future Merton - Paul McGarry

Recommendations: 
A. That Council considers the content of this report.

1 PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
1.1. At its meeting of March 2016 Council approved the Business Plan 2016-

2020.
1.2. The Business Plan represents the way in which the council will lead the 

delivery of the Community Plan via a number of thematic partnerships and 
strategic themes.

1.3. Each meeting of Council will receive a report updating on progress against 
one of these strategic themes. This report provides Council with an 
opportunity to consider progress against the priorities under the ‘Sustainable 
Travel” theme.

1.4. The ambition for the theme as outlined in the council’s Business Plan 2016-
20 is ‘to create a more sustainable borough, one which is less reliant on 
fossil fuel and which reduces its negative impact on the environment and 
climate change in particular”.
The portfolio holder is Councillor Martin Whelton. The Sustainable 
Communities Overview and Scrutiny Panel continues to exercise its 
statutory function.

2 DETAILS
2.1. The Council’s Future Merton team aims to proactively encourage more 

sustainable travel patterns through a variety of actions and physical 
measures both to the public realm and in partnership with public and private 
transport providers, TfL and internal and external partners. In addition, it is 
also responsible for ensuring the highway network is kept in a good state of 
repair within tight financial constraints.

2.2. This work covers a diverse assortment of delivery themes ranging in 
complexity from relatively simple road safety improvement schemes through 
to major regeneration projects, such as Mitcham town centre and 
partnership working on the development of major infrastructure projects. 

Page 21

Agenda Item 7b



2.3. In many schemes the council acts as a facilitating partner rather than project 
lead or key stakeholder as in the case of strategic transport projects of 
national importance, such as Crossrail 2. Even then the Council is required 
to develop parallel measures to help accommodate project aims. 

2.4. The following is a brief overview of a selection of sustainable travel initiatives 
currently being developed or delivered.
Crossrail2

2.5 Crossrail2 – Still in the development phase, the main tunnelled section of 
the route would operate between Wimbledon in the south and New 
Southgate and Tottenham Hale in the north, providing new interchanges 
with London Underground, Overground and National Rail services and 
Tramlink. Work could commence in the early 2020’s with completion in early 
2030’s. This project is seen as critical to meeting future capacity needs for 
London and wider southeast.

2.6 The focus of on-going discussions with TfL and Crossrail 2 has been to 
achieve the best possible outcome for Merton residents and businesses as 
well as meeting our growth expectation in Wimbledon town centre. Similarly, 
we continue to seek to protect interests and business within the Weir Road 
Industrial Estate, which has been identified as a possible train depot area 
and portal location.

2.7 We have been clear as a council that the original proposals for Wimbledon 
were unacceptable, and that any revised scheme needs to enhance 
business and retail in the town centre. On a cross-party basis 
representations were made on the need for changes and on the need to 
ensure that any revised scheme does not cause economic detriment to the 
borough.

2.8 The council have also strongly supported a station at Tooting Broadway 
instead of Balham as it will improve transport accessibility from the Mitcham 
and Colliers Wood area to central London along with providing relief to the 
Northern Line. It will also provide economic opportunities for the east of the 
borough by supporting business and helping to bring jobs to the borough.

2.9 TfL has been reviewing the business case for the project, details of which 
were submitted to the Department of Transport and HM Treasury in 2017. It 
is hoped that further government project support will be forthcoming in the 
coming months. Crossrail2 is expected to conduct further public consultation 
on the revised proposals later this year. Further information is available at 
crossrail2.co.uk/

2.10 In addition Merton Council supports the Mayor’s ambition for the 
‘metroisation’ of the over ground rail network.  The integration of over ground 
services in to the wider TFL network will increase the frequency of services 
and integrate them in to the wider TFL transport network.
Tramlink Extensions

2.11 The council has been working with Sutton Council and TfL to explore a 
number of separate work streams in relation to the viability of a new tram 
line between Wimbledon and Sutton.

Page 22



2.12 This included exploring innovative funding mechanisms, revisiting alignment 
options and how these might impact on regeneration projects at Morden 
town centre and High Path (via a South Wimbledon spur) so that 
opportunities to safeguard projects and improved public transport capacity is 
not lost. Consultation on the route was carried out by Merton and Sutton 
Councils on behalf of Transport for London in 2014 
http://www.merton.gov.uk/transport-streets/public-transport/trams.htm 

2.13 The council has also been liaising with TfL on how the existing tram network 
might develop across the wider south London sub-region including how this 
might align with Crossrail 2 proposals at Wimbledon.
Mitcham Town Centre

2.14 Construction work for the Rediscover Mitcham project commenced in 
January 2015 focusing on the new perimeter street around the Fair Green 
and improvement to the market area, with the refurbishment and relocation 
of the iconic clock tower. This stage was completed as an independent 
element of the project whilst approvals were being sought for the major 
changes to the surrounding road. 
http://www.merton.gov.uk/environment/regeneration/rediscovermitcham.htm

2.15 In August 2016, works commenced on the main objective of the project, to 
re-introduce all Mitcham bus routes directly through the Fair Green, with 
construction of the dedicated bus and cycle street. This involves alterations 
to all the surround signalised junctions to accommodate these changes and 
to improve the facilities for both pedestrians and cyclists.

2.16 The use of the bus street is planned to be in operation in August 2017, with 
the final remaining works on the major re-construction of the junction with 
Holborn Way and Western Road completed before Christmas 2017.
Morden Town Centre

2.17 The council successfully bid for Step 1 of Transport for London’s Major 
Schemes work in 2015 and is working closely with TfL to review and model a 
broad range of transport options to map out the optimum approach for 
delivering a better streetscape for the town centre, which recognises future 
transport aspirations and opportunities.

2.18 This includes exploring original ideas set out in Merton’s Core Planning 
Strategy for improving the look and feel of the town centre by relocating the 
bus standing area outside Morden Underground station to create a public 
space. This work is at an early stage and being undertaken in tandem with 
the moreMorden regeneration proposals. 
http://www.merton.gov.uk/environment/regeneration/moremorden.htm
Connecting Colliers Wood

2.19 As part of the aim to create a thriving, attractive and coherent Centre at 
Colliers Wood the Future Merton team - in conjunction with the 
redevelopment of the Brown and Root Tower, GLA and TfL - agreed a series 
of actions and measures to support this objective.

2.20 As public realm works draw to a close the full picture is now emerging 
including Christchurch Place Piazza creating an attractive public space 
between the bus interchange, Colliers Wood Station and Shopping parade.

Page 23



2.21 Baltic Close has been transformed into a pleasing public street and entrance 
way to the Wandle Park. De-cluttering and other streetscape improvement 
works and cycle facilities were also delivered along the High Street to the 
Wandle and Priory Centre. 
http://www.merton.gov.uk/environment/regeneration/connectingcollierswood.
htm
Cycling Initiatives
Croydon Road Shared Use Path

2.22 This facility was constructed alongside Croydon Road, Mitcham, between 
the roundabout with Carshalton Road and Redhouse Road. This path 
provides pedestrians and cyclists with a safe route in what was once a very 
hostile environment with no designated footpath. Footpath works have 
recently been completed at the Carshalton Road roundabout to make it 
shared space and further complement the Croydon Road footpath.
Quietways

2.23 Merton in partnership with Sustrans and TfL is delivering a programme of 
safe and direct cycling routes and infrastructure linking key destinations as 
part of the Mayor of London’s Vision for Cycling. 

2.24 Routes follow direct back-street routes, through parks, waterways and tree 
lined streets. The routes overcome barriers to cycling targeting less 
confident cyclists who want to use low traffic routes, while also providing for 
existing cyclists who want to travel at a gentler pace. 
http://www.merton.gov.uk/transport-streets/cycling/cyclequietways.htm
New Malden to Wimbledon

2.25 It is proposed to install a shared used path alongside the railway track 
between New Malden Railway Station and Taunton Avenue.  This involves 
working in partnership with the London Borough of Kingston. Works are 
expected to begin this year with Public Consultation planned to take place in 
June/July. Proposal to improve cycling permeability through Raynes Park 
town centre and feasibility are currently being finalised. Vegetation clearing 
works have taken place along the extents of the Railway Path between 
Raynes Park and Wimbledon to improve cycling permeability. 
Clapham Common to Wimbledon

2.26 The Merton section of this route focuses on the Wandle Trail between 
Trewint Street and Garfield Road Recreation Ground. Works are currently in 
progress to install lighting between Plough Lane and Trewint Street, Wandle 
Meadow Nature Reserve, and Garfield Road Recreation Ground. Existing 
footpaths at these locations will also be improved alongside bridge widening 
at the Wandle Meadow. All works are expected to be completed by May 
2017. 
Colliers Wood to Sutton via Morden

2.27 Planned to run alongside the Wandle Trail and through Morden Hall Park 
until it reaches Morden where it will then focus on quieter roads to reach its 
destination of Sutton Town Centre. Construction of the route is expected to 
be finished 2019 following consultation and detailed design. 

Page 24

http://www.merton.gov.uk/environment/regeneration/connectingcollierswood.htm
http://www.merton.gov.uk/environment/regeneration/connectingcollierswood.htm
http://www.merton.gov.uk/transport-streets/cycling/cyclequietways.htm


Colliers Wood to Wimbledon Chase
2.28 Route alignment is currently being developed for this Quietway.

Road Safety Schemes
Southey Road School Zone

2.29 This road safety scheme outside Pelham Primary School, South Wimbledon 
contains a mix of measures aimed at moderating driver behaviour and 
providing a safer environment for pupils and parents to cross in the road in 
the vicinity of the school gates including a new speed table, entry table, 
footway build-out, revised road marking/parking bays, school flashing signs 
and localised footway works. www.merton.gov.uk/transport-
streets/trafficmanagement.htm
Controlled Parking Zones

2.30 Due to continued pressure for on-street parking from commuters and night-
time leisure activities many residents find it impossible to park in their own 
streets. To deal with these concerns the council undertakes a wide-ranging 
programme of CPZ consultations where greater controls on residential 
parking  have been requested by petition from local residents.  Schemes are 
only taken forward in streets where a majority of residents are in support.

2.31 Over the past year schemes have been implemented in a number of areas 
and further schemes are in the process of being implemented. A number of 
consultations are on-going across the borough.  More information is 
available via http://www.merton.gov.uk/transport-streets/parking/cpz.htm.
Safety Schemes

2.32 Road safety schemes target the most vulnerable road users first, but also 
seek to educate motorists where appropriate. Measures undertaken include; 
new pedestrian crossings, signs and lines, speed advisory devices, anti-skid 
surfacing and kerbing works. 
The council was also compliant with the Freight Operators Recognition 
Scheme (FORS) with the inclusion of side safety guards and blind spot 
safety mirrors fitted to the fleet.

2.33 The Mayor of London’s vision for London seeks to adopt a ‘Vision Zero’ 
approach to road safety with reducing road danger as a core theme across 
transport policies.  Vision Zero means reducing the dominance of motor 
vehicles on our streets to minimise the dangers they pose to road users.
Merton supports this approach and will continue to deliver a broad range of 
casualty and road danger related schemes as a key thread of its Local 
Implementation Plan neighbourhoods delivery programme. More information 
is available via www.merton.gov.uk/transport-streets/trafficmanagement.htm 

Bus Stop accessibility
2.34 Merton has 398 bus stops across the borough. Work to make all of Merton’s 

bus stops fully accessibility to less abled people remains a primary objective. 
2.35 In partnership with London Buses over the past year we have continued to 

re-assess facilities to ensure they meet modern demands. This includes 

Page 25



ensuring kerb heights are correct (140mm), ensuring that the length of bus 
stop cages are sufficient to enable vehicles to pull in parallel to the kerbside, 
the footway condition is in a good state of repair and shelters condition. Over 
the past year improvements were undertaken at 15 sites to bring 41% of 
locations up to standard. 
Electric Vehicle Charging Points

2.36 To encourage the take up of cleaner vehicles to improve air quality the 
council is facilitating the roll out of charging infrastructure As there is no one-
size-fits-all when considering user needs, the Council is progressing a 
number of different infrastructure alternatives, principally fast chargers 
(charge time 3 – 4hours), rapid charges (charge time 15- 30 minutes) and 
socket networks for home charging (8-10hours charge time) with its 
partners.

2.37 In partnership with Bluepoint, we have helped to facilitate 19 (fast) on-street 
charging points at 9 locations, although 1 location is still subject to statutory 
public consultation. Once complete the council intends to proceed with a 
further batch of around 20 electric vehicle charging points in 2017/18.

2.38 Separately we are working with TfL to facilitate up to 10 rapid charge points. 
Site viability assessments are being actively progressed at a number of 
locations. At least two locations would be dedicated exclusively for taxis. 
The remaining sites would be open to all users and would include a “pay as 
you go” capability. 

2.39 TfL’s support team have put in place a procurement framework to assist 
boroughs. A number of planning, contractual and legal procedures still need 
to be followed before the new chargers can be installed. Support funding is 
available for some cabling and infrastructure works. Equipment would be 
provided at zero charge to the council with costs reclaimed through on-
going user charges. Contracts would run for a minimum 8-10 years.  

2.40 Finally the council is closely following trials of socket networks, which use 
smart cables to charge vehicles from existing street furniture and possible 
dedicated charge points for car cub bays. www.merton.gov.uk/transport-
streets/electric_charge_point_.htm
Reducing Congestion
Floating Car/point to point Clubs

2.41 The council is currently working with DriveNow and Zip Car to deliver floating 
car club schemes in partnership with Wandsworth and Lambeth. Both 
schemes are now expected to launch at the end of May/early June 2017 with 
around 200- 300 vehicles each across the 3 boroughs (140 vehicles are 
expected to be operating in Merton on a daily basis). The aim is that 15% of 
each fleet is all electric by the end of the 3 year contract period. This floating 
model is expected to drive car club growth across London and reduce car 
ownership.

2.42 Car Club memberships is expected to rise from around 200,000 today to 
over 1 million members by 2025. It is therefore not unreasonable to see 15% 
of vehicles in London being owned by car clubs by this time.

Page 26



2.43 Sitting alongside their electric vehicle charging infrastructure proposals a 
subsidiary of Bluepoint (blue city) are in early discussions to launch a 100% 
electric point to point to station or fixed one-way (vehicles can be returned to 
any designated space rather than the bay the vehicle was originally collected 
from) car club scheme in 2017/18.
ANPR

2.44 In 16/17 the council has successfully implemented the Automatic Number 
Plate Recognition (ANPR) system for enforcing moving traffic offences.  This 
is improving the way we keep traffic flowing by changing driver behaviour.

Cycle Hire/Sharing
2.45 Cycling is associated with a healthier life style, is pollution free and when 

motorists choose to give up their cars can help to reduce traffic congestion 
and reduce the need for large amounts of kerb space to be set aside for 
parking, which could otherwise be used to create more appealing streets It 
also supports wider travel behaviour changes.

2.46 TfL is looking to publish a bike sharing strategy in the near future, which will 
hopefully set out a coherent approach for the whole of London.

2.47 We are actively engaging with other boroughs, TfL, London Councils and 
operators to better understand how a scheme might operate in outer 
London through bike share.
Census Data

2.48 Based on 2011 census data, an average of 32% of all households do not 
own a private car. In some wards, such as Colliers Wood and Cricket Green, 
this rises to 44.1% and 42.8% respectively.  The lowest is Village Ward with 
16.2 %.  Data also shows that 3.7% of people travel to work in Merton by 
bike More information can be found on London’s datastore 
https://data.london.gov.uk/ 
Road and Footway Maintenance

2.49 The Council maintains around 362km of carriageway (34km of Principal 
Roads or A roads), 37km of Non-Principal Classified Roads (B and C roads) 
and 291km of Unclassified Roads.

2.50 Annually roads are prioritised for inclusion within Merton’s carriageway 
resurfacing programme against a range of criteria, such as Engineers 
Assessment, Condition Survey results, Road Classification and Safety. 

2.51 The latest Annual Local Authority Road Maintenance Survey 2017 
(ALARM2017), structural road condition report cited an 11% figure of roads 
in a ‘poor condition (London average of 16%). 
http://www.asphaltuk.org/alarm-survey-page/ 
The condition of the roads and footpaths that Merton is responsible for has 
been steadily improving over recent years although works remains to be 
done.  We will continue to lobby for further external funding to further 
improve the network. The graph below demonstrates the steady 
improvements -

Page 27

https://data.london.gov.uk/
http://www.asphaltuk.org/alarm-survey-page/


2.52 The council continues to promote and deliver a comprehensive package of 
schemes to promote sustainable travel options as well as ensuring the 
highway network is able to move people and goods around. However; the 
growth of London, in particular, the use of light goods vehicles is increasing 
as an issue. It is doubtful that increased demand for travel can be 
accommodated without modal shift to walking, cycling, car/ride sharing and 
public transport. 

3.0 Reports of the Sustainable Communities Overview and Scrutiny Panel
3.1 The Sustainable Communities Overview and Scrutiny Panel continues to

exercise its statutory function in relation to transport.
3.2 Cabinet Member priorities: the Cabinet Members for Regeneration,

Environment and Housing and Cleanliness and Parking have attended Panel 
meeting during this municipal year and to provide updates on their
responsibilities.  Issues that have been highlighted include keeping the traffic
flowing throughout the borough, addressing unsafe parking outside schools
and the impact Crossrail2 will have on the borough.

Page 28



3.3 Performance monitoring: reviewing the priorities for the Environment and
Regeneration Department as set for the next four years is an essential part 
of the Panel’s remit.  Performance monitoring information from the 
department is provided at each meeting.  This is presented by the Director 
and subject to scrutiny by members.  This has highlighted that the income 
for parking services was below target (the Panel has asked for a focus on 
this through an update report – see below) and that the proportion of PATAS 
cases won has improve.  Additionally, this shows that the number of days air 
quality in Merton exceeds the required benchmark is lower than the 
stipulated maximum.

3.4 Diesel Levy: Panel members were given the opportunity for pre-decision 
scrutiny of the aspiration to apply a diesel levy through resident parking 
permits.  Members were asked to comment on the principle of applying a 
levy on the most polluting vehicles through a differentiated cost for resident 
parking permits for diesel vehicles.  Additionally, they were asked to 
comment on the level of the surcharge to be applied.  Members 
recommended that officers consider how the levy be communicated to 
residents and that this not be applied without sufficient notice.  Additionally, 
that officers should understand more about the imposition of similar policies 
by other London boroughs, the variation in value and the extent to which 
these have and haven’t been successful.  Member feedback informed the 
officers’ report to Cabinet and the phasing in of the surcharge.  This decision 
was called-in and heard by the Overview and Scrutiny Commission (given 
the Sustainable Communities Panel had already considered this issue at 
pre-decision scrutiny stage).  The Commission was addressed by a 
representative from Transport and Travel Research Ltd, which has carried 
out extensive research on air quality across the country and worked with 
Transport for London and the GLA on the introduction of the Ultra Low 
Emission Zone.  The meeting decided not to refer the decision back to 
Cabinet and it took immediate effect.  It was noted that the impact of the 
surcharge would be reviewed by the Sustainable Communities Panel in 
approximately 12 to 15 months.  A subsequent call-in as a result of the 
Cabinet Member’s decision regarding the statutory consultation resulting 
from applying the surcharge was this time heard by the Sustainable 
Communities Panel.  This included a focus on application of the surcharge to 
teacher permits and permits for business and trade electric vehicles.  
Members of the Panel heard from a Federation of Small Businesses 
representative and a received a representation from a resident.  The Panel 
upheld the Cabinet Member’s decision which took effect immediately

3.5 Air quality task group: in addition to its consideration of the diesel levy, the 
Panel has decided to focus its task group capacity on consideration of other 
measures to improve air quality in Merton.  The terms of reference for this 
group are to review the Merton Air Quality Action Plan, looking specifically at 
planning, monitoring and enforcement and how to achieve the required 
targets in a cost effective way.  Additionally, it will advise on areas that may 
require future review in the field of air quality and consider how to improve 
strategic leadership for improving air quality across the South West London 
sub-region.  It is planned that the task group will provide a draft report to the 
Panel at its September 2017
meeting.

Page 29



3.6 Call-in of the Belvedere Road and Belvedere Grove Experimental width 
restriction review: the Panel heard a call-in of the experimental width 
restriction review which had determined that the width restriction should be 
removed.  This was a well attended meeting with representations made by 
the following resident associations (in addition to individual residents): 
Murray Road North, Belvedere Estate, New Belvedere Estate, Ridgeway 
Place and Community of Woodside Area.  Whilst the Panel decided not to 
refer the decision back to the Cabinet Member, it did provide a reference: 
‘The Sustainable Communities Overview and Scrutiny Panel recommends 
that the Cabinet Member for Regeneration, Environment and Housing 
considers the implementation of physical changes such as signage similar to 
the type already in place in other parts of the borough and improved junction 
treatment over an appropriate timescale so that the impact can be assessed 
when the traffic volume survey is carries out in 24 months”.  The Cabinet 
Member has reported back to the Panel that he is considering its reference.

3.7 Floating car club proposal: members have reviewed proposals for a floating 
car club.  This is characterised by cars being able to move freely around the 
borough using on-street rather than designated parking bays; a new form of 
parking permit will be required to make this feasible.  Members learned that 
the technical solution supporting the approach will notify drivers of allowed 
and restrict on-street parking areas building flexibility into the system.

3.8 Automatic Number Place Recognition: having monitored the performance of 
this new system since its installation at the beginning of the municipal year, 
the Panel took the opportunity to look at this in greater depth specifically 
focusing on how issues with its operation are being addressed.  Members 
were provided with much more detail about the system and heard how 
officers are working with the operator to optimise performance.

3.9 Public Transport Liaison Committee (PTLC):  the Panel has requested a 
meeting of the PTLC be convened which will happen in May 2017.  This will 
enable local people to meet Council staff, representatives from Transport for 
London and other transport operators and to have their say on what is being 
done to improve transport in Merton.

4. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS
Not applicable - this report is for information only 

5. CONSULTATION UNDERTAKEN OR PROPOSED
None for the purpose of this report.

6. TIMETABLE
Not applicable - this report is for information only

7. FINANCIAL, RESOURCE AND PROPERTY IMPLICATIONS
7.1 The Council invests £2.5 million annually in our planned maintenance 

programme for roads and footpaths.  Transport for London funding through its 

Page 30



Local Implementation Plan and other dedicated funding programmes support 
the delivery of many other aspects of Merton’s sustainable travel work 
programme.

8. LEGAL AND STATUTORY IMPLICATIONS
There are no specific legal or statutory implications arising from this information 
report 

9. HUMAN RIGHTS, EQUALITIES AND COMMUNITY COHESION 
IMPLICATIONS

9.1 There are no specific human rights, equalities or community cohesion 
implications arising from this information report.

9.2 Improving our streets can create more pleasurable neighbourhood, support 
healthier life styles and promote greater interaction thereby supporting wider 
community cohesion 

10. CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS
10.1 There are no specific crime and disorder implications arising from this 

information report.
10.2 Safer streets support a vibrant economy and healthier lifestyles where people 

feel better able to walk and cycle 

11 RISK MANAGEMENT AND HEALTH AND SAFETY IMPLICATIONS
11.1 None for the purpose of this report
11.2 Promoting modal shift towards more sustainable travel behaviours can 

promoting increased physical exercise through walking and cycling with well 
documented physical, mental health and wellbeing outcomes for the whole 
community, in particularly it can help to tackle obesity issues.

11.3 Reducing traffic dominance and encouraging realistic alternatives to private car 
ownership can help reduce traffic congestion have positive impact on poor air 
quality and the wider health for the community

12. APPENDICES – THE FOLLOWING DOCUMENTS ARE TO BE PUBLISHED 
WITH THIS REPORT AND FORM PART OF THE REPORT

12.1 None for the purpose of this report. 

13. BACKGROUND PAPERS
13.1 2016-2020 Council Business Plan

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Raynes Park Community Forum
Wednesday 8 March 2017

Chair’s Report

The meeting was held in Raynes Park Library Hall, and chaired by Councillor Gilli 
Lewis-Lavender, with Chris Edge from the Raynes Park Association (RPA). 
Approximately 45 residents attended, as well as Merton Councillors, and officers 
from the council and its partners. Chris Edge opened the meeting, welcoming 
everyone and introducing Councillor Lewis-Lavender as the Chair.

Open Forum
Martin Way Allotments Association
The Martin Way Allotments Association voiced disappointment and concern that the 
council, after handing over management responsibility of the allotments over to the 
association, never signed an agreement on the handover. Now that the council is 
ceding responsibility for all allotments in Merton to a third party, the association 
expressed concern about what might be expected from the contractor. Councillor 
Nick Draper agreed to take up the matter with the association after the meeting.

Prudential Ride London 
It was noted that the next Ride London will be on Sunday 30th July, 2017. 
 
Summer Fair
Tom Underwood, Chair of the My Raynes Park Festival noted that this is the eighth 
year of the festival, which will run from 23rd June to 2nd July, with a variety of events 
and entertainment, including comedians, book clubs and children’s events. 
Sponsorship from businesses is welcome, and volunteers are also required: contact 
tom@myraynespark.co.uk to register interest.

Christmas Fair
David Hurst informed residents that the Raynes Park Christmas Fair will take place 
on Friday 1st December from 3.30-7pm. It will be in part of the Waitrose car park, 
with traders, carols and a grotto. Sponsorship from local businesses would be 
welcome. Councillor Lewis-Lavender asked if Alpine Huts could be brought in for the 
fair.
 

Merton Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG)
Abbas Mirza, the Lead on Patient and Public Engagement explained that the CCG is 
running a pre-engagement programme about “choosing wisely”. The proposals refer 
to possible changes to prescribing over-the-counter medicines, the provision of 
gluten free products, IVF provision, and guidance on ensuring patients are surgery 
ready, including advice for smokers and those with a high BMI.

A presentation on the programme can be viewed on the Raynes Park Community 
Forum web page. Pre-engagement will run until 22nd March and groups can request 
meetings with Abbas before then to discuss the proposals. The deadline for 
completing a survey on the matter is 20th March.

Page 33

Agenda Item 8

mailto:tom@myraynespark.co.uk
http://www.merton.gov.uk/community-living/communityforums/raynesparkcommunityforum.htm
http://www.merton.gov.uk/community-living/communityforums/raynesparkcommunityforum.htm
https://www.surveymonkey.co.uk/r/82QQ7T7


2

Asked how the CCG will find the required savings of £13m, it was explained that 
many options are being explored, including merging Merton CCG’s management 
team with Wandsworth’s. Savings might also be made through Merton’s pharmacies 
and the CCG’s property portfolio, as well as by encouraging people who use the 
NHS to change their behaviour, for example, not going to hospital if they do not need 
to.

In response to a question about NHS funding being protected, Abbas explained that 
further money is needed, particularly due to people living longer.

It was acknowledged that Social Care needs to be looked at in light of absence of 
adequate care leading to bed-blocking, and consequently cancellations of 
operations.

Residents commented that the current NHS structure is unsustainable and a serious 
debate is needed. They also felt that prevention should be explored further, for 
example, preventing Type 2 diabetes. Abbas acknowledged that behavioural change 
in patients and food companies is needed. Public Health Merton is doing a lot of 
work around prevention and changes, such as a sugar tax, are being implemented.

As Dr Andrew Murray was unable to attend the forum to talk about the Five-Year 
South West London Plan, he will be invited to the next meeting on 15 June.

Community Police Update
Police Sergeant Nick Tooher gave an update on crime and police activity in Merton.

From 1st April, there will be two permanent police officers per ward, as well as a 
PCSO.

Merton is in the top five safest boroughs in London. Burglary is currently the biggest 
issue, so residents were asked to be vigilant. Free property marking kits are being 
handed out in certain wards to combat the problem and there is crime prevention 
advice on the Met Police website.

The other main issue in the borough currently is theft of motor vehicles, especially 
scooters, therefore it is recommended to use a ground anchor and get a tracker fitted 
for motorbikes. With regard to pursuing stolen motor vehicles, to some extent the 
police are guided by Health and Safety regulations; not just the health and safety of 
those being pursued, but also that of residents. It is an offence of corporate 
manslaughter if someone is killed by a police officer in chase.

The ‘Balaclava Burglar’ has not yet been caught. Any burglaries where he is 
suspected are treated as a priority. 

Asked about what resources there are for checking the speed of vehicles, PS Tooher 
said that apart from speed cameras, there are two officers on the Safe Transport 
team working on speed watch initiatives.

Page 34

https://beta.met.police.uk/crime-prevention/


3

Residents were encouraged to vote in favour of alleygates if given the opportunity. 
They are funded up to 45% by the council and help to stop burglaries which often 
take place from the rear of properties.

PS Tooher explained that he issues warnings when cyclists ride on pavements; 
however the police unfortunately do not have the time to hand out fines for this. 
Additionally, in some circumstances, it is in the interests of safety that cyclists are 
allowed to ride on pavements, for example young children.

The police were invited to return to future forum meetings.

Counter Terrorism 

Matt Bryan from the Counter Terrorism division at Merton Police spoke to residents 
about Counter Terrorism Awareness. Merton is a Tier Three Borough, which means 
it is at low risk for terrorism, but London is currently at severe level for a terror threat. 
Local communities can help to reduce the risk of an attack by being aware and 
reporting anything suspicious.

It was agreed that Matt will return to the next forum on 15th June to show a video 
about Counter Terrorism Awareness.

Current and anticipated planning applications  
James McGinlay, Assistant Director for Sustainable Communities at Merton Council, 
updated the meeting on local planning and other issues.

 Officers at the council are aware of flooding on Edna Road due to storm 
drains being blocked. The contractor for gully cleaning is about to change, so 
the drains will be cleaned once the new contractor is in place, after April. 
James agreed to look into whether the cause of the blocked drains has been 
identified; if it’s because of cement being mixed on the pavement, the council 
will issue paperwork to builders to warn that this is illegal.

 The removal of the bins south of the Skew Arch has been agreed and will take 
place sometime within the next couple of weeks. James will look into whether 
the north side bins will also be removed or not.

 Footpath outside the station – the transfer of land is progressing, with 
documentation being currently prepared and a meeting taking place next 
week between the local MP and Future Merton.

 South side of Wyke Road – the application has been refused by the council 
and is now at appeal. The planning inspector has not ruled out the possibility 
of residential development on the site. 

 Manuplastics – discussions on a mixed-use development continue.
 641 Kingston Road – a planning application for a hotel on the site of the 

vacant pub is likely to planning committee within the next month or so.
 577 Kingston Road (Dundonald Church) – an application for residential 

development has been submitted to the council.

Page 35



4

 80-86 Bushy Road (Times Square Clock Tower) – planning permission has 
been granted and it’s now with the National Casework Unit. Progress is being 
made in the meantime with a Section 106 agreement.

 Albany House, Burlington Road – discussions continue over affordable 
housing within the Section 106 agreement.

 Rainbow Estate – early discussions are taking place about further 
development on the site, which would be subject to a planning application and 
consultation. The previous application is still valid.

 Former Lesser Sports Ground, off Grand Drive – no change on the open 
space. 

 Surcharge for parking of diesel vehicles – consultation was undertaken on the 
traffic management order, and as a result, the order was approved. Merton’s 
Overview and Scrutiny panel will call in the decision on 15th March. A resident 
spoke out against the surcharge, arguing that the council has been hasty in its 
decision: a new report by the World Health Organisation is due to say that 
direct injected petrol engines are more toxic than diesel. The resident asked 
that the council wait for the report to be published before taking further action 
on the levy.

 James agreed to look into the status of a very large application that was 
submitted on the Wilson site, as there appears to have been no progress 
since consultation on the application.

Anti-wheelie bins campaign
     
Helen Alexander-Allen spoke to residents about her campaign against the 
introduction of wheelie bins in Merton. A new website is now live where further 
information about the campaign can be found and residents who oppose wheelie 
bins can sign a petition. Ms Alexander-Allen asked for supporters to donate towards 
the campaign and also said that celebrity support for it would be welcomed.

Councillor Lewis-Lavender asked for a show of hands from those who:
 Opposed fortnightly collections; and
 Opposed wheelie bins

In each case, approximately two-thirds of the people in the room raised their hands.

A resident asked how many other councils have wheelie bins. He stated that there 
are many more important issues in local government. Whilst he agreed that 
aesthetically the bins do not look nice, they keep rubbish contained and save money. 
Councillor Dean responded by saying that the bins blow over more, therefore are 
less likely to keep rubbish contained, and that their cost is actually higher.

Another resident commented that single occupier households do not need such large 
bins and a bin for mixed-recycling would be preferred to separate containers for each 
type of recycling.

Councillor Nick Draper said that the service Merton is proposing is based on the one 
run in Kingston, which appears to be working. Some residents felt Kingston’s 
housing stock was more conducive to wheelie bins than Merton’s.

Page 36

http://www.nowheeliesplease-merton.org.uk/


5

The Chair thanked residents for attending and closed the meeting.

Dates of future meetings all at 7.15pm, in the Library Hall: 15 June 2017

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Mitcham Community Forum
14 March 2017
Chair’s Report

The meeting was held at Vestry Hall, and chaired by Councillor Ian Munn.
12 residents attended, as well as one other Councillor, and officers of the 
council and its partners. The Chair welcomed everyone to the meeting.

Police update
PC Steve Green and PC Steph Capper provided an update on the policing 
priorities for Mitcham. The priorities are currently burglary, street drinking and 
drug dealing. There has been an increase in burglary over the last year so the 
Mitcham team has been promoting prevention measures. 

On street drinking 50 Community Protection Notices have been issues to date 
with 12 fines of £180 subsequently issued. The current borough wide No 
Drinking Zone is due to expire in October 2017 and Merton Police are working 
with Merton Council to see if a Public Space Protection Order would be more 
effective. A PSPO would make certain types of behaviour a criminal offence 
so would provide stronger powers than the current system. In response to a 
question PC Green said that enforcement is related to anti-social behaviour 
rather than just drinking alcohol.

A range of overt and covert anti-drug operations have been taking place with 
a number of recent prosecutions taking place. The police rely heavily on 
intelligence from the public so residents are encouraged to report suspicious 
activity. 

In response to questions from residents PC Green said that enforcement for 
littering is done by the council but the police do ask the council to respond to 
particular problem areas. PC Capper said that cycling on the pavement is 
enforced when appropriate but is not a high priority.    

Choose Wisely
Abbas Mirza and Michelle Wallington from Merton Clinical Commissioning 
Group (CCG) introduced the Choose Wisely programme. Their presentation 
can be found on the Council website at http://www.merton.gov.uk/community-
living/communityforums/mitchamcommunityforum.htm 

Merton CCG has challenging financial savings to achieve of £13.7m in 
2017/18 so is reviewing the provision of services in a number of areas:

 Prescriptions for vitamin supplements and self-medication
 Prescriptions for gluten free foods
 IVF treatment
 Supporting patients to be more surgery ready with increased referrals 

to stop smoking and weight management services

Page 39

Agenda Item 9

http://www.merton.gov.uk/community-living/communityforums/mitchamcommunityforum.htm
http://www.merton.gov.uk/community-living/communityforums/mitchamcommunityforum.htm


2

Abbas has met with over 30 local community groups to encourage people to 
feed in their views. Residents can also complete a survey either on paper or 
online by 20 March. The results will be considered by the CCG Governing 
Body on 23 March and if they decide to proceed with any of these proposals 
there will be a full consultation. 

In response to questions Abbas said that with changing demographics and 
more long term conditions the NHS will need to reflect on the financial 
challenges this creates. Abbas also agreed that any changes would need to 
consider the impact on low income households. In the case of gluten free 
foods they would also need to look at variations in the availability of these 
foods in local shops. The CCG will work with families to inform them about 
their options to eat healthily. The CCG has also looked into voucher schemes 
that are run elsewhere but it seems that that this sort of scheme might be 
more expensive. 

Abbas also described how he was trying to reach seldom heard groups but 
encouraged residents to away copies of the consultation and pass them on to 
friends and neighbours.  

Rediscover Mitcham update
James Geeson from the Future Merton team, Merton Council, updated the 
meeting on the works in Mitcham Town Centre. Construction continues with a 
target for completion in December 2017 and final snagging in January 2018. 

Currently new traffic lights are being installed and then resurfacing will be 
taking place overnight from 3 – 13 April on London Road, Raleigh Gardens, 
Upper Green West and Upper Green East. The works should be completed 
before Easter assuming there are no complications. 

Lamp columns are being installed on the new bus street. The street should be 
operation by September and possibly earlier. If completed sooner this will 
allow other works to be brought forward. 

In response to questions James said that the road closures for resurfacing 
had been approved by all stakeholders but he would check with Network Rail 
about works at Mitcham Eastfields. The bus stop for the 200 on Lower Green 
West has been completed so he will check with TfL when it will start being 
used by the buses. Work on the traffic islands did reduce the number of lanes 
creating a bottleneck for traffic but these works have now been completed. 
Where parking has been blocking traffic the yellow lines have been repainted 
and enforcement increased to reduce the problem. There will be sufficient 
space for lorries to turn at key junctions. 

The painted markings for cycling on Majestic Way shared space has got dirty 
so will be refreshed. The fountain in the pond hasn’t been working due to 
problems with the filter but these have now been resolved. There are a 
number of empty shops currently. The overall aim of the project is to increase 
football in a central area and focus on the market but this is not possible to 

Page 40



3

achieve whilst construction works continue. Toilet access remains an issue 
and options to improve this are being explored.  
   

Soapbox
Jezz Gibson, Neighbourhood Client Officer from Merton Council introduced 
himself to the meeting. Jezz is one of three new roles responsible for 
performance managing environmental service contracts and he will be looking 
after the Mitcham and Colliers Wood areas. The contracts include the waste 
collection and street cleansing services provided by Veolia and the parks and 
open spaces services provided by idverde. Any problems residents see 
should still be reported to the council in the usual way, online or by calling 020 
82744901 but Jezz will monitoring the performance of the contractors in 
dealing with these reports. 

Merton Council’s Scrutiny Panels are after your views on the sorts of issues 
they should review to make sure that the council and partners respond to local 
people’s needs and concerns. These reviews involve finding out about local 
people’s experiences and looking at how other councils deal with the same 
problems. Councillors then suggest ways of making things better in Merton. 
Past reviews have covered issues ranging from highway maintenance to local 
nursing homes to fear of crime. For more information please see 
http://www.merton.gov.uk/council/decision-making/scrutiny.htm 

Date of next meetings: 
Wednesday 18 October at 7.15pm, in Mitcham Library 
Tuesday 23 January at 7.15pm, in Mitcham Library

Page 41

http://www.merton.gov.uk/council/decision-making/scrutiny.htm


This page is intentionally left blank



Wimbledon Community Forum
Agenda

1.Welcome / introductions
2.Leonie Cooper AM, London Assembly Member 

for Merton and Wandsworth
3.Choose Wisely programme – Merton CCG
4.Soapbox – including Scrutiny topics and 

Wheelie bins
5.South Wimbledon update
6.Wimbledon Masterplan update

Date: Wednesday 22 March 2017
Time: 7.15 – 9.15pm  
Venue: The Mansel Road Centre, Trinity United Reformed 
Church, Mansel Road, London SW19 4AA

For further information please contact: 
Email getinvolved@merton.gov.uk
Call: 020 8545 3896
Visit: www.merton.gov.uk/communityforums 

Future meetings:
Wednesday 21 June 2017 at Wimbledon Arts Space
Thursday 28 September 2017 at Wimbledon Arts Space
Tuesday 5 December 2017 at Wimbledon Methodist Church
Thursday 1 March 2018 at Wimbledon Arts Space

Page 43

Agenda Item 10

mailto:getinvolved@merton.gov.uk
http://www.merton.gov.uk/communityforums


This page is intentionally left blank



COUNCIL MEETING – WEDNESDAY 12 APRIL 2017

NOTICE OF MOTION

This Council notes that under the CIL Regulations and Government Guidance the 15% 
neighbourhood proportion of the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) is supposed to be 
spent:

 on addressing the demands development places on local areas where development 
occurs; and

 on priorities agreed between the council and the communities from those areas.

This Council believes that, given the neighbourhood CIL funding is designed to ensure 
residents benefit from improved local infrastructure as a result of developments in their own 
area, it is not only crucial that neighbourhood CIL in Merton should be spent in the 
neighbourhood where it was raised but also that local residents and their elected 
representatives should have a say over how it is spent.

This Council therefore resolves to support and promote:

a) ongoing involvement of residents in the fund allocation process through regular 
agenda items at meetings of the 5 Community Forums and further consultations such 
as the online survey conducted earlier this year on residents’ priorities; and

b) the formation of a CIL Review Panel consisting of two council officers and five 
nominated councillors representing each of the designated town centres (Colliers 
Wood, Mitcham, Morden, Raynes Park and Wimbledon). 

Having been received and studied by council officers, those project bids considered 
acceptable for funding according to the CIL legislation would be tabled for consideration and 
agreement by the CIL Review Panel, before then being recommended to the Cabinet Member 
for final approval of the allocation of funds.

This Council therefore asks Cabinet to request officers to draft appropriate terms of reference 
for a CIL Review Panel, to achieve these objectives, for agreement by the appropriate 
decision making body.    
        

Cllr John Bowcott Cllr Najeeb Latif    

     
Cllr David Simpson   Cllr Linda Taylor

Page 45

Agenda Item 12



This page is intentionally left blank



1 

  

Committee: Council 

Date: 12 April 2017 

Wards: All 

Subject:  Draft Equality Strategy 2017-21 

Lead officer:   Ged Curran, Chief Executive 

Lead member:  Councillor Edith Macauley, Cabinet Member for Community  
   Safety, Equalities and Engagement 

Contact officer:  John Dimmer, Head of Policy, Strategy and Partnerships  
   (john.dimmer@merton.gov.uk/ 020 8545 3477) 

Recommendations: That Council 

A. Endorses and adopts the Equality Strategy 2017-21 and supporting action plan. 

1 PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

1.1. The Council’s Community Cohesion Strategy 2012-15 has expired and the 
Equality Strategy 2013-17 will expire in March 2017.  The Equality Act 2010 
requires the council to publish equality objectives every four years to 
demonstrate how it will meet the Public Sector Equality Duty. 

The new strategy combines equality and community cohesion objectives, 
reflecting the synergies between the two.  This report sets out a refreshed 
Equality Strategy and Action Plan for 2017-21(Appendix 1 and 2) that 
Council is asked endorse and adopt. This will ensure the council continues 
to meet its duties under the legislation. The report also summarises 
consultation feedback (Appendix 3). 

2 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 

2.1. As a public authority the council has a duty to eliminate unlawful 
discrimination and promote good relations between people of different 
backgrounds. The publication of an Equality Strategy setting out our equality 
objectives fulfils the Council’s legal obligations relating to equalities 
legislation. Failure to do so would mean the Council is not fulfilling its legal 
obligations and could be subject to legal action. Not having an Equality 
Strategy would put the Council at risk of legal challenge and potentially 
damage the council’s reputation.           

 

3 CONSULTATION UNDERTAKEN OR PROPOSED 

3.1. Extensive consultation was undertaken with a range of stakeholders which 
included meetings with user groups and a web based survey. Consultation 
feedback is outlined in Appendix 3. Public consultation ran from 26 January 
to 10 March and outlined below are the questions in the online survey: 

 Do you think we have set the right priorities for Merton Council to focus 
on   over the next four years? If not what should our priorities be? 

Page 47

Agenda Item 13



2 

  

 Are there any other issues you think should be included in this Equality 
Strategy? 

 The aims of the strategy will be delivered through the activity in the 
Action Plan – do we have the right actions? 

 Do you have any other comments you would like to make about this draft 
Equality Strategy? 

3.2. Overall the draft strategy has been well received and it was felt that we are 
focusing on the right things.  In terms of specific feedback, there were some 
consistent themes which are set out below.  We have endeavoured to 
incorporate this feedback, wherever practicable, into the final draft attached 
to this report.  Specific issues raised include: 

3.2.1 The need to improve engagement and do more outreach work, especially 
with User groups. In particular managers should engage with residents at 
the start of service reviews and not just at the end. 

 The need for ambitious targets and clear success criteria in the action 
plan. 

 The need for more diversity in leadership roles, 

 Respondents with hidden disabilities felt that some officers displayed a 
lack of sensitivity in their approach. 

 Disabled residents are willing to work with officers to deliver disability 
equality training. 

 A more pro-active community cohesion approach is needed through a 
publicity campaign to educate the pubic about diversity and how we can 
more effectively live together and behave towards each other. 

3.3. The emerging issues are being discussed with departments and some of the 
responses have been included in the final draft version of the strategy 
appended to this report. 

. 

4 TIMETABLE 

4.1. Subject to Council’s agreement the final strategy will be published in the 
Council’s website and publicised to residents and partners.   

4.2. The action plan in Appendix 2 will be monitored on a regular basis including  
by the Corporate Management Team, Corporate Equality Steering Group 
and by the Overview and Scrutiny Commission. 

 

5 FINANCIAL, RESOURCE AND PROPERTY IMPLICATIONS 

5.1. Failure to implement equality legislation could result in the cost of 
discrimination claims being incurred. 

5.2. The activity in the action plan is linked to departmental service plans and will 
be delivered within existing resources. 

 

Page 48



3 

  

6 LEGAL AND STATUTORY IMPLICATIONS 

6.1. On 6 April 2011 the Equality Act 2010 introduced the Public Sector Equality 
Duty (PSED) which requires the Local Authority, when exercising its 
functions, to have due regard to the need to eliminate unlawful 
discrimination, harassment and victimisation and to advance equality of 
opportunity and foster good relations between persons who share a 
“protected characteristic” and those who do not.  “Protected characteristics” 
are age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, 
religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation and, in relation to the duty to 
eliminate unlawful discrimination only, marriage and civil partnership. 

6.2. With effect from 12 April 2012 the Equality Act 2010 (Specific Duties) 
Regulation 2011 requires the council to prepare and publish equality 
objectives and subsequently at least four-yearly. The objectives must be 
specific and measurable. 

 

7 HUMAN RIGHTS, EQUALITIES AND COMMUNITY COHESION 
IMPLICATIONS 

7.1. By developing and producing a new Equality Strategy, the Council is re-
affirming its commitment to human rights, equality and community cohesion. 
Merton’s approach to equality and diversity is driven by its overall vision of 
Merton – a great place to live, work, learn and visit. The draft strategy will 
encourage a wider public debate about equalities in Merton and the actions 
needed to address inequality.    

 

8 CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS 

8.1. There is a risk of increased hate crime activity directed towards certain 
groups if there is no commitment to eliminate discrimination and 
harassment.      

 

9 RISK MANAGEMENT AND HEALTH AND SAFETY IMPLICATIONS 

9.1. There is a risk to the Council’s reputation if it fails to produce and publish 
equalities objectives. This can also increase the risk of legal challenge 
against the council’s decisions.  Additionally there is a risk of claims of 
discrimination based on age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and 
maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation.   

 

10 APPENDICES – THE FOLLOWING DOCUMENTS ARE TO BE 
PUBLISHED WITH THIS REPORT AND FORM PART OF THE REPORT 

 Appendix 1: Draft Equality Strategy 2017-2021 

 Appendix 2: Draft Equality Strategy 2017-2021 Action Plan  

 Appendix 3: Comments and feedback from Consultation 

 

11 BACKGROUND PAPERS 

Page 49



4 

  

11.1. Merton’s Equality Strategy 2013-17 
http://www.merton.gov.uk/council/plansandpolicies/equality_strategy_2013-
17_final_v2.pdf 

Page 50

http://www.merton.gov.uk/council/plansandpolicies/equality_strategy_2013-17_final_v2.pdf
http://www.merton.gov.uk/council/plansandpolicies/equality_strategy_2013-17_final_v2.pdf


5 

  

APPENDIX 1 - DRAFT EQUALITY STRATEGY 

                                                  

Merton’s Equality and Community Cohesion Strategy 2017-21 

 
1. Introduction 
 
The Equality Strategy sets out the council’s equality objectives in one document and outlines 
how we will embed equalities considerations into our day-to-day business.  
 
Under the Equality Act 2010 Merton has a Public Sector Equality Duty to ensure that in 
exercising our functions and delivering services and partnership work we: 

1. eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation  

2. advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a protected characteristic and 

persons who do not share a protected characteristic 

3. foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and 

persons who do not share it 

 
The Act also introduced nine ‘Protected Characteristics’: age, disability, gender reassignment, 
marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion and belief, sex, sexual 
orientation. 
 
At the decision-making stage councils are required to assess how changes to policies and 
service delivery will affect different people.  Therefore the Act requires that we provide 
accessible services to all our customers. 
 
We acknowledge that the council has a key role to play to promote a fair and more equal 
society by putting equalities considerations central to the decisions we make about service 
delivery, contract arrangements and employment. 
 
In producing this strategy we have developed objectives that promote equality and promote 
community cohesion in Merton by addressing issues of concern in the borough. 
 
The Equality Act underpins the strategy and the objectives apply to all the protected 
characteristics.  Therefore, we will not tolerate discrimination and will endeavour to consider all 
the protected characteristics in the delivery of our services. 
 
We recognise that some people share more than one protected characteristic and as a result 
may face multiple disadvantage. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 51



6 

  

2. Merton the place  
 
Merton’s population, according to Greater London Authority (GLA) 2016 projections, is 207,000 
people, living across 83,000 occupied households. The population density of the borough is 
higher in the wards of the east compared to the wards that are in the west. Just over half of the 
borough is female (51%). 

 
The average age of residents in the borough is 36.6, this is just above the London average of 
35.9. GLA 2013 round population projections records Merton’s BAME population as 74,971, 
meaning Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic (BAME) groups make up around 36.7% of the 
population. This is lower than the London average of 42.5%. 
 
Based on GLA trend-based projections, Merton’s population is projected to increase by 13,000 
between 2014 and 2020. During this time the boroughs age profile is also projected to change, 
with the most notable growth coming in the numbers of those aged under 16 and those over 
50. This will be set against a projected decline in the proportion of people aged 25-35. 
Merton’s ethnic composition is also forecast to change, with the BAME proportion set to 
increase to 40% 
 
The borough’s growing diversity is reflected by the number of people that live in the borough 
that come from different backgrounds.  According to data collected from the 2011 Census the 
three largest migrant populations by country of birth are Polish (3.5%), Sri Lankan (3.2%) and 
South African (2.8%). 34.9% of school pupils in Merton have a first language other than 
English.  
 
The Indices of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) sets out a relative position for each local authority in 
the country, giving an overall score for each area. The indices were updated in September 
2015 and ranks Merton as 7th least deprived out of the 33 London boroughs and 212 out of 
354 local authority areas (where 1 is the most deprived) for the rest of England. This overall 
lack of deprivation does, however, hide stark inequalities in the borough between deprived 
wards in the east of the borough (Mitcham) and the more affluent wards in the west 
(Wimbledon). 
 
The Joint Strategic Needs Assessment for Merton highlights health inequalities that are based 
on gender, ethnicity and where people live. Health outcomes in Merton are generally better 
than those in London, and in line with or above the rest of England, however, there is a 
difference between the most and least deprived areas within the borough for life expectancy of 
7.9 years for men and 5.2 years for women. Linked to deprivation, those in the east of the 
borough have a much higher chance of serious illness and early deaths from illnesses such as 
cancer and heart disease. In 2015 13.5% of residents in Merton that are of a working-age were 
recorded as having a disability or long-term health condition. 
 
Merton residents who are in active full-time employment are distributed all over the borough, 
however, unemployed residents are concentrated towards the east of Merton, and self-
employed residents are concentrated toward the west. Although unemployment in the borough 
is below the national average, it rises significantly in some of the eastern wards, and 63% of all 
benefit claimants live in the east of the borough. There are also significant differences in skill 
levels between the east and west of the borough, with the population in the east of the borough 
having a lower level of skills and qualifications. The GLA Pay-check 2011 dataset illustrates 
the large disparities in the distribution of income within Merton. In general the west of the 
borough is more affluent, notably Wimbledon Park, Village, and Hillside wards. These wards 
have a median income range of £41-£50,000. By comparison wards in the east such as 
Figge’s Marsh, Pollards Hill, St. Helier and Cricket Green have a median income range of £24-
28,000. 

 

Page 52



7 

  

3. Our achievements 

Over the past three years progress has been made towards embedding equality practice 
throughout the Council and promoting community cohesion.  Outlined below are some of our 
successes: 
 

 Merton School Improvement (MSI) Service continued its programme of support and 

challenge to schools to identify, track and accelerate progress made by individual pupils 

from target groups. Identified secondary schools have been supported to implement 

English support targeted to Bangladeshi and Asian-Other pupils. 

 20% of Looked after Children (LAC) achieved 5 GCSEs A*-C or equivalent (incl. English & 

Maths) in 2013-14 which is above the national LAC average of 15%. 

 A range of commissioned preventative services continue to be available for children and 

young people with disabilities including family-based overnight short breaks, weekend 

clubs offering activities and excursions, a holiday play scheme for children with complex 

needs, and a parent carer support service and parent forum. 

 The work within Transforming Families and the Youth Justice Team, in particular, meant 

that interventions could be provided as early as possible in order to ensure that escalations 

in a young person’s behaviour and/or offending are dealt with as quickly as possible. 

Geographically, there has been a focus on areas in the East of the borough which are 

generally more deprived. 

 The use of equality analysis is embedded in the service planning process and savings 

proposals have been accompanied by an assessment of the impact of proposed changes 

on the protected characteristics. 

 We worked with key community representatives to support the development of Black, 

Asian and Minority Ethnic (BAME) Voice to provide a strategic voice for the borough’s 

BAME community.   

 The council has also worked with community representatives to revitalise the Lesbian, Gay, 

Bi-Sexual and Transgender Forum to progress issues facing the community.   

 Volunteer Merton, a new online portal that seamlessly links up volunteers with volunteer 

opportunities through a digital platform has been launched.  This will make it much simpler 

and quicker to link volunteers to actual volunteering opportunities. 

 Successful events such as Holocaust Memorial Day, Victoria Cross commerorative events 

and LGBT History Month that bring different parts of the our community together. 

 Quick and accessible support for residents affected by domestic violence and measures to 

combat hate crime. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 53



8 

  

4. Key issues we want to tackle 
 
The aim of the Equality and Community Cohesion Strategy 2017-21 is to address keys issues 
such as: 

 Bridging the gap between the levels of deprivation and prosperity in the borough 

particularly focusing on: 

o raising educational attainment for all children and young people and reduce 

attainment gaps for target groups including children with special education needs or 

disabilities, those who are looked after in care, specific BAME groups, specific 

groups of White boys and those who are excluded from school 

o tackling rising unemployment particularly among young BAME communities and 

disabled residents and supporting those who are long term unemployed back into 

work 

o Reducing health inequalities particularly the issues affecting some BAME 

communities, disabled and older residents.   

o Support residents who may be affected by mental illness or dementia 

o increasing education and economic opportunity in the east of the borough. 

 Improving understanding of the borough’s diversity and foster better understanding 

between communities.  

 Improving understanding of ‘hidden’ disabilities and the challenges that disabled residents 

face in all aspects of their lives.  We aim to work in a cross-cutting way and take a holistic 

approach to more effectively address the needs of disabled residents.   

 Supporting those who do not usually get involved in decision-making to better understand 

how they can get involved and get their voices heard. 

 Supporting residents to access on-line access services. 

 Providing services that meet the needs of a changing population. 

 employing staff that reflect the borough’s diversity. 

 
 

Page 54



9 

  

5  Objectives and Indicators 

 
Not everyone receives the same start in life and this can significantly shape their opportunities 
through the rest of their lives.  As a council we recognise that understanding this difference is 
key to addressing some of the complex issues that create barriers and exclusion for some of 
our residents.  Therefore we are committed to working toward: 

 Everyone having an opportunity to fulfil their potential 

 Individuals having choice and control to improve life chances and outcome1 

 Everyone having ways to tackle the barriers that lead to inequality 

 
It is evident2 that some families experience inter-generational disadvantage that results in 
individuals experiencing inequality throughout their lives.  Some disadvantaged people often 
lack basic information and skills. The challenges of disadvantage is felt by a range of people 
including teenage pregnancy, those who experience difficulty in the transition from being a 
young person to adulthood, gypsies and travellers, the long-term unemployed, disabled people 
and young adults leaving care. 
 
 
Equality Objectives  
 
We have developed 6 objectives that aim to improve the life chances of our residents and 
create a more level starting point for all. The objectives are outlined below: 
 
1. To ensure key plans and strategies narrow the gap between different communities in the 

borough. 

 
2. Improve equality of access to services for disadvantaged groups. 

 

3. Ensure regeneration plans increase the opportunity for all Merton’s residents to fulfil their 

educational, health and economic potential, participate in the renewal of the borough and 

create a health promoting environment. 

 

4. Encourage recruitment  from all sections of the community , actively promote staff 

development and career progression opportunities and embed equalities across the 

organisation. 

 

5. Promoting a safe, healthy and cohesive borough where communities get on well together. 

 

6. Fulfil our statutory duties and ensure protected groups are effectively   engaged when we 

change our services. 

 

                                            
1
 Dimensions of equality as defined by the Equality Review published in 2007: longevity, health, physical security, education, standard of living, 

productive and valued activities, and individual and family life, participation, influence and voice, identity, expression, and self-respect, legal security. 
2
 Equality and Human Rights Commission (EHRC), (2010) How fair is Britain? equality, human rights and good relations in 2010: the first triennial 

review. 

Marmot (2010). The Marmot Review: Fair Society, Healthy Lives. Strategic review of health inequalities  

in England post-2010 

Page 55



10 

  

6.  Equality Analysis 

 
An Equality Analysis (EA) is an assessment and improvement process that helps us to 
determine how the Council’s policies, procedures, services, practices, or new proposals will 
impact on or affect different communities – especially those groups or communities who 
experience inequality, discrimination, social exclusion or disadvantage.   
 
In Merton Equality Analysis is generally used to inform and or support the following: 

• Savings proposals 

• Growth bids 

• Major policy changes around service access 

• Service cessation 

• Restructuring. 

 
Departmental Management Teams are responsible for identifying which proposed changes 
require an Equality Analysis.  This will ensure that the EA becomes embedded in all our 
processes. 
 
Additionally officers are required to provide Cabinet Members with sufficient evidence about 
who the stakeholders are and how they will be affected by proposed changes.  
 

Page 56



11 

  

7. How will performance be measured? 
 

Leadership – responsibility and accountability 

Merton’s elected members have overall responsibility for the Council’s Equality Strategy. The 

Cabinet Member for Community Safety, Equalities and Engagement has the executive 

responsibility for promoting equality and diversity across the borough and all council services, 

including those delivered on its behalf by businesses and voluntary, community and faith 

organisations. 

 

Our Corporate Management Team and Departmental Management Teams have responsibility 

for the strategic implementation of the strategy.  This includes making sure that equalities is 

central to all work done by the council, communicating and promoting the strategy to others 

inside and outside the council, setting out what we aim to achieve in terms of equality and 

diversity, and holding departments to account through performance reviews.   

 

All managers must be familiar with the strategy and be responsible for ensuring equality and 

diversity is an integral part of any policy development, service design and delivery, 

employment practices; and procuring and commissioning of goods and services. 

 

All staff including those we work in partnership with, and who are contracted or commissioned 

to work on our behalf, have a responsibility to promote equality, eliminate discrimination in their 

day-to-day work, and recognise and respect the different backgrounds and circumstances of 

people. 

The strategy will be monitored through the governance structure outlined below: 

Corporate Equality Steering Group is comprised of the CMT Equalities Champion (the 

Director of Children Schools and Families) and departmental representatives.  The group takes 

the lead in monitoring the delivery of the strategy’s commitments and where necessary 

highlight issues of concern and make recommendations to CMT for further improvements.  

Departmental Equality Steering Groups - each department has a steering group comprised 

of representatives from across the department.  They will be responsible for local delivery of 

the corporate objectives and will review and revise the priorities based on assessment of 

service need 

Departmental Management Teams - will be responsible for the delivery of the strategy 

through service, teams and personal development plans. 

Corporate Management Team - will receive progress reports twice a year. 

Overview and Scrutiny Commission - will receive an annual update on our progress towards 

achieving the priorities identified in the strategy. 

8. Implementation Plan 
 

We have develop a range of robust equality and diversity related actions and performance 
indicators that we will use to help us monitor our performance. These are set out in the action 
plan below that outlines the priorities for each objective and the performance measures. 
 

Page 57



1
2
 

 
 

A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
 2

 –
 A

C
T

IO
N

 P
L

A
N

 
  K

e
y
 a

c
ti

v
it

y
 

P
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c

e
 M

e
a
s

u
re

 
K

e
y
 s

tr
a

te
g

y
/P

la
n

 
D

e
p

a
rt

m
e

n
t/

 
D

iv
is

io
n

 

E
q

u
a

li
ty

 O
b

je
c
ti

v
e

 1
: 

T
o

 e
n

s
u

re
 k

e
y
 p

la
n

s
 a

n
d

 s
tr

a
te

g
ie

s
 n

a
rr

o
w

 t
h

e
 g

a
p

 b
e

tw
e

e
n

 d
if

fe
re

n
t 

c
o

m
m

u
n

it
ie

s
 i
n

 t
h

e
 b

o
ro

u
g

h
 

 

1
. 

T
o
 r

e
d
u

c
e
 h

e
a

lt
h
 i
n

e
q

u
a
lit

ie
s
 b

e
tw

e
e
n

 d
if
fe

re
n
t 

c
o

m
m

u
n

it
ie

s
 i
n
 t
h

e
 b

o
ro

u
g

h
: 

S
u

s
ta

in
e
d

 h
a

lt
 i
n

 r
is

e
 

in
 t

h
e
 g

a
p
 i
n

 l
if
e

 e
x
p

e
c
ta

n
c
y
 b

e
tw

e
e
n

 l
e
a

s
t 

a
n
d

 

m
o

s
t 
d

e
p

ri
v
e

d
 a

re
a

s
 w

it
h

in
 M

e
rt

o
n
, 

th
ro

u
g

h
 

im
p

ro
v
in

g
 l
if
e

 e
x
p

e
c
ta

n
c
y
 a

m
o

n
g

s
t 
th

e
 m

o
s
t 

d
e
p

ri
v
e

d
  

2
0
1

2
/1

4
 

M
a

le
 -

6
.8

 y
rs

 
F

e
m

a
le

-5
 y

rs
 

B
a

s
e
lin

e
 2

0
1

1
/1

3
 &

 t
a
rg

e
t 

M
a

le
 -

7
.9

 y
rs

 
F

e
m

a
le

- 
5
.2

 y
rs

 
 

H
e

a
lt
h

 a
n

d
 W

e
llb

e
in

g
 

s
tr

a
te

g
y
 (

2
0
1

5
-1

8
) 

C
&

H
  

2
. 

H
a

lt
 t

h
e
 w

id
e
n

in
g

 g
a

p
 i
n

 %
 o

f 
 o

b
e

s
e
 1

0
-1

1
 y

e
a
r 

o
ld

s
 b

e
tw

e
e
n

 e
a

s
t 
&

 w
e

s
t 

M
e

rt
o

n
, 
th

ro
u
g

h
 

re
d
u

c
in

g
 o

b
e

s
it
y
 i
n

 c
h

ild
re

n
 i
n

 e
a

s
t 
M

e
rt

o
n
 

  

T
a

rg
e
t 

2
0
1

5
/1

6
 –

 2
0
1

7
/1

8
 

9
.2

%
 

B
a

s
e
lin

e
: 

2
0
1

2
/1

3
-2

0
1

4
/1

5
 

9
.2

%
 g

a
p
 

 T
re

n
d
 i
n

 t
h

e
 g

a
p
 b

e
tw

e
e
n

 e
a

s
t 

a
n
d

 w
e

s
t 

M
e

rt
o

n
 i
s
 i
n

c
re

a
s
in

g
 

 E
a

s
t:
 2

3
.6

%
 o

b
e

s
e
 

W
e
s
t:
 1

4
.4

%
 o

b
e

s
e
 

H
e

a
lt
h

 &
 W

e
llb

e
in

g
 

S
tr

a
te

g
y
/ 

M
e

rt
o

n
 a

c
ti
o
n

 p
la

n
 t
o

 
p

re
v
e

n
t 

c
h

ild
h
o

o
d

 o
b

e
s
it
y
 

2
0
1
6
 

C
&

H
 

Page 58



1
3
 

 
 

 K
e

y
 a

c
ti

v
it

y
 

P
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c

e
 M

e
a
s

u
re

 
K

e
y
 s

tr
a

te
g

y
/P

la
n

 
D

e
p

a
rt

m
e

n
t/

 
D

iv
is

io
n

 

3
. 

R
e

d
u

c
e
 g

a
p
 i
n

 %
 o

f 
 o

b
e
s
e

 1
0
-1

1
 y

e
a
r 

o
ld

s
 

b
e
tw

e
e
n

 e
a

s
t 

&
 w

e
s
t 

M
e

rt
o

n
, 
th

ro
u
g

h
 r

e
d
u

c
in

g
 

o
b
e

s
it
y
 a

m
o

n
g

s
t 
c
h

ild
re

n
 i
n

 e
a

s
t 
M

e
rt

o
n
 

 

ta
rg

e
t 

2
0
1

6
/1

7
 –

 1
8
/1

9
 

8
%

 
B

a
s
e
lin

e
: 

2
0
1

2
/1

3
 –

1
4
/1

5
 

9
.2

%
 g

a
p
 

 T
re

n
d
 i
n

 t
h

e
 g

a
p
 b

e
tw

e
e
n

 e
a

s
t 

a
n
d

 w
e

s
t 

M
e

rt
o

n
 i
s
 i
n

c
re

a
s
in

g
 

 E
a

s
t:
 2

3
.6

%
 o

b
e

s
e
 

W
e
s
t:
 1

4
.4

%
 o

b
e

s
e
 

H
e

a
lt
h

 &
 W

e
llb

e
in

g
 

S
tr

a
te

g
y
/ 

M
e

rt
o

n
 a

c
ti
o
n

 p
la

n
 t
o

 
p

re
v
e

n
t 

c
h

ild
h
o

o
d

 o
b

e
s
it
y
 

2
0
1
6
 

C
&

H
 

4
. 

In
c
re

a
s
e
 a

c
ti
v
e

 u
s
a

g
e
 o

f 
lib

ra
ri
e

s
 b

y
 5

%
 i
n
 t

h
e
 

e
a
s
t 

o
f 
th

e
 b

o
ro

u
g

h
 a

m
o
n

g
s
t 

1
1
-1

6
 y

e
a
r 

o
ld

s
. 

2
0
1
5
/1

6
: 
2

2
7

0
 a

c
ti
v
e

 l
ib

ra
ry

 

u
s
e
rs

 a
g

e
d
 1

1
-1

6
 y

e
a
rs

 i
n

 t
h

e
 

C
R

4
 p

o
s
tc

o
d
e
. 

B
u

s
in

e
s
s
 P

la
n
 2

0
1

6
-2

0
2
1
 

C
&

H
 

5
. 

In
c
re

a
s
e
 c

o
u
rs

e
 t
a
k
e
 u

p
 b

y
 2

5
%

 i
n

 d
e

p
ri
v
e

d
 

w
a

rd
s
 b

y
 d

e
liv

e
ri
n
g

 a
 f
o

c
u

s
s
e
d

 e
m

p
lo

y
a

b
ili

ty
 a

n
d

 

fa
m

ily
 l
e

a
rn

in
g

 o
ff
e

r.
 

2
0
1

5
/1

6
: 
5

2
%

 o
f 

a
d
u

lt
 l
e

a
rn

e
rs

 

o
n
 e

m
p

lo
y
a

b
ili

ty
 a

n
d

 f
a
m

ily
 

le
a
rn

in
g

 c
o

u
rs

e
s
 w

e
re

 f
ro

m
 

d
e
p

ri
v
e

d
 w

a
rd

s
 i
n

 a
c
a

d
e
m

ic
 y

e
a
r 

2
0
1
5
-1

6
. 

M
e

rt
o

n
 A

d
u
lt
 L

e
a

rn
in

g
 

S
tr

a
te

g
y
 

C
&

H
 

6
. 

P
ro

m
o
te

 d
ig

it
a

l 
in

c
lu

s
io

n
 t
h

ro
u
g

h
 a

c
ti
v
it
ie

s
 t

h
a
t 

s
u

p
p

o
rt

 t
h

e
 C

u
s
to

m
e

r 
C

o
n
ta

c
t 
s
tr

a
te

g
y
 

P
ro

p
o

rt
io

n
 o

f 
c
o

m
p

le
te

d
 o

n
lin

e
 

tr
a

n
s
a

c
ti
o

n
s
 f
o

r 
a

v
a

ila
b
le

 

s
e

rv
ic

e
s
 

C
u

s
to

m
e
r 

C
o

n
ta

c
t 

s
tr

a
te

g
y
/B

u
s
in

e
s
s
 

Im
p
ro

v
e

m
e

n
t 

C
S

 

Page 59



1
4
 

 
 

 K
e

y
 a

c
ti

v
it

y
 

P
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c

e
 M

e
a
s

u
re

 
K

e
y
 s

tr
a

te
g

y
/P

la
n

 
D

e
p

a
rt

m
e

n
t/

 
D

iv
is

io
n

 

7
. 

P
ro

d
u

c
e
 g

u
id

a
n

c
e
 a

n
d

 t
ra

in
in

g
 f

o
r 

c
o

m
m

is
s
io

n
e

rs
 

o
n
 t

h
e
 u

s
e
 o

f 
th

e
 S

o
c
ia

l 
V

a
lu

e
 A

c
t 

in
c
lu

d
in

g
 t

h
e
 

d
e
v
e

lo
p
m

e
n
t 

o
f 

a
 m

o
d
e

l 
a

p
p

ro
a

c
h

 f
o

r 
m

e
a
s
u

ri
n
g

 

a
n
d

 e
v
a

lu
a
ti
n

g
 s

o
c
ia

l 
v
a

lu
e
. 

Q
u

a
rt

e
r 

3
 2

0
1

7
/1

8
 

V
o

lu
n
ta

ry
 S

e
c
to

r 
a

n
d

 
V

o
lu

n
te

e
ri
n

g
 S

tr
a

te
g

y
 

C
S

 

8
. 

W
o
rk

 w
it
h

 M
V

S
C

 t
o

 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
 c

o
m

m
u

n
it
y
 g

iv
in

g
 t
o

 

th
e
 V

C
S

, 
in

 p
a

rt
ic

u
la

r 
to

 s
u

p
p

o
rt

 s
m

a
lle

r 
g

ro
u
p
s
 

w
it
h

 l
o
w

/n
o
 i
n

c
o
m

e
 b

a
s
e
 -

 w
o

rk
in

g
 w

it
h

 

d
is

a
d
v
a

n
ta

g
e

 a
n

d
 v

u
ln

e
ra

b
le

 g
ro

u
p

s
. 

 

R
e

p
o

rt
 t
o

 C
o
m

p
a
c
t 

B
o

a
rd

 
A

u
tu

m
n
 2

0
1

7
 w

it
h

 p
ro

p
o
s
a

ls
 

V
o

lu
n
ta

ry
 S

e
c
to

r 
a

n
d

 
V

o
lu

n
te

e
ri
n

g
 S

tr
a

te
g

y
 

C
S

 

9
. 

R
e

v
ie

w
 t

h
e
 s

u
p
p

o
rt

 o
ff

e
r 

to
 M

e
rt

o
n
’s

 V
C

S
 

o
rg

a
n
is

a
ti
o
n

s
, 
in

 p
a

rt
ic

u
la

r 
to

 s
m

a
lle

r 
a

n
d
 i
n
fo

rm
a
l 

g
ro

u
p

s
 

R
e

v
is

e
d
 c

o
m

m
is

s
io

n
in

g
 

o
b
je

c
ti
v
e

s
 f

o
r 

V
C

S
 s

u
p
p
o

rt
 i
n

 

2
0
1

7
/1

8
 

 

V
o

lu
n
ta

ry
 S

e
c
to

r 
a

n
d

 
V

o
lu

n
te

e
ri
n

g
 S

tr
a

te
g

y
 

C
S

 

1
0
. 
F

in
a
n

c
ia

l 
In

c
lu

s
io

n
/W

e
lf
a
re

 R
e
fo

rm
 

C
o

n
ti
n

u
e

 w
it
h

 e
x
is

ti
n

g
 c

o
u

n
c
il 

ta
x
 s

u
p
p

o
rt

 s
c
h

e
m

e
 a

n
d

 l
o

c
a
l 

w
e

lf
a

re
 s

u
p
p

o
rt

 s
c
h

e
m

e
 f
o

r 
2

0
1

7
/1

8
. 
T

h
e
 l
o

c
a
l 
w

e
lf
a
re

 
s
u

p
p

o
rt

 s
c
h

e
m

e
 w

ill
 i
n

c
lu

d
e
 

re
fe

rr
a

ls
 t
o

 t
h

e
 F

o
o
d

 B
a

n
k
 a

n
d

 
c
o

n
ti
n

u
e

d
 p

a
rt

 f
u

n
d

in
g

 o
f 
a

 C
A

B
 

W
e
lf
a

re
 D

is
a

b
ili

ti
e

s
 A

d
v
is

o
r 

  

R
e

s
o
u

rc
e

s
 S

e
rv

ic
e

 P
la

n
 

C
S

 

Page 60



1
5
 

 
 

 K
e

y
 a

c
ti

v
it

y
 

P
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c

e
 M

e
a
s

u
re

 
K

e
y
 s

tr
a

te
g

y
/P

la
n

 
D

e
p

a
rt

m
e

n
t/

 
D

iv
is

io
n

 

1
1
. 
C

o
n
ti
n

u
e

 t
o
 i
m

p
ro

v
e

 t
h

e
 e

d
u

c
a
ti
o

n
a

l 
o

u
tc

o
m

e
s
 f

o
r 

d
is

a
d
v
a

n
ta

g
e

d
 g

ro
u

p
s
 i
n
c
lu

d
in

g
 L

A
C

; 
S

E
N

; 
a

n
d
 

p
u
p

ils
 e

lig
ib

le
 f

o
r 

F
re

e
 S

c
h

o
o

l 
M

e
a
ls

 o
r 

P
u

p
il 

P
re

m
iu

m
 

E
d

u
c
a

ti
o
n

 O
u
tc

o
m

e
s
 a

t:
 


 

E
a

rl
y
 Y

e
a
rs

 


 

K
e

y
 S

ta
g

e
 2

  


 

K
e

y
 S

ta
g

e
 4

  
 

F
o
r 

d
is

a
d
v
a

n
ta

g
e

d
 g

ro
u

p
s
 o

f 
p

u
p

ils
  

C
h

ild
re

n
 a

n
d

 Y
o

u
n
g

 
P

e
o
p

le
’s

 P
la

n
 2

0
1

6
 -

2
0
1
9
 

 C
S

F
 D

e
p

a
rt

m
e

n
ta

l 
E

q
u

a
lit

ie
s
 a

n
d
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it
y
 

C
o

h
e

s
io

n
 A

n
n
u

a
l 
P

la
n
  

 A
n

n
u

a
l 
S

c
h

o
o

l 
S

ta
n
d

a
rd

s
 

R
e

p
o

rt
 

  

C
S

F
 

1
2
. 
C

h
a
lle

n
g

e
 s

c
h

o
o

ls
 t
o

 i
m

p
ro

v
e

 a
tt

e
n
d

a
n
c
e

 a
n

d
 

re
d
u

c
e
 e

x
c
lu

s
io

n
s
 f

o
r 

a
ll 

c
h

ild
re

n
. 

S
c
h

o
o

l 
a

tt
e

n
d

a
n
c
e

 i
n
 p

ri
m

a
ry

 
a

n
d

 s
e

c
o

n
d
a

ry
 s

c
h
o

o
ls

  


 

%
 a

tt
e

n
d

a
n

c
e
 


 

%
 p

e
rs

is
te

n
t 

a
b
s
e

n
c
e

  

 E
x
c
lu

s
io

n
s
 i
n

 p
ri
m

a
ry

 a
n
d

 
s
e

c
o
n

d
a

ry
 s

c
h

o
o

ls
  


 

%
 o

f 
p

e
rm

a
n
e

n
t 

e
x
c
lu

s
io

n
s
  


 

%
 o

f 
fi
x
e

d
-t

e
rm

 
e

x
c
lu

s
io

n
s
 

C
h

ild
re

n
 a

n
d

 Y
o

u
n
g

 
P

e
o
p

le
’s

 P
la

n
 2

0
1

6
 -

2
0
1
9
 

 C
S

F
 D

e
p

a
rt

m
e

n
ta

l 
E

q
u

a
lit

ie
s
 a

n
d
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it
y
 

C
o

h
e

s
io

n
 A

n
n
u

a
l 
P

la
n
  

 A
n

n
u

a
l 
S

c
h

o
o

l 
S

ta
n
d

a
rd

s
 

R
e

p
o

rt
 

  

C
S

F
 

1
3
. 
W

o
rk

 w
it
h

 L
o

n
d
o

n
 C

o
u
n
c
ils

, 
a

s
 t
h

e
 b

o
ro

u
g

h
 l
e

a
d

 

fo
r 

a
 p

a
n
-L

o
n

d
o

n
 e

m
p

lo
y
m

e
n
t 
p

ro
je

c
t 
to

 a
d

d
re

s
s
 

th
e
 f
o

llo
w

in
g

 t
w

o
 p

ri
o

ri
ti
e

s
 –

 

1
. 
In

c
lu

s
iv

e
 l
a
b

o
u

r 
m

a
rk

e
ts

  

2
. 

S
k
ill

s
 f

o
r 

G
ro

w
th

 

 

Q
u

a
rt

e
rl
y
 o

u
tp

u
ts

 p
ro

v
id

e
d

 b
y
 

th
e
 c

o
n
tr

a
c
to

r 
o

n
  

T
o
ta

l 
p

a
rt

ic
ip

a
n

ts
 a

n
d

 i
n
c
lu

d
in

g
: 

• 
lo

n
g

 t
e

rm
 u

n
e
m

p
lo

y
e

d
 

• 
o

v
e

r 
5

0
’s

  

• 
e

th
n

ic
 m

in
o
ri
ti
e

s
 

E
c
o

n
o

m
ic

 D
e
v
e

lo
p
m

e
n
t 

S
tr

a
te

g
y
 

E
&

R
 

Page 61



1
6
 

 
 

 K
e

y
 a

c
ti

v
it

y
 

P
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c

e
 M

e
a
s

u
re

 
K

e
y
 s

tr
a

te
g

y
/P

la
n

 
D

e
p

a
rt

m
e

n
t/

 
D

iv
is

io
n

 

E
q

u
a

li
ty

 O
b

je
c
ti

v
e

 2
: 

P
ro

v
id

e
 e

q
u

a
li
ty

 o
f 

a
c
c

e
s

s
 t

o
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s

 f
o

r 
d

is
a
d

v
a

n
ta

g
e

d
 g

ro
u

p
s

 
 

1
. 

A
d

u
lt
 S

o
c
ia

l 
C

a
re

  
- 

e
n
s
u
re

 e
q

u
a
lit

y
 o

f 
u

p
ta

k
e
 o

f 

s
o

c
ia

l 
c
a

re
 f
o

r 
a

ll-
 i
n

 l
in

e
 w

it
h

 r
e

s
id

e
n

ts
’ 
n

e
e

d
s
 -

a
n
d

 t
a
k
e
 a

c
ti
o

n
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
 c

o
m

m
is

s
io

n
in

g
 a

n
d
 

p
ro

v
is

io
n
 d

e
c
is

io
n
s
 t

o
 i
m

p
ro

v
e

 e
q

u
a
lit

y
 o

f 
u

p
ta

k
e
 

 

A
n

n
u

a
l 
a

n
a

ly
s
is

 o
f 

p
a
tt
e

rn
 o

f 

s
e

rv
ic

e
 u

s
e

 b
y
 c

h
a
ra

c
te

ri
s
ti
c
s
 

re
la

ti
n
g

 t
o
 n

e
e

d
- 

in
c
lu

d
in

g
 

e
th

n
ic

it
y
  

C
o

m
m

is
s
io

n
in

g
 /
s
e

rv
ic

e
 

p
la

n
s
  

C
&

H
 

2
. 

H
o

u
s
in

g
 –

p
re

v
e

n
ti
o

n
 o

f 
h
o

m
e

le
s
s
n
e

s
s
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
 

a
d
v
ic

e
 a

n
d

 a
s
s
is

ta
n
c
e
 

4
5
0

 c
a

s
e

s
 a

n
n

u
a

l 
ta

rg
e

t 
S

e
rv

ic
e

 p
la

n
 

C
&

H
 

3
. 

E
n

g
a
g

e
 B

A
M

E
 g

ro
u

p
s
 t
o
 i
n
fo

rm
 a

d
u

lt
 l
e

a
rn

in
g

 a
n
d

 

lib
ra

ry
 s

e
rv

ic
e

 d
e

v
e

lo
p
m

e
n
t,
 t

a
ilo

re
d

 t
o
 t

h
e
ir
 

n
e
e

d
s
. 

A
 r

a
n
g

e
 o

f 
s
e

rv
ic

e
s
 a

re
 c

u
rr

e
n
tl
y
 

p
ro

v
id

e
d

. 
W

o
rk

s
h

o
p

s
 w

ill
 b

e
 

u
s
e
d

 t
o
 d

ir
e

c
t 

w
h

e
re

 s
o
m

e
 o

f 
o

u
r 

fu
tu

re
 r

e
s
o
u

rc
e
s
 a

re
 p

la
c
e

d
. 

 R
u

n
 2

 w
o

rk
s
h

o
p

s
 e

a
c
h
 y

e
a
r.

 

M
e

rt
o

n
 A

d
u
lt
 L

e
a

rn
in

g
 

S
tr

a
te

g
y
 

C
&

H
 

4
. 

D
is

a
b
ili

ti
e

s
 a

n
d

 a
u

ti
s
m

 –
 t
o

 a
s
s
e
s
s
 t
h

e
 n

e
e

d
 a

n
d
  
  

p
ic

tu
re

 o
f 

in
e
q

u
a
lit

ie
s
 a

n
d

 i
n
e

q
u

it
y
 f
o

r 
p

e
o

p
le

 w
it
h

 

d
is

a
b
ili

ti
e

s
 a

n
d

 a
u

ti
s
m

 i
n

 M
e

rt
o

n
, 

a
n
d

 d
e

v
e

lo
p
 

a
u
ti
s
m

 a
n
d

 d
is

a
b
ili

ti
e

s
 s

tr
a

te
g

ie
s
 a

n
d
 a

c
ti
o

n
 p

la
n
s
 

to
 t
a

c
k
le

 g
a

p
s
 i
n

 s
u

p
p

o
rt

, 
p

ro
v
is

io
n
 a

n
d

 a
c
c
e

s
s
. 

T
h

e
s
e
 w

ill
 t

a
k
e

 a
 p

ra
g

m
a
ti
c
 a

p
p

ro
a
c
h

 i
n
 

re
c
o
g

n
it
io

n
 o

f 
e

x
is

ti
n

g
 f

in
a

n
c
ia

l 
c
o

n
s
tr

a
in

ts
 i
n

 t
h

e
 

s
ta

tu
to

ry
 s

e
c
to

r,
 l
o

o
k
in

g
 a

t 
o

p
ti
m

is
in

g
 e

x
is

ti
n

g
 

re
s
o
u

rc
e

s
. 

N
e

e
d

s
 a

s
s
e

s
s
m

e
n
ts

 o
n
 a

u
ti
s
m

 
a

n
d

 d
is

a
b
ili

ti
e

s
 c

o
m

p
le

te
d

. 
S

tr
a

te
g

ie
s
 a

n
d

 a
c
ti
o

n
 p

la
n

s
 

d
e
v
e

lo
p
e

d
 f

o
r 

a
u
ti
s
m

 (
b

y
 

S
e

p
te

m
b

e
r 

2
0
1

7
) 

a
n
d
 d

is
a

b
ili

ti
e

s
 

(b
y
 3

1
 M

a
rc

h
 2

0
1

8
).

 

H
e

a
lt
h

 a
n

d
 W

e
llb

e
in

g
 

S
tr

a
te

g
y
 

C
h

ild
re

n
 a

n
d

 Y
o

u
n
g

 
P

e
o
p

le
’s

 P
la

n
 2

0
1

6
-1

9
 

C
&

H
 

C
S

F
 

Page 62



1
7
 

 
 

 K
e

y
 a

c
ti

v
it

y
 

P
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c

e
 M

e
a
s

u
re

 
K

e
y
 s

tr
a

te
g

y
/P

la
n

 
D

e
p

a
rt

m
e

n
t/

 
D

iv
is

io
n

 

5
. 

P
ro

v
id

e
 a

n
 a

s
s
is

te
d
 c

o
lle

c
ti
o
n

 f
o
r 

re
s
id

e
n

ts
 w

h
o
 

o
th

e
rw

is
e

 m
a

y
 n

o
t 
b

e
 a

b
le

 t
o
 p

re
s
e

n
t 
th

e
ir
 

w
h

e
e

le
d
 b

in
 i
n
 a

c
c
o
rd

a
n
c
e

 w
it
h

 s
ta

n
d

a
rd

 p
o

lic
y
 

1
0
0

%
 o

f 
th

o
s
e

 r
e
q

u
e
s
ti
n

g
 

a
s
s
is

te
d
 c

o
lle

c
ti
o
n
 w

h
o
 m

e
e
t 
th

e
 

c
ri
te

ri
a
 s

e
t 
o

u
t 
in

 t
h

e
 s

ta
n

d
a

rd
 

p
o
lic

y
 t

o
 r

e
c
e
iv

e
 a

s
s
is

te
d
 

c
o

lle
c
ti
o
n

s
 

 
E

&
R

 

6
. 

C
o

n
ti
n

u
e

s
 t

o
 r

a
is

e
 t

h
e
 i
s
s
u

e
 o

f 
s
te

p
 f
re

e
 a

c
c
e
s
s
 a

t 

tr
a

in
 s

ta
ti
o
n

s
 s

u
c
h
 a

s
 M

o
ts

p
u

r 
P

a
rk

, 
R

a
y
n

e
s
 P

a
rk

 

, 
W

im
b

le
d
o

n
 P

a
rk

 S
ta

ti
o
n

s
 a

s
 o

p
p

o
rt

u
n

it
ie

s
 a

ri
s
e

 

T
h

is
 f
a

lls
 u

n
d

e
r 

N
e

tw
o

rk
 R

a
il’

s
 

ju
ri
s
d
ic

ti
o

n
. 
H

o
w

e
v
e

r,
 t

h
e

 c
o

u
n

c
il 

w
ill

 c
o

n
ti
n

u
e

 t
o

 r
a

is
e

 t
h

is
 a

t 
th

e
 

S
o

u
th

 L
o

n
d
o

n
 P

a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 

m
e

e
ti
n
g

s
 a

n
d

 a
t 

o
th

e
r 

s
ta

k
e
 

h
o
ld

e
r 

g
ro

u
p

s
. 

 

M
e

rt
o

n
 L

o
c
a

l 
P

la
n
 &

 L
o
c
a

l 
Im

p
le

m
e

n
ta

ti
o

n
 P

la
n

 
E

&
R

 

7
. 

W
o
rk

 w
it
h

 T
fL

 t
o

 e
n
s
u

re
 t
h

a
t 

a
ll 

s
ig

n
a
lis

e
d
 

c
ro

s
s
in

g
s
 h

a
v
e

 t
h

e
 a

p
p
ro

p
ri
a

te
 t
a

c
ti
le

 a
n

d
 a

u
d

ib
le

 

fe
a
tu

re
s
 &

 a
ll 

o
th

e
r 

c
o

n
tr

o
lle

d
 c

ro
s
s
in

g
s
 h

a
v
e

 t
h

e
 

a
p
p

ro
p

ri
a
te

 t
a

c
ti
le

 p
a

v
in

g
 

 

A
ll 

c
o

n
tr

o
lle

d
 c

ro
s
s
in

g
s
 o

n
 

b
o
ro

u
g

h
 r

o
a
d

s
 a

d
h

e
re

 t
o
 t

h
e
 

re
g

u
la

ti
o
n

 a
n

d
 a

re
 D

D
A

 

c
o

m
p

lia
n
t.
 T

fL
 h

a
v
e

 r
e

c
e
n

tl
y
 

c
o

m
p

le
te

d
 t

h
e
ir
 r

e
v
ie

w
 a

n
d
 

re
m

e
d

ia
l 
w

o
rk

s
 a

t 
a

ll 
s
ig

n
a

lis
e

d
 

ju
n
c
ti
o

n
s
. 

 

M
e

rt
o

n
 L

o
c
a

l 
P

la
n
 &

 L
o
c
a

l 
Im

p
le

m
e

n
ta

ti
o

n
 P

la
n

 
E

&
R

 

Page 63



1
8
 

 
 

 K
e

y
 a

c
ti

v
it

y
 

P
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c

e
 M

e
a
s

u
re

 
K

e
y
 s

tr
a

te
g

y
/P

la
n

 
D

e
p

a
rt

m
e

n
t/

 
D

iv
is

io
n

 

8
. 

W
h
e
re

 p
o
s
s
ib

le
, 
th

e
 C

o
u
n

c
il 

e
n
d

e
a

v
o

u
rs

 t
o

 m
a
k
e
 

th
e
 p

u
b

lic
 r

e
a
lm

 a
c
c
e

s
s
ib

le
 b

y
: 

 A
. 

e
n
s
u

re
 t
h

a
t 
th

e
 k

e
rb

s
 a

re
 d

ro
p

p
e
d
 a

t 
k
e

y
 

lo
c
a
ti
o

n
s
 s

u
c
h
 a

s
 a

t 
ju

n
c
ti
o

n
s
; 

 

B
. 

d
e
-c

lu
tt

e
r 

th
e
 f
o

o
tw

a
y
s
 a

n
d
 f

o
o
tp

a
th

s
 t

o
 

im
p

ro
v
e

 a
c
c
e

s
s
ib

ili
ty

  

C
. 

e
n
s
u

ri
n
g

 t
h

a
t 
d

ro
p

p
e
d
 k

e
rb

s
 a

t 
fo

rm
a

l 

c
ro

s
s
in

g
s
 a

n
d
 a

t 
s
o
m

e
 i
n
fo

rm
a

l 
c
ro

s
s
in

g
s
 

h
a
v
e

 t
h

e
 a

p
p

ro
p
ri
a

te
 t

a
c
ti
le

 p
a

v
in

g
. 

A
tt

e
n
d

 q
u
a

rt
e

rl
y
 m

e
e
ti
n

g
s
 w

it
h

 

th
e
 s

u
b
-r

e
g

io
n
a

l 
m

o
b
ili

ty
 f

o
ru

m
s
 

 T
h

is
 i
s
 a

ls
o

 m
e

a
s
u

re
d
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
 

th
e
 a

n
n

u
a

l 
m

o
n
it
o
ri
n

g
 o

f 
th

e
 

L
o
c
a

l 
Im

p
le

m
e

n
ta

ti
o

n
 P

la
n
  

L
o
c
a

l 
Im

p
le

m
e

n
ta

ti
o

n
 P

la
n
 

E
&

R
 

9
. 

C
o

n
ti
n

u
e

 t
o
 w

o
rk

 w
it
h

 B
A

M
E

 V
o

ic
e

, 
M

e
rt

o
n
 C

e
n
tr

e
 

F
o
r 

In
d
e

p
e

n
d

e
n

t 
L

iv
in

g
, 
th

e
 L

G
B

T
 a

n
d

 F
a

it
h
 a

n
d
 

B
e

lie
f 

fo
ru

m
s
 t

o
 d

is
s
e

m
in

a
te

 a
n

d
 r

a
is

e
 a

w
a

re
n

e
s
s
 

in
 t

h
e
ir
 r

e
s
p
e

c
ti
v
e

 c
o

m
m

u
n
it
ie

s
 o

f 
s
e

rv
ic

e
s
 a

n
d
 

s
u

p
p

o
rt

 o
n
 o

ff
e
re

d
 b

y
 t
h

e
 c

o
u
n

c
il 

a
n
d

 p
a
rt

n
e
rs

. 
  

H
o

ld
 r

e
g
u

la
r 

o
r 

q
u

a
rt

e
rl
y
 

m
e

e
ti
n
g

s
  

V
o

lu
n
ta

ry
 S

e
c
to

r 
S

tr
a

te
g

y
 

C
S

 

1
0
. 
C

o
n
ti
n

u
e

 t
o
 t

a
rg

e
t 
fa

m
ili

e
s
 l
iv

in
g

 i
n

 a
re

a
s
 o

f 

d
e
p

ri
v
a

ti
o
n

 t
o

 u
ti
lis

e
 c

h
ild

re
n

’s
 c

e
n
tr

e
s
  

  


 

%
 o

f 
to

ta
l 
0
-4

 y
e

a
r 

e
s
ti
m

a
te

d
 C

e
n
s
u

s
 2

0
1

1
 

p
o
p

u
la

ti
o
n

 f
ro

m
 a

re
a

s
 o

f 
d

e
p

ri
v
a

ti
o
n

 (
ID

A
C

I 
3

0
%

) 
w

h
o
s
e

 f
a
m

ili
e

s
 h

a
v
e

 
a

c
c
e
s
s
e

d
 c

h
ild

re
n

’s
 

c
e

n
te

r 
s
e

rv
ic

e
s
 

  

C
h

ild
re

n
 a

n
d

 Y
o

u
n
g

 
P

e
o
p

le
’s

 P
la

n
 2

0
1

6
 -

2
0
1
9
 

 
 

 

C
S

F
 

Page 64



1
9
 

 
 

 K
e

y
 a

c
ti

v
it

y
 

P
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c

e
 M

e
a
s

u
re

 
K

e
y
 s

tr
a

te
g

y
/P

la
n

 
D

e
p

a
rt

m
e

n
t/

 
D

iv
is

io
n

 

1
1
. 
E

n
s
u
re

 t
h

a
t 
lo

o
k
e

d
 a

ft
e
r 

c
h

ild
re

n
 a

c
h
ie

v
e

 l
o
n

g
-

te
rm

 s
ta

b
ili

ty
 a

n
d

 p
e

rm
a
n

e
n

c
y
  

    


 

N
u

m
b

e
rs

 o
f 

c
h

ild
re

n
 

a
d
o

p
te

d
 o

r 
s
u

b
je

c
t 

o
f 

a
 

s
p

e
c
ia

l 
g

u
a
rd

ia
n
s
h

ip
 

o
rd

e
r 

 


 

%
 o

f 
L

A
C

 i
n

 p
la

c
e
m

e
n
t 

fo
r 

a
t 
le

a
s
t 
2

 y
e

a
rs

 


 

%
 o

f 
L

A
C

 a
t 
th

e
 e

n
d

 o
f 

th
e
 m

o
n
th

 w
it
h

 3
 o

r 
m

o
re

 
p

la
c
e
m

e
n
ts

 
 

C
h

ild
re

n
 a

n
d

 Y
o

u
n
g

 
P

e
o
p

le
’s

 P
la

n
 2

0
1

6
 -

2
0
1
9
 

 L
o
o

k
e

d
 a

ft
e

r 
C

h
ild

re
n

 a
n
d

 
C

a
re

 L
e
a

v
e

rs
 S

tr
a
te

g
y
  

 
 

 

C
S

F
 

1
2
. 
E

n
s
u
re

 t
h

e
 t

im
e

ly
 d

e
li

v
e

ry
 o

f 
E

d
u

c
a
ti

o
n

, 
H

e
a
lt

h
 

a
n

d
 C

a
re

 P
la

n
s

 f
o

r 
c
h

ild
re

n
 w

it
h

 s
p

e
c
ia

l 

e
d
u

c
a
ti
o

n
a

l 
n

e
e

d
s
 a

n
d
 d

is
a

b
ili

ti
e

s
. 

 

 


 

%
 E

d
u
c
a
ti
o

n
, 

H
e

a
lt
h
 a

n
d
 

C
a

re
 P

la
n
s
 c

o
m

p
le

te
d
 

w
it
h

in
 t

im
e

s
c
a
le

  

C
h

ild
re

n
 a

n
d

 Y
o

u
n
g

 
P

e
o
p

le
’s

 P
la

n
 2

0
1

6
 -

2
0
1
9
 

   

C
S

F
 

 
 

 
 

E
q

u
a

li
ty

 O
b

je
c
ti

v
e

 3
: 

E
n

s
u

re
 r

e
g

e
n

e
ra

ti
o

n
 p

la
n

s
 a

n
d

 a
c
ti

v
it

ie
s
 i
n

c
re

a
s

e
 t

h
e
 o

p
p

o
rt

u
n

it
y
 f

o
r 

a
ll
 M

e
rt

o
n

’s
 r

e
s
id

e
n

ts
 t

o
 f

u
lf

il
 t

h
e
ir

 
e

d
u

c
a

ti
o

n
a
l,
 h

e
a

lt
h

 a
n

d
 e

c
o

n
o

m
ic

 p
o

te
n

ti
a

l,
 p

a
rt

ic
ip

a
te

 i
n

 t
h

e
 r

e
n

e
w

a
l 
o

f 
th

e
 b

o
ro

u
g

h
 a

n
d

 c
re

a
te

 a
 h

e
a

lt
h

 p
ro

m
o

ti
n

g
 e

n
v
ir

o
n

m
e

n
t.

 
 

1
. 

M
e

rt
o

n
 P

a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 t
o
 l
o
o

k
 a

t 
o

p
p

o
rt

u
n
it
ie

s
 

th
ro

u
g

h
 t

h
e
 O

n
e
 P

u
b
lic

 E
s
ta

te
 p

ro
g

ra
m

m
e

 t
o
 

re
v
ie

w
 h

o
w

 t
h

e
 p

u
b

lic
 s

e
c
to

r 
c
o

lle
c
ti
v
e

ly
 u

s
e
s
 i
ts

 

p
u
b

lic
 e

s
ta

te
 a

n
d

 s
u

p
p

o
rt

s
 t
h

e
 V

C
S

 t
o

 d
e

liv
e

r 

in
c
re

a
s
e

d
 s

o
c
ia

l 
v
a

lu
e
. 

R
e

p
o

rt
 t
o

 M
e

rt
o

n
 P

a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 o
n

 
O

P
E

 o
p
p

o
rt

u
n
it
ie

s
 A

u
tu

m
n

 2
0

1
7
 

O
n

e
 P

u
b
lic

 E
s
ta

te
 

p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
 

C
S

/E
R

 

Page 65



2
0
 

 
 

 K
e

y
 a

c
ti

v
it

y
 

P
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c

e
 M

e
a
s

u
re

 
K

e
y
 s

tr
a

te
g

y
/P

la
n

 
D

e
p

a
rt

m
e

n
t/

 
D

iv
is

io
n

 

2
. 

C
o

n
ti
n

u
e

 t
o
 s

u
p
p

o
rt

 y
o

u
n

g
 p

e
o

p
le

 i
n
to

 E
d

u
c
a

ti
o
n
, 

E
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 

a
n
d
 T

ra
in

in
g

 

R
e

d
u

c
e
 t

h
e
 %

 o
f 

N
E

E
T

 y
o

u
n

g
 

p
e
o

p
le

 
  R

e
d
u

c
e
 t

h
e
 %

 o
f 

“n
o
t 
k
n
o

w
n

” 
N

E
E

T
 

 
R

e
d
u

c
e
 t

h
e
 %

 o
f 

C
a

re
 L

e
a
v
e

rs
 

N
E

E
T

 
 

 

C
h

ild
re

n
 a

n
d

 Y
o

u
n
g

 
P

e
o
p

le
’s

 P
la

n
 2

0
1

6
 -

2
0
1
9
 

  L
o
o

k
e

d
 a

ft
e

r 
C

h
ild

re
n

 a
n
d

 
C

a
re

 L
e
a

v
e

rs
 S

tr
a
te

g
y
  

  

C
S

F
 

 
 

3
. 

H
o

u
s
in

g
 n

e
e

d
s
 f

o
r 

v
u

ln
e
ra

b
le

 p
e

o
p
le

 a
n

d
 f
a

m
ili

e
s
 

to
 b

e
 c

o
n
s
id

e
re

d
 a

s
 p

a
rt

 o
f 

th
e
 a

ff
o
rd

a
b

le
 h

o
u

s
in

g
 

p
ro

p
o

rt
io

n
 o

f 
a

ll 
p

la
n
n

in
g
 a

p
p

lic
a

ti
o
n

s
 (

p
la

n
n

in
g

 

c
o

n
d

it
io

n
s
 s

1
0
6

) 

A
ff

o
rd

a
b

le
 h

o
u

s
in

g
 s

u
p
p

ly
 a

n
d

 
n

o
m

in
a
ti
o

n
s
 p

o
lic

y
 b

e
tw

e
e
n

 
L

B
M

 a
n
d

 R
P

s
. 

H
o

u
s
in

g
 S

tr
a
te

g
y
 &

 
M

e
rt

o
n
’s

 L
o
c
a

l 
P

la
n

 
E

&
R

 

4
. 

W
e
 w

ill
 w

o
rk

 w
it
h

 C
la

ri
o
n

-L
a
ti
m

e
r 

to
 p

ro
m

o
te

 

a
c
c
e
s
s
 t
o

 l
o
c
a

l 
e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 

a
n
d
 a

p
p

re
n
ti
c
e

s
h
ip

s
 

o
p
p

o
rt

u
n
it
ie

s
 v

ia
 p

la
n
n

in
g

 c
o

n
d

it
io

n
s
 a

n
d
 f

o
r 

C
la

ri
o
n

’s
 p

ro
c
u

re
m

e
n
t 
fo

r 
re

-b
u
ild

in
g

 t
h

e
 e

s
ta

te
s
. 

T
o
 b

e
 d

e
te

rm
in

e
d

 a
n

d
 m

o
n
it
o

re
d

 
a

s
 p

la
n
n

in
g
 c

o
n
d

it
io

n
s
 o

f 
th

e
 

re
g

e
n
e

ra
ti
o

n
. 
  

M
e

rt
o

n
’s

 L
o
c
a

l 
P

la
n
 &

 
E

s
ta

te
s
 L

o
c
a

l 
P

la
n
 

E
&

R
 

E
q

u
a

li
ty

 O
b

je
c
ti

v
e

 4
: 

T
o

 e
n

c
o

u
ra

g
e
  
re

c
ru

it
m

e
n

t 
fr

o
m

 a
ll
 s

e
c
ti

o
n

s
 o

f 
th

e
 c

o
m

m
u

n
it

y
, 

a
c
ti

v
e

ly
 p

ro
m

o
te

 s
ta

ff
 d

e
v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t 

a
n

d
 c

a
re

e
r 

p
ro

g
re

s
s

io
n

 o
p

p
o

rt
u

n
it

ie
s
 a

n
d

 e
m

b
e
d

 e
q

u
a
li
ti

e
s
 a

c
ro

s
s
 t

h
e
 o

rg
a

n
is

a
ti

o
n

 
 

1
. 

M
o

n
it
o

r 
p

ro
g

re
s
s
 w

it
h

 r
e
s
p

e
c
t 
to

 t
h

e
 r

e
c
ru

it
m

e
n
t 
o
f 

a
p
p

re
n

ti
c
e
s
h

ip
s
 a

s
 r

e
q

u
ir
e

d
 t
h

ro
u
g

h
 t

h
e
 W

a
s
te

 

C
o

lle
c
ti
o
n

 a
n

d
 E

n
v
ir
o

n
m

e
n
ta

l 
S

e
rv

ic
e

s
 C

o
n

tr
a

c
t 

%
 o

f 
a

p
p
re

n
ti
c
e

s
 a

s
 a

 p
ro

p
o

rt
io

n
 

o
f 

th
e
 t
o

ta
l 
w

o
rk

fo
rc

e
 o

p
e

ra
ti
n
g

 
o

n
 t

h
is

 c
o

n
tr

a
c
t 
w

it
h

in
 M

e
rt

o
n
. 
In

 
to

ta
l 
th

e
 L

o
t 

1
 c

o
n
tr

a
c
to

r 
h

a
s
 

c
o

m
m

it
te

d
 t

o
 2

5
 a

p
p
re

n
ti
c
e

s
h
ip

 
p

la
c
e
m

e
n
ts

 b
e
in

g
 m

a
d
e

 a
c
ro

s
s
 

th
e
 c

o
n
tr

a
c
t 
fo

r 
a

ll 
S

L
W

P
 

b
o
ro

u
g

h
s
. 

 
E

&
R

 

Page 66



2
1
 

 
 

 K
e

y
 a

c
ti

v
it

y
 

P
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c

e
 M

e
a
s

u
re

 
K

e
y
 s

tr
a

te
g

y
/P

la
n

 
D

e
p

a
rt

m
e

n
t/

 
D

iv
is

io
n

 

2
. 

E
n

s
u
re

 t
h

a
t 
th

e
 p

ro
c
u
re

m
e

n
t 
o
f 

E
n

v
ir
o

n
m

e
n
ta

l 
 

s
e

rv
ic

e
s
 c

o
n

tr
a

c
ts

, 
 a

llo
w

 f
o
r 

th
e
 r

e
c
o
g

n
it
io

n
 o

f 

s
o

c
ia

l 
v
a

lu
e
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
 t
h

e
  
e

m
p

lo
y
m

e
n
t 

o
f 

s
p

e
c
ia

l 

n
e
e

d
s
, 
 a

p
p

re
n
ti
c
e

s
h
ip

s
 a

n
d

 l
o
c
a

l 
lo

n
g

 t
e
rm

 

u
n
e

m
p

lo
y
e

d
 

A
 c

o
m

m
it
m

e
n
t 
to

 i
m

p
le

m
e

n
t 
th

e
 

C
o

n
tr

a
c
to

rs
 V

o
lu

n
ta

ry
 W

o
rk

 
P

la
c
e
m

e
n
t 

P
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
 (

V
e

o
lia

 
R

e
-s

ta
rt

) 
is

 c
o

n
ta

in
e
d

 w
it
h

in
 t

h
e
 

c
o

n
tr

a
c
t.
 T

h
is

 p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
 i
s
 r

u
n
 

in
 c

o
n

ju
n
c
ti
o

n
 w

it
h

 J
o

b
C

e
n
tr

e
 

P
lu

s
 a

n
d

 W
e
lf
a
re

 t
o
 W

o
rk

 
p

a
rt

n
e
rs

. 

 
E

&
R

 

3
. 

A
c
c
e

s
s
 t
o

 A
p

p
re

n
ti
c
e
s
h

ip
s
: 

 
1
. 

D
e
p

a
rt

m
e
n

ts
 w

ill
 w

o
rk

 w
it
h

 H
R

 t
o

 c
re

a
te

 

o
p
p

o
rt

u
n
it
ie

s
 f

o
r 

a
p
p
re

n
ti
c
e

s
h
ip

s
. 

 

2
. 

H
R

 w
ill

 w
o

rk
 w

it
h

 m
a

n
a
g

e
rs

 t
o

 g
e
t 
m

a
x
im

u
m

 

b
e
n

e
fi
t 
fr

o
m

 t
h

e
 A

p
p
re

n
ti
c
e

s
h
ip

 L
e

v
y
 b

y
 

d
e
v
e

lo
p
in

g
 e

x
is

ti
n

g
 w

o
rk

fo
rc

e
. 

 
3
. 

T
h

e
 C

o
u
n

c
il 

w
ill

 c
o

n
ti
n

u
e

 t
o
 w

o
rk

 c
lo

s
e
ly

 w
it
h

 C
S

F
 

to
 p

ri
o

ri
ti
s
e
 a

p
p
re

n
ti
c
e

s
h
ip

s
 f

o
r 

it
s
 L

o
o
k
e

d
 A

ft
e

r 

C
h

ild
re

n
 a

n
d

 C
a
re

 L
e
a

v
e

rs
. 

    

H
R

 w
ill

 h
o
s
t 
q

u
a
rt

e
rl
y
 

a
p
p

re
n

ti
c
e

s
h
ip

 a
w

a
re

n
e

s
s
 

w
o

rk
s
h

o
p

s
 f
o

r 
m

a
n
a
g

e
rs

. 
 

 %
 o

f 
a

p
p
re

n
ti
c
e

s
h
ip

 l
e
v
y
 

a
c
c
e
s
s
e

d
 p

e
r 

w
o

rk
fo

rc
e

. 
 P

ro
v
id

e
 r

e
g

u
la

r 
a

p
p

re
n
ti
c
e

s
h
ip

 
n

e
w

s
 s

to
ri
e
s
 a

n
d
 p

la
n
 a

c
ti
v
it
ie

s
 

fo
r 

A
p

p
re

n
ti
c
e

s
h
ip

 D
a

y
 

 S
e

t 
u

p
 q

u
a

rt
e

rl
y
 m

e
e
ti
n

g
s
 w

it
h

 
H

e
a
d

 o
f 

s
e

rv
ic

e
 t

o
 e

s
ta

b
lis

h
 

w
h

ic
h

 y
o

u
n

g
 p

e
rs

o
n
/s

 w
o

u
ld

 
b

e
n

e
fi
t 
fr

o
m

 p
a
rt

ic
ip

a
ti
n
g

 i
n
 a

n
 

a
p
p

re
n

ti
c
e

s
h
ip

 s
c
h

e
m

e
 a

n
d
 

d
e
te

rm
in

e
 t

h
e
 s

u
p
p

o
rt

 n
e
e

d
e

d
 t

o
 

e
n
s
u

re
 t
h

e
 y

o
u
n
g

 p
e
rs

o
n
 f

u
lf
ils

 
th

e
ir
 p

o
te

n
ti
a

l 
 

W
o
rk

fo
rc

e
 S

tr
a

te
g

y
 

C
S

 

Page 67



2
2
 

 
 

 K
e

y
 a

c
ti

v
it

y
 

P
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c

e
 M

e
a
s

u
re

 
K

e
y
 s

tr
a

te
g

y
/P

la
n

 
D

e
p

a
rt

m
e

n
t/

 
D

iv
is

io
n

 

4
. 

In
c
re

a
s
e
 t

h
e
 d

iv
e

rs
it
y
 o

f 
S

e
n
io

r 
L

e
a

d
e

rs
h

ip
 T

e
a
m

: 

 
1
. 

W
e
 c

a
n
n

o
t 

p
o
s
it
iv

e
ly

 d
is

c
ri
m

in
a
te

 h
o
w

e
v
e

r 
w

e
 w

ill
 

e
n
s
u

re
 t
h

a
t 
o

u
r 

re
c
ru

it
m

e
n
t 

p
ro

c
e
s
s
e

s
 a

re
 

a
d
h

e
re

d
 t
o

 f
o

r 
s
e

n
io

r 
ro

le
s
 i
n
c
lu

d
in

g
 t
h

e
 

a
p
p

o
in

tm
e

n
t 
o
f 
th

e
 b

e
s
t 
c
a

n
d

id
a
te

 f
o
r 

th
e
 r

o
le

. 

 
2
. 

H
R

 w
ill

 e
n
s
u

re
 t

h
a
t 
th

e
 C

o
u
n

c
il’

s
 E

x
e

c
u
ti
v
e

 s
e

a
rc

h
 

c
o

n
s
u

lt
a

n
ts

 a
n
d

 r
e

c
ru

it
m

e
n
t 
te

a
m

 a
d
v
e

rt
is

e
 t
h

e
 

v
a

c
a
n

c
ie

s
 w

id
e
ly

. 

  
3
. 

H
R

 w
ill

 m
o

n
it
o

r 
e
q

u
a
l 
a
c
c
e

s
s
 t
o

 L
e

a
rn

in
g
 a

n
d

 

D
e

v
e

lo
p
m

e
n
t 

o
p
p

o
rt

u
n
it
ie

s
 i
n
c
lu

d
in

g
 m

a
n
a
g

e
m

e
n
t 

a
n
d

 l
e
a

d
e

rs
h

ip
 d

e
v
e

lo
p
m

e
n
t.
 

  
4
. 

F
o
r 

a
n
 o

rg
a

n
is

a
ti
o
n
 t

o
 h

a
v
e

 a
 h

e
a

lt
h

y
, 

h
a
rm

o
n
io

u
s
 

c
u

lt
u

re
 i
t 

n
e
e

d
s
 a

 m
is

s
io

n
 t

h
a
t 

u
n
if
ie

s
 i
ts

 d
iv

e
rs

e
 

s
ta

k
e

h
o

ld
e
r 

c
o

m
m

u
n
it
y
. 
T

h
e
re

fo
re

, 
e

n
g

a
g

e
m

e
n
t 

w
it
h

 t
h

e
 r

e
le

v
a

n
t 

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 i
n

te
re

s
t 
g

ro
u
p
: 

c
u

s
to

m
e

rs
, 

s
ta

ff
 a

n
d

 p
a
rt

n
e
rs

. 

 

  M
o

n
it
o

r 
re

c
ru

it
m

e
n
t 
o

n
 q

u
a

rt
e
rl
y
 

b
a
s
is

 a
n
d

 r
e

p
o

rt
 f

in
d

in
g

s
 t

o
 C

M
T

 
a

s
 p

a
rt

 o
f 
th

e
 H

R
 m

e
tr

ic
s
 r

e
p
o
rt

. 
   P

ro
v
id

e
 C

M
T

 w
it
h

 t
h

e
 e

n
d

 o
f 

re
c
ru

it
m

e
n
t 
s
u
m

m
a
ry

 
   P

ro
v
id

e
 p

a
rt

ic
ip

a
ti
o

n
 r

a
te

 o
n
 a

 
q

u
a
rt

e
rl
y
 b

a
s
is

 t
o

 i
d
e

n
ti
fy

 t
re

n
d

s
 

a
n
d

 r
e

s
p
o

n
d
 t

o
 t

h
e
s
e

 a
s
 

a
p
p

ro
p

ri
a
te

. 
  

  In
c
re

a
s
e
 r

a
ti
n
g

 b
y
 5

%
 i
n

 t
h

e
 s

ta
ff

 
s
u

rv
e

y
 i
n

 r
e

la
ti
o
n

 t
o
 

d
e
v
e

lo
p
m

e
n
t 

   

W
o
rk

fo
rc

e
 S

tr
a

te
g

y
 

C
S

 

Page 68



2
3
 

 
 

 K
e

y
 a

c
ti

v
it

y
 

P
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c

e
 M

e
a
s

u
re

 
K

e
y
 s

tr
a

te
g

y
/P

la
n

 
D

e
p

a
rt

m
e

n
t/

 
D

iv
is

io
n

 

5
. 

In
 d

e
v
e

lo
p
in

g
 H

R
 p

o
lic

ie
s
 a

n
d

 p
ro

c
e
d

u
re

s
 –

 

s
ta

tu
to

ry
 r

e
q

u
ir
e

m
e

n
t 

a
n
d

 b
e

s
t 
p

ra
c
ti
c
e

 i
s
  

in
c
o
rp

o
ra

te
d
 

P
o

lic
ie

s
 a

re
 a

g
re

e
d
 a

n
d

 s
ta

ff
 a

re
 

b
ri
e
fe

d
 a

n
d
 m

a
d
e
 a

w
a

re
 o

f 
th

e
 

n
e
w

 p
o
lic

ie
s
. 
 

 M
e

a
s
u

re
 t

a
k
e

 u
p
 o

f 
b

ri
e
fi
n

g
 

s
e

s
s
io

n
s
. 

 E
n

s
u
re

 t
h

e
 p

o
lic

ie
s
 a

re
 

c
o

m
p

lia
n
t 

w
it
h

 E
q

u
a
lit

ie
s
 A

c
t 

2
0
1
0
. 

W
o
rk

fo
rc

e
 S

tr
a

te
g

y
 

C
S

 
   

E
q

u
a

li
ty

 O
b

je
c
ti

v
e

 5
: 

P
ro

m
o

ti
n

g
 a

 s
a
fe

, 
h

e
a

lt
h

y
 a

n
d

 c
o

h
e

s
iv

e
 b

o
ro

u
g

h
 w

h
e
re

 c
o

m
m

u
n

it
ie

s
 g

e
t 

o
n

 w
e
ll
 t

o
g

e
th

e
r 

 

1
. 

In
c
re

a
s
e
 t

h
e
 c

o
n
fi
d

e
n
c
e

 o
f 

v
ic

ti
m

s
 t

o
 r

e
p
o
rt

 H
a

te
 

C
ri
m

e
 a

n
d
 D

o
m

e
s
ti
c
 V

io
le

n
c
e

  

 

T
h

e
 p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

 m
e

a
s
u
re

s
 

re
m

a
in

 t
b

c
 u

n
ti
l 
y
e

a
r 

1
 p

ri
o

ri
ti
e
s
 

a
re

 c
o

n
fi
rm

e
d
 a

n
d
 t

h
e
 s

tr
a

te
g

ic
 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
t 

is
 c

o
m

p
le

te
d

 i
n
 

J
a

n
u

a
ry

 2
0
1

7
 

 C
u

rr
e

n
t 
p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 i
s
 d

e
s
ig

n
e
d

 
to

 i
n
c
re

a
s
e

 r
e

p
o

rt
in

g
 b

y
 2

0
%

 
y
e

a
r 

o
n
 y

e
a
r 

fo
r 

2
0
1

6
-1

7
. 
T

h
is

 
w

ill
 b

e
 s

u
b
je

c
t 
to

 r
e

v
ie

w
 i
n

 t
h

e
 

n
e
w

 y
e

a
r 

w
h

e
n

 t
h

e
 s

tr
a
te

g
ic

 
a

s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
t 

is
 f

in
a
lis

e
d
 a

n
d
 t

h
e
 

M
O

P
A

C
 p

o
lic

e
 a

n
d

 c
ri

m
e

 p
la

n
 

p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 i
s
 c

o
n
fi
rm

e
d

 
   

H
a

te
 C

ri
m

e
 S

tr
a

te
g

y
 

V
io

le
n
c
e

 A
g

a
in

s
t 
W

o
m

e
n

 
a

n
d

 G
ir
ls

 S
tr

a
te

g
y
 

 

E
&

R
 

Page 69



2
4
 

 
 

 K
e

y
 a

c
ti

v
it

y
 

P
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c

e
 M

e
a
s

u
re

 
K

e
y
 s

tr
a

te
g

y
/P

la
n

 
D

e
p

a
rt

m
e

n
t/

 
D

iv
is

io
n

 

2
. 

W
o
rk

in
g

 i
n

 p
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 t
o
 d

e
liv

e
r 

th
e
 P

re
v
e

n
t 
D

u
ty

 

a
n
d

 k
e

e
p

 M
e

rt
o

n
 a

 s
a
fe

 a
n
d

 c
o

h
e

s
iv

e
 b

o
ro

u
g

h
 

H
o

ld
 m

o
n
th

ly
 P

re
v
e

n
t 

C
a
s
e

 
M

a
n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t 
m

e
e
ti
n

g
s
 

P
re

v
e

n
t 

D
e

liv
e

ry
 P

la
n

 
C

S
 L

e
a

d
  

3
. 

W
o
rk

in
g

 i
n

 p
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 t
o
 r

e
d
u

c
e
 a

lc
o

h
o

l-
re

la
te

d
 

h
a
rm

 

B
a

s
e
lin

e
 

A
d

m
is

s
io

n
 e

p
is

o
d
e

s
 f
o

r 
a

lc
o

h
o

l 
re

la
te

d
 c

o
n
d

it
io

n
s
 (

b
ro

a
d
)-

1
,8

5
8
 

ra
te

 p
e
r 

1
0
0

,0
0

0
 p

o
p

u
la

ti
o

n
 

S
tr

a
te

g
ic

 F
ra

m
e

w
o

rk
 f

o
r 

p
re

v
e

n
ti
o

n
 o

f 
s
u

b
s
ta

n
c
e

 
m

is
u

s
e
 (

S
e

p
te

m
b

e
r 

2
0
1
7

) 
L

o
c
a

l 
A

lc
o

h
o

l 
A

c
ti
o

n
 A

re
a

 

P
u

b
lic

 H
e

a
lt
h

 &
 

E
&

R
 

4
. 

C
o

n
ti
n

u
e

 t
o
 c

e
le

b
ra

te
 d

iv
e

rs
it
y
 b

y
 p

ro
m

o
ti
n
g

 

c
o

m
m

u
n
it
y
 c

o
h
e

s
io

n
 a

c
ti
v
it
y
 s

u
c
h
 a

s
  

B
la

c
k
 

H
is

to
ry

 M
o

n
th

 a
n

d
 L

G
B

T
 H

is
to

ry
 M

o
n
th

  

H
o

ld
 a

n
n

u
a

l 
c
iv

ic
 e

v
e

n
t 

fo
r 

 
H

o
lo

c
a
u

s
t 

M
e

m
o

ri
a

l 
D

a
y
 a

n
d

 
p

ro
m

o
te

 L
G

B
T

 H
is

to
ry

 M
o

n
th

 
a

n
d

 B
la

c
k
 H

is
to

ry
 M

o
n
th

 e
v
e

n
ts

 

E
q

u
a
lit

y
 S

tr
a
te

g
y
 

C
S

/E
R

 

5
. 

C
o

n
ti
n

u
e

 t
o
 w

o
rk

 c
o

lla
b
o

ra
ti
v
e

ly
 t

o
 r

e
d
u

c
e
 b

u
lly

in
g
 

in
 s

c
h

o
o

ls
  
 

 


 

%
 o

f 
p
ri
m

a
ry

 a
n
d
 

s
e

c
o
n

d
a

ry
 s

c
h

o
o
ls

 
g

ra
d
e

d
 ‘
G

o
o
d

’ 
o

r 
b

e
tt
e

r 
fo

r 
p

e
rs

o
n
a

l 
d

e
v
e

lo
p
m

e
n
t,

 b
e
h

a
v
io

u
r 

a
n
d

 w
e

lf
a

re
 b

y
 O

fs
te

d
  

 
 

C
S

F
 D

e
p

a
rt

m
e

n
ta

l 
E

q
u

a
lit

ie
s
 a

n
d
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it
y
 

C
o

h
e

s
io

n
 A

n
n
u

a
l 
P

la
n
  

  

C
S

F
 

6
. 

C
o

n
ti
n

u
e

 t
o
 w

o
rk

 i
n

 p
a

rt
n
e

rs
h

ip
 t

o
 r

e
d
u
c
e

 t
h

e
 

n
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

F
ir
s
t-

T
im

e
 E

n
tr

a
n
ts

 (
F

T
E

) 
to

 t
h

e
 Y

o
u
th

 

J
u

s
ti
c
e
 s

y
s
te

m
 a

n
d
 u

n
d

e
rt

a
k
e
 t

a
rg

e
te

d
 w

o
rk

 t
o
 

id
e
n

ti
fy

 a
n
d
 s

u
p
p

o
rt

 t
h

o
s
e

 a
t 
ri
s
k
 o

f 
o
ff

e
n
d

in
g
 a

n
d
 

re
-o

ff
e

n
d

in
g

. 

 


 

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 
F

T
E

 t
o
 t
h

e
 

Y
J
S

 a
g

e
d
 1

0
-1

7
 

 


 

R
a

te
 o

f 
p

ro
v
e

n
 

re
o
ff

e
n
d

in
g
 i
n

 t
h

e
 Y

J
S

 
 

C
h

ild
re

n
 a

n
d

 Y
o

u
n
g

 
P

e
o
p

le
’s

 P
la

n
 2

0
1

6
 -

2
0
1
9
 

 

C
S

F
 

E
q

u
a

li
ty

 O
b

je
c
ti

v
e

 6
: 

F
u

lf
il
 o

u
r 

s
ta

tu
to

ry
 d

u
ti

e
s

 a
n

d
 e

n
s

u
re

 (
re

le
v
a

n
t 

s
ta

k
e

h
o

ld
e

rs
 a

re
 c

o
n

s
u

lt
e

d
) 

p
ro

te
c
te

d
 g

ro
u

p
s

 a
re

 e
ff

e
c
ti

v
e

ly
 

e
n

g
a
g

e
d

 w
h

e
n

 w
e
 c

h
a
n

g
e
 o

u
r 

s
e
rv

ic
e
s
. 

1
. 

E
q

u
a
lit

y
 A

n
a
ly

s
is

 r
o

u
ti
n

e
ly

 u
n
d

e
rt

a
k
e

n
 t
o
 s

u
p
p

o
rt

 

th
e
 d

e
c
is

io
n
 m

a
k
in

g
 p

ro
c
e

s
s
  

S
a

v
in

g
s
, 
g

ro
w

th
 a

n
d
 s

e
rv

ic
e

 
re

v
ie

w
s
 t

o
 i
n
c
lu

d
e

 E
A

s
  

E
q

u
a
lit

y
 S

tr
a
te

g
y
 

A
ll 

Page 70



2
5
 

 
 

 K
e

y
 a

c
ti

v
it

y
 

P
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c

e
 M

e
a
s

u
re

 
K

e
y
 s

tr
a

te
g

y
/P

la
n

 
D

e
p

a
rt

m
e

n
t/

 
D

iv
is

io
n

 

2
. 

R
e

fr
e

s
h
 U

s
e

r 
V

o
ic

e
 S

tr
a

te
g

y
 a

n
d

 e
n

s
u

re
 c

h
ild

re
n

, 

y
o

u
n

g
 p

e
o

p
le

 a
n

d
 f

a
m

ili
e

s
 c

o
n

ti
n

u
e
 t

o
 i
m

p
a
c
t 

c
o

n
ti
n

u
o

u
s
 i
m

p
ro

v
e

m
e

n
t 
fo

r 
a

ll 
s
e
rv

ic
e

s
 a

c
ro

s
s
 

C
S

F
 

 


 

E
n

s
u
re

 e
a

c
h
 C

S
F

 s
e
rv

ic
e

 
c
o

m
m

it
 t
o

 U
s
e
r 

V
o

ic
e

 
a

c
ti
v
it
y
 i
n

 a
n

n
u
a

l 
S

e
rv

ic
e

 
P

la
n
s
. 
 

 


 

R
e

p
o

rt
 q

u
a
rt

e
rl
y
 t

o
 

D
ir
e

c
to

r’
s
 m

a
n
a
g

e
m

e
n
t 

te
a
m

 o
n
 a

n
n

u
a

l 
a

c
ti
o
n

 
p

la
n
 a

n
d

 p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
 o

f 
U

s
e

r 
V

o
ic

e
 a

c
ti
v
it
y
. 

 
  

C
S

F
 U

s
e
r 

V
o

ic
e

 S
tr

a
te

g
y
 

2
0
1
7
 -

2
0
1
9
 

C
S

F
 

3
. 

C
o

n
ti
n

u
e

 t
o
 c

o
n
s
u

lt
 w

it
h

 c
h

ild
re

n
, 

y
o

u
n

g
 p

e
o

p
le

 

a
n
d

 p
a

re
n
ts

 i
n
 t

h
e
 d

e
v
e

lo
p
m

e
n
t 
o
f 

s
e

rv
ic

e
s
 f
o

r 

c
h

ild
re

n
 w

it
h

 S
E

N
 a

n
d

 d
is

a
b
ili

ti
e

s
 i
n
 l
in

e
 w

it
h

 t
h

e
 

e
x
p

e
c
ta

ti
o
n

s
 o

f 
th

e
 C

h
ild

re
n

 a
n
d
 F

a
m

ili
e

s
 A

c
t 

2
0
1
4
 

 


 

R
e

p
o

rt
 q

u
a
rt

e
rl
y
 t

o
 

D
ir
e

c
to

r’
s
 m

a
n
a
g

e
m

e
n
t 

te
a
m

. 
 

    

C
S

F
 U

s
e
r 

V
o

ic
e

 S
tr

a
te

g
y
 

2
0
1
7
 -

2
0
1
9
 

      

C
S

F
 

   

Page 71



2
6
 

 
 

 K
e

y
 a

c
ti

v
it

y
 

P
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c

e
 M

e
a
s

u
re

 
K

e
y
 s

tr
a

te
g

y
/P

la
n

 
D

e
p

a
rt

m
e

n
t/

 
D

iv
is

io
n

 

4
. 

P
o

lli
n

g
 s

ta
ti
o

n
 r

e
v
ie

w
 t

o
 b

e
 u

n
d

e
rt

a
k
e

n
 a

h
e

a
d
 o

f 

th
e
 c

o
u
n

c
il 

e
le

c
ti
o

n
s
 i
n

 M
a

y
 2

0
1

8
 

S
e

e
k
 t

o
 e

n
s
u

re
 t

h
a
t 
a

ll 
e

le
c
to

rs
 

in
 t

h
e
 l
o

c
a
l 
a

u
th

o
ri
ty

 a
re

a
 h

a
v
e

 
s
u

c
h
 r

e
a
s
o

n
a

b
le

 f
a
c
ili

ti
e

s
 f

o
r 

v
o

ti
n
g

 a
s
 a

re
 p

ra
c
ti
c
a

b
le

 i
n

 t
h

e
 

c
ir
c
u

m
s
ta

n
c
e

s
. 

 S
e

e
k
 t

o
 e

n
s
u

re
 t

h
a
t 
s
o

 f
a
r 

a
s
 i
s
 

re
a
s
o

n
a

b
le

 a
n

d
 p

ra
c
ti
c
a

b
le

 
e

v
e

ry
 p

o
lli

n
g

 p
la

c
e
 f
o

r 
w

h
ic

h
 i
t 

is
 

re
s
p
o

n
s
ib

le
 i
s
 a

c
c
e
s
s
ib

le
 t

o
 

e
le

c
to

rs
 w

h
o
 a

re
 d

is
a

b
le

d
. 

 

E
le

c
to

ra
l 
C

o
m

m
is

s
io

n
 

P
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c
e
 S

ta
n
d

a
rd

s
 

fo
r 

R
e

tu
rn

in
g

 O
ff

ic
e
rs

  

C
S

 

5
. 

T
a

rg
e
t 
p

a
rt

ic
u

la
r 

c
o
m

m
u
n

it
ie

s
 w

h
o
 h

a
v
e

 n
o

t 

re
s
p
o

n
d

e
d

 o
r 

re
g

is
te

re
d
 t
o

 v
o

te
: 

 
1
. 

C
o

n
ti
n

u
e

 t
o
 c

o
lle

c
t 

c
o

u
n
c
il 

ta
x
 a

n
d

 h
o

u
s
in

g
 b

e
n

e
fi
t 

d
a
ta

 o
n
 a

 m
o

n
th

ly
 b

a
s
is

 i
n

 o
rd

e
r 

to
 i
d
e

n
ti
fy

 n
e
w

 

e
le

c
to

rs
, 

p
lu

s
 s

tu
d
e

n
t 

d
a
ta

 a
t 
th

e
 b

e
g

in
n
in

g
 o

f 

e
a
c
h

 a
c
a

d
e
m

ic
 y

e
a
r.

 E
x
p

a
n

d
 d

a
ta

 m
in

in
g

 i
n

 a
n
 

a
tt

e
m

p
t 
to

 g
a

in
 a

c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 r

e
g

is
tr

a
rs

, 
b

lu
e
 b

a
d
g

e
, 

a
n
d

 l
ib

ra
ri
e

s
 d

a
ta

 t
o

 i
d
e

n
ti
fy

 n
e
w

 

c
it
iz

e
n
s
/r

e
s
id

e
n

ts
. 

2
. 

C
o

m
p

a
re

 n
o
n

 r
e

s
p
o

n
d

in
g
 p

ro
p

e
rt

ie
s
 t
o

 m
o

s
a
ic

 

d
a
ta

 i
n
 o

rd
e
r 

to
 i
d

e
n

ti
fy

 i
f 

th
e
re

 a
re

 p
a
rt

ic
u

la
r 

c
o

m
m

u
n
it
ie

s
 u

n
d

e
r 

re
p
re

s
e

n
te

d
 o

n
 t

h
e
 e

le
c
to

ra
l 

re
g

is
te

r.
  
  

 

5
0
%

 o
f 

a
ll 

n
e
w

 m
o

n
th

ly
 

re
g

is
tr

a
ti
o

n
s
 t
h

ro
u
g

h
 d

a
ta

 
m

in
in

g
. 
 

E
le

c
to

ra
l 
C

o
m

m
is

s
io

n
 

P
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c
e
 S

ta
n
d

a
rd

s
 f
o

r 
E

le
c
to

ra
l 
R

e
g

is
tr

a
ti
o
n

 
O

ff
ic

e
rs

 

C
S

 

 

Page 72



2
7
 

 
 

A
p

p
e
n

d
ix

 3
: 

 C
o

m
m

e
n

ts
 a

n
d

 f
e
e

d
b

a
c

k
 f

ro
m

 c
o

n
s
u

lt
a
ti

o
n

 

S
o

u
rc

e
 

C
o

m
m

e
n

t 
 

R
e

s
p

o
n

s
e

 (
in

 p
ro

g
re

s
s
) 

C
o

rp
o

ra
te

 
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

 
E

q
u

a
li

ty
 

S
te

e
ri

n
g

 
G

ro
u

p
 

 

H
R

 s
h

o
u

ld
 c

o
n

s
id

e
r 

p
ro

d
u

c
in

g
 r

e
c
ru

it
m

e
n
t 
m

e
tr

ic
s
 t

o
 i
n

fo
rm

 d
is

c
u

s
s
io

n
s
 

w
it
h

 C
M

T
 a

n
d

 D
M

T
s
. 

 

In
c
o
rp

o
ra

te
d
 i
n

to
 t

h
e
 a

c
ti
o

n
 p

la
n
. 

O
v
e

rv
ie

w
 

a
n

d
 S

c
ru

ti
n

y
 

C
o

m
m

is
s
io

n
 

N
a

rr
o

w
in

g
 t

h
e
 g

a
p
 –

 w
e

 h
a

v
e

 t
o

 b
e

 c
a

re
fu

l 
h

e
re

. 
T

h
e
 g

a
p
 i
s
 w

id
e
n

in
g

 a
n
d
 

w
h

a
t 

is
 r

e
q

u
ir
e

d
 i
s
 i
m

p
ro

v
in

g
 o

u
tc

o
m

e
s
 f
o

r 
th

e
 m

o
s
t 

d
e
p
ri
v
e

d
. 

N
o

te
d

 a
n
d

 w
ill

 b
e

 d
is

c
u

s
s
e
d

 w
it
h

 o
ff

ic
e
rs

. 

T
a

c
k
lin

g
 C

h
ild

 O
b

e
s
it
y
 i
s
 a

 c
o
m

p
le

x
 a

re
a

 a
n
d
 a

n
 a

m
b

it
io

u
s
 a

im
 –

 h
o
w

 c
a

n
 

w
e

 r
e

a
lis

ti
c
a

lly
 m

a
k
e
 a

 d
if
fe

re
n
c
e

?
 T

h
e
 h

o
m

e
 e

n
v
ir
o

n
m

e
n
t 

is
 i
m

p
o
rt

a
n
t.

 
N

o
te

d
 a

n
d

 w
ill

 b
e
 d

is
c
u

s
s
e
d

 w
it
h

 o
ff

ic
e
rs

. 

B
e

 c
a

u
ti
o

u
s
 w

h
e
n

 l
o
o
k
in

g
 a

t 
th

e
 g

a
p
s
. 

N
o

te
d

 a
n
d

 w
ill

 b
e
 d

is
c
u

s
s
e
d

 w
it
h

 o
ff

ic
e
rs

. 

W
ill

 o
u
r 

p
la

n
n

in
g
 d

e
c
is

io
n
s
 e

n
s
u

re
 t

h
a
t 
w

e
 u

s
e

 s
e
c
 1

0
6

 f
u

n
d

in
g

 t
o

 
e

n
c
o

u
ra

g
e

 c
o

n
tr

a
c
to

rs
 t
o
 e

m
p

lo
y
 l
o

c
a
l 
p

e
o

p
le

?
 

N
o

te
d

 a
n
d

 w
ill

 b
e
 d

is
c
u

s
s
e
d

 w
it
h

 o
ff

ic
e
rs

. 

S
o

c
ia

l 
V

a
lu

e
 A

c
t 

–
 h

o
w

 r
e

a
lis

ti
c
 i
s
 i
t 
to

 h
a

v
e

 a
c
ti
o
n

s
 a

ro
u

n
d
 t

h
is

 a
n
d

 w
e

 
n

e
e

d
 p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

 i
n
d

ic
a
to

rs
 

G
u

id
a
n

c
e
 t
o

 p
ro

v
id

e
 a

 f
ra

m
e

w
o

rk
 f

o
r 

o
ff

ic
e
rs

 i
s
 

b
e
in

g
 d

e
v
e

lo
p
e

d
. 

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

 I
n

d
ic

a
to

rs
 t
o
 b

e
 

a
d
d
e
d
. 

Is
 t
h

e
 a

c
ti
o

n
 p

la
n
 a

n
 a

m
b

it
io

u
s
 w

is
h

 l
is

t?
  

H
o

w
 w

ill
 t

h
e
 a

c
ti
o

n
s
 b

e
 

m
o

n
it
o

re
d

?
 

A
c
ti
o

n
 p

la
n
 i
s
 l
in

k
e

d
 t
o

 d
e

p
a
rt

m
e

n
ta

l 
s
e

rv
ic

e
 

p
la

n
s
 a

n
d

 w
ill

 b
e
 m

o
n
it
o

re
d
 v

ia
 C

M
T

, 
O

S
C

, 
J
C

C
 

a
n
d

 D
M

T
s
. 

A
d

d
 W

im
b

le
d
o

n
 P

a
rk

 s
ta

ti
o

n
 o

n
 t
h

e
 l
is

t 
o
f 

s
ta

ti
o
n

s
 f

o
r 

d
is

c
u

s
s
io

n
 w

it
h

 T
F

L
 

fo
r 

s
te

p
-f

re
e
 a

c
c
e

s
s
 –

 a
s
 t

h
a
t 

s
ta

ti
o
n
 l
o

s
t 

o
u
t 
to

 S
o

u
th

fi
e

ld
s
 b

e
fo

re
 t

h
e
 

O
ly

m
p

ic
s
. 

 

N
o

te
d

 a
n
d

 w
ill

 b
e
 d

is
c
u

s
s
e
d

 w
it
h

 o
ff

ic
e
rs

. 

C
o

m
p

a
c

t 
B

o
a
rd

 
R

e
p
o

rt
 w

e
ll 

re
c
e
iv

e
d
 –

 s
tr

a
te

g
y
 h

a
s
 t
h

e
 r

ig
h

t 
b

a
la

n
c
e

. 
 

 

H
o

w
 w

ill
 m

a
n
a

g
e
rs

 a
c
ro

s
s
 t

h
e
 o

rg
a

n
is

a
ti
o

n
 e

n
s
u
re

 t
h

a
t 
th

e
y
 e

n
g

a
g

e
 w

it
h

 
re

s
id

e
n

ts
 a

t 
th

e
 s

ta
rt

 o
f 

c
h

a
n

g
e

s
 t

o
 s

e
rv

ic
e

 d
e

liv
e

ry
 a

n
d

 n
o

t 
a
t 
th

e
 e

n
d

?
 

 

F
e
e

d
b

a
c
k
 t

o
 b

e
 p

ro
v
id

e
d

 t
o
 C

M
T

 

 IN
V

O
L

V
E

 
T

h
e
 r

e
p
o
rt

 w
a

s
 w

e
ll 

re
c
e
iv

e
d

 
 

Page 73



2
8
 

 
 

S
o

u
rc

e
 

C
o

m
m

e
n

t 
 

R
e

s
p

o
n

s
e

 (
in

 p
ro

g
re

s
s
) 

J
o

in
t 

C
o

n
s

u
lt

a
ti

v
e

 
C

o
m

m
it

te
e
 

w
it

h
 E

th
n

ic
 

M
in

o
ri

ti
e

s
 

T
h

e
 s

tr
a

te
g

y
 i
s
 g

o
o
d
 b

u
t 
w

h
a
t 

w
ill

 b
e
 d

if
fe

re
n
t 
th

is
 t

im
e

?
 H

o
w

 w
ill

 t
h

e
 

o
u
tc

o
m

e
s
 b

e
 m

o
n
it
o
re

d
?
 

M
o

n
it
o

ri
n
g

 w
ill

 b
e
 d

o
n

e
 a

s
 o

u
tl
in

e
d

 i
n
 t
h

e
 

s
tr

a
te

g
y
; 

J
C

C
 w

ill
 a

ls
o

 r
e

c
e
iv

e
 r

e
g

u
la

r 
u

p
d

a
te

s
 

a
n
d

 h
a

v
e

 t
h

e
 o

p
p

o
rt

u
n

it
y
 t

o
 m

o
n
it
o
r 

p
ro

g
re

s
s
. 

 

C
o

n
c
e

rn
s
 e

x
p

re
s
s
e

d
 a

b
o
u

t 
th

e
 l
a

c
k
 o

f 
B

A
M

E
 s

ta
ff

  
s
e

n
io

r 
m

a
n
a
g

e
r 

ro
le

s
. 

C
M

T
 t
o

 r
e

c
e
iv

e
 a

 r
e

p
o
rt

 f
ro

m
 H

R
 

F
a
it

h
 a

n
d

 
B

e
li

e
f 

fo
ru

m
 

T
h

e
 d

ra
ft
 w

a
s
 w

e
ll 

re
c
e
iv

e
d
. 

 

“K
e

y
 a

c
ti
v
it
y
 3

 a
b

o
u
t 

c
e

le
b

ra
ti
n
g

 d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 i
s
 f

in
e
 a

s
 f

a
r 

a
s
 i
t 
g

o
e
s
. 
 

H
o

w
e

v
e

r,
 a

 m
o

re
 p

ro
-a

c
ti
v
e

 a
p

p
ro

a
c
h

 i
n
 t

h
e
 w

a
y
 o

f 
m

o
re

 o
f 

a
 p

u
b

lic
 

e
d
u

c
a
ti
o

n
 c

a
m

p
a
ig

n
 a

b
o
u

t 
d

iv
e

rs
e

 g
ro

u
p

s
, 
h

o
w

 w
e

 c
a

n
 m

o
re

 e
ff

e
c
ti
v
e

ly
 

liv
e

 t
o
g

e
th

e
r 

a
n
d
 b

e
h

a
v
e

 t
o

w
a

rd
s
 e

a
c
h
 o

th
e
r.

. 
th

e
 c

o
u
n

te
r 

a
rg

u
m

e
n
t 
w

ill
 

b
e
, 

‘b
u
t 
th

a
t 
c
o

s
ts

 m
o

n
e

y
.’
  

B
u
t 
m

a
y
b

e
 i
t 

w
o

u
ld

 s
a

v
e

 m
o

n
e

y
 o

n
 K

e
y
 

a
c
ti
v
it
ie

s
 1

 a
n
d

 2
 w

h
ic

h
 c

o
u

ld
 b

e
 c

o
n
s
id

e
re

d
 a

s
 ‘
lo

c
k
in

g
 t

h
e
 d

o
o

r 
a
ft

e
r 

th
e
 

h
o
rs

e
 h

a
s
 b

o
lt
e

d
”.

 

A
 w

a
y
 f

o
rw

a
rd

 i
s
 t
o

 p
u
t 

o
u

t 
p

o
s
it
iv

e
 m

e
s
s
a
g

e
s
 i
n
 

‘M
y
 M

e
rt

o
n
’ 
a

n
d

 t
a

lk
 a

b
o
u

t 
d

iv
e

rs
it
y
, 
fo

c
u

s
in

g
 o

n
 

th
e
 c

o
n
tr

ib
u
ti
o

n
s
 o

f 
v
a

ri
o
u

s
 c

o
m

m
u

n
it
ie

s
. 

C
a

n
 ‘
M

y
 M

e
rt

o
n
’ 
b

e
 u

s
e
d
 t

o
 p

u
b

lic
is

e
 N

is
a
-N

a
s
h
im

?
 (

J
e

w
is

h
 M

u
s
lim

 
W

o
m

e
n
's

 N
e
tw

o
rk

).
 

E
v
e

re
th

 W
ill

is
 t
o

 m
e

e
t 

w
it
h

 r
e

p
re

s
e
n
ta

ti
v
e

s
 t

o
 

d
e
v
e

lo
p
 t

h
e
 n

e
w

 i
te

m
 f

o
r 

 a
 f

u
tu

re
 e

d
it
io

n
 o

f 
M

y
 

M
e

rt
o

n
 

C
e

n
tr

e
 f

o
r 

In
d

e
p

e
n

d
e
n

t 
L

iv
in

g
 

P
la

n
n

in
g

 a
n
d

 d
e

s
ig

n
 o

f 
re

fu
rb

is
h

m
e

n
t/
d

e
v
e

lo
p
m

e
n
t 
to

 i
n
c
lu

d
e

 d
is

a
b
ili

ty
 

c
o

n
s
id

e
ra

ti
o
n

s
 f
ro

m
 t

h
e
 o

u
ts

e
t.
  

F
e
e

d
 b

a
c
k
 t
o
 b

e
 g

iv
e

n
 t

o
 P

la
n
n

in
g

 a
n
d
 

D
e

v
e

lo
p
m

e
n
t 

C
o

n
tr

o
l 
o
ff

ic
e

rs
. 

M
o

re
 e

ff
e

c
ti
v
e

 a
n

d
 r

e
g

u
la

r 
in

v
o

lv
e

m
e

n
t 

o
f 

g
ro

u
p

s
 a

n
d

 e
n

g
a
g

e
m

e
n
t 
w

it
h

 
re

s
id

e
n

ts
 r

e
q

u
ir
e

d
. 

F
e
e

d
 b

a
c
k
 t
o
 b

e
 g

iv
e

n
 t

o
 m

a
n
a
g

e
rs

. 

H
o

u
s
in

g
 a

d
v
ic

e
 n

o
t 
a

lw
a

y
s
 g

iv
e

n
 i
n

 a
 s

y
m

p
a
th

e
ti
c
 m

a
n
n

e
r.

 A
 m

o
re

 
s
e

n
s
it
iv

e
 a

p
p

ro
a

c
h

 i
s
 n

e
e

d
e

d
 t

o
 u

n
d

e
rs

ta
n
d

 t
h

e
ir
 i
s
s
u

e
s
 a

n
d

 a
n

x
ie

ti
e
s
. 

C
o

m
m

e
n
t 
to

 b
e
 g

iv
e

n
 t

o
 H

e
a
d

 o
f 

H
o

u
s
in

g
 N

e
e

d
s
 

a
n
d

 S
tr

a
te

g
y
. 

T
h

e
 e

a
s
t 
o
f 

th
e
 b

o
ro

u
g

h
 r

e
c
e
iv

e
s
 a

 p
o
o

r 
le

v
e

l 
o

f 
s
e

rv
ic

e
, 

e
.g

. 
th

e
 s

tr
e

e
ts

 
a

re
 c

le
a
n

e
r 

in
 W

im
b

le
d
o
n

 t
h

a
n
 i
n

 M
it
c
h

a
m

. 
E

ff
o

rt
s
 a

re
 b

e
in

g
 m

a
d
e

 t
o

 b
ri
d
g

e
 t
h

e
 g

a
p
 

b
e
tw

e
e
n

 t
h

e
 E

a
s
t 

a
n
d
 t

h
e

 W
e
s
t.
  

D
is

a
b
ili

ty
 i
s
 ‘
in

v
is

ib
le

’ 
N

o
te

d
 a

n
d

 w
ill

 b
e
 d

is
c
u

s
s
e
d

 w
it
h

 o
ff

ic
e
rs

. 

L
a
c
k
 o

f 
a

w
a

re
n

e
s
s
 a

n
d
 u

n
d
e

rs
ta

n
d

in
g

 o
f 

‘h
id

d
e

n
 d

is
a

b
ili

ty
’ 
s
u

c
h
 a

s
 c

h
ro

n
ic

 
ill

n
e
s
s
e

s
. 

E
v
e

re
th

 t
o
 s

p
e
a
k
 t

o
 H

R
 t
o

 l
ia

is
e

 w
it
h

 M
C

IL
 t

o
 

a
rr

a
n
g

e
 s

ta
ff

 b
ri
e
fi
n
g

s
. 

D
is

a
b
ili

ty
 i
s
 n

o
t 

c
e

le
b
ra

te
d

 i
n
 t

h
e
 s

a
m

e
 w

a
y
 a

s
 L

G
B

T
 H

is
to

ry
 M

o
n
th

 a
n

d
 

B
la

c
k
 H

is
to

ry
 M

o
n
th

. 
C

o
u
n

c
il 

w
ill

 s
u

p
p

o
rt

 v
o

lu
n
ta

ry
 s

e
c
to

r 
g

ro
u
p

s
 t

o
 

p
ro

m
o
te

 c
o
m

m
u

n
it
y
 c

o
h
e

s
io

n
 e

v
e

n
ts

 i
n

 t
h

e
 

b
o
ro

u
g

h
. 

C
h

ild
 o

b
e

s
it
y
 w

ill
 b

e
 d

if
fi
c
u

lt
 t

o
 a

c
h
ie

v
e

 b
e

c
a

u
s
e

 o
f 
c
o

m
p

le
x
 i
s
s
u

e
s
 s

u
c
h
 a

s
 

c
u

lt
u

re
 a

n
d
 t

o
o

 m
a

n
y
 f

a
s
t 
fo

o
d

 s
h

o
p
s
 (

in
 t

h
e
 e

a
s
t)

. 
C

o
n
s
id

e
ra

ti
o
n

s
 a

lr
e

a
d

y
 i
n

c
o
rp

o
ra

te
d
 i
n

 t
o
 t

h
e
 

b
ri
e
f 

fo
r 

th
e
 c

o
m

p
a
n

y
 c

o
n

d
u

c
ti
n
g

 r
e
s
e

a
rc

h
. 

Page 74



2
9
 

 
 

S
o

u
rc

e
 

C
o

m
m

e
n

t 
 

R
e

s
p

o
n

s
e

 (
in

 p
ro

g
re

s
s
) 

T
h

e
 w

e
b
s
it
e

 t
o

 a
c
c
e

s
s
 c

o
u
n

c
il 

ta
x
 r

e
d
u

c
ti
o
n
 i
s
 n

o
t 

h
e
lp

fu
l 
a

n
d
 i
s
 

c
u

m
b

e
rs

o
m

e
. 

C
o

m
m

e
n
ts

 t
o

 b
e
 p

a
s
s
e

d
 o

n
to

 o
ff

ic
e

rs
. 

W
ill

 p
a
ti
e

n
ts

 o
f 
th

e
 W

ils
o
n

 b
e

 a
b
le

 t
o

 r
e
g

is
te

r 
w

it
h

 G
.P

.s
 a

ft
e

r 
th

e
 

re
d
e

v
e

lo
p
m

e
n
t?

 
C

o
m

m
e

n
t 
to

 b
e
 p

a
s
s
e

d
 t
o

 t
h

e
 D

ir
e

c
to

r 
o
f 

P
u

b
lic

 
H

e
a
lt
h

. 

M
e

rt
o

n
 

C
e

n
tr

e
 f

o
r 

In
d

e
p

e
n

d
e
n

t 
L

iv
in

g
 

T
h

e
 D

is
a

b
ili

ty
 H

e
a
lt
h

 N
e
e

d
s
 A

s
s
e

s
s
m

e
n
t 
n

e
e

d
s
 t
o

 b
e

 a
d
d

e
d
 t

o
 t

h
e
 a

c
ti
o

n
 

p
la

n
 a

n
d

 a
 D

is
a

b
ili

ty
 S

tr
a
te

g
y
 i
s
 n

e
e

d
e

d
. 

C
o

m
m

e
n
t 
to

 b
e
 p

a
s
s
e

d
 t
o

 t
h

e
 D

ir
e

c
to

r 
o
f 

P
u

b
lic

 
H

e
a
lt
h

. 

D
is

a
b
ili

ty
 i
s
s
u

e
s
 a

re
 w

id
e
r 

th
a
n

 s
o

c
ia

l 
c
a
re

 a
n

d
 e

c
o

n
o

m
ic

 f
a

c
to

rs
, 

e
.g

. 
tr

a
n
s
p

o
rt

, 
le

is
u

re
 a

n
d

 a
d
u

lt
 l
e

a
rn

in
g

 a
re

 a
ls

o
 c

o
n
s
id

e
ra

ti
o
n

s
. 

N
o

te
d

 a
n
d

 w
ill

 b
e
 d

is
c
u

s
s
e
d

 w
it
h

 o
ff

ic
e
rs

. 

A
n

 A
c
c
e

s
s
 O

ff
ic

e
r 

is
 n

e
e
d

e
d

 t
o
 t

a
c
k
le

 c
ro

s
s
-c

u
tt

in
g

 i
s
s
u
e

s
. 
 

T
h

e
 c

o
u
n

c
il 

d
o
e

s
 n

o
t 
h

a
v
e

 t
h

e
 r

e
s
o
u
rc

e
s
 f

o
r 

a
n
 

A
c
c
e

s
s
 O

ff
ic

e
r 

h
o
w

e
v
e

r 
o
ff

ic
e

rs
 w

ill
 w

o
rk

 i
n

 a
 

c
ro

s
s
-c

u
tt
in

g
 w

a
y
 t

o
 d

e
a

l 
w

it
h

 i
s
s
u
e

s
. 

E
q

u
a
lit

y
 I
m

p
a
c
t 
A

s
s
e

s
s
m

e
n
ts

 a
re

 o
ft

e
n
 f

la
w

e
d
. 

 S
e

rv
ic

e
 r

e
d
u

c
ti
o
n

 t
e

n
d

s
 t
o

 
a
ff

e
c
t 
g

ro
u

p
s
 t

h
a
t 

a
re

 a
lr
e

a
d

y
 r

e
c
e

iv
in

g
 t

a
rg

e
te

d
 s

e
rv

ic
e

s
. 

E
n
g

a
g

e
m

e
n
t 

w
it
h

 r
e

s
id

e
n

ts
 i
s
 r

e
q

u
ir
e

d
 a

t 
a

n
 e

a
rl
y
 s

ta
g

e
 a

n
d
 n

o
t 
ju

s
t 
o

n
c
e
 s

a
v
in

g
s
 h

a
v
e

 
a

lr
e

a
d

y
 b

e
e

n
 i
d

e
n

ti
fi
e

d
. 

N
o

te
d

 a
n
d

 w
ill

 b
e
 d

is
c
u

s
s
e
d

 w
it
h

 o
ff

ic
e
rs

. 

H
e

a
lt
h

 i
n
e

q
u

a
lit

y
 –

 d
o
 w

e
 k

n
o
w

 w
h

a
t 

th
e
 g

a
p
 i
s
 b

e
tw

e
e
n

 d
is

a
b
le

d
 a

n
d

 n
o

n
-

d
is

a
b
le

d
 p

e
o

p
le

?
 

C
o

m
m

e
n
t 
to

 b
e
 p

a
s
s
e

d
 t
o

 t
h

e
 D

ir
e

c
to

r 
o
f 

P
u

b
lic

 
H

e
a
lt
h

. 

A
d

u
lt
 E

d
u
c
a

ti
o
n

 –
 p

o
o

r 
s
e

rv
ic

e
 p

ro
v
is

io
n
 f

o
r 

a
d
u

lt
s
 w

it
h

 l
e
a

rn
in

g
 d

is
a

b
ili

ty
 

C
o

m
m

e
n
t 
to

 b
e
 p

a
s
s
e

d
 t
o

 H
e
a

d
 o

f 
L

ib
ra

ry
 &

 
H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 S

e
rv

ic
e

s
. 

 
V

o
lu

n
ta

ry
 s

e
c
to

r 
o
rg

a
n
is

a
ti
o
n

s
 a

re
 n

o
t 
s
u

p
p

o
rt

e
d
 t
o

 f
in

d
 s

u
it
a

b
le

 
a

c
c
o
m

m
o

d
a

ti
o
n

. 
T

h
e
s
e
 g

ro
u
p

s
 a

re
 i
n
fo

rm
e

d
 t
h

a
t 
th

e
y
 n

e
e

d
 t
o

 p
a

y
 

c
o

m
m

e
rc

ia
l 
re

n
ts

, 
b

u
t 
th

e
y
 a

re
 t

h
e
n
 n

o
t 
s
u

p
p

o
rt

e
d

 w
it
h

 f
u

n
d

in
g
 t

o
 m

e
e
t 

th
e
s
e

 c
o
s
ts

. 
A

 p
ro

p
e
r 

s
tr

a
te

g
y
 i
s
 n

e
e

d
e

d
. 

N
o

te
d

 a
n
d

 w
ill

 b
e
 d

is
c
u

s
s
e
d

 w
it
h

 o
ff

ic
e
rs

. 

M
e

rt
o

n
 i
s
 t

h
e
 2

n
d

 l
o
w

e
s
t 
in

 L
o

n
d
o

n
 f

o
r 

a
c
c
e

p
ti
n
g

 h
o
m

e
le

s
s
 c

a
s
e

s
. 
T

h
is

 i
s
 

b
e
c
a

u
s
e

 t
h

e
 b

o
ro

u
g

h
 t
a
k
e

s
 a

 h
a
rd

 l
in

e
 a

n
d
 i
s
 n

o
t 
a

s
 p

ro
a
c
ti
v
e

 a
s
 o

th
e
r 

b
o
ro

u
g

h
s
 w

it
h

 p
re

v
e

n
ta

ti
v
e

 m
e

a
s
u

re
s
. 

C
o

m
m

e
n
t 
to

 b
e
 g

iv
e

n
 t

o
 H

e
a
d

 o
f 

H
o

u
s
in

g
 N

e
e

d
s
 

a
n
d

 S
tr

a
te

g
y
. 

A
 d

is
a

b
ili

ty
 a

u
d

it
 o

f 
th

e
 C

iv
ic

 C
e

n
tr

e
 i
s
 r

e
q

u
ir
e

d
. 

C
o

m
m

e
n
t 
to

 b
e
 g

iv
e

n
 t

o
 t
h

e
 H

e
a
d

 o
f 
F

a
c
ili

ti
e

s
. 

Y
o

u
th

 
P

a
rl

ia
m

e
n

t 
P

a
rt

ic
ip

a
ti
o

n
 M

a
n
a

g
e

r 
to

 m
e

e
t 
w

it
h

 m
e
m

b
e
rs

 o
f 

th
e

 Y
o

u
th

 P
a

rl
ia

m
e

n
t 
to

 
g

e
t 
th

e
ir
 v

ie
w

s
. 

 

Page 75



3
0
 

 
 

S
o

u
rc

e
 

C
o

m
m

e
n

t 
 

R
e

s
p

o
n

s
e

 (
in

 p
ro

g
re

s
s
) 

L
e
s

b
ia

n
, 

G
a

y
, 

B
is

e
x

u
a

l 
a

n
d

 
T

ra
n

s
g

e
n

d
e

r 
F

o
ru

m
 

S
tr

a
te

g
y
 w

e
ll 

re
c
e
iv

e
d
. 

T
h
a

n
k
s
 e

x
p

re
s
s
e

d
 f
o

r 
th

e
 c

o
u
n

c
il’

s
 s

u
p
p

o
rt

 i
n

 
re

fr
e

s
h
in

g
 t

h
e
 f
o

ru
m

. 
 

P
u

b
li

c
 

c
o

n
s
u

lt
a
ti

o
n

 
- 

IC
o

n
s

u
lt

 

S
a

m
e

 t
w

o
 c

o
m

m
e

n
ts

 a
ls

o
 s

u
b

m
it
te

d
 v

ia
 t

h
e
 F

a
it
h
 a

n
d

 B
e

lie
f 

F
o
ru

m
. 

 

 

Page 76



Committee: Council
Date:  12 April 2017
Wards: All

Subject:  Wholly Owned Local Authority Property Company 
(LAPC)
Lead officers: Chris Lee – Director of Environment and Regeneration, Caroline 
Holland, Director of Corporate Services

Lead members: Councillor Martin Whelton – Cabinet Member for Regeneration, 
Environment and Housing
Councillor Mark Allison – Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Finance 
Contact officer: James McGinlay – Assistant Director for Sustainable Communities 

Recommendations: That Council
A. Approve the capital investment funding of £13,022m for the first four sites plus 

working capital of up to £4m
B. Approve an allocation of a further £10 million in the capital programme for the 

strategic acquisition of sites, subject to the business case for each acquisition is 
agreed by the council’s Property Asset Management Board.

C. i.  Approve the increase in the Capital Programme to reflect the proposals in this 
report, and 
ii. Approve the revised Treasury Management Strategy inclusive of revised 

Prudential indicators
D. Having noted the work that has been carried out to date in relation to the setting up 

of a wholly-owned local authority property company (“LAPC”).
E. Having noted the decision made by Cabinet to set up a wholly owned local 

authority property company (“LAPC”), and approve the initial business plan. 
F. Having noted the decision to establish a sub-committee of Cabinet with various 

delegations to senior officers.
G. Having noted that appropriate amendments will be made to the Council’s 

constitution with respect to the Cabinet Sub-Committee.

1 PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
1.1. This report summarises the work which has been undertaken to develop the 

business case for setting up a wholly owned Local Authority Property 
Company (”LAPC”) to develop housing and commercial property on Council 
owned land to generate income to the Council by way of finance charges 
and dividends to the Council as sole shareholder of the LAPC.

Page 77

Agenda Item 14



1.2. Over 100 Local Authorities across the Country have established or are in 
the process of establishing LAPCs. These Councils, like Merton, have seen 
the real and significant financial benefits that can be realised through the 
use of a company structure alongside the powers of Local Authorities. This 
is in addition to the way companies can be used to accelerate and increase 
the supply of housing.

1.3. The proposed structure, business plan, and the mechanics of how the 
company will operate and be governed are contained in the report and 
appendices 1-4.

2 DETAILS
2.1. The Localism Act 2011, through the general power of competence 

introduced a power for local authorities to do anything that individuals 
generally, of full legal capacity, may do, subject to certain, specified, 
limitations and restrictions. A number of local authorities, most notably, 
Croydon, Sutton, Lambeth, Ealing, Thurrock, Enfield, Havering, and 
Newham have already used this power to establish subsidiary housing 
development companies. Across the country 110 local authorities have set 
up or in the process of setting up property companies.

2.2. A wholly owned Local Authority Property Company (LAPC) offers the 
opportunity to the council to develop its land holdings and utilise its capital 
borrowing facilities to develop housing and commercial property to generate 
an annual revenue return to the council. The company would develop 
property in accordance with council planning policy; however the company 
intends to sell any affordable housing units developed to registered 
providers [Housing Associations] as the council does not have its own 
housing revenue account and the company is being set up  purely for 
commercial purposes.

2.3. Principles / Set-up

i. The property company would be a private company limited by 
shares, wholly owned by the Council with the principle purpose of 
generating revenue to assist the council with its financial challenge. 
Developing housing as its key product will also assist in creating and 
accelerating housing supply (and where appropriate commercial 
units).

ii. The company would be commercially focused, with the objective of 
developing properties for rent but also as appropriate, for sale.  
Officers have identified that there is strong local housing demand in 
the area through on-going research with local agents and developers 
with gaps in the market for sale and for rent which the company 
could help to fill.  

iii. The plan to build property for private rent, private sale, affordable 
rent, shared ownership etc. is in recognition of the role that the 
Council feels the Company could play in delivering housing supply 

Page 78



within the Council’s boundaries and maximising  the income to the 
Council as its sole shareholder (see Business Plan Appendix 1). The 
establishment of the LAPC is not restricted to developing solely in 
Merton.The company will also have the flexibility of acquiring and 
developing sites outside the borough following the same principles 
as already stated. 

iv. In order to comply with both State Aid rules and Her Majesty’s 
Revenue & Customs (HMRC) requirements in relation to 
capitalisation the Council would fund the company through a mix of 
both equity and loan finance.  In the initial business plan it is 
proposed that the Council would transfer the sites, as and when 
required, to the LAPC and take equity in the company through the 
acquisition of shares to the full value of the land consideration, 
thereby meeting the requirements of section123 of the Local 
Government Act 1972.

v. In addition, the Council would lend money to the company at a 
commercial lending rate, in order to provide the company with the 
finance required to plan, design, and construct the new properties 
(see Business Plan Appendix 1).

vi. The company could also purchase sites, land, or property, if the 
business case generates a good financial return and is in line with 
the company’s memorandum and articles. 

vii. The company may set up joint ventures with trusted partners for the 
development of some larger sites that require specialist land 
assembly skills and larger sums of cash to assist with delivering the 
development if this is deemed to be appropriate and support the 
business case.  

viii. The company would contract with construction specialists and 
construction companies for the development of sites.

ix. The developments will be planning policy compliant (subject to 
viability).

x. The return to its shareholder (the Council) would be in the form of –

 Dividends from profit
 Income from debt financing 
 In the medium to long term, enhanced capital value growth of the 

assets.

Page 79



The diagram below shows the, proposed, relationship between the council and 
the company.

The diagram below demonstrates the flow of money from the company to the 
council.

Page 80



2.4. Sites
2.4.1 The Council’s strategic property group PAMB (Property Asset Management 

Board) oversees the council’s property portfolio and is the strategic decision 
making group for all land and property.

2.4.2 The Property and Asset Management Board list shows property and assets 
requiring strategic decisions (Please see Appendix 3 – Property List).The list 
identifies sites that the council owns and which have the potential to yield up 
to1500residential and commercial units. 

2.4.3 Six sites were initially identified, surveyed and then modelled. After being 
independently surveyed and valued by BBP Regeneration, advisors to the 
Council, and the costs and values inputted in to an established housing 
model supplied by Price Waterhouse Coopers two sites were eliminated. 
One site was eliminated due to the council’s corporate requirements and 
priorities changing during the process, and the second site, a very small 
and constrained site, did not meet the criteria of the company of generating 
a long term rental stream. 

2.4.4 BBP Regeneration provided independent surveying and valuation advice as 
part of the site selection and modelling process. BPP assessed the 
shortlisted four sites and identified that 77 units could be built across the four 
sites and these were economically viable and would deliver an acceptable 
return to the company and council.

2.4.5 The four sites have been identified and selected, based on location, planning 
consideration, and market values. The sites have also been selected based 
on their availability for development e.g. land assembly not required. The 
planning designation and the financial modelling have been tested against 
the selected four sites. These four sites are:

 Farm Road Church, Morden
 Land at the Canons, Mitcham
 Raleigh Gardens, Mitcham
 Elm Nursery, Mitcham

2.4.6 The first four sites of the first tranche will deliver approximately 77 units. Two 
of the four sites have the potential to contain a mix of housing and ground 
floor retail; these two sites are Raleigh Gardens and Elm Nursery Car Park. 

2.4.7 The company will  sell affordable housing to registered providers and retain 
the private rented units within the company,  seeking to establish a structure 
of 2-4 year assured short hold tenancies to give private renters more 
security, minimise void periods, and to stabilise revenue flow into the 
company.  The company would either retain or sell the ground floor 
retail/commercial property depending on market conditions at the time of 
practical completion.

2.4.8 Council officers reviewed the opportunity at the P4 site, however the 
company’s key purpose and principles is to specialise in developing housing 
as its product, with ground floor retail in some sites. The company at this 

Page 81



point is not in a position to diversify and venture into developing high quality 
office accommodation. 

2.5. Background / Market Conditions 
2.5.1 The London property market over the past five years has seen strong 

growth in the numbers of properties developed for investment and private 
rent. This inward investment has pushed house prices up and seen rental 
values continuing to increase.

2.5.2 The following values in the table below are real rental values advertised on 
the website rightmove.co.uk during September 2016 for the London 
Borough of Merton area, i.e. Mitcham, Wimbledon etc.

2.5.3 Current Monthly Market Rents – Merton values compared to housing cap
Property 
Type

Range
(Lowest)

Range 
(Highest)

Housing 
Cap

1 
Bedroom  

£825 £1,950 £724-£1,099

2 
Bedroom 

£1,000 £2,900 £912-£1310

3 
Bedroom 

£1,395 £3,400 £1,209-
£1,535

2.5.4 The table shows a wide range of monthly rental levels across Merton, 
skewed by the higher value premium rentals in Wimbledon. The table 
shows the difference between market rent and the housing cap rent. The 
company will take advice from local agents to determine appropriate rent 
levels for each site after development.  

2.5.5 Merton is one of the most expensive boroughs to rent, in outer London with 
the average 2 bedroom properties in the borough costing around £1,300 per 
month to rent.(www.london.gov.uk).

2.5.6 The cost of buying a home in London has risen on average by 11.2% since 
the start of 2015 according to the government’s website www.gov.uk, with 
Merton rising by 10.6% with an average house price of £509,000. These 
high property values are making it increasingly difficult for first time buyers to 
get mortgages; with average deposits required starting at 10%, buying in 
Merton would require at least a £20,000 deposit for a studio or 1 bedroom 
flat in the east of the borough (www.rightmove.co.uk, 9/18/2016). 

2.5.7 Due to the current market conditions, this has created what developers and 
government policy makers now know as “generation rent”. According to 
research carried out by Price Waterhouse Coopers, by 2025, 60% of 25-39 
year olds will be renting, with only 26% having joined the housing ladder.

2.5.8 These market conditions have created a strong rental market in London for 
now and the foreseeable future. This market segment of young renters has 
been relatively untapped by developers. However a few have started to 
change their business model to take advantage of this growth market. 

Page 82

http://www.rightmove.co.uk/


2.5.9 PWC has advised that Brexit has not had much impact on the rental market 
which remains strong. PWC and RICS have however identified a slowdown 
in house sales and a softening of prices across London. Local agents in the 
borough have advised that there is a strong demand for rental properties in 
the borough despite Brexit.

2.6. Market Competitors
2.6.1 All though not currently in Merton, Fizzy Living and Grainger plc have 

already developed established Private Rental Sector (“PRS”) products in 
Newham and Kensington and Chelsea. The PRS product by Fizzy Living in 
Canning Town is a fully serviced apartment block, contains a concierge 
service, gym and dry cleaning services on the ground floor. Fizzy living offer 
a concierge service where there are developments of over 85 units on a 
single site, the number required to make the concierge system viable in the 
first instance.

2.6.2 The Fizzy Living and Grainger developments offer flexible rental terms, with 
renters able to have a bit more security (Commonly a 2 year assured short 
hold) around their tenancy. The developments also have an onsite building 
managers and a concierge service. The developments also have offers on a 
range of value added products to tenants such as free wifi, deals on TV and 
broadband packages etc

2.7. Private Rented Developments
2.7.1 Research around PRS developments has been undertaken, looking at 

housing developers to learn from their experience in the design and 
maintenance requirements specifically for privately rented stock. The market 
is now investing heavily in private rented developments as a long term 
income stream. Private rented developments have become increasingly 
attractive to investors who are prepared to purchase whole development 
sites for investment funds. 

2.7.2 Some of the key aspects of optimised build to rent developments are:

 Maximised units per floor 
 Highly efficient spatial planning 
 Standardisation of components for all developments
 Whole life costings considered at the beginning 
 Smaller unit sizes
 Specification driven by whole life costings, i.e. robust finishing, 

building fabric etc

2.7.3 Research with market specialists and discussions with other authorities also 
found that Private Rented Sector (PRS) Developments require a different 
approach in terms of assessing viability as part of seeking planning consent. 
Private Rented Developments unlike traditional developments carry debt and 
risk for a much longer period of time, and requires a flexible business model 
that includes a cash reserve to be retained in the company to weather 

Page 83



market conditions and allow the company to stay solvent. Unlike traditional 
developments that are built for sale, building for rent presents more risk as 
the product is subject to market influence and pressure for up to 30 years.

3 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS
3.1. Option 1:

An alternative option is that the council sells land to generate capital 
receipts (estimated at £8,413,000 for the four sites). This has been the 
practice historically, to leave it to the private market to build the housing. 
This delivers a one off receipt for the Council, rather than an on-going 
revenue stream back to the council. This short term gain approach results in 
a declining asset portfolio and also almost certainly less affordable housing 
being supplied year on year. The income generated from capital receipts 
would be interest earning only and result in a reduced financial return to the 
Council. Anticipated red book value £8,413,000 – Estimated Interest rate @ 
0.55% = £46,271 per annum interest return. 

3.2. Option 2:

Another option would be for the Council to partner with a developer to 
reduce its risk and exposure to the market. This option delivers less risk but 
also less of a return for the council, the proposed articles of the company 
allows for joint ventures as and when they are required. The developer will 
have a target margin to make it a viable investment as a small project, and 
will require units to be sold off earlier to get a return on their initial 
investment leaving the company with less rental properties, less affordable 
housing and a much lower annual income stream.

3.3. Option 3:

The Council could partner with a Registered Provider. This option is being 
considered for larger developments and is allowed for in the company’s 
articles and business plan, however would impact on the level of return to 
the council. The council has a duty to get best value for the sites and would 
not be able to offer or sell any land to a registered provider less than this 
without secretary of state approval. 

4 CONSULTATION UNDERTAKEN OR PROPOSED
4.1. The process of establishing the company has involved senior staff and 

council members to ensure the concept is acceptable and presents a sound 
case for council investment. The council has also sought legal advice from 
SLLP and Trowers&Hamlins, financial advice from the council’s internal 
business model advisor, alongside Price Waterhouse Coopers (PWC), and 
Surveying advice from BBP Regeneration. 

4.2. The team has also consulted and carried out research with local agents to 
ascertain the levels of demand in Merton. 

4.3. The combination of professional advice and consultation with senior staff 
and members has helped develop the business model to ensure it 

Page 84



represents a sound investment for the council, maximising the gain from 
some of the Council’s land and asset portfolio. 

4.4. The housing company has been discussed at the scrutiny task groups for 
housing supply and commercialisation as a method of assisting the council 
both with its financial challenge and creating additional housing supply. The 
proposals herein are consistent with the aims of these Task Groups 
particularly increasing revenue and accelerating housing supply utilising the 
Councils land and powers.

5 TIMETABLE
Cabinet Approval March 2017

Full Council Approval April2017

Company Set up and Land Transfer June 2017

Procurement starts
(Project Consultants/ Constructor)

July 2017

Procurement Completed Nov 2017

Design Completed Marc 2018

Planning Permission June 2018

Construction Starts July 2018

Construction Completed Dec 2018

Properties Occupied Feb 2019

6. RESOURCE AND PROPERTY IMPLICATIONS

6.1 Property
The Council’s Property and Asset Management Board (PAMB) will agree sites 
that can be released to the company for the development.  The objective of the 
LAPC will be to generate revenue stream to the council whilst providing 
housing and commercial property to maximise the value of the council’s land 
and assets. A proposed pipeline can be found in the company business plan 
(Appendix 1).

7. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
7.1 Financial projections have been modelled using software designed by Price 

Waterhouse Coopers (PwC) with assistance in compiling the data from the 
Councils development surveyors BBP Regeneration Ltd. The caveats and 
assumptions used within the model are provided within Appendices 5b and 5c.

Page 85



7.2 The financial implications for the company and the Council are an integral part 
of the model and are summarised in the paragraphs below. Detailed 
consideration is given to the following within Appendix 5:
a) The use of Discounted Cash Flow (Net Present Value) for Evaluation 
b) Caveats on the PwC Model
c) Assumptions within the PwC Model
d) Principal Repayment of Debt 

(this is termed “Minimum Revenue Provision” within local authorities)
e) Sensitivity Analysis
f) Land Valuations
g) Tax and VAT Advice
h) The Council
i) The LAPC
j) Revised Treasury Management Strategy (including revised Prudential 

Indicators)

7.3 The Council
7.3.1 The proposed Local Authority Property Company (LAPC) structure involves 

the Council investing cash and available land as equity and providing loan 
finance sufficient to fund the company’s development programme for an 
estimated 77 housing units including 20 affordable units. 

The Table below also shows the provisional draw down of the funding 
required:

Financing Drawdown £m Year 1
£000s

Year 2
£000s

Year 3
£000s

Land as equity 8.413 8,413 0 0

Loan 13.022 620 6,480 5,922

Cash Equity Investment 3.256 155 1,620 1,480

Total 24.691 9,188 8,101 7,402

7.3.2 During Year 4 an estimated £2.707 million from the sale of the affordable 
housing to a registered provider, will be repaid by the company, reducing the 
funding requirement from that year to an estimated £10.315 million. The Loan 
repayment will be treated as capital; interest on the loan and dividends received 
by the Council are treated as revenue.

7.3.2 Land Equity – the land equity transferred to the company at market value to 
provide best consideration to the Council. The four sites are detailed within 
Appendix 5f. 

Page 86



7.3.3 Loan – The model assumes that the Council will borrow from the Public Works 
Loans Board to fund the loan for an estimated period of 22 years. This loan 
would be at an interest rate of 3.26% The Council will provide a loan to the 
LAPC at a rate of 6.5% a commercially competitive rate.  The interest rate used 
within the model of 6.5% reflects the tailored repayment profile being provided 
to the company and Appendix 5h provides detail from the model of the 
estimated impact on the Council’s balance sheet and income and expenditure 
account over the next 30 years. Officers are currently modelling how best to 
fund the loan from internal resources and would envisage that this would be 
achieved for the early part of the loan period. The longer the loan can be funded 
internally the greater the margin achieved from the loan to the housing 
company. However, care must be taken on the timing of any external loans and 
the interest rate that can be achieved from the market. The Authority would also 
be mindful of the maturity profile of its loan base.

7.3.4 Cash Equity – In addition to the land equity the Council will also be required to 
provide £3.256 million cash equity. This sum is required to provide an 
acceptable gearing ratio when equity is compared to loan capital. Including land 
equity the company will have a gearing ratio of 53%, excluding land this ratio 
increases to 80%.

7.3.5 Discounted Cash Flow - Officers have also undertaken a Discounted Cash Flow 
model to weight the flow of cash over time. The results of this analysis are 
detailed at Appendix 5a but show that the net anticipated cashflow from the 
company over the 30 years modelled is anticipated to be £53.704m, discounting 
these net cashflows by 3% per annum provides a net positive discounted 
cashflow of £16.906m. 

7.3.6 Internal Rate of Return - The indicated internal rate of return of 6.48%(Blended 
6.39%)will need to be re-visited following sensitivity analysis and adjusting the 
parameters to optimise the model’s outputs.

7.3.6 Repayment of Debt - The proposed draw-down of funding and the repayment 
schedule along with proposed debt repayments (this is termed “Minimum 
Revenue Provision” MRP, within local authorities) adjustments are currently 
being fed into the Capital Programme Funding Model. At present debt 
repayments, if required, will be matched to loan repayments to minimise the 
impact on the Council. The financial impact from the capital model will then be 
fed into the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS). The Council’s approach to 
the treatment of MRP has already been clarified with PwC and our specialist 
financial advisors. It would be prudent to also discuss this approach with our 
external auditors.

Page 87



 Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 Year 6 Year 7 Year 8 Year 9 Year 10  Year 15 Year 20 Year 25 Year 30  
Balances                 
Council equity                 
Cash equity in WOC -155 -1,775 -3,256 -3,256 -3,256 -3,256 -3,256 -3,256 -3,256 -3,256  -3,256 -3,256 -3,256 -3,256  
Land equity in WOC -8,190 -8,190 -8,190 -8,190 -8,190 -8,190 -8,190 -8,190 -8,190 -8,190  -8,190 -8,190 -8,190 -8,190  
Repaid share capital            0 0 0 11,446  
 -8,345 -9,965 -11,446 -11,446 -11,446 -11,446 -11,446 -11,446 -11,446 -11,446  -11,446 -11,446 -11,446 0  
                 
Loan to WOC -640 -7373 -13966 -10301 -10315 -10295 -10247 -10164 -10044 -9881  -8,298 -5,540 -905 0  
Council loan from PWLB 788 9046 16864 12840 12603 12324 12009 11651 11250 10801  7,721 2,878 0 0  
 -8,197 -8,292 -8,548 -8,907 -9,158 -9,417 -9,684 -9,959 -10,240 -10,526  -12,023 -14,108 -12,351 0  
                 
                 

 Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 Year 6 Year 7 Year 8 Year 9 Year 10 Years 
1 - 10

Years 
11-15

Years 
16-20

Years 
21-25

Years 
26-30 Cumulative

Gen Fund - I & E                 
Dividends 0 0 0 0 0 0 -0 -0 -0 0 0 35 676 1,165 57,870 59,746 
                 
Interest receivable (if not rolled 
up) 20 252 672 908 670 670 669 666 661 653 5,841 3,042 2,373 1,257 59 12,572 
Interest payable -13 -158 -416 -550 -419 -411 -402 -391 -380 -367 -3,505 -1,581 -964 -161 0 -6,211 
Net interest income 8 95 256 358 251 260 267 275 281 286 2,336 1,462 1,409 1,097 59 6,362 
                 
Total 8 95 256 358 251 260 267 275 281 286 2,336 1,497 2,085 2,262 57,929 66,108 
                 

The total reflects the annual return to the Council as shareholder
WOC – Wholly owned Company

P
age 88



7.3.7 By managing the cash required using the Council’s own financial resources it 
will enable officers to provide some fine tuning the transfer of money to the 
LAPC. The level of flexibility offered will be contained within the loan agreement, 
and this will be reflected in the interest rate agreed, variation from this would be 
accommodated at a cost to the company within penalty clauses. The Council 
will also be able to optimise the external funding utilised to manage its cash flow 
position. Benefits to the Council will arise from the margin between any 
internal/external borrowing costs and the lending rates on loans to the company, 
and dividends payable from company profits

7.3.8 Council approval will be required for the loan, cash equity, land equity, and a 
budget for acquisitions. Council approval will be sought to provide cash and loan 
equity up to the figures detailed in this report. The company will have a 
£10million acquisitions budget approval in place to quickly take advantage of 
any market opportunities for land or assets. 

7.3.9 Accounting Arrangements – The LAPC will need to be set up as a separate 
entity within Merton’s accounts, with a separate bank account. Officers will draw 
on expertise developed when progressing CHAS arrangements. Officers will 
also be recommending that the LAPC uses the same external auditor.

7.3.10 Overheads – Overhead calculations and any recharges are based on the 
approach adopted for CHAS, the Council wholly owned company.

7.4 The Local Authority Property Company (LAPC)
7.4.1 The LAPC would be wholly owned by the Council. The company will plan to 

maximise profits and provide an ongoing income stream back to the council. 
Construction will be undertaken in the first 3 years and non-PRS properties will 
be sold when complete to Registered Providers, the remaining PRS properties 
will be rented at market rates.

7.4.2 The company reaches an in-year breakeven position in Year 5, however, the 
project as a whole breaks even in Year 15. This is reflected in the first dividends 
falling due in that year.

7.4.3 Appendix 5i details the output from the model in terms of the LAPC. The 
discounted cash flow shows a more modest return to the company. 

7.4.4 Value Added – The flow of income and expenditure preclude effective 
calculation of a Discounted Cash Flow and Internal Rate of Return. However, it 
is possible to review the value added by the company – over the 30 year 
modelling period it is estimated that the LAPC will add £11.446 million value to 
the Council

7.4.5 It is envisaged that the company will adopt the CHAS support model mentioned 
in paragraph 7.3.9

7.4.6 Tax advice in respect of the company is contained in Appendix 5g
7.4.7 Insurance – The LAPC will need separate commercial insurance.

Page 89



7.5 Sensitivity Analysis
7.5.1 Capital finance has undertaken four elements of sensitivity analysis on the 

model. Officers have:

1. Increased price inflation from 2.5% to 4.5% 

2. Reduced income inflation from 4.5% and 4.3% to 2.5%
3. Varied the interest on the loan:

a. Increasing the loan rate by 0.5% (i.e. increasing Merton’s Margin)
b. Increasing Merton’s margin by 0.5% but reducing the PWLB loan Rate 

(Loan Rate is still 6.5%)
7.5.2 Analysis has shown that lower inflation levels in respect of selling prices and rentals 

will have a marked adverse impact on the profitability of the scheme for the Council 
when the timing of cash flows are analysed. This level of inflation would severely 
undermine the viability of the LAPC.

7.6 Review of Prudential Indicators
7.6.1 The financial proposals contained in this report will have a substantial impact on 

the Authority’s Capital Programme 2017/21 and will require a revised Treasury 
Management Strategy (including revised prudential indicators) and this will 
require approval by both Cabinet and Council.

7.6.2 Loan and Cash Equity Investments, loan repayment and interest have been 
added to the capital funding model from information contained in the PWC 
model. In addition, it has been assumed that all the £10 million required for 
acquisitions will be utilised in 2017/18. As additional information becomes 
available financial planning documentation will be updated.

7.6.3 Impact on the Capital Programme -Allowing for slippage in the programme 
building in the proposals contained in this report will have the following impact 
on expenditure and funding:

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Capital Expenditure 38,465 50,316 41,305 23,478 8,432
Slippage* (6,698) (235) 2,323 664 475
Leasing Budgets in Programme after Slippage (223) (125) (45) (572) (29)
Total Capital Expenditure 31,544 49,956 43,583 23,570 8,878

Financed by:
Capital Receipts 14,105 19,475 855 328 4,536
Capital Grants & Contributions 15,306 15,070 13,081 5,486 628
Capital Reserves - - - - -
Revenue Provisions 2,061 6,959 61 4 0
Other Financing Sources - - - - -
Net financing need for the year (a) 72 8,452 29,586 17,753 3,714

Capital Expenditure

7.6.4 Whilst part of the additional expenditure is funded from the loan repayment, the 
bulk of the expenditure would be funded from internal borrowing. Based on 
current assumptions over the funding period this will just trigger the need to start 
to borrow externally in the financial year 2024/25.

Page 90



7.6.5 The proposals contained in this report will result in the following revenue impact, 
interest on the loan has been included within investment interest netting off 
against the cost of borrowing:

Total Borrowing Costs Net of Investment interest

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22
£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s

Original 12,229 10,917 12,290 12,917 13,114

Revised 12,229 11,195 13,161* 13,135 13,547**

Variance 0 278 871 218 433
* For the first three years of operation the Housing Company will capitalise the interest payable it impacts in this year 
as there is a large draw down of funding

** Assumes a lower rate of interest within the market – prior years have been adjusted for current performance

7.6.6 The main cause of the increase in borrowing costs is the £10 million acquisitions 
budget, this will cost an estimated £385k per annum. At present no income 
generation potential has been added for this scheme only the cost of servicing 
the debt. 

7.6.7 Revising Prudential Indicators - The impact of the proposals in this report has 
been incorporated into the revised Treasury Management Strategy attached as 
Appendix 5j. All the prudential indicators have been reviewed and updated.  The 
most pronounced impact is on the Authorised Limit for External Borrowing which 
has had to be increased by £20m in 2018/19 and £30m in 2019/20, because of 
the rise in the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR). The increase in the CFR is 
summarised in the table below:

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20
Estimate Estimate Estimate EstimateCapital Financing 

Requirement
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Original 189,978 181,644 192,997 193,274

Revised with Housing 
Company and 
Acquisitions Budget 189,978 189,864 211,412 219,158

Increase 0 8,220 18,415 25,883

8. LEGAL AND STATUTORY IMPLICATIONS
8.1 Legal advice has been provided by South London Legal Partnership (SLLP) and 

external lawyers Trowers&Hamlins. Legal advice has been sought on the type 
of company that is required, powers, ministerial statement, high level tax and 
VAT advice, the articles of the company (appendix 4), the shareholder 
agreement (Appendix 2), the governance arrangements and the contracting 
status of the company. 

Page 91



8.2 Powers
8.2.1 The council is able to use its general power of competence set out in section 1 

of the Localism Act 2011 (the 2011 Act). 
8.3 Ministerial Statement
8.3.1 Advice received from Trowers&Hamlins have given a clear steer that the 

Council is not currently at risk of contravening a Ministerial Statement, issued on 
20 March 2015, which reviewed the progress made by Councils in increasing 
house-building and provided a warning that house-building by Councils should 
not be pursued in a way such as to undermine the Government’s commitment to 
right-to-buy. The purpose of establishing the proposed company is what might 
be characterised as a commercial one.  The Council wants to make the most of 
its assets and meet the potential for a return from its property-related activities.

8.4 Governance Arrangements
8.4.1 The company will be set up and governed as a wholly owned company of the 

Council. The company’s day to day governance will be managed by a board of 
directors consisting of council nominated personnel, with a nominated 
shareholder representative present from time to time as part of the Council’s 
governance arrangement. 

8.4.2 As set out in the Recommendations a Sub-Committee of Cabinet will be 
established as the Council’s shareholder board (See Appendix 2 – Shareholder 
Agreement) which will exercise the rights and responsibilities of the Council as 
shareholder (subject to paragraph 8.8 below) including, amongst other things 
agreeing and approving the company’s annual business plan and funding 
arrangements and monitoring progress against the business plan on behalf of 
the council. 

8.4.3 The sub-committee will also control “Reserved Matters”, which are contained 
within the Shareholder Agreement; the list consists of decisions required from 
recruitment, acquisitions, and key financial decisions. 

8.4.4 The Director of Environment and Regeneration will have delegated authority to 
take decisions on reserved matters in circumstances where the financial 
expenditure to be incurred, in any one instance, is below two hundred and fifty 
thousand pounds (£250,000).

8.5 Controlled Regulated Companies
8.5.1 The Local Government and Housing Act 1989 deals with companies: (a) under 

the control of local authorities; and (b) subject to local authority influence. The 
LAPC is likely to fall within one of these categories and will, therefore, be 
required to comply with the, relevant, provisions of the Local Authority 
(Companies) Order 1995.

8.6 Contracting Status and Procurement
8.6.1 The company will be wholly owned by the Council.  It will be governed by the 

Council through a Cabinet Sub-Committee.  For the purposes of European 
procurement rules it will be a ‘contracting authority’ and will, therefore, be 
required to comply with the public procurement regime in its procurement of 
goods, services and works which have contract values above the, relevant, 
threshold.  This will include the procurement of contractors to develop out the 
sites.

Page 92



8.6.2 However, the company will need to formulate its own procurement procedure for 
goods and services below the European threshold as it is a standalone 
commercially driven company, for example lettings, management and 
maintenance etc.

8.7 Land
8.7.1 In order to comply with both State Aid rules and HMRC requirements in relation 

to capitalisation the Council would fund the company through a mix of both 
equity and loan finance.  The company would initially utilise sites from the 
Councils asset list (Appendix 3) paying the Council best consideration 
reasonably obtainable for the site as an equity stake in the company.  The 
Council would transfer the sites, as and when required, to the LAPC and take 
equity in the company through the acquisition of shares to the full value of the 
land consideration. Transfer of the property at best consideration reasonably 
obtainable should satisfy the requirements of section123 of the Local 
Government Act 1972.

8.8 Staffing
8.8.1 In the initial set up stage council staff will be seconded to the company to carry 

out the work necessary to deliver the company’s business plan, reviewed. 
Formal secondments agreements will be entered into between the Council and 
the LAPC in relation to such staff.

8.8.2 The seconded staff team would run the day to day management of the 
company; overseeing the design planning, procurement and construction 
process through strong project management processes and monitoring the 
performance of contracts such as letting and management agents.  

8.8.3 The staff team would commission specialist consultants and contractors to 
undertake the detailed design, planning and implementations work.

8.9 The LAPC will contact with the Council through a series of SLAs for HR, 
finance, legal advice etc.  The cost of staff and specialist support will be met by 
the LAPC.

8.10 Contracting Services from the Council
8.10.1 Any arrangement between the LAPC and the Council will need to be on 

commercial terms, so as not to contravene the rules on state aid, and to ensure 
that, in its interests, the company is not paying more for such services than it 
would have to pay on the open market.

8.11 Shareholder Agreement
8.11.1 A shareholder agreement usually regulates the relationship of shareholders with 

each other.  In the case of the LAPC the shareholder agreement will be 
between the Council and the LAPC and will, amongst other things, identify 
those matters in respect of which the Council wishes to reserve decision-making 
and right of action to itself (See Appendix 2).

8.11.2 The Sub-Committee will control “Reserved Matters”, which are contained within 
the Shareholder Agreement, the list consists of decisions required from 
recruitment, acquisitions, and key financial decisions. Please see Schedule 1 of 
the Shareholder agreement – Appendix 2 for the full list of reserved matters. 

Page 93



8.12 Articles
8.12.1 A company’s Articles of Association (see Appendix 4 – Articles of Association), 

together with any special resolutions, comprise the company’s constitution.  The 
LAPC’s articles will be based on the model set of Articles, for companies limited 
by shares, tailored to suit the LAPC. They will set out, amongst other things, the 
internal management structure of the LAPC; the procedures for appointing and 
removing directors and the conduct of meetings.

9. HUMAN RIGHTS, EQUALITIES AND COMMUNITY COHESION 
IMPLICATIONS

9.1 One of the key objectives of developing council owned sites is to increase the 
supply of housing to the market and support regeneration. The LAPC will 
generate a profit that will be returned back to the Council as revenue to fund 
much needed council services. 

9.2 Although the LAPC’s key objective is to generate a profit from professional 
segment in the rental market, the supply of affordable housing as part of the 
company’s business plan is to assist the Council in meeting local housing needs.  

10. CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS
10.1 None for the purpose of this report.

11. RISK MANAGEMENT AND HEALTH AND SAFETY IMPLICATIONS
11.1 The land value of the portfolio will inevitably change as the design develops from 

the current early stage, and the timing of any land transfer will be critical.  
Officers have therefore provided a more detailed commentary on how the 
financial performance of the portfolio can be improved and how development risk 
can be mitigated up to the construction phase, as well as beyond that.
Opportunities to improve financial performance

11.2 The success of any development project relies upon proactive development 
management throughout the programme.  If the project is approved by the 
Council’s officers and any development partner(s) will continue to refine the 
development schemes, providing opportunities to improve their financial 
performance.  Such opportunities include:

 Increasing the quantum of development through more detailed design, with 
architect input.

 Optimising unit mix and sizing to maximise sales and rental values.
 Refining the specification to optimise sales and rental income relative to 

development cost.
 Adjusting tenures based on updated assumptions about the performance of 

the portfolio, changes in market conditions and consider introducing new 
affordable tenure types e.g. starter homes.

 Seeking cost savings, with input from quantity surveyors and engineers
 Adjusting contingencies to reflect the level of risk appropriate to each stage of 

development.
 Transferring risk to parties best placed to manage them – such as through 

use of contractors / development partners.

Page 94



 Adjusting the timing of each stage of development based on market 
conditions.

Opportunities to address potential deterioration in financial performance
11.3 Even after Cabinet approval, the LAPC will have multiple opportunities to 

address potential deterioration in financial performance compared to its business 
plan, including through delegated powers.

11.4 Prior to planning permission:

 Disposal of the site without planning permission if, for example, sites with 
greater potential become available, or land values increase substantially in a 
certain part of the Borough

11.5 Between planning permission and construction: 

 Delaying start on site if, for example, the relationship between sales values 
and build costs worsens

 Disposal of the site with planning permission if, for example, tender returns 
for the construction works are too high

 Revision to planning permissions to further optimise financial performance if, 
for example, another use becomes more viable

 Investigating alternative delivery structures, to reduce construction risk and 
lower construction costs

 Applying for affordable housing grant if, for example, the scheme can no 
longer support the level of affordable housing committed in a Section 106 
agreement

11.6 Throughout construction: 

 Early marketing / forward sales of units earmarked for disposal, to reduce 
sales risk in a declining market

 Ongoing value engineering and contract variations, including the phasing of 
site development so that the programme can be paused or terminated

11.7 Post-construction:

 Disposal of completed units if, for example, rental values decrease or sales 
values increase relative to rental values

 Negotiating rental guarantees / other risk-sharing management arrangements
 Negotiating a leasehold ‘income strip’ agreement with an institutional 

investor, to reduce holding risks
 Further investment to reduce management and maintenance liabilities
 Temporary or permanent change in tenure mix to manage letting voids

11.8 Throughout the life of the LAPC:

 Removal or addition of sites if, for example, sites with greater potential 
become available

 Renegotiation of finance arrangements if, for example, rates can be reduced 
through refinancing through alternative sources, or interest can be reduced 
by early repayment.

Page 95



Appendices – the following documents are to be published with this report and 
form part of the report
Appendix 1: Company Business Plan
Appendix 2: Shareholder Agreement 
Appendix 3: Property Asset Management Board Sites List 
Appendix 4: Articles of Association
Appendix 5: a)   The use of Discounted Cash Flow (NPV) for Evaluation 

b) Caveats on the PwC Model
c) Assumptions within the PwC Model
d) Principal Repayment of Debt 

(Termed “Minimum Revenue Provision” within local authorities)
e) Sensitivity Analysis
f) Land Valuations
g) Tax and VAT Advice
h) The Council
i) The Housing Company
j) Revised Treasury Management Strategy

Page 96



Appendix 5a
The use of Discounted Cash Flow (Net Present Value)for Evaluation
The proposed Local Authority Property Company (LAPC) structure involves the Council  
investing cash and available land as equity and providing loan finance sufficient to fund the 
company’s development programme.

Cash flows between the Council and the LAPC will include cash injections to the company 
(loan and equity) and payments (of interest and dividend) back to the Council. Forecasts 
are based on a 30 year programme, though there will be options to close the company 
before or after that time. 

To evaluate the viability of the scheme Merton has utilised a Price Waterhouse Coopers 
(PWC) Financial Model. Financial officers have worked with PWC and BBP (specialist 
property and economic development consultants). Net Present Value calculations have 
been added to the original model.
When evaluating cashflows over such a long term time frame it is necessary to adjust the 
value of cash flows based on when it is anticipated that the money would be received. Net 
Present Value (NPV) is ideal for long term projects such as the Housing Company as it 
allows for the value of the cashflows to be weighted in accordance with when they occur 
e.g. £1million received today is worth more than £1 million received in a year’s time. The 
results of this analysis are shown below:

Total Cashflows Over the 30 Year Modelling Period

Item    £000s
Equity land transfer  (8,190)
Equity cash 
injection  (3,256)
LAPC (Loans) & repayments*  0
PWLB Loans & (repayments)*  0
PWLB Loan interest (paid)  (6,211)
LAPC Loan interest received  11,614
Dividend & share cap 
repayment   59,746
Net Value (Paid)/Recd in year   53,704

Discount factor 3%

Discounted Cash Flow (Net Present 
Value)  16,906

*These items net to zero over the modelling period, however, annual discounting calculations would include movements.

This calculation demonstrates a reasonable return on the money invested. The PwC model 
calculates the internal rate of return of 6.48%(Blended 6.39%)with the inflation 
assumptions stated in Appendix 5c, this calculation will be re-visited following sensitivity 
analysis (Appendix 5e) and adjusting the parameters to optimise the model’s outputs.

Page 97



Appendix 5b
Caveats on the PwC Model
The assessment of the viability of the company has been undertaken utilising a Price 
Waterhouse Cooper developed model which forecasts activity over a 30 year time span. 
There will be options to close the company before or after that time. This software has 
previously been used with other Local Authorities including several London Boroughs.  The 
model is based on a commercially driven, arm’s length company, wholly owned by the 
Council. As with any future forecasts assumptions have been made and PWC have place 
the following caveat on the model:
“The Model has been developed using data and assumptions from a variety of sources.  
PwC have not sought to establish the reliability of those sources or verified the information 
so provided, nor has the Model been audited by PwC.  Accordingly no representation or 
warranty of any kind (whether express or implied) is given by PwC to any person (other 
than the Council in accordance with the Engagement) as to the internal consistency or 
accuracy of the Model nor any output from it.  Moreover the Model does not absolve any 
recipient from conducting its own audit in order to verify its functionality and/or 
performance.
PwC accepts no duty of care to any person (except to the Council under the relevant terms 
of the Engagement) for the development of the Model, its use, nor in respect of any output 
from it.  Accordingly, regardless of the form of action, whether in contract, tort or otherwise, 
and to the extent permitted by applicable law, PwC accepts no liability of any kind and 
disclaims all responsibility for the consequences of any person (other than the Council on 
the above basis) acting or refraining to act in reliance on the Model and/or its output or for 
any decisions made or not made which are based upon such Model and/or its output”
The specialist property information/inputs and assumptions used to populate the model 
and generate the base financial case have been provided by BBP Regeneration. This has 
included the provision of up to date market rental and sales values, up to date build costs, 
and estimated contingencies required for each of the four sites. As part of this work their 
report lists several pages of assumptions and data sources used.

Page 98



Appendix 5c
Assumptions within the PwC Model 
The Housing Company will require the following funding to be made available for it to draw 
down on to progress the four sites:

Financing £m Description
Land as 
equity 

8.413 Land is transferred from LBM to the company in exchange for 
equity in the company. Detailed in Appendix 5f

Loan 13.022 The Council provides a loan to the company to cover the 
majority of the costs of construction  

Cash 
Equity 
investment

3.256 The Council provides sufficient additional cash equity to the 
company in order ensure that the company’s loan to value ratios 
is maintained at or below 70%-75%. This level of lending 
complies with state aid rules

Total 24.691  

In addition the following assumptions have been made:

Input Commentary
Land The first four sites have been selected and nominated through the 

Property and Assets Management Board, as sites surplus to 
requirements that have no school requirements. 

Tenure Mix The company will take the approach of a private developer, allowing only 
for 70/30 split of private rent to affordable. 

Land cost The land in the model has a red book (RICS) estimated value that is 
retained within the company as an equity stake.

Construction 
costs

The model requires the BCIS figures to be inputted which are based on 
market rates for development per square foot. In version two of the 
financial business plan real costs will be entered into the model from 
constructors. 

Rental 
Income 

Rental income is based on today’s estimate plus inflation of 4.3% p.a. 
This is considerably higher than widely available forecasts for general 
United Kingdom inflation which is generally expected to be circa 2% 
(CPI).

Operating 
costs 

Management, maintenance and lifecycle costs reflect industry norms.   It 
has been assumed that council officers will be seconded to the company 
at this point for part of their time, e.g. 0.4 FTE.  (The charge to the 
company, in relation to this, will be at commercial rates.)

Bad debts 
and voids 

An allowance for 3.5% for bad debt and voids on residential rental 
income has been inputted into the model. No allowance has been made 
for commercial voids.

Input Commentary
Interest The interest rate which the Council will pay on its borrowing reflects 

PWLB rates in May 2016 plus 0.5%.Since this date the rate has dropped 
considerably to 1.85% as at September 2016. Interest on the loan to the 
company will be at market rates to ensure state aid compliance. The 
model assumes 6.5%, which would not change, the reduction in the 
PWLB rate will provide a greater return to the Council.

Loans It has been assumed for the purposes of modelling that the loan will only 
be drawn down when required. It is not envisaged that the practical 

Page 99



application of this assumption is viable.
Inflation 
factors 

The inflation indicators used are as follows:
CPI 2.5% (used for calculation of construction and operating costs), HPI 
4.5% and Rent 4.3%. The long term government target from CPI is 2%.

Tax and VAT Corporation tax, Land tax and VAT are incorporated into the model.

Page 100



Appendix 5d
Principal Repayment of Debt (Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP))
Local authorities are required to make a minimum revenue contribution to debt each 
financial year this is called the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP). The MRP charge is the 
means by which capital expenditure which is financed by borrowing or credit arrangements 
is paid for by council tax payers. Local Authorities are required each year to set aside 
some of their revenues as provision for this debt, the sum is calculated taking into account 
the useful life of the asset.
An authority’s duty under regulation 28 of the 2003 Capital Finance Regulations (as 
amended) is to determine for each year an amount of MRP which it considers to be 
prudent.  This clearly would limit an authority from setting an MRP that is too low to be 
prudent, but the key question is then whether the duty stops an authority from determining 
an amount that is over-prudent.  If this is the case, then an authority does not need to 
charge MRP in cases where no contribution towards prudence would be made.
This is particularly relevant to loans to other parties.  Under proper accounting practices, 
loans are not expenditure and only become so when an allowance might need to be made 
where repayment becomes doubtful.  From a financing point of view, it would be prudent 
not to set aside resources for capital loans – whilst the expectation remains that they will 
be repaid, an authority will just have exchanged one asset (cash) for another (debtor).  
However, as capital loans have the same effect on an authority’s underlying need to 
borrow as its own capital expenditure, regulation 25(1)(b) of the 2003 Regulations brings 
them within the scope of the definition of capital expenditure, with the intention that capital 
loans will be limited in the same way as “normal” capital expenditure.  The Statutory 
Guidance on MRP (here) then has an expectation in paragraphs 23 and 24 that if capital 
loans are not financed from capital receipts or grants MRP will be provided over the 
estimated life of the assets in relation to which the third party expenditure is incurred.  
When the loan is repaid, the repayments will be capital receipts, which are usually then 
applied to discharge the outstanding financing requirement and give a “refund” of the MRP 
made to date (albeit in the form of increases in capital receipts rather than a credit back to 
revenue).
The argument is how the Government expectation sits with an authority’s over-riding duty.  
The Statutory Guidance is clearly intended to limit increases in an authority’s borrowing by 
generating a revenue charge that wouldn’t otherwise be needed, whereas the authority’s 
duty is to manage its underlying need to borrow prudently (which does not require a 
revenue charge, except for doubtful debts).  As the Government intention would lead to an 
authority setting aside more than it needs to maintain a prudent position, authorities have 
two options:
• Accept that the Statutory Guidance supplements the statutory duty and bring capital 

loans within the authority’s MRP arrangements per the Statutory Guidance
• Reject the Statutory Guidance as being contrary to the statutory duty and not make 

MRP for capital loans

Page 101



As the second of the options requires the Statutory Guidance to be disregarded, an 
authority taking it up would need to demonstrate that it had had regard to the Guidance but 
decided that it was not appropriate in this instance.  The Informal Commentary on the 
Guidance acknowledges that departures may be justified.  However, paragraph 14 does 
say that. Officers are seeking the advice of Legal Services and External Audit to determine 
acceptable treatment. Depending on the outcome of this consultation will determine 
whether or not the narrated approach to MRP will need to be amended.
In summary, there is a possibility that MRP does not have to be charged on capital loans, 
but in order to take up this option an authority must have assured itself that it would be 
reasonable to disregard the expectations of the Statutory Guidance in the light of the 
authority’s duty to determine a prudent charge.  There is anecdotal evidence to suggest a 
growing number of authorities are finding themselves able to take such a position.
Form of MRP
If the Council determines that it should make MRP for a capital loan, there is still flexibility 
to schedule how it might be made.  The Statutory Guidance confirms an expectation that 
charges will be based on the period that the public will benefit from any assets acquired by 
the borrower as a result of the loan, not the repayments agreed.  Under this expectation, 
there is no reason as to why MRP would match the profile of principal repayments by the 
borrower (especially as MRP will be a charge to revenue but the principal repayments will 
be credited to the Capital Receipts Reserve).
Deferring an MRP charge would be reasonable if the agreement with the company to 
repay principal reflected a situation that it will not be creating any substantial operational 
assets until after the first three years.   Similarly, an MRP that is skewed to the later years 
of the loan may be appropriate if the benefits generated by the investment increase during 
the years that the loan is outstanding.
Investment in a Company
If the Council were to acquire an investment in the company rather than provide it with 
loans, the same discussions about the need for MRP apply as to capital loans.  Regulation 
25 defines the acquisition of share capital as capital expenditure, and paragraph 24 of the 
Statutory Guidance sets an expectation that MRP will be provided for the investment over 
a maximum of 20 years, despite the fact that under proper accounting practices no 
expenditure will have occurred (a cash asset being exchanged for an investment).
MRP and PWLB Repayments
PWLB repayments can be made at any time, provided that the Council has sufficient cash 
balances to meet the payment.  When principal repayments are made under a capital loan, 
these will be capital receipts, to be paid into the Capital Receipts Reserve.  If these 
receipts are posted into the Capital Adjustment Account, the cash that backed them will 
effectively become available to support cash out flows to the PWLB.  There is not 
necessarily any direct connection, however.  MRP reduces an authority’s overall 
underlying need to borrow.  Whether borrowing is actually reduced depends on wider 
consideration of the authority’s treasury position.

Page 102



MRP if applicable to the scheme
If MRP does apply the Council will need to make provision from revenue for the 
repayments of the loan principal and well as paying for the interest on the loan, however, 
the repayment of principal from the housing company will need to be treated as a capital 
receipt and therefore could not be used for this purpose as such if this is the case the 
Council would require income from the housing company of at least the interest rate 
changed by PWLB plus 5 percentage points.
It would be prudent to ensure that repayments to the Council on loan(s) taken out by the 
LAPC cover the repayments of Council borrowings from the PWLB to fund both the loan to 
the company and the cash equity invested in the company. 
Loans made by PWLB and the Council can be structured on an annuity basis and satisfy 
this requirement. A Minimum Revenue Provision each year for the repayment of debt 
connected to PWLB loans would be based on a 20 year annuity loan. Interest at 6.5% on 
£13.022m loan to the LAPC covers the repayments of Council loans from the PWLB of 
£16.278m at 3.26%.

Page 103



Appendix 5e
Sensitivity Analysis
Officers have received training on the PwC Model and received a final copy of the model on 1 
December 2016. The model is similar to that developed in-house to model the funding 
scenarios for the capital programme. The following sensitivity analysis has been undertaken:

1. Increasing price inflation from 2.5% to 4.5%
2. Reducing income inflation from 4.5% and 4.3% to 2.5%
3. Varying the interest on the loan:

a. Reducing the loan interest by 0.5%
b. Increasing the loan interest by 0.5%

BBP information in respect of the selling and rental income for the 3Mitcham sites appear high 
when checking local property information, reducing this income will reduce the profitability of 
the company.

Page 104



Appendix 5f
Land Valuation
The council is under an obligation under s123 of the Local Government Act 1972 when 
disposing of an interest in land to obtain best consideration reasonably obtainable. The 
Authority’s valuer has valued the 4 sites being progressed by the Housing Company as:

Site Market 
Value

Total 
Units

Affordable Housing

 £000s  Number %
Farm Road Church 553 9 4 44%
Land at the Canons 3,355 22 5 23%
Raleigh Gardens 2,453 22 2 9%
Elm Nursery Car 
Park 2,052 24 9 38%
Total 8,413 77 20 26%

Best consideration for these sites would be the market value. The valuation guidance 
provides no allowance for the impact of affordable housing on the site value. 

Page 105



Appendix 5g
Tax and VAT Advice in relation to the Housing Company
Generally, limited companies are considered not to be the most tax efficient vehicles 
for investment by local authorities, as local authorities do not pay corporation tax whilst 
a limited company pays corporation tax on its profits and can only declare dividends 
out of its net-of-tax profits.  
However, the council will be able to make management charges, to the company, for 
staff time and costs and the company will be able to deduct such costs from profits 
before tax.
In terms of VAT, the company will be unable to recover VAT for repairs in the way the 
council does. Renting properties is an exempt activity for VAT purposes, however 
landlords pay VAT on repairs. The company would also be liable for council tax on any 
void periods.
Stamp Duty Land Tax (“SDLT”) on land transfers:  SDLT is payable on 
transfer/disposal of land.  Where the purchaser of land is connected with the vendor 
SDLT is payable on the market value of the land (or the consideration given if higher).  
The LAPC may well be “connected” with the Council on the basis that the Council 
controls the LAPC.  However, it might be possible to obtain group relief from SDLT in 
respect of the land transferred to the LAPC from the Council.  Two companies (or in 
this case the LAPC and a body corporate (the Council) will be in the same SDLT group 
if one is the parent of the other.  
A company is the parent of another if it is the beneficial owner of at least 75 per cent of 
the ordinary share capital of the other and it is beneficially entitled to at least 75 per 
cent of any profits available for distribution.  As the Council is proposed to be the sole 
shareholder of all of the paid up share capital, SDLT group relief should be available 
so there would be no SDLT payable on land transfer from the Council to the LAPC.

Page 106



Appendix 5h
The Council
The council will receive the interest from the company on the loan and dividends from 
the company’s profits from the cash equity investment. In order for the council to loan 
the £13.022m to the company and provide £3.256m cash equity, cash reserves maybe 
used or loan(s) of £16.278m would be required from the PWLB.Modelling has 
prudently assumed a PWLB Loan will be required. PWLB interest charges to the 
Council and interest receipts are set out in Tables over the page:

LBM Balance Sheet - Years 1 to 5 (£’000)

Item Year 0
(£’000)

Year 1
(£’000)

Year 2
(£’000)

Year 3
(£’000)

Year 4
(£’000)

Year 5
(£’000)

Cash 0 (0) 0 0 0 0
Land (8,413) (8,190) (8,190) (8,190) (8,190) (8,190)
Investment   8,413 640 7,373 13,966 10,301 10,315
Long Term Debtor 0 8,345 9,965 11,446 11,446 11,446
Long Term Loan 
(LAPC) 0 (788) (9,046) (16,864) (12,840) (12,603)

Net Asset Impact 
(Surplus/(Deficit) 
excl MRP 

0 8 102 358 716 968

Capital Receipt 0 0 0 0 2,707 0

NET ASSET IMPACT 
(Surplus/(Deficit) 
with MRP 

0 8 102 358 3,424 968

LBM Balance Sheet Impact in 5 Years Periods

Item Year 5
(£’000)

Year 10
(£’000)

Year 15
(£’000)

Year 20
(£’000)

Year 25
(£’000)

Year 30
(£’000)

Cash 0 0 0 0 4,018 74,298
Land (8,190) (8,190) (8,190) (8,190) (8,190) (8,190)
Investment   10,315 9,881 8,298 5,540 905 0
Long Term Debtor 11,446 11,446 11,446 11,446 11,446 0
Long Term Loan 
(LAPC) (12,603) (10,801) (7,721) (2,878) 0 0
Net Asset Impact 
(Surplus/(Deficit) 
excl MRP 

968 2,336 3,832 5,917 8,179 66,108

Capital Receipt 2,708 434 1,583 2,758 4,634 905
NET ASSET IMPACT 
(Surplus/(Deficit) 
with MRP 

3,676 2,770 5,416 8,675 12,813 67,013

The base model incorporates a repayment profile that prioritises early debt repayment 
starting in year 4 and covers 22 years. An annuity loan over 20 years is a preferred 
option as it involves simple, equal annual payments to the Council, meets statutory 
requirements and includes interest and principal. 

Page 107



Further guidance is being sort regarding whether Minimum Revenue Provision will 
apply to this type of investment. This is discussed in Appendix 5d. This would not 
undermine the viability of the scheme.

Page 108



Appendix 5i
The Housing Company
The company will plan to maximise profits and provide an ongoing income stream back 
to the council. Construction will be undertaken in the first 3 years and non-PRS 
properties will be sold when complete to registered providers, the remaining PRS 
properties will be rented at market rates.
The forecasts show an in year deficit in the first 4 years, whilst the planning and 
construction work take place. Profits arise in year 3 when completed social housing is 
sold and increases steadily over the remaining years when PRS properties are rented. 
Distributions culminate in a final dividend of accumulated profits in year 30.Interest has 
been rolled up in the first years in the model, though immediate payment of interest 
could provide the Council with a margin on interest at the outset but will require high 
borrowing initially.
The tables below show income and expenditure for the proposed company over the 
first 5 years and in 5 year blocks over the modelled life of the company.

LAPC Income and Expenditure Impact - Years 1 to 5 

Item Year 0
(£’000)

Year 1
(£’000)

Year 2
(£’000)

Year 3
(£’000)

Year 4
(£’000)

Year 5
(£’000)

Profit on sales 0 (200) 0 (1,001) (800) 0
Net rental income 0 0 120 723 622 655
Net Interest/(Cost) 0 (101) (137) (301) (908) (655)
Interest income on 
surplus cash 
balance

0 0 0 0 0 0

Profit/(Loss) before 
tax 0 (301) (17) (579) (1,086) (0)
Corporation tax 0 0 0 0 0 0
Profit/(Loss) after 
tax 0 (301) (17) (579) (1,086) (0)
Dividends 0 0 0 0 0 0

LAPC Income and Expenditure Impact in 5 Years Periods

Item
Year 0-

5
(£’000)

Year 6-
10

(£’000)

Year 11-
15

(£’000)

Year 16-
20

(£’000)

Year 21-
25

(£’000)

Year 26-30
(£’000)

Profit on sales (2,000) 0 0 0 0 51,126
Net rental income 1,581 3,838 4,949 6,350 8,110 10,343
Net Interest/(Cost) (1,563) (3,319) (3,042) (2,373) (1,257) (59)
Interest income on 
surplus cash 
balance

0 0 0 0 0 0

Profit before tax (1,982) 518 1,908 3,977 6,852 61,410
Corporation tax 0 (85) (324) (676) (1,165) (10,687)
Profit after tax (1,982) 434 1,583 3,301 5,687 50,723
Dividends 0 0 (35) (676) (1,165) (69,316)

Page 109



LAPC Balance Sheet - Years 1 to 5 (£’000)

Item Year 0
(£’000)

Year 1
(£’000)

Year 2
(£’000)

Year 3
(£’000)

Year 4
(£’000)

Year 5
(£’000)

Land 0 8,190 4,074 0 0 0
Cash 0 (0) (0) (0) (0) (0)
Capitalised interest 0 20 272 851 668 682
WIP/Stock 0 136 3,379 4,567 0 0
Investment 
properties 0 337 9,295 19,097 19,097 19,097
Capitalised veh costs 0 0 0 0 0 0
Corp tax creditor 0 0 0 0 0 0
Long term loan 0 (640) (7,373) (13,966) (10,301) (10,315)
Equity cash element 0 155 1,775 3,256 3,256 3,256
Equity land element 0 8,190 8,190 8,190 8,190 8,190
P&L Reserve 0 (301) (318) (897) (1,982) (1,982)

Note: The loan from the Council is fully repaid after 20 years. Corporation tax is 
largely deferred until PRS stock is revalued at the end of the planned programme and 
therefore subject to the rates of corporation tax at that time.

LAPC Balance Sheet - Years 1 to 30 (£’000)

Item Year 5
(£’000)

Year 
10

(£’000)

Year 15
(£’000)

Year 20
(£’000)

Year 25
(£’000)

Year 30
(£’000)

Land 0 0 0 0 0 0
Cash (0) 33 54 (0) (0) 9,328
Capitalised interest 682 682 682 682 682 (0)
WIP/Stock 0 0 0 0 0 0
Investment 
properties 19,097 19,097 19,097 19,097 19,097 0
Capitalised veh costs 0 0 0 0 0 0
Corp tax creditor 0 (33) (89) (169) (281) (9,328)
Long term loan (10,315) (9,881) (8,298) (5,540) (905) 0
Equity cash element 3,256 3,256 3,256 3,256 3,256 3,256
Equity land element 8,190 8,190 8,190 8,190 8,190 8,190
P&L Reserve (1,982) (1,548) 0 2,624 7,147 (11,446)
Note: The commercial lending rate for the loan to the company has been modelled at 
6.5%.

Dividends become payable on realised profits and have been modelled to start in Year 
15 in relation to PRS rental profits.  There is a stepped increase in dividend in year 27 
when all the debt has been repaid
Liquidity - The model assumes optimum cash flows, with no significant cash holdings. 
Working capital will be required but detailed drawdown arrangements for Council loans 
will enable this to be operated at an optimum level. 

Page 110



Advice from Price Waterhouse Coopers has been to agree a loan facility and draw 
down on a cash flow model ensuring that neither the company nor the council lends 
money before it’s required and incur unnecessary interest charges. It is intended that 
advances and repayments will be implemented on a commercial basis and a cash 
balance will be maintained to ensure sufficient liquidity in the company. The loan 
percentage of 6.5% represents limited flexibility on drawn down arrangements which 
would be detailed in the loan agreement. Greater flexibility would trigger a higher 
interest rate. This will be considered as part of the sensitivity analysis.
Land values - The model has been based on land values calculated on a market value. 
It is recommended that an independent valuation of the four sites is obtained. 

Page 111



This page is intentionally left blank



LONDON BOROUGH OF MERTON                                         
TREASURY MANAGEMENT POLICY STATEMENT     
 

1.   INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 Background  
 

London Borough of Merton have adopted the Chartered Institute of Public 
Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) definition of Treasury Management, which 
is: 
 
  “The management of the local authority’s investments and cash flows, 
  its banking, money market and capital market transactions; the effective 
  control of the risks associated with those activities; and the pursuit of 
  optimum performance consistent with those risks.” 
 
The Council is required to update and approve its policy framework and 
strategy for treasury management, annually, to reflect the changing market 
environment, regulation, and the Council’s financial position.   The key issues 
and decisions are: 
 

a) To set the Council’s Prudential Indicators for 2017/18 to 2019/20 
b) Approve the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) policy for 2017/18; and 
c) To agree the Treasury Management Strategy for 2017/18.  This will 

include the annual investment strategy, containing the parameters of 
how the investments are to be managed. 
 

 
1.2 Statutory Requirement 
 

The Local Government Act 2003 (the Act) as amended and supporting 
regulations, require the Council to ‘have regard to’ 
(a) such guidance as the Secretary of State may issue; and 
(b) such other guidance as the Secretary of State may by regulations  
  specify for the purposes of this provision 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/26/section/15 
 
The Guidance requires the Council to set out its treasury strategy for borrowing 
and to prepare an Annual Investment Strategy.  The Council has adopted 
CIPFA’s revised Code of Practice on Treasury Management.   

 
1.3  Balanced Budget Requirement 
 

Section 33 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 requires the Council to 
set a balanced budget.  This means that cash raised during the year will meet 
cash expenditure.  Part of the treasury management function is to ensure that 
this cash flow is adequately planned, with cash being available when it is 
needed.  Cash yet to be used are invested in low risk and good credit quality 
counterparties or instruments with the consideration first for security,  liquidity 
and yield. 
 

Page 113

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/26/section/15


The other main function of treasury management is the funding of the Council’s 
capital plans. These capital plans provide a guide to the long or short-term 
borrowing need of the Council, essentially the longer term cashflow planning, 
to ensure that the Council can meet its capital spending obligations. The 
management of longer term cash may involve arranging long or short dated 
loans, or using longer term cashflow surpluses.   Subject to S151 Officer’s 
approval, any debt previously drawn may be restructured or repaid to meet the 
Council’s risk or cost objectives.  

 
1.4 Treasury Management Strategy for 2017/18  
  

 The strategy for 2017/18 covers two main areas:  
 

Capital Issues 
 

 To determine the Council’s capital plans and  prudential indicators for 
2017/18 to 2019/20; 

 To approve the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) policy for 2017/18. 

 

The LG Act 2003 require local authorities to set an affordable borrowing limit 
(http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/26/section/3).  

 

Treasury Management Issues 

 

 To agree the Council’s treasury management strategy for 2017/18 

 current treasury position as at 30 November 2016; 

 treasury indicators  which limit the treasury risk and activities of the 
Council; 

 prospects for interest rates; 

 borrowing strategy; 

 policy on borrowing in advance of need; 

 debt rescheduling and early repayment of debt review; 

 Annual Investment Strategy and alternative investment instruments 
(Policy on new lending and borrowing instruments); 

 creditworthiness policy; 

 Treasury Management Practices (Appendix 5);and  

 cash flow policy  

  

 

These elements cover the requirements of the Local Government Act 2003, the 
CIFPA Prudential Code, the Communities and Local Government (CLG) MRP 
Guidance, the CIPFA Treasury Management Code and the CLG Investment 
Guidance. 

 

 

 

Page 114



2. CURRENT TREASURY POSITION 

2.1 Use of the Council’s Resources and the Investment Position 

The application of resources (capital receipts and reserves etc.) to either 
finance capital expenditure or other budget decisions to support the revenue 
budget will have an ongoing impact on investments unless resources are 
supplemented each year from new sources, for example, asset sales.   

The table below shows the position as at 30 November 2016. 

Year End Resources 
 

2015/16 
Actual 
£’000 

30 
November  

2016 
Actual 
£’000 

31 March 
2016/17 

Estimate 
£’000 

31 March 
2017/18 
Estimate 

£’000 

Investments 85,400 107,200 79,166 58,381 

Interest on investments 1,140 451 1,262 1,186 

Borrowing 
 Long-term Borrowing 
  Short-term Borrowing  

Total External Debt  

 
116,976 

 
 

116,976 

 
116,976 

 
 

116,976 

 
116,976 

 
 

116,976 

 
113,010 

 
 

113,010 

Interest on External Debt  

   Long-term  

   Short-term 

Total Interest on 
External Debt  

 
 

6,686 
1 
 

6,687 

 
 

6,702 
1 
 

6,703 

 
 

6,702 
 
 

6,702 

 
 

6,315 
 
 

6,315 
Interest on investments figures above do not include interest from policy investments.  

 

 

3. CAPITAL PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS 2017/18 - 2020/21 

 The Council is required to calculate various indicators for the next 3 years.  The 
aim of prudential indicators is to ensure that the Council’s capital investment 
plans are affordable, prudent and sustainable.  The prudential indicators set 
out in Appendix 6 are calculated for the Medium Term Financial Strategy 
(MTFS) period.  The indicators relate to capital expenditure, external debt and 
treasury management. 

 The Council will monitor performance against the indicators and prepare 
indicators based on the Statement of Accounts (SoA) at year end. 

 

3.1 Capital Expenditure 

 The Council’s capital expenditure plans are fundamental to its treasury 
management activity.  The output of the capital expenditure plans is reflected in 
prudential indicators, which are designed to provide Council members an 
overview and confirm the impact of capital expenditure plans. 

This indicator is a summary of the Council’s capital expenditure plans, both 
those agreed previously, and those forming part of this budget cycle as 
reported in the MTFS.  Environment and Regeneration figures include projects 
relating to Public Health programs however these are fully funded and do not 
have any MRP implications. 

Page 115



 

Members are asked to approve the capital expenditure forecasts: 

Capital Expenditure 
 

2015/16 
Actual 
£’000 
 

2016/17 
Estimate 
£’000 
 

2017/18 
Estimate 
£’000 
 

2018/19 
Estimate 
£’000 
 

2019/20 
Estimate 
£’000 

2020/21 
Estimate 
£’000 

Children Schools & 
Families  

14,348 13,396 12,920 12,116 6,236 650 

Community & 
Housing  

1,355 1,951 1,334 629 280 630 

Corporate Services  2,466 8,975 17,596 11,812 9,882 2,135 

Environment & 
Regeneration 

10,910 14,143 18,466 16,748 7,080 5,017 

 - - - - - - 

Total  29,079 38,465 50,316 41,305 23,478 8,432 

 

The above financing need excludes other long-term liabilities, such as PFI and 
leasing arrangements which already include borrowing instruments. 

The table below shows how the capital expenditure plans are being financed 
by revenue or capital resources. A shortfall of resources means a borrowing 
need. The capital programme expenditure figures used in calculating the 
financing costs have been adjusted for slippage in the programme as at 30 
November 2016.   

 

Capital Expenditure 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 

Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Capital Expenditure 29,079 38,465 50,316 41,305 23,478 8,432 

Slippage* - -6,698 -235 2,323 664 475 

Leasing Budgets in 
Programme after 
Slippage 

 -223 -125 -45 -572 -29 

Total Capital 
Expenditure  

29,079 31,544 49,956 43,583 23,570 8,878 

Financed by:       

Capital Receipts 9,082 14,105 19,475 855 328 4,536 

Capital Grants & 
Contributions 

18,869 15,306 15,070 13,081 5,486 628 

Capital Reserves  607 - - - - - 

Revenue Provisions 429 2,061 6,959 61 4 0 

Other Financing 
Sources 

- - - - - - 

Net financing need for 
the year 

92 72 8,452 29,586 17,752 3,714 

*In the above table slippage includes slippage in from the previous year and out to the following 
year. 

Page 116



 

3.2 The Council’s Borrowing Need (the Capital Financing Requirement) 

 
The second prudential indicator, Capital Financing Requirement (CFR), is  the 
total historical outstanding capital expenditure which has not yet been paid for 
from either revenue or capital resources.  In other words, a measure of the 
Council’s underlying borrowing need.  Any capital expenditure above, which 
has not immediately been paid for, will increase the CFR. 
 
The CFR includes any other long-term liabilities like PFI schemes and finance 
leases which have been brought onto the balance sheet. Whilst this increases 
the CFR, and therefore the Council’s borrowing requirement, it should be noted 
that these types of scheme include a borrowing facility and so the Council is 
not required to separately borrow for these schemes.  

 

The Council has no Housing Revenue Account (HRA) and no new PFI scheme 
in 2017/18 is expected.  Public Health capital projects are fully funded therefore 
have no CFR implications.   The 2016/17 forecast movement in CFR shows a 
decrease of £8,638k because the expenditure to be funded from borrowing in 
2016/17 is less than the amount of MRP charged in the year. 
The current cashflow projection as at 30 November 2016 for 2016/17 year end 
is an estimated cash balance of £79.6m.  The current forecast has been based 
on assumptions in the MTFS and capital programme spend forecast after 
slippage.  The 2016/17 forecast £31.5m, 2017/18 £49.9m, and 2018/19 
£43.6m are based on best estimates which may slip due to unforeseen 
circumstances and the nature of large projects and the level of grant income.  
Also, fees and charges for the Council may change.  Based on current 
forecasts the earliest the Council may borrow is in 2017/18 in anticipation for 
2018/19.  However, the Council can borrow in advance of need if rates fall and 
borrowing becomes a lot more advantageous than it currently is. 
 
The Council is asked to approve the CFR projections in the following table: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 117



 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 

Actual 
£'000 

Estimate 
£'000 

Estimate 
£'000 

Estimate 
£'000 

Estimate 
£'000 

Estimate 
£'000 

Capital Financing Requirement 

CFR (non-housing) 198,616 189,978 189,864 211,412 219,158 213,145 

Total CFR 198,616 189,978 189,864 211,412 219,158 213,145 

Movement in CFR (9,210) (8,638) (114) 21,548 7,746 (6,013) 

 
Movement in CFR represented by   

Net financing need 
for the year (above) 

92 72 8,452 29,586 17,753 3,714 

Less Capital 
MRP/VRP  

7,587 7,154 7,004 6,579 7,634 7,987 

Less Other 
MRP/VRP (leasing, 
PFI)  

1,118 916 876 724 1,585 897 

Less Other 
MRP/VRP – PFI – 
Partial termination  

597 640 686 735 788 844 

Less Other 
financing 
movements 

 Adjustment of 
PFI Liability 

 Adjustment of 
MRP  

      

Movement in CFR (9,210) (8,638) (114) 21,548 7,746 (6,013) 

 
Actual and estimates of the ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream 
This indicator identifies the trend in the cost of capital (borrowing and other 
long-term obligation costs net of investment income) against the net revenue 
stream. The indicator shows the proportion of the income received from 
Council tax, Revenue Support Grant (RSG) and National Non-Domestic Rate 
(NNDR) that is spent on paying the borrowing associated with delivery of 
capital investment i.e. principal and interest charges of long-term borrowing.    
 
The table below shows the monetary values for the above ratio   
 

 2015/16 
Actual 

£’000 

2016/17 
Estimate 

£’000 

2017/18 
Estimate 

£’000 

2018/19 
Estimate 

£’000 

2019/20 
Estimate 

£’000 

2020/21 
Estimate 

£’000 

Net Revenue Financing 
Costs 

19,575 16,731 16,791 16,074 18,908 17,465 

Net Financing Stream 155,662 148,139 146,066 139,664 137,453 133,999 

Ratio of Financing Costs 
to Net Revenue Stream 
(Non HRA) 

12.58% 11.29% 11.50% 11.51% 13.76% 13.03% 

 
 
 

Page 118



Estimates of the incremental impact of capital investment decisions on 
council tax.  

The table below shows the incremental impact of changes in the capital 
programme (incorporating the effects of changes in treasury forecasts and 
investment decisions) on the band D Council tax.  Council tax has remained 
the same since 2011/12 therefore there has been little or no incremental 
impact on Council tax band D properties.    

 

 2015/16 
Actual 

2016/17 
Estimate 

2017/18 
Estimate 

2018/19 
Estimate 

2019/20 
Estimate 

2020/21 
Estimate 

Incremental Change in 
Capital Financing Costs 
(£000) 

3,020 -2,844 60 -717 2,835 -1,443 

Council Tax Base 69,638 71,327 72,442 72,805 73,169 73,534 

Incremental Impact on 
Council Tax - Band 
D*** (£) 

43.36 -39.87 0.84 -9.85 38.74 -19.63 

Council Tax - Band D (£) 1,106.56 1,106.45 1,139.71 1,173.90 1,197.38 1,221.33 

***2015/16 is actual council tax amounts, 2016/17 are actual.  However the Council tax base for future years is per the MTFS.  

 

4. MINIMUM REVENUE PROVISION (MRP) POLICY STATEMENT  

 The Council is required to pay off an element of the accumulated General Fund 
capital spend each year (the CFR) through a revenue charge (the MRP), 
although it is also allowed to undertake additional voluntary payments if 
required (voluntary revenue provision - VRP). The Council has not made any 
provision for VRP in its capital expenditure.     

For capital expenditure incurred before 1 April 2008 or by Supported Capital 
Expenditure, the MRP policy follows CLG regulations (option 1). This provides 
for an approximate 4% reduction in the borrowing need (CFR) each year. 

From 1 April 2008 for all unsupported borrowing (including PFI and finance 
leases) the MRP policy will be based on the Asset Life Method – CLG 
regulations (option 3).  

This option will be applied for any expenditure capitalised under a capitalisation 
direction. It should be noted that this option provides for a reduction in the 
borrowing need over the approximate life of the asset.  

The Council is required to have regard for the Local Government Involvement 
in Health Act 2007.  This amended the Local Government Act 2003 enabling 
the Secretary of State to issue guidance on accounting practices and thus on 
MRP.  Also, the Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (England) 
Regulations 2003 (as amended) specifies that “A local authority shall 
determine for the current financial year an amount of minimum revenue 
provision which it considers to be prudent”.  Any MRP implications on how the 
Council will pay for unfinanced capital assets through revenue will be included 
in the MRP policy.  
  

Page 119



 
 

Category 
Depreciation  (Years) 

Assets valued over £1m 

Buildings 50 

Mechanical & Electrical 20 

External 20 

Assets valued under £1m 

Buildings 40 

Infrastructure (roads etc) 25 

15 Year Asset  15 

10 Year Asset 10 

Computer software 5 

Computer hardware  5 

Large vehicles – e.g. buses, RCVs 7 

Small vehicles – e.g. cars, vans 5 

Other equipment e.g. CCTV 5 

 

MRP years where there is no depreciation equivalent 

Land 50 

Revenue Expenditure Funded by capital Under Statute e.g. 
Redundancy costs 

20 

 

 

5.    TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY 

5.1 The Prospects for Interest Rates and Economic Forecasts 
  
            Consideration is given to economic and interest rate forecasts because they 

provide likely investment rates (bank rates), likely borrowing rates (PWLB), 
credit risk profile thereby giving some latitude on when to borrow, repay and 
invest. However as with every forecast there is also the likelihood of economic 
factors not following forecasts.  
 
The following table gives the central position on the Council’s treasury 
management adviser’s view on interest rates. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 120



Annual Average % Bank Rate 
(%) 

PWLB Borrowing Rates (%) 

  5 year 10 year 25 year 50 year 

March 2017 0.25 1.60 2.30 2.90 2.70 

June 2017 0.25 1.60 2.30 2.90 2.70 

Sept 2017 0.25 1.60 2.30 2.90 2.70 

Dec 2017 0.25 1.60 2.30 3.00 2.80 

March 2018  0.25 1.70 2.30 3.00 2.80 

June 2018 0.25 1.70 2.40 3.00 2.80 

Sept 2018 0.25 1.70 2.40 3.10 2.90 

Dec 2018 0.25 1.80 2.40 3.10 2.90 

March 2019 0.25 1.80 2.50 3.20 3.00 

June 2019 0.50 1.90 2.50 3.20 3.00 

Sept 2019  0.50 1.90 2.60 3.30 3.10 

Dec 2019 0.75 2.00 2.60 3.30 3.10 

Mar 2020 0.75 2.00 2.70 3.40 3.20 

Source: Capita Asset Services 

 

The above forecasts reflect broad stimulus measures the Bank of England’s 
Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) took following the vote for the UK to exit the 
EU (Brexit) at the Referendum on 23rd June 2016, including a cut in base rate 
from 0.50% to 0.25% on 4th August 2016.  Since then, economic statistics 
suggest that the sharp fall in Sterling strengthened growth and raised inflation 
forecasts significantly. 
 
During the two-year period (2017 – 2019) post triggering of Article 50, when the 
UK is negotiating the terms for withdrawal from the EU, it is likely that the MPC 
will do nothing to dampen growth prospects already adversely impacted by the 
uncertainties of Brexit.  Accordingly, a first increase to 0.50% is not tentatively 
pencilled in, as above, until Q2 2019, after those negotiations have been 
concluded, (though the period for negotiations could be extended). However, if 
strong domestically generated inflation, (e.g. from wage increases within the 
UK), were to emerge, then the pace and timing of increases in Bank Rate could 
be brought forward. 
 
Economic forecasting remains difficult with so many external influences 
weighing on the UK. The above forecasts, (and MPC decisions), will be liable 
to further amendment depending on how economic data and developments in 
financial markets transpire over the next year. Forecasts for average 
investment earnings beyond the three-year time horizon will be heavily 
dependent on economic and political developments. Major volatility in bond 
yields is likely to endure as investor fears and confidence ebb and flow 
between favouring more risky assets i.e. equities, or the safe haven of bonds.  
The overall longer run trend is for gilt yields and PWLB rates to rise, albeit 
gently.  An eventual world economic recovery may also see investors switching 
from the safe haven of bonds to equities.   
The overall balance of risks to economic recovery in the UK remains to the 
downside.  
 
PWLB rates and gilt yields have been experiencing exceptional levels of 

volatility that are highly correlated to geo-political, sovereign debt crisis and 

emerging market developments.   

Page 121



Apart from the above uncertainties, downside risks to current forecasts for UK 

gilt yields and PWLB rates currently include:  

 Monetary policy action by central banks reaching its limit of effectiveness 

and failing to stimulate significant sustainable growth, combat the threat of 

deflation and reduce high levels of debt in some major developed 

economies, combined with a lack of adequate action from national 

governments to promote growth through structural reforms, fiscal policy and 

investment expenditure. 

 Major national polls:  

 US presidential election was held on 8th November 2016.  Bank 
funding costs have risen since the US election and markets believe 
the policies of Mr Donald Trump, the President-elect, could push up 
interest rates;  

 Italian constitutional referendum was held on 4th December 2016 
with the Prime Minister, Matteo Renzi resigning after his defeat 
sparking fears about the stability of the Italian banking system; 

 Spain has held two inconclusive general elections and is still unable 
to form a workable government with a coalition holding a majority of 
seats; the impasse could lead to a third general election  – currently 
tentatively scheduled for 25th December 2016; 

 Dutch general election 15th March 2017;  

 French presidential election April/May 2017;  

 French National Assembly election June 2017;  

 German Federal election August – October 2017.  

 A resurgence of the Eurozone sovereign debt crisis. 

 Weak capitalisation of some European banks. 

 Geopolitical risks in Europe, the Middle East and Asia, increasing safe 
haven flows.  

 UK economic growth and increases in inflation are weaker than we 
currently anticipate.  

 Weak growth or recession in the UK’s main trading partners - the EU and 
US.  

The potential for upside risks to current forecasts for UK gilt yields and PWLB 
rates, especially for longer term PWLB rates, include: - 

 UK inflation rising to significantly higher levels than in the wider EU and US, 
causing an increase in the inflation premium in gilt yields.  

 A rise in US Treasury yields as a result of Fed funds rate increases and 
rising inflation expectations in the USA, pushing UK gilt yields upwards. 

 The pace and timing of increases in the Fed funds rate causing a 
fundamental reassessment by investors of the relative risks of holding 
bonds as opposed to equities and leading to a major flight from bonds to 
equities. 

 A downward revision to the UK’s sovereign credit rating undermining 
investor confidence in holding sovereign debt (gilts).   

Page 122



5.2   Borrowing Strategy  

 
Current Borrowing Portfolio Position 

The table below shows the CFR  as at 30 November 2016 against the gross 
debt position of the Council. The gross debt includes other long-term liabilities 
like PFI and finance lease obligations. Gross debt should not exceed CFR in 
the medium to long-term. 

Estimated debt may change as the capital programme spends and financing 
changes. The lease balances do not include adjustments for new implications 
in 2016/17.   

    2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 
    Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate 
    £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

External Debt at 1 
April  

  
116,976 116,976 116,976 113,010 113,010 113,010 

Expected change in 
Debt (repayment and 
new debt)**** 

  
0 0 (3,966) 0 0 (2,000) 

Closing External 
Debt 

  
116,976 116,976 113,010 113,010 113,010 111,010 

PFI Balance b/f   19,524 18,664 17,959 17,164 16,480 14,926 

In year movement     -860 -705 -795 -684 -1,554 -805 

Closing Balance PFI   18,664 17,959 17,164 16,480 14,926 14,121 

                

PFI Partial 
Termination Balance 
b/f 

  
15,210 14,613 13,973 13,287 12,552 11,764 

In year movement     -597 -640 -686 -735 -788 -844 

Closing Balance 
Partial Termination 
PFI  

  
14,613 13,973 13,287 12,552 11,764 10,920 

TOTAL PFI   33,277 31,932 30,451 29,032 26,690 25,041 

Finance Leases at 1 
April  

  
219 211 81 39 31 92 

Expected Change in 
Finance Leases 

  -8 -130 -42 -8 60 42 

Closing Balance 
Finance Leases 

  
211 81 39 31 92 134 

Salix Loan   44 34 25 15 5 0 

Salix in year 
movement 

  
-10 -10 -10 -10 -5 0 

Closing Balance 
Salix 

  
34 25 15 5 0 0 

Actual gross debt at 
31 March 

  
150,498 149,014 143,515 142,078 139,792 136,185 

Capital Financing 
Requirement 

  
198,616 189,978 189,864 211,413 219,158 215,902 

(Under)/over 
borrowing 

  
-48,118 -40,964 -46,349 -69,335 -79,366 -79,717 

****£3.966m of long-term debt matures in 2017/18 

Page 123



The table above shows the CFR forecast for 2016/17 to 2020/21.  Also, there is 
no maturing debt until 2017/18 hence little borrowing pressure therefore the 
Council is currently maintaining an under-borrowed position.  This means that 
the capital borrowing need (the CFR), has not been fully funded with loan debt 
as cash supporting the Council’s reserves, balances and cashflow has been 
used as a temporary measure. PFI and finance lease portion of the CFR will 
not be funded by additional loan. Capital forecasts relating to 2018/19, 2019/20 
and 2020/21 are very much subject to change at this stage. 

 

The Council’s decision to use internal borrowing is prudent as it eliminates the 
revenue cost of carry as investment returns remain low, there is sometimes 
slippage on capital programme budgets and counterparty risks  remain to a 
degree.  The Council can fund its entire borrowing requirement now if this is 
affordable.  In which case, borrowing will be up to CFR. 

 

Borrowing interest rates have been on a downward trend since 2016. Against 
this background, the Director of Corporate Services will continue to monitor 
interest rates in financial markets and adopt a pragmatic approach to changing 
circumstances to maximise short-term savings. However when interest rates 
begin to rise, the Council will consider borrowing in advance of need than 
current forecast requirements show. The duration of loans will be driven by the 
current loan portfolio, affordability, the position on internal borrowing and 
borrowing rates.  The policy of avoiding new borrowing by using spare cash 
balances, has served well over the last few years.  However, this needs to be 
reviewed carefully to avoid incurring higher borrowing costs in future when the 
Council will not be able to avoid new borrowing to finance capital expenditure 
and/or to refinance maturing debt. 
 

Council’s Year End Balance Sheet Position at 31 March 2016 

  

2014/15 2015/16 Change 

      

£'000 £'000 £'000 

CFR 207,826 198,616 9,210 

PFI and LEASES  -35,553 -34,123 -1,430 

Underlying Borrowing Requirement  172,273 164,493 7,780 

External Borrowing  116,676 116,976 300 

Under borrowing / Internal borrowing to date -55,597 -47,517 -8,080 

 

Strategy to ‘Unwind’ Internal Borrowing 

Internal borrowing at 31 March 2016 remains at sustainable levels. However, 
the Council will commence a review of its strategy to ‘unwind’ internal 
borrowing.   

 

 

 

Page 124



Debt Liability Benchmarking 

In defining its borrowing strategy, the Council considered the true 
characteristics of all of the debt instruments in its portfolio, most especially the 
LOBOs and the various options available to the Council. 

Consideration was given to the fact that in the current economic climate the 
LOBOs in the Council’s portfolio will not be called due to their very high interest 
rate. Should they be called, replacement borrowing will not be required 
because the council will have cash available in 2017/18 to meet the call options 
based on the current estimates of the use of internal borrowing for the capital 
programme.  

If all LOBOs are called at once (an unlikely event) then future estimated use of 
cash to temporarily fund the capital programme may be affected. 

All counterparties were contacted in 2016 and most responded and cited a 
minimum rate they would consider reviewing the call option on the LOBO as 
being over 3%. Bank of England rate is currently 0.25% with rates not expected 
to rise to 0.75% before Q4 2019. 

The borrowing strategy to temporarily finance its capital programme, led the 
Council to consider setting a minimum amount of projected liquid cash of 
£10m. This means that cash outflows for capital purposes would primarily be 
met from cash investments until £10m was reached, and only at that point, 
would external borrowing be undertaken except if interest rates were 
advantageous for long-term loans, then the Council will borrow in advance of 
need or where interest rates are expected to rise significantly and quickly. 
 
The Council will continue to review, throughout the year, its options around 
higher and lower levels of cash-backed balances.   
 

Treasury Risk Analysis - Debt 

Whilst it is not mandatory for Local Authorities to adopt the CIPFA Risk Toolkit 
produced by CIPFA’s Treasury Management Panel, the Council will continue to 
utilise and adopt the risk tool kit and participate in the risk study in 2017/18 as 
there are some merits for the Council in managing its integrated treasury 
management portfolio and in considering risk mitigation options for its treasury 
management review process and benchmarking with its peers. 

 

5.3 Treasury Indicators: Limits to Borrowing Activity 
 

Operational Boundary - this is the limit beyond which external borrowing is 
not normally expected to exceed. 

  

 

 

 

Page 125



Operational boundary 

£’000 

2015/16 
Actual 
£’000 

2016/17 
Estimate 

£’000 

2017/18 
Estimate 

£’000 

2018/19 
Estimate 

£’000 

2019/20 
Estimate 

£’000 

2020/21 
Estimate 

£’000 

External Debt 116,976 116,976 113,010 113,010 113,010 111,010 

Other Long-term 
Liabilities  34,123 32,013 

 
30,490 

 
29,063 26,782 

 
25,175 

Operational Boundary 151,099 148,989 143,500 142,073 139,792 136,185 

 

Authorised Limit for External Borrowing  

This is the statutory limit determined under section 3 (1) of the Local 
Government Act 2003. It represents a limit beyond which external borrowing 
must not go over in the 3 years, and this limit when set is to be revised 
annually by Council.  It reflects the level of external borrowing which, while not 
desired, could be afforded in the short-term, but is not sustainable in the longer 
term. 

The Council is asked to approve the following authorised limit: 

 

 2015/16 
Actual 
£’000 

2016/17 
Estimate 

£’000 

2017/18 
Estimate 

£’000 

2018/19 
Estimate 

£’000 

2019/20 
Estimate 

£’000 

2020/21 
Estimate 

£’000 

External Debt 151,099 148,989 143,500 142,073 139,792 136,185 

Other Long-term 
Liabilities 

60,000 70,000 80,000 100,000 110,000 120,000 

Authorised Limit 211,099 218,989 223,500 242,073 249,792 256,185 

 
Members are required to note that these authorised limits shows the gross 
maximum borrowing for the year and, in year regulatory accounting changes 
which may affect the level of debt in the balance sheet as well as allow for any 
potential overdraft position and short-term borrowing for cashflow purposes. All 
of which will be counted against the overall borrowing.  The authorised limit 
also provides headroom for any debt rescheduling which may occur during the 
year and any borrowing in advance of need. 
 
The following graph shows projection of the CFR and borrowing. 
 

Page 126



 

 

Within the prudential indicators, there are a number of key indicators to ensure that 
the Council operates its activities within well-defined limits. One of these is that the 
Council should ensure that its gross debt does not (except in the short term) exceed 
the total of the CFR in the preceding year plus the estimates of any additional CFR for 
2017/18 and the following two financial years.  This allows some flexibility for limited 
early borrowing for future years, but ensures that borrowing is not undertaken for 
revenue purposes. 

The Director of Corporate Services reports that the Council complied with this key 
prudential indicator in the current year and does not envisage difficulties for the future.  
This view takes into account current commitments, existing plans, and the proposals 
in the budget. 

 

Page 127



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5.4 Treasury Management Limits on Activity 

The table below shows the debt related treasury activity limits.   

Members are asked to note that the maturity structure guidance changed in the 
CIPFA 2011 guidance notes for Lenders Option Borrowers Option (LOBO) 
Loans, the maturity dates is now deemed to be the next call date.  

As interest rates begin to rise, it may be beneficial for the Council to go into 
some variable rate investments to avoid being locked into long-term 
investments at low rates in a period of rising interest rates or shorter duration 
borrowing to gain advantage of low rates. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 128



The table below shows the fixed and variable interest rate exposure 

 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 

Interest Rate Exposures Upper 
Estimate 

Upper 
Estimate 

Upper 
Estimate 

Upper 
Estimate 

Upper 
Estimate 

Upper limit for fixed interest 
rates based on net debt 

100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 

Upper limit for variable interest 
rates based on net debt 

50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 

Limits on fixed interest rates: 

 Debt only 

 Investments only  

 
100% 
100% 

 
100% 
100% 

 
100% 
100% 

 
100% 
100% 

 
100% 
100% 

Limits on variable interest rates  

 Debt only 

 Investments only 

 
50% 
50% 

 
50% 
50% 

 
50% 
50% 

 
50% 
50% 

 
50% 
50% 

 
The table below shows the Limits on the Maturity Structure of Borrowing   
 
 Maturity Structure of fixed 

interest rate borrowing 2017/18 
 Maturity Structure of variable 

interest rate borrowing 2017/18 

 Actual at 
30/11/2016 

Lower Upper Actual 
30/11/2016 

Lower  Upper 

Under 12 months 3.39% 0% 60% 0% 0% 50% 

12 months to 2 
years 

0% 0% 60% 0% 0%       50% 

2 years to 5 years 3.42% 0% 60% 0% 0% 50% 

5 years to 10 years 22.66% 0% 80% 0% 0% 50% 

10 years to 20 
years 

14.53% 0% 100% 0%         0%       50% 

20 years to 30 
years 

11.54% 0% 100% 0% 0% 50% 

30 years to 40 
years 

27.36% 0% 100% 0% 0% 50% 

40 years to 50 
years 

17.10% 0% 100% 0% 0% 50% 

Local Indicators 

In setting the indicators below, the Council has taken into consideration investment 
risks and returns. 

The table below shows target borrowing and investment rates  

 2015/16 
Actual 

% 

2016/17 
Estimate 

% 

2017/18 
Estimate 

% 

2018/19 
Estimate 

% 

2019/20 
Estimate 

% 

2020/21 
Estimate 

% 

Average Investment 
Target Return 

0.78% 0.84% 0.75% 0.75% 1.00% 1.25% 

Average Investment 
Target – Property Fund  

n/a 3.5% 3.5% 3.5% 3.5% 3.5% 

Long Term Borrowing 
Target 

 Current Portfolio 

 

 

 

5.72% 

 

 

 

5.72% 

 

 

 

5.70% 

 

 

 

5.72% 

 

 

 

5.72% 

 

 

 

5.72% 

 

Page 129



 

 The average investment target return above is based on the expected target 
return for the stated periods. 

 

5.5   Policy on Borrowing in Advance of Need  

London Borough of Merton will not borrow more than, or in advance of its need, 
purely in order to profit from the investment of the extra sums borrowed. 
 
Any decision to borrow in advance will be within forward approved CFR 
estimates, and will be considered carefully to ensure that value for money can 
be demonstrated and that the Council can ensure the security of such funds.  
 

Borrowing in advance could be made within the constraints that: 

 It will be limited to no more than 50% of the expected increase in borrowing 
need (CFR) over the three year planning period; and 

 Would not look to borrow more than 24 months in advance of need. Where 
possible rates will be locked using forward borrowing to reduce the risk of 
the Council holding cash in low interest rate environment.  

Risks associated with any borrowing in advance activity will be subject to prior 
appraisal and subsequent reporting through the mid-year or annual reporting 
mechanism.  The probability of this happening is low. 

However should the Council need to borrow in advance of need, then the 
following will apply. 

 

Year Maximum Borrowing in advance  Notes 

2017/18 No more than 50% of under 
borrowing requirement 

Borrowing in advance will be limited to no more 
than 50% of the expected increase in 
borrowing need (CFR) over the period of the 
approved Medium Term Capital Programme, a 
maximum of 2 years in advance to reduce 
carrying costs. 

2018-19 No more than 50% of under 
borrowing requirement 

2019-20 No more than 50% of under 
borrowing requirement 

2020-21 No more than 50% of under 
borrowing requirement 

 
 

5.6. Debt Rescheduling 

Long-term fixed rates have remained relatively unchanged over the past three 
years.  Although borrowing costs remain historically attractive, redemption 
rates are prohibitive. 

 

The following table shows the maturity profile of the Council’s current debt as 
at 30 November 2016. 

 

Page 130



 
Duration £'000 % of Debt Portfolio 

less than 1 year 3,966 3.39 

1 - 2 years 0 0 

2 - 5 years 4,000 3.42 

5 -10 years 26,510 22.66 

10 -15 years 4,500 3.85 

15- 20 years 12,500 10.69 

20 - 25 years 0 0.00 

25-30 years 13,500 11.54 

30 - 35 years 0 0.00 

35-40 years 32,000 27.36 

40 -45 years 0 0.00 

45-50 years 20,000 17.10 

Total 116,976 100.00 

 
All of the Council’s LOBOs are past their non call period, however, should all LOBOs 
be called at their next interest due date then the maturity profile will be as shown in 
the table below, an event which is very unlikely in the current low interest rate 
environment. 
 

 
 Duration £'000 % of Debt Portfolio 

less than 1 year 63,000 53.86 

1 - 2 years 1,966 1.68 

2 - 5 years 0 0.00 

5 -10 years 26,510 22.66 

10 -15 years 0 0.00 

15- 20 years 3,500 2.99 

20 - 25 years 0 0.00 

25-30 years 0 0.00 

30 - 35 years 0 0.00 

35-40 years 22,000 18.81 

40 -45 years 0 0.00 

45-50 years 0 0.00 

 Total 116,976 100.00 

 
As short term borrowing rates will be considerably cheaper than longer term 
fixed interest rates, there may be potential opportunities to generate savings by 
switching from long term debt to short term debt.  However, these savings will 
need to be considered in the light of the current treasury position and the size 
of the cost of debt repayment (premiums incurred).  
 
The reasons for any rescheduling to take place will include:  
 the generation of cash savings and / or discounted cash flow savings; 
 helping to fulfil the treasury strategy; 
 enhancing the balance of the portfolio (amend the maturity profile and/or the 

balance of volatility). 
 

Page 131



Consideration will also be given to identify if there is any residual potential for 
making savings by running down investment balances to repay debt 
prematurely as short term rates on investments are likely to be lower than rates 
paid on current debt. 
 
The Council tests the markets for redemption opportunities should they exist. 
The PWLB loans portfolio was elected for the early redemption review as at 30 
November 2016. A total loan value of £52m would incur redemption costs of 
£25million in addition to any accrued interest due. 
 
The high cost of early redemption is not economically viable in current markets. 
However there may be cases where the Council is able to negotiate with the 
counterparty (Appendix 1). 
 
The Director of Corporate Services will continue to review and identify any 
potential for making savings and provide Cabinet with updates when such 
opportunities arise.  Any rescheduling activity will be reported to Cabinet at the 
earliest meeting following the transaction. 
 
Use of Derivatives 
The Council may use derivatives for risk management purposes in line with 
relevant statutory powers, recommended accounting practices and legal 
opinions on the use of derivatives by Local Authorities in the UK.   

 
5.7 Borrowing Options 

The Council will use a number of borrowing sources. These include the Public 
Works Loans Board (PWLB maturity, EIP or annuity loans), Market loans, 
Municipal Bond Agency, Retail Bonds, Loans from other Local Authorities and 
temporary loans.  It is hoped that borrowing rates will be lower than those 
offered by the PWLB.  The Council intends to make use of this new source of 
borrowing as and when appropriate. 
  

5.8  Changes Which May Affect Treasury Management  
 

- Future Regulatory Changes to Money Market Fund Valuation 
Proposed EU legislative changes will require money market funds with 
constant net asset value to change to variable net asset value. This will mean 
that investors in the fund will be liable for their share of losses as a result of 
counterparty failure. Consultation continues on the expected changes.   

- Proposed Changes to Leasing   
Future changes to accounting for leasing may mean that the cost of service will 
increase along with increases in MRP and CFR which will affect the Council’s 
underlying borrowing requirement. It is anticipated that there may be some 
impact on both capital and revenue income and the changes will require all 
leases to be included on the balance sheet and be measured on PV of future 
lease payments. The new lease standard (IFRS 13) issued in 2015 is not 
anticipated to be adopted until 2019/20.     
 
- Municipal Bond Agency 

Page 132



It is likely that the Municipal Bond Agency currently in the process of being set 
up will be offering loans to local authorities in the near future. It is also hoped 
that borrowing rates will be lower than those offered by the PWLB.    

 
- Future Challenges to Local Government Funding  
Future challenges to local government funding and their effect on cash flow 
remains a challenge.   

 
  6.   ANNUAL INVESTMENT STRATEGY  

6.1 Investment Policy 

London Borough of Merton’s investment policy has regard to the CLG’s 
Guidance on Local Government Investments (“the Guidance”) and the revised 
CIPFA Treasury Management in Public Services Code of Practice and Cross 
Sectoral Guidance Notes (“the CIPFA TM Code”).  The Council’s investment 
priorities will be security first, liquidity second, then return.   

 
6.2 Investment Strategy 

 The Council does not place cash with fund managers as all of its cash is 
managed in-house. Base rate is forecast to remain at 0.25% till Q4 2019. 
The forecast rates have been built on the basis that bank rate is expected to 
remain unchanged until around the fourth quarter  of 2019, however if interest 
rates do not rise then future income expectations may not be met.  Local 
indicators /benchmark for investments set is included in paragraph 5.4 of this 
report. 
 
In order to maximise returns, cash available for investments will be split into 
three categories; 

 Operational cash (under 3 months) 

 Core cash (available for 3 to 6 months) 

 Strategic cash (available for over 6 months) 
 

The aim is to invest strategic cash for a minimum period of 12 months to 
enable the Council to secure advantageous rates, taking account of 
counterparty risk.  However this is also constrained by counterparty risk.  
Operational cash will predominantly be lent overnight  or for periods less than 
three months.  
    

6.3 Alternative Investment Instruments 
The Council has in the past restricted its treasury activities to simple 
investment structures like fixed deposits and money market funds.  
However, in the current market, regulatory and economic environment, the 
Council may be required to utilise various instruments.  Appendix 5 of this 
report gives a detailed overview of the types of instrument and investment 
options available to the Council.  
 
The global financial crisis of 2008 led to a major overhaul of regulation, market 
practices and financial institutions across the world. The changes have been 
aimed at promoting greater transparency and investor confidence.  

Page 133



Some of these measures include more institution-level regulatory changes like 
stringent capital, leverage and liquidity requirements in addition to The 
European Union (EU) Directives on Bank Recovery and Resolution (BRRD) 
and Deposit Guarantee Schemes (DGSD) among a few are key in this reform.  
Although these changes are ultimately designed to make financial systems 
more robust, they are not expected to have a fundamental impact on 
insolvency creditor hierarchy.     
 
Although the Council does not expect a fundamental change in type of 
instruments it uses in the delivery of its treasury management activities, a 
number of new instruments have been included to provide flexibility should 
there be changes in the economic environment which may warrant their use. 
As with any investment, there are varying degrees of risk associated with each 
instrument or investment options.  
 
Should the Council decide to invest in any asset class a comprehensive 
analysis will be conducted to understand the associated risk and each 
instrument will be signed off by the Director of Corporate Services prior to any 
activity.        
    

6.4 Investment Treasury Indicator and Limit - total principal funds invested for 
greater than 364 days. These limits are set with regard to the Council’s liquidity 
requirements and are based on the availability of funds after each year-end. 

 
 31 Dec 

2016 
Actual 
£’m 

2016/17 
Estimate 
£’m 

2017/18 
Estimate 
£’m 

2018/19 
Estimate 
£’m 

2019/20 
Estimate 
£’m 

2020/21 
Estimate 
£’m 

Estimated Principal 
sums invested greater 
than 364 days 

5m 18m 40m 40m 30m 30m 

 
In addition to fixed deposits, a number of other financial instruments like 
Property funds will fall under the category of investments with duration 
exceeding 364 days. In addition to using money market funds, call accounts 
and notice accounts, the Council will seek to utilise other liquid and 
transferable instruments like certificate of deposits and gilts for its cashflow 
balances. 

 
6.5 Use of Specified and Non-Specified Investments 

Investment instruments identified for use in the financial year are as follows: 
 
Specified Investments 
These are sterling investments of not more than one-year maturity, or those 
which could be for a longer period where the Council has the right to be repaid 
within 12 months if it wishes. These are considered low risk assets where the 
possibility of loss of principal or investment income is small. These would 
include sterling investments which would not be defined as capital expenditure 
by virtue of regulation 25(1)(d) of the Local Authorities (Capital Finance and 
Accounting) (England) Regulations 2003 [SI 3146 as amended with: 

 The investment is denominated in sterling and any payments or 
repayments in respect of the investment are payable only in sterling; 

Page 134



 The investment is not a long-term investment; 

 The making of the investment is not defined as capital expenditure]; and 

 The investment is made with a body or in an investment scheme of high 
credit quality or with one of the following public-sector bodies: 
o The United Kingdom Government; 
o A local authority in England or Wales (as defined under section 23 of the 

2003 Act). 
 

Non-Specified Investments 
Non-Specified investments are defined as those not meeting the above criteria 
and exceeding 365 days in duration. 
 

6.6 Investment Risk Benchmarking  

These benchmarks are simple guides to maximum risk, so they may be 
breached from time to time, depending on movements in interest rates and 
counterparty criteria.  The purpose of the benchmark is that officers will monitor 
the current and trend position and amend the operational strategy to manage 
risk as conditions change 

Revenue Pressures – 0.1% improvement on £20m is £20k income generated 
and the cost of no risk is lost revenue therefore risks must be balanced to the 
Council’s risk appetite. 

Security - The Council’s maximum security risk benchmark for the current 
portfolio: 

 Liquidity – in respect of this area the Council seeks to maintain: 

o Bank overdraft - £1m 

o Liquid short-term deposits of around £5m or more available with one 
day access. 

6.7 Risk Management and Creditworthiness Policy  
  

This Council applies the creditworthiness service provided by Capita Asset 
Services.  This service employs a sophisticated modelling approach utilising 
credit ratings from the three main credit rating agencies - Fitch, Moody’s and 
Standard and Poor’s.  The credit ratings of counterparties are supplemented 
with the following overlays:  
 Credit watches and credit outlooks from credit rating agencies; 
 CDS spreads to give early warning of likely changes in credit ratings; 
 Sovereign ratings to select counterparties from only the most creditworthy 

countries. 
 

This modelling approach combines credit ratings, credit Watches and credit 
Outlooks in a weighted scoring system which is then combined with an overlay 
of CDS spreads for which the end product is a series of colour coded bands 
which indicate the relative creditworthiness of counterparties.  These colour 
codes are used by the Council to determine the suggested duration for 
investments.  The Council will therefore use counterparties within the following 
durational bands: 

 
 

Page 135



Y Pi1 Pi2 P B O R G N/C

1 1.25 1.5 2 3 4 5 6 7

Up to 5yrs Up to 5yrs Up to 5yrs Up to 2yrs Up to 1yr Up to 1yr Up to 6mths Up to 100days No Colour

 Yellow 5 years  
 Dark pink 5 years for Enhanced money market funds (EMMFs) with a credit 

score of 1.25 
 Light pink 5 years for Enhanced money market funds (EMMFs) with a credit 

score of 1.5 
 Purple  2 years 
 Blue  1 year (only applies to nationalised or semi nationalised UK Banks) 

 Orange 1 year 
 Red  6 months 
 Green  100 days   
 No colour  not to be used  

 

 
 

 

  Colour (and long 
term rating where 

applicable) 

Money 

Limit 

Time  

Limit 

Banks  yellow £35m  5yrs 

Banks  purple £25m  2 yrs 

Banks  orange £25m  1 yr 

Banks – part nationalised blue £25m  1 yr 

Banks  red £10m  6 mths 

Banks  green £5m  100 days 

Banks  No colour Not to be 
used 

 

Limit 3 category – Council’s banker  Lloyds bank £5m  1 day 

Other institutions limit - £5m  1yrs 

DMADF AAA unlimited 6 months 

Local authorities n/a £5m  1yrs 

  Fund rating Money  

Limit 

Time  

Limit 

 

Money market funds  AAA £35m  Instant 

Enhanced money market funds with 
a credit score of 1.25  

Dark pink / AAA £25m  Instant 

Enhanced money market funds with 
a credit score of 1.5  

Light pink / AAA £10m  Instant 

 

  

Page 136



 The Capita Asset Services’ creditworthiness service uses a wider array of 
information than just primary ratings. Furthermore, by using a risk weighted 
scoring system, it does not give undue preponderance to just one agency’s 
ratings. 

 Typically the minimum credit ratings criteria the Council use will be a Short 
Term rating (Fitch or equivalents) of   F1 and a Long Term rating of A-. There 
may be occasions when the counterparty ratings from one rating agency are 
marginally lower than these ratings but may still be used.  In these instances 
consideration will be given to the whole range of ratings available, or other 
topical market information, to support their use. 

 All credit ratings will be monitored regularly.  The Council is alerted to changes 
to ratings of all three agencies through its use of the Capita Asset Services’ 
creditworthiness service.  

 if a downgrade results in the counterparty / investment scheme no longer 
meeting the Council’s minimum criteria, its further use as a new investment 
will be withdrawn immediately. 

 in addition to the use of credit ratings the Council will be advised of 
information in movements in credit default swap spreads against the iTraxx 
benchmark and other market data on a daily basis via its Passport website, 
provided exclusively to it by Capita Asset Services. Extreme market 
movements may result in downgrade of an institution or removal from the 
Council’s lending list. 

 Sole reliance will not be placed on the use of this external service.  In addition 
this Council will also use market data and market information, information on 
any external support for banks to help support its decision making process.  

6.8 Country and Sector Limits 

 The Council has determined that it will only use approved counterparties from 
countries with a minimum sovereign credit rating of AA- from Fitch (or 
equivalent). The list of countries that qualify using this credit criteria as at the 
date of this report are shown in Appendix 3.  This list will be added to, or 
deducted from by officers should ratings change in accordance with this policy. 

6.9 Banking Arrangements 

The Council’s bankers are Lloyds bank. The Council’s bank accounts include 
some school accounts and client bank accounts managed as part of its 
Appointeeship role for residents that require this support. All schools are 
responsible for the management of their bank accounts. 
 
From time to time the Council may open bank accounts with other banks for 
specific reasons, subject to approval by the Director of Corporate Services. 
   

6.10 Lending to Community Organisations, Other Third Parties and RSLs - Any 
loans to or investments in third parties will be made under the Well Being 
powers of the Council conferred by section 2 of the Local Government Act 
2000 or Localism Act of 2011. 

The Well Being power can be exercised for the benefit of some or all of the 
residents or visitors to a local authority’s area. The power may also be used to 
benefit organisations, schools, local enterprises, local companies or even 

Page 137



individuals. Loans of this nature will be under exceptional circumstances and 
must be approved by Cabinet or by delegated authority to the Director of 
Corporate Services. Authorisation from the Financial Conduct Authority (FCA) 
will also be sought where applicable. 
 
Where it is deemed necessary, additional guarantees will be sought. This will 
be via security against assets and/or through guarantees from a parent 
company. The Council will also consider other factors like the statutory powers 
in place, reasonableness of the investment, FCA, objective and revenue 
earnings for the Council, MRP requirements, accounting issues and 
categorisation of the expenditure as capital or revenue.  
In other instances, the Council may receive soft loans from government 
agencies. 
 

6.11 Non-Treasury Investment Lending 
The Council may be required to make policy investments for the good of its 
community by lending to local organisations and in some cases schools.  Legal 
agreements are drawn which stipulate the terms of the loan which includes the 
ability of the organisation to make repayments. The Council may also lend to 
its wholly owned companies.  

 
6.12 Comparative Reviews - The Council participates in various comparative and 

benchmarking clubs. 
       
7.  Cashflow Management  

7.1 CIPFA requires all monies to be under the control of the responsible officer and 
for cashflow projections to be prepared on a regular and timely basis. Cashflow 
provides outline of operations.  Actuals and forecast are recorded using 
Logotech systems.  At the end of each day the net receipts and payments is 
either invested or borrowed to ensure that the Council’s bank account is kept at 
a minimum.    
 
Forecasts are based on best estimates which may slip due to unforeseen 
circumstances and the nature of large projects.  The Council can borrow in 
advance of need if rates fall and borrowing becomes a lot more advantageous 
than it currently is. 
 

 
7.2 Purchase and Corporate Credit Cards 
 

The use of corporate credit cards like other accounts payable methods carries 
significant risks. The Director of Corporate Services is responsible for ensuring 
that the Council has appropriate controls in place to protect the Council’s 
funds.    

 

8.   Policy on the use of External Service Providers 

The Council recognises CIPFA’s guidance on Treasury Management that the 
responsibility for Treasury Management cannot be delegated outside the 
authority and recognises that any external service provider used by the Council 
is to support the in-house Treasury Management function. The Council will 

Page 138



ensure that the terms of their appointment and the methods by which their 
value will be assessed are properly agreed and documented, and subjected to 
regular review. The Council is aware of the CIPFA Treasury Management  
Advisors Regulation and Services issued in March 2010. 

 
The Council is also mindful of the requirements of the Bribery Act 2011 as 
amended in its dealings with external providers. A copy of the Council’s policy 
can be found in the link below. 
 
http://www.merton.gov.uk/democratic_services/w-agendas/w-nonexecreports/1115.pdf 

 
 
9. Training 

 
A key outcome of the recent investigations into Local Authority investments is 
the need to ensure that all relevant Treasury Management staff receive 
appropriate training and knowledge in relation to these activities. Training is 
provided in-house on the job, via CIPFA seminars and training courses, 
treasury adviser seminars and training courses and sometimes counterparties 
conduct training. In addition, members of the team attend national forums and 
practitioner user groups. 

 
 
10. The Localism Act 
 
10.1 A key element of the Act is the “General Power of Competence”: “A local 

authority has power to do anything that individuals generally may do.” CIPFA 
emphasise that where the legality of the use of derivatives is confirmed, then 
there is a need for a framework for their use. The Council currently does not 
use derivatives. Should the need for the use of derivatives arise as a 
requirement for managing its interest rate exposure or hedging its investments, 
the Council will take legal advice and report to members before use.   

 
 
11. Treasury Management Practices 

11.1 The 2011 Code reinforces a framework of 12 Treasury Management practices 
(TMPs), which define the manner in which authorities seek to achieve the 
policies and objectives outlined in their Treasury Management policy 
statement. The Council’s detailed Treasury Management practices approved in 
March 2012/13 can be found on the Council’s intranet.  An updated version is 
included as Appendix 5 

  

 

 12.      Appendices 

 12.1    Appendix 1– Early Repayment of Debt Estimate   

Appendix 2 – Policy Investments (Non-Treasury Management Investments) 

 Appendix 3 – Approved Countries for Investment 

Appendix 4 – The Treasury Management Role of the S151 Officer 

Appendix 5 – Treasury Management Practices 2017/18 

Page 139



 Appendix 6 – Prudential Indicators for 2016/17 to 2019/20 

 Appendix 7 – Glossary 

Appendix 8 – Cashflow Forecast 

 
 
13. Background Papers 

 CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities 2013 
Edition  

 2016/17 Treasury Management Strategy report 

 The Guide to Local Government Finance (2013 Edition) Module 4: 
Treasury Management  

 CIPFA Practical Considerations in Using Financial Instruments to Manage 
Risk in the Public Sector 

 London Borough of Merton Capital Strategy 2017/21 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 140



APPENDIX 1 –   Early Repayment of Debt Estimates for a Selection of Debt 
 

PWLB loan Early Redemption Estimates at 30 November 2016  
        

Internal 
Reference 
No. Lender 

Last Date 
Interest 
was Paid 

Loan Start 
Date  

Loan 
Term 
(yrs) 

Loan 
Maturity 
Date 

Loan 
Principal 
Outstanding  
(£) 

Loan 
Rate 
(%) 

Term left 
on Loan 
(Yrs) 

Next 
Interest 
Due Date 

Discount 
Rate (%) 

Accrued 
Interest to 
30 Nov 
2016 (£) 

Premium/Discount 
(£) Total Due (£) 

  

1000484711 PWLB 31/10/2016 13/11/2000 24 31/10/2024 5,000,000 5.000 7.9 30/04/2017 0.97 20,547.95 1,532,107.50 6,552,655.45   
1000484981 PWLB 31/10/2016 30/11/2000 24 31/10/2024 1,500,000 4.750 7.9 30/04/2017 0.97 5,856.16 431,119.08 1,936,975.24   
1005489969 PWLB 20/11/2016 20/05/2005 30 20/05/2035 2,500,000 4.450 18.4 20/05/2017 1.85 3,047.95 1,013,124.14 3,516,172.09   
1005490706 PWLB 21/11/2016 21/11/2005 26 21/11/2031 1,000,000 4.250 14.9 21/05/2017 1.69 1,047.95 337,449.67 1,338,497.62   
1005490967 PWLB 25/07/2016 10/01/2006 50 25/07/2055 10,000,000 3.950 38.6 25/01/2017 1.74 138,520.55 6,199,143.25 16,337,663.80   
1005490976 PWLB 25/07/2016 10/01/2006 50 25/07/2055 5,000,000 3.950 38.6 25/01/2017 1.74 69,260.27 3,099,571.62 8,168,831.89   
1006491475 PWLB 28/10/2016 28/04/2006 45.5 28/10/2051 7,000,000 4.400 34.8 28/04/2017 1.81 27,846.58 4,676,574.39 11,704,420.97   
1097480120 PWLB 30/09/2016 15/10/1997 25.5 31/03/2023 310,000 6.625 6.3 31/03/2017 0.72 3,432.29 113,120.87 426,553.16   
1097480121 PWLB 30/09/2016 15/10/1997 26.5 31/03/2024 12,000,000 6.500 7.3 31/03/2017 0.89 130,356.16 4,768,440.63 16,898,796.79   
1097480232 PWLB 30/09/2016 11/11/1997 26.5 31/03/2024 1,700,000 6.750 7.3 31/03/2017 0.89 19,177.40 705,632.88 2,424,810.28   
1098480925 PWLB 31/10/2016 30/04/1998 26 30/04/2024 6,000,000 5.875 7.4 30/04/2017 0.89 28,972.60 2,142,364.86 8,171,337.46   
            52,010,000         448,065.86 25,018,648.89 77,476,714.75   

 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 141



 
  

   

 
 
 
APPENDIX 2 – Policy Investments (Non-Treasury Management Investments) 
 

 
Type  

 
Duration  

 

Joint Development Companies  One month to 10 years  Subject to specific terms 

Loans to Registered Landlords  One month to 5 years  Subject to specific terms 

Open Loan Facility to RCL’s with an affiliation with Merton One month to 5 years  Subject to specific terms 

Loans to wholly owned companies One month to 30 years  Subject to specific terms 

Loan to any other type of organisation One month to 10 years Subject to specific terms 

P
age 142



  
 

 

   

 

 

APPENDIX 3 – APPROVED COUNTRIES FOR INVESTMENTS (as at 30 November 2016) 
 
Below is the current list of approved countries for investments for use by the Council’s 
treasury team.  The countries on the Council’s approved list may change from time to time as 
Sovereign ratings change. 
 
This list is based on those countries which have sovereign ratings of AA- or higher and also, 
(except - at the time of writing - for Norway and Luxembourg), have banks operating in 
sterling markets which have credit ratings of green or above in the Capita Asset Services 
credit worthiness service. 
 
AAA                      

 Australia 
 Canada 
 Denmark 
 Germany 
 Luxembourg 
 Netherlands  
 Norway 
 Singapore 
 Sweden 
 Switzerland 

 
AA+ 

 Finland 
 U.K. 
 U.S.A. 

 
AA 

 Abu Dhabi (UAE) 
 France 
 Qatar 

 
AA- 

 Belgium  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 143



  
 

 

   

 

 

APPENDIX 4 

Treasury Management Role of the Section 151 Officer 

 

The S151 Officer (Director of Corporate Services) 

 recommending clauses, Treasury Management policy / practices for approval, 
reviewing the same regularly, and monitoring compliance; 

 submitting regular Treasury Management policy reports; 

 submitting budgets and budget variations; 

 receiving and reviewing management information reports; 

 reviewing the performance of the Treasury Management function; 

 ensuring the adequacy of Treasury Management resources and skills, and the 
effective division of responsibilities within the Treasury Management function; 

 ensuring the adequacy of internal audit, and liaising with external audit; 

 recommending the appointment of Treasury Management external service providers.  

 Approval of appropriate money market funds for the Council to invest in.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 144



  
 

 

   

 

 

APPENDIX 5 
 

LONDON BOROUGH OF MERTON 
TREASURY MANAGEMENT PRACTICES 2017/18 

 
TMP 1:  RISK MANAGEMENT  
The Director of Corporate Services – the responsible officer will implement and monitor all 
arrangements for the identification, management and control of treasury management risk, 
will report at least annually on the adequacy / suitability thereof, and will report, as a matter 
of urgency, the circumstances of any actual or likely difficulty in achieving the organisation’s 
objectives in this respect, all in accordance with the procedures set out in TMP6 Reporting 
requirements and management information arrangements. In respect of each of the following 
risks, the arrangements which seek to ensure compliance with these objectives are set out in 
the schedule to this document. 

  

1.1 Credit and Counterparty Risk Management 

The Council regards a key objective of its treasury management activities to be the security 
of the principal sums it invests. Accordingly, it will ensure that its counterparty lists and limits 
reflect a prudent attitude towards organisations with which funds may be deposited, and will 
limit its investment activities to the instruments, methods and techniques referred to in TMP4 
Approved Instruments Methods and Techniques and listed in the schedule to this document. 
It also recognises the need to have, and will therefore maintain, a formal counterparty policy 
in respect of those organisations from which it may borrow, or with whom it may enter into 
other financing or derivative arrangements. 
 
Policy on the use of credit risk analysis techniques   

 The Council will use credit criteria in order to select creditworthy counterparties for 
placing investments with. 

 Credit ratings will be used as supplied from all three rating agencies - Fitch, Moody’s 
and Standard & Poor’s.  

 Treasury management consultants will provide regular updates of changes to all 
ratings relevant to the Council. 

 The treasury manager will formulate suitable criteria for assessing and monitoring the 
credit risk of investment counterparties and shall construct a lending list comprising 
maturity periods, type, group, sector, country and counterparty limits.  

 
1.2 Liquidity Risk Management 
The Council will ensure it has adequate, though not excessive cash resources, borrowing 
arrangements, overdraft or standby facilities to enable it, at all times, to have the level of 
funds available to it which are necessary for the achievement of its business/service 
objectives. The Council will only borrow in advance of need where there is a clear business 

Page 145



  
 

 

   

 

 

case for doing so and will only do so for the current capital programme or to finance future 
debt maturities. 
 
The treasury management team shall seek to minimise the balance held in the Council’s 
main bank accounts at the close of each working day. Borrowing or lending shall be arranged 
in order to achieve this aim.  At the end of each financial day any unexpected surplus funds 
are transferred to the main bank account. 
 

Bank overdraft arrangements – A £1 million net overdraft at 2% over base rate on debit 
balances has been agreed as part of the banking services contract.  The overdraft is 
assessed on a group basis for the Council’s accounts. Separate facilities are available for the 
Pension Fund bank account. 

a. Short-term borrowing facilities 
The Council accesses temporary loans through approved brokers on the London 
money market.  

b. Special payments 
Where an urgent clearing house automated payment system (CHAPS) payment is 
required, a CHAPS payment request form must be completed and forwarded to the 
Head of Transactional Services who then checks for correct required signatures and 
supporting paperwork. Further guidance can be found on the Council’s intranet. 

 

c. Inter account transfer 
From time to time, transactions occur between the Pension Fund and the Council. 
Reimbursement where necessary is by inter-account transfers between both bank 
accounts.  

 
1.3  Interest Rate Risk Management and use of Derivatives 
The Council will manage its exposure to fluctuations in interest rates with a view to containing 
its interest costs, or securing its interest revenues, in accordance with the amounts provided 
in its budgetary arrangements as amended in accordance with TMP6 Reporting requirements 
and management information arrangements.  It will achieve this by the prudent use of its 
approved financing and investment instruments, methods and techniques, primarily to create 
stability and certainty of costs and revenues, but at the same time retaining a sufficient 
degree of flexibility to take advantage of unexpected, potentially advantageous changes in 
the level or structure of interest rates. This should be the subject to the consideration and, if 
required, approval of any policy or budgetary implications. 
 
The Council does not use derivatives, the Council’s S151 Officer will ensure that any hedging 
tools such as derivatives are only used for the management of risk and the prudent 
management of financial affairs and that the policy for the use of derivatives when used will 
be clearly stated to members. The treasury management strategy has full details of interest 
rate exposure limits. 
 

Policies concerning the use of instruments for interest rate management. 

Page 146



  
 

 

   

 

 

 Forward Dealing   

Consideration will be given to dealing for forward periods depending on market 
conditions. When forward dealing is more than a 364 day period forward, the approval 
of the Director of Corporate Services is required. 

 

 Callable Deposits   
The council may use callable deposits as part as of its Annual Investment Strategy 
(AIS).  The credit criteria and maximum periods are set out in the Schedule of 
Specified and Non Specified Investments appended to the AIS.  

 
Policy on Use of Lender’s Option Borrower’s Option (LOBO) Loans 
 
LOBOs give the lender the option to propose an increase in the interest rate at pre-
determined dates, and the borrower, the option to accept the new rate or redeem the loan 
without penalty. 
 
Use of LOBOs is considered as part of the Council’s annual borrowing strategy. All long-term 
borrowing must be approved by the S151 Officer. 
 
1.4 Exchange Rate Risk Management 

Occasionally, the Council has to make foreign exchange payments, the Council will manage 
its exposure to fluctuations in exchange rates so as to minimise any detrimental impact on its 
budgeted income/expenditure. 

 
1.5 Refinancing Risk Management 
The Council will ensure that its borrowing, private financing and partnership arrangements 
are negotiated, structured and documented, and the maturity profile of the monies raised are 
managed, with a view to obtaining offer terms at renewal or refinancing, if required, which are 
competitive and as favourable to the organisation as can reasonably be achieved in the light 
of market conditions prevailing at the time. 

 
The Council will actively manage the relationships with counterparties in such a manner as to 
secure the above objective, and will avoid overreliance on any one source of funding if this 
might jeopardise achievement of the above. 
 
The Council will establish through its Prudential and Treasury Indicators the amount of debt 
maturing in any year. Any debt rescheduling will be considered when the difference between 
the refinancing rate and the redemption rate is most advantageous and the situation will be 
continually monitored in order to take advantage of any perceived anomalies in the yield 
curve.  The reasons for rescheduling include: 

a) to generate cash savings at minimum risk; 
b) to reduce the average interest rate; and 
c) to amend the maturity profile and/or the balance of volatility of the debt     
 portfolio 

Page 147



  
 

 

   

 

 

Any rescheduling will be reported to the Council at the meeting immediately following the 
action.  
 
1.6 Legal and Regulatory Risk Management 

The Council will ensure that all of its treasury management activities comply with its statutory 
powers and regulatory requirements. It will demonstrate such compliance, if required to do 
so, to all parties with whom it deals in such activities. In framing its credit and counterparty 
policy under TMP1 1.1 Credit and Counterparty Risk Management, it will ensure that there is 
evidence of counterparties powers, authority and compliance in respect of the transactions 
they may effect with the organisation, particularly with regard to duty of care and fees 
charged. 
 
The Council recognises that future legislative or regulatory changes may impact on its 
treasury management activities and, so far as it is reasonably able to do so, will seek to 
minimise the risk of these impacting adversely on the organisation. 
The Council will ensure that its treasury management activities comply fully with legal statute, 
guidance, Codes of Practice and the regulations of the Council.   

 
The Council’s powers to borrow and invest are contained in the Local Government Act 2003, section 12 and 
Local Government Act 2003, section 1. The treasury management scheme of delegation is contained in the 
Corporate Services Scheme of Delegation. This document contains the officers who are authorised signatories.  
The Council’s monitoring officer is the Assistant Director Corporate Resources while the S151 Officer is the 
Director of Corporate Services. 

 
1.7 Fraud, Error and Corruption, and Contingency Management 
Treasury tasks are segregated and adequate internal checks have been implemented to 
minimise risks and fraud.  Procedures are documented and staff will not be allowed to take 
up treasury management activities until they have had proper training and are subject to an 
adequate and appropriate level of supervision.   
 
Records will be maintained of all treasury management transactions so that there is a full 
audit trail and evidence of the appropriate checks being carried out. Periodic backups will be 
made to ensure contingency of systems is available. 
 
Details of Systems and Procedures to be Followed, Including Internet Services 

The Council uses Logotech Treasury systems as its treasury management recording tool. 

 The Corporate Services Scheme of Delegation sets out the delegation of duties to 
officers and the Council’s constitution details delegated authority of treasury 
management to the Section 151 Officer. 

 All loans and investments are negotiated by the Treasury Manager or other authorised 
persons.  

 All long-term loans must be authorised by the Section 151 Officer. 
 
 
1.8 Market Risk Management 

Page 148



  
 

 

   

 

 

The Council will seek to ensure that its stated treasury management policies and objectives 
will not be compromised by adverse market fluctuations in the value of the principal sums it 
invests, and will accordingly seek to protect it from the effects of such fluctuations.  This is 
controlled mainly by setting limits on investment instruments where the principal value can 
fluctuate. The limits are detailed in the Treasury Management Strategy 
 
 
TMP 1: SCHEDULE 1 – SPECIFIED AND NON SPECIFIED INVESTMENTS  
This is included in the Treasury Management Strategy.    
 
 
TMP 2:  PERFORMANCE MEASUREMENT 
 

2.1 Evaluation and Review of Treasury Management Decisions 

 

Periodic Review During the Financial Year 

The Director of Corporate Services will hold treasury management review meetings with the 
Treasury Manager, periodically or as required to review actual activity against the Treasury 
Management Strategy Statement (TMSS) and cashflow forecasts. This will include:  
 

 Total debt (both on-and off- balance sheet) including average rate and maturity profile. 
 Total investments including average rate and maturity profile and changes to the 

above from the previous review and against the TMSS.  
 Cashflow forecast against the actual. 

 

 

Annual Review After the end of the Financial Year 

Annual Treasury Report will be submitted to the Full Council each year after the close of the 
financial year.  

 
Comparative Review 

Each year or on a quarterly basis, comparative review is undertaken to see how the 
Council’s performance on debt and investments compares to other authorities with similar 
size portfolios (but allowing for the fact that Prudential and Treasury Indicators are set 
locally).  Such reviews are: - 
 

 CIPFA Treasury Management statistics published each year for the last complete 
financial year  

 CIPFA Benchmarking Club 
 CIPFA Risk Study 
 Other 

 

Page 149



  
 

 

   

 

 

2.2 Benchmarks and Calculation Methodology 

2.2.1 Debt management 

 Average rate on all external debt 
 Average rate on external debt borrowed in previous financial year 
 Average period to maturity of external debt  
 Average period to maturity of new loans in previous year 

 
2.2.2 Investment 

The performance of investment earnings will be measured against any of the following 
benchmarks:  

 In-house benchmark and when necessary other benchmarks such as   
Bank of England base rate, 7-day LIBID uncompounded, 7-day LIBID compounded 
weekly, 1-month LIBID and 3-month LIBID compounded quarterly 

 
Performance will also be measured against other local authority funds with similar 
benchmark and parameters managed by other fund managers using the CIPFA treasury 
management benchmark service. 
 
2.3 Policy Concerning Methods for Testing Value-for-money in Treasury 

Management 
The process for advertising and awarding contracts will be in-line with the Council’s Contract 
Standing Orders and procurement guidelines. 

 
2.3.1 Money-broking Services 
From time to time, the Council will use money-broking services in order to make deposits or 
to borrow, and will establish charges for all services prior to using them.  An approved list of 
firm of brokers is maintained by the Treasury Manager.  The list takes account of both prices 
and quality of service. No firm of brokers will be given undue preference.   

 
2.3.2 Consultants / Advisers Services 
The Council’s treasury management adviser is Capita Asset Services.   
 
TMP 3:  DECISION-MAKING AND ANALYSIS 
 
3.1  Funding, Borrowing, Lending, and New Instruments/Techniques 
 

3.1.1 Records to be kept 
The following records will be retained:  

 Daily cash balance forecasts for the day and previous day 

 Money market deal booking and deal approval confirmation emails  

 Dealing slips for all investment and borrowing transactions 

 Brokers’ confirmations for all investment and temporary borrowing transactions  
made through brokers 

Page 150



  
 

 

   

 

 

 Confirmations from borrowing / lending institutions including money market 
fund portals 

 PWLB loan confirmations 

 PWLB interest due schedule 

 Certificates for market loans, local bonds and other loans 

 Deal confirmation letters for deals over one month 

 Banking and other contract documents which the treasury team has 
responsibility for. 

 
3.1.2 Processes to be pursued 

 Cashflow analysis 
 Debt and investment maturity analysis 
 Ledger/Logotech/Bank reconciliations 
 Review of counterparty limits in addition to monitoring of counterparties  
 Review of opportunities for debt restructuring 
 Review of borrowing requirement to finance capital expenditure (and other forms 

of financing where those offer value for money) 
 Performance information (e.g. monitoring of actuals against budget for debt 

charges, interest earned, debt management; also monitoring of average pool 
rate, investment returns, etc) 

 Treasury contracts management   
 

3.1.3 Issues to be addressed 
 

3.1.3.1 In respect of all treasury management decisions made the Council will: 
a) Above all be clear about the nature and extent of the risks to which the 

Council may become exposed 
b) Be certain about the legality of the decision reached and the nature of the 

transaction, and that all authorities to proceed have been obtained 
c) Be content that the documentation is adequate both to deliver the Council’s 

objectives and protect the Council’s interests, and to deliver good 
housekeeping 

d) Ensure that third parties are judged satisfactory in the context of the 
council’s creditworthiness policies, and that limits have not been exceeded 

e) Be content that the terms of any transactions have been fully checked 
against the market, and have been found to be competitive; and 

f) Ensure that adequate investigation on security of the Council’s funds has 
been conducted    

 
3.1.3.2 In respect of borrowing and other funding decisions, the Council will: 

a) Consider the ongoing revenue liabilities created, and the implications for the 
organisation’s future plans and budgets 

b) Evaluate the economic and market factors that might influence the manner 
and timing of any decision to fund 

Page 151



  
 

 

   

 

 

c) Consider the merits and demerits of alternative forms of funding, including 
funding from revenue, use of reserves, leasing and private partnerships; 
and 

d) Consider the alternative interest rate bases available, the most appropriate 
periods to fund and repayment profiles to use. 

  
3.1.3.3 In respect of investment decisions, the Council will: 

a) Consider the optimum period, in the light of cash flow availability and 
prevailing market conditions; and 

b) Consider the alternative investment products and techniques available, 
especially the implications of using any which may expose the Council to 
changes in the value of its capital    

 
TMP 4:  APPROVED INSTRUMENTS, METHODS AND TECHNIQUES 
 

4.1 Approved Activities of the Treasury Management Operation 

 Borrowing; 
 Lending; 
 Debt repayment and rescheduling; 
 Consideration, approval and use of new financial instruments and treasury 

management techniques; 
 Managing the underlying risk associated with the Council’s capital financing and 

surplus funds activities; 
 Managing cash flow; 
 Banking activities; 
 Use of external fund managers (other than Pension Fund) 
 Leasing; 
 Undertaking all treasury management activities for the Pension Fund including its 

strategy setting.  
 
4.2 Approved Instruments for Investments  

English and Welsh authorities: The Annual Investment Strategy has a list of 
approved instruments. 

 
4.3 Approved Techniques 

 Forward dealing  
 LOBOs – Lender’s Option, Borrower’s Option borrowing instrument 
 Structured products such as callable deposits 
 

Page 152



  
 

 

   

 

 

4.4 Approved Methods and Sources of Raising Capital Finance 

Finance will only be raised in accordance with the Local Government Act 2003 and within 
this limit the Council has a number of approved methods and sources of raising capital 
finance.  These are: 

 
On Balance Sheet Fixed Variable   

PWLB    

EIB    

Market (long-term)    

Market (temporary)   

Market (LOBOs)   

Bonds administered by the Municipal Bond Agency    

Stock issues   

Local (temporary)   

Local Bonds  

Overdraft   

Negotiable Bonds   

Internal (capital receipts & revenue balances)   

Commercial Paper  

Medium Term Notes   

Leasing (not operating leases)   

Deferred Purchase   

  
 Other Methods of Financing 

 Government and EC Capital Grants 

 Lottery monies 

 PFI/PPP  

  Operating and Finance leases 

  Revenue Contributions  

   

Borrowing will only be done in British Pound Sterling.  All forms of funding will be 
considered dependent on the prevailing economic climate, regulations and local 
considerations. The Director of Corporate Governance has delegated powers in 
accordance with Financial Regulations, Standing Orders and Scheme of Delegation to 
Officers to take the most appropriate form of borrowing from the approved sources. 

 
4.5 Investment Limits 

The Annual Investment Strategy sets out the limits and the guidelines for use of each type 
of investment instrument.   

 
4.6 Borrowing Limits 

The Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Prudential and Treasury Indicators state 
all appropriate limits.    

Page 153



  
 

 

   

 

 

TMP 5:  ORGANISATION, CLARITY AND SEGREGATION OF RESPONSIBILITIES, AND 
     DEALING ARRANGEMENTS 
 
5.1  Allocation of Responsibilities 

 
(i) Council (Budget) 

 Receiving and reviewing reports on treasury management policy, practice and 
activity; and 

 Approval of annual strategy 
 
(ii) Cabinet 

 Approval of/amendments to the Council’s adopted clauses, treasury management 
policy statement and treasury management practice; 

 Budget consideration and approval; 

 Approval of the division of responsibilities; and 

 Receiving and reviewing regular monitoring reports and acting on 
recommendations. 

 
(iii) Overview and Scrutiny Commission (Financial Monitoring Task Group) 

 Reviewing all treasury management reports and making recommendations to the 
Cabinet 

 
5.2 Principles and Practices Concerning Segregation of Duties 

5.2.1 The following duties are undertaken by separate officers: - 

Tasks Duties Responsible 
Officer 

Dealing  Negotiation and approval of deal 

 

 Entering of deal into Logotech 

 

 Sending confirmation letter to  
counterparty (to be signed by 
authorised signatory) 

 

 Checking of brokers and 
counterparty confirmation notes 
against Logotech   

 Reconciliation of FMIS Codes and 
reconciliation to bank statement 

 Sign off of reconciliations   

 

Treasury manager 

 

Treasury manager/ 

Fund officer 

Treasury 
manager/Fund 
officer 

 

Fund officer 

 

 

Fund officer 

Treasury manager 

Fund officer 

Page 154



  
 

 

   

 

 

Accounting 
Entry 

 Processing of accounting entry into 
FMIS (bank reconciliation team) 

Bank reconciliation 
team 

Authorisation / 
Payment of 
Deal 

 Inputting CHAPS on Lloyds link 

 

 Approval of CHAPS on Lloyds link 
and CHAPS form authorisation   

Treasury 
manager/Fund 
officer  

 

Authorisers per 
bank mandate 

 
 

5.3   Statement of the Treasury Management Duties/Responsibilities of Each 
Treasury Post 

 
5.3.1 Responsible Officer  

The Responsible Officer is the person charged with professional responsibility for the 
treasury management function and in this Council it is the Director of Corporate 
Services and is also the S151 Officer   This person or delegated persons will carry out 
the following duties: - 

 
a) Recommending clauses, treasury management policy / practices for 

approval, reviewing the same regularly, and monitoring compliance 
b) Submitting regular treasury management policy reports 
c) Submitting budgets and budget variations 
d) Receiving and reviewing management information reports 
e) Reviewing the performance of the treasury management function 
f) Ensuring the adequacy of treasury management resources and skills, and 

the effective division of responsibilities within the treasury management 
function 

g) Ensuring the adequacy of internal audit, and liaising with external audit 
h) Recommending the appointment of external service providers. 

i) The Responsible Officer has delegated powers through this policy to take the 
most appropriate form of borrowing from the approved sources, and to make 
the most appropriate form of investments in approved instruments. 

j) The Responsible Officer may delegate her power to borrow and invest to 
members of her staff. The Treasury Manager, the fund officer. Treasury 
management team staff must conduct all dealing transactions, or staff 
authorised by the responsible officer to act as temporary cover for leave / 
sickness. 

k) The Responsible Officer will ensure that Treasury Management Policy is 
adhered to, and if not will bring the matter to the attention of elected 
members as soon as possible.  

l) Prior to entering into any capital financing, lending or investment transaction, 
it is the responsibility of the responsible officer to be satisfied, by reference to 
the Council’s legal department and external advisors as appropriate, that 

Page 155



  
 

 

   

 

 

the proposed transaction does not breach any statute, external regulation or 
the Council’s Financial Regulations 

m) It is also the responsibility of the responsible officer to ensure that the council 
complies with the requirements of The Non-Investment Products Code 
(formerly known as The London Code of Conduct) for principals and broking 
firms in the wholesale markets. 

 
5.3.2 Treasury Manager  

 The responsibilities of this post will be: - 
a) Drafting the treasury management strategy and annual report  
b) Execution of transactions 
c) Adherence to agreed policies and practices on a day-to-day basis 
d) Maintaining relationships with counterparties and external service providers 
e) Supervising treasury management staff 
f) Monitoring performance on a day-to-day basis 
g) Submitting management information reports to the Responsible Officer; and 
h) Identifying and recommending opportunities for improved practices 

 
5.3.3 Head of the Paid Service – the Chief Executive 

 The responsibilities of this post will be: - 
a) Ensuring that the system is specified and implemented; and 
b) Ensuring that the Responsible Officer reports regularly to the full Council / 

Cabinet or General Purpose Committee on treasury policy, activity and 
performance. 

 
5.3.4 Monitoring Officer   

 The responsibilities of this post will be: - 
a) Ensuring compliance by the Responsible Officer with the treasury 

management policy statement and treasury management practice and that 
they comply with the law 

b) Being satisfied that any proposal to vary treasury policy or practice complies 
with law or any code of practice; and 

c) Giving advice to the Responsible Officer when advice is sought 
 

5.3.5 Internal Audit 
   The responsibilities of Internal Audit will be: - 

a) Reviewing compliance with approved policy and treasury management 
practice 

b) Reviewing division of duties and operational practice 
c) Assessing value for money from treasury activity; and 
d) Undertaking probity audit of the treasury function 

 
5.4 Absence Cover Arrangements 

Cover for treasury management staff will be to specific delegated staff. 
 

Page 156



  
 

 

   

 

 

5.5 Dealing Limits 

o No investment deal must exceed £5million per transaction 
o No borrowing deal at any point in time must exceed £10 million except when 

existing loans are being repaid.  
 

5.6 List of Approved Brokers 

A list of approved brokers is maintained by the Treasury team and a record of all 
transactions conducted with them can be obtained from Logotech.   
 
Policy on Brokers’ Services 
It is the Council’s policy to rotate business between brokers. 

 
5.7 Policy on Taping of Conversations 

The Council currently does not tape conversations with brokers but ensures that 
confirmations are received from counterparties. 
 

5.8 Direct Dealing Practices 

The Council will deal direct with counterparties if it is appropriate and the Council 
believes that better terms will be available.  There are certain types of accounts and 
facilities, however, where direct dealing is required, as follows; 
 Business Reserve Accounts 
 Call Accounts 
 Money Market Funds 
 Gilt/CD purchase via custodian; and 
 Fixed period account e.g. 15-day fixed period account 

 

5.9 Settlement Transmission Procedures 

A confirmation letter signed by an authorised signatory per the Council’s bank mandate 
must be sent to the counterparty if the deal period exceeds one month. Copy of forms 
folder located in H:/techaccy/treasury/Daily Treasury for PF 
For payments, any transfer to be made via Lloyds link CHAPS system must be 
completed by 2.00 p.m. on the same day to ensure it is authorised. Money market 
funds may have earlier cut-off time/deadlines. 

 
5.10 Documentation Requirements 

For each deal undertaken, a record should be prepared giving details of dealer, 
amount, period, counterparty, interest rate, dealing date, payment date(s), broker and 
confirmation fax, email or letter.   

 
5.11 Arrangements Concerning the Management of Third-Party Funds. 

The Council holds a number of trust funds, appointeeship and custody bank accounts.  
The cash in respect of these funds is held in the Council’s bank account but 
transactions are separately coded.   

Page 157



  
 

 

   

 

 

 
TMP 6:  REPORTING REQUIREMENTS AND MANAGEMENT INFORMATION      
    ARRANGEMENTS 

 
6.1 Annual Treasury Management Strategy Statement 

1. The Treasury Management Strategy Statement sets out the specific expected 
treasury activities for the forthcoming financial year. This strategy will be submitted 
the cabinet and then to the Council (budget) for approval before the 
commencement of each financial year.  

2. The formulation of the annual Treasury Management Strategy Statement involves 
determining the appropriate borrowing and investment decisions in the light of the 
anticipated movement in both fixed and shorter-term variable interest rates.  For 
instance, this council may decide to postpone borrowing if fixed interest rates are 
expected to fall, or borrow early if fixed interest rates are expected to rise.  

3. The Treasury Management Strategy Statement is concerned with the following 
elements: 

a) Prudential and Treasury Indicators  
b) Current Treasury portfolio position 
c) Borrowing requirement  
d) Prospects for interest rates 
e) Borrowing strategy 
f) Policy on borrowing in advance of need 
g) Debt rescheduling 
h) Investment strategy 
i) Creditworthiness policy 
j) Policy on the use of external service providers 
k) Any extraordinary treasury issue 
l) MRP strategy 
 

4. The Treasury Management Strategy Statement will establish the expected move in 
interest rates against alternatives.  

 
6.2   Annual Investment Strategy Statement  

At the same time as the Council receives the Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement it will also receive a report on the Annual Investment Strategy which will set 
out the following: - 

a) The Council’s risk appetite in respect of security, liquidity and optimum 
performance 

b) Which specified and non specified instruments the Council will use 
c) The Council’s policy on the use of credit ratings and other credit risk analysis 

techniques to determine creditworthy counterparties for its approved lending list 
d) Which credit rating agencies the Council will use 
e) How the Council will deal with changes in ratings, rating watches and rating 

outlooks 

Page 158



  
 

 

   

 

 

f) Limits for individual counterparties and group limits 
g) Country limits  
h) Levels of cash balances 
i) Interest rate outlook 
j) Budget for investment earnings 
k) Policy on the use of external service providers 

 

6.3  Annual Minimum Revenue Provision Statement  

This statement sets out how the Council will make revenue provision for repayment of 
its borrowing using the four options for so doing and will be submitted at the same time 
as the Annual Treasury Management Strategy Statement. 

 

6.4  Policy on Prudential and Treasury Indicators  

1. The Council approves before the beginning of each financial year a number of 
treasury limits which are set through Prudential and Treasury Indicators. 

2. The Responsible Officer is responsible for incorporating these limits into the 
Annual Treasury Management Strategy Statement, and for ensuring compliance 
with the limits. Should it prove necessary to amend these limits, the Responsible 
Officer shall submit the changes for approval to the full Council.      

 

6.5 Other Reporting  

 Annual report on treasury management activity  

 Other management information reports 

 
 
TMP 7:  BUDGETING, ACCOUNTING AND AUDIT ARRANGEMENTS 
 
7.1 Statutory / Regulatory Requirements 

 The accounts are drawn up in accordance with IFRS. The Council has adopted in full 
the principles set out in CIPFA’s ‘Treasury Management in the Public Services - Code 
of Practice’ (the ‘CIPFA Code’), together with those of its specific recommendations 
that are relevant to the Council’s treasury management activity.  

 
 
TMP 8:  CASH AND CASHFLOW MANAGEMENT 
 
8.1 Arrangements for Preparing Cashflow  

Cashflow projections are prepared annually, monthly and daily. The annual and 
monthly cash flow projections are prepared from the previous year’s cashflow records, 
adjusted for known changes in levels of income and expenditure, new grant 
allocations and changes in payments and receipts dates. These details are 
supplemented on an ongoing basis by information received of new or revised 

Page 159



  
 

 

   

 

 

amounts to be paid or received as and when they are known. Logotech is used to 
record cashflow. 

  
8.2 Bank Statements Procedures 

The Council receives daily bank statements on a daily basis, download into the folder 
below.  Estimates on Logotech cashflow is updated with actuals from bank statement.  
H:\TECHACCY\TREASURY\Daily Treasury for GF General Fund Daily 

 

 

TMP 9:  MONEY LAUNDERING 
 
9.1   Proceeds of Crime Act 2002 and Amendments 

See Council’s website and intranet for money laundering process and associated 
policies 
 http://intranet/anti_money_laundering_policy.pdf 

 
9.2    The Terrorism Act 2000 and Amendment order   

See Council’s website and staff intranet on policy. Staff should note that all individuals 
and businesses in the UK have an obligation to report knowledge, reasonable grounds 
for belief or suspicion about the proceeds from, or finance likely to be used for, 
terrorism or its laundering, where it relates to information that comes to them in the 
course of their business or employment.  

 
9.3   The Money Laundering Regulations 2007 and Updates 

The Council’s money laundering officer is the Head of Audit. See Council’s website 
and intranet for details http://intranet/anti_money_laundering_policy.pdf 

 
Treasury management and banking staff are required to familiarise themselves with all 
money laundering regulations. 

 
9.4   Procedures for Establishing Identity / Authenticity of Lenders 

It is not a requirement under Proceeds of Crime Act (POCA) for local authorities to 
require identification from every person or organisation it deals with.  However, in 
respect of treasury management transactions, the Council does not accept loans from 
individuals except during a bond issue. 

 
All loans are obtained from the PWLB, other local authorities or from authorised 
institutions under the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000.  This register can be 
accessed through the FCA website on www.fca.gov.uk. 

 
9.5   Methodologies for identifying Deposit Takers 

Other than those organisations mentioned in para section 6.10 and Appendix 2 of the 
treasury strategy, in the course of its Treasury activities, the Council will only lend 
money to or invest with those counterparties that are on its approved lending list. 

Page 160

file:///C:/Users/Andrew%20Wood/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Miriam%20Adams/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Documents%20and%20Settings/Andrew%20Wood/Local%20Settings/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Documents%20and%20Settings/Miriam%20Adams/Daily/Bank%20Statement%20Export
http://www.fsa.gov.uk)/


  
 

 

   

 

 

These will be local authorities, the PWLB, Bank of England and authorised deposit 
takers under the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000. The FCA Register can be 
accessed through their website on www.fca.gov.uk. 

 
All transactions will be carried out by CHAPS, faster payments or BACS for making 
deposits or repaying loans.  

 
TMP 10: TRAINING AND QUALIFICATIONS 
 
The Council recognises that relevant individuals will need appropriate levels of training in 
treasury management due to its increasing complexity.  
 
All treasury management staff should receive appropriate training relevant to the 
requirements of their duties at the appropriate time.   
In addition, training may be provided on-the-job, and it is the treasury manager’s 
responsibility to ensure that treasury management staff receive appropriate training.   
 
10.1 Details of Approved Training Courses 

Treasury management staff and members will go on courses provided by the Council’s 
treasury management consultants, CIPFA, money brokers etc. 
 

10.2 Records of Training Received by Treasury Staff 

Staff will keep records on their training.   
 

10.3  Member Training Record 
Member training will be provided as required.  
 

TMP 11: USE OF EXTERNAL SERVICE PROVIDERS 
 
11.1 Details of Contracts with Service Providers, Including Bankers, Brokers, 

Custodian Banks, Consultants, Advisers 

This Council may employ the services of other organisations to assist it in the field of 
treasury management.  However, it will ensure that it fully understands what services 
are being provided and that they meet the needs of the Council, especially in terms of 
being objective and free from conflicts of interest.  

 
11.1.1 Banking Services 

a) The Council’s supplier of banking services is Lloyds Bank. The bank is an 
authorised banking institution authorised to undertake banking activities in 
the UK by the FCA  

b) The branch address is: 
Lloyds Banking Group 
25 Gresham Street, London 
EC2V 7HN  

Page 161



  
 

 

   

 

 

 
11.1.2  Money-Broking Services 

 The Council will use money brokers for temporary borrowing and investment and 
long-term borrowing. It will seek to give an even spread of business amongst the 
approved brokers.  

 
11.1.3 Consultants’/Advisers’ Services 

Treasury Consultancy Services 
The Council receives mail shots on credit ratings, economic market data and 
borrowing data. In addition, interest rate forecasts, annual treasury management 
strategy templates, and from time to time, the Council may receive advice on the 
timing of borrowing, lending and debt rescheduling. The performance of 
consultants will be reviewed by the treasury manager to check whether 
performance has met expectations.   

 
11.1.4 Custodian Banks 

The Council will use the services of custodian banks when trading in most 
transferable instruments like treasury bills. Due procurement process will be 
followed in the procurement of this service. It should be noted that it is the 
borrower that pays in most cases and not the lender. Property fund on the other 
hand do not require custody services, the investor pays all fee.  

 
11.1.5   Credit Rating Information 

The Council receives notifications of credit ratings from Capita Asset Services. 
 
 
11.2 Procedures and Frequency for Tendering Services   

  See TMP2    
 
 
TMP 12:  CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
 
12.1 List of Documents to be Made Available for Public Inspection 

 
a. The Council is committed to the principle of openness and transparency in its 

treasury management function and in all of its functions. 
 
b. The Council has adopted the CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management 

and implemented key recommendations on developing Treasury Management 
Practices, formulating a Treasury Management Policy Statement and 
implementing the other principles of the Code. 

 
 
 

Page 162



  
 

 

   

 

 

  
APPENDIX 6 
 

PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS FOR 2016/17 TO 2019/20 
 
 

 
 
PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS 

2016/17 
Probable 
Outturn 
£’000 

2017/18 
Forecast 

£’000 

2018/19 
Forecast 

£’000 

2019/20 
Forecast 

£’000 

 
1.  CAPITAL EXPENDITURE 
 

a) Capital Expenditure (includes 
expenditure funded by supported, 
unsupported borrowing and other 
sources) 
i) General Fund estimated as at 

30/11/16 (Net of Leasing) 
                   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
31,544 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
49,956 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
43,583 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
23,570 
 

 
Total as at 30/11/16 
 

 
31,544 

 
49,956 

 
43,583 

 
23,570 

b) In year Capital Financing Requirement 
(CFR) 
i) General Fund (Gross of MRP 

costs) 
 

 
 
7,154 
 
 

 
 
7,004 
 

 
 
6,579 
 

 
 
7,634 
 
 

 
Total in year CFR 
 

 
7,154 

 
7,004 

 
6,579 

 
7,634 

c) Capital Financing Requirement as at 
31 March (Balance Sheet figures) 
i) General Fund (Net of MRP costs)  

 

 
 
189,978 
 

 
 
189,864 
 

 
 
211,413 
 

 
 
219,158 
 

 
Total 
 

 
189,978 

 
189,864 

 
211,413 

 
219,158 

     

Page 163



  
 

 

   

 

 

2.  AFFORDABILITY 

 

a) Ratio of Financing Costs to net Revenue 

Streams 

i) General Fund  

 

b) General Fund Impact of Prudential 

(Unsupported) Borrowing on Band D 

Council Tax Levels (per annum) 

i) In year Increase 

ii) Cumulative Increase (includes MRP 

costs)  

 

 

 

 

 

11.29% 

 

 

 

 

-£39.87 

 

 

 

 

 

 

11.50% 

 

 

 

 

£0.84 

 

-£39.03 

 

 

 

 

 

11.51% 

 

 

 

 

-£9.85 

 

-£48.88 

 

 

 

 

 

13.76% 

 

 

 

 

£38.74 

 

-£10.14 

 

     

3.  LONG-TERM EXTERNAL DEBT 

 

a) Debt Brought Forward 1 April 

 

Debt Carried Forward 31 March 

 

 

 

116,976 

 

116,976 

 

 

 

113,010 

 

113,010 

 

 

 

113,010 

 

113,010 

 

 

 

113,010 

 

113,010 

 

 

Additional Borrowing 

 

 

0 

 

(3,966) 

 

0 

 

0 

 

b) Operational Boundary for External Debt 

(Excludes Revenue Borrowing) 

i) Borrowing 

ii) Other Long-term Liabilities 

 

 

 

 

148,989 

32,013 

 

 

 

 

143,500 

30,490 

 

 

 

142,073 

29,063 

 

 

 

139,792 

26,782 

 

c) Total Operating Debt (Excludes Revenue 

Borrowing) 

 

Add margin for cashflow contingency 

 

Affordable Borrowing Limit (Includes 

Revenue Borrowing) 

 

Authorised Limit for External Debt 

(Includes Revenue Borrowing) 

 Borrowing 

 Other Long-term Liabilities 

 

 

 

181,002 

 

37,987 

 

 

218,989 

 

 

 

148,989 

70,000 

 

 

 

173,990 

 

49,510 

 

 

223,500 

 

 

 

143,500 

80,000 

 

 

171,136 

 

70,937 

 

 

242,073 

 

 

 

142,073 

100,000 

 

 

 

166,574 

 

83,218 

 

 

249,792 

 

 

 

139,792 

110,000 

 

Page 164



  
 

 

   

 

 

 

Authorised Borrowing Limit 

 

 

218,989 

 

223,500 

 

242,073 

 

249,792 

     

4.  TREASURY MANAGEMENT 

 

a) Borrowing Limit – Upper Limit for Fixed 

Interest Rate Exposure Expressed as: 

Net Principal re Fixed Rate 

Borrowing/Investments 

 

b) Borrowing Limit – Upper Limit for 

Variable Interest Rate Exposure Expressed 

as a %: 

Net Principal re Variable Rate 

Borrowing/Investments 

 

c) Lending Limit – Upper Limit for Total 

Principal Sums Invested for Over 364 

Days Expressed as a % of Total 

Investments  

 

 

 

 

 

 

218,989 

 

 

 

 

 

50% 

 

 

 

50% 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

223,500 

 

 

 

 

 

50% 

 

 

 

50% 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

242,073 

 

 

 

 

 

50% 

 

 

 

50% 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

249,792 

 

 

 

 

 

50% 

 

 

 

50% 

 

 

 

     

 

d) Maturity Structure of new Fixed Rate 

Borrowing, if Taken During 2017/18 

 

i) Under 12 Months 

ii) 12 Months to 24 Months 

iii) 24 Months to 5 Years 

iv) 5 Years to 10 Years 

v) 10 Years and Above 

 

LOWER LIMIT 

 

 

 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

UPPER LIMIT 

 

 

 

10% 

20% 

30% 

40% 

100% 

Page 165



  
 

 

   

 

 

APPENDIX 7 

 
GLOSSARY OF TREASURY MANAGEMENT TERMS     
 
Accrued Interest 
Any interest that has accrued since the initial purchase or since the last coupon 
payment date, up to the date of sale/purchase 
 
Basis Point 
One hundredth of 1% e.g. 0.01% 
 
Certificate of Deposit (CD) 
A Tradable form of fixed deposit. They can be sold before maturity via the secondary 
market at a rate that is negotiable. Often issued by banks and Building Societies in 
any period from 1 month to 5 years. 
 
Coupon 
The total amount of interest a security will pay on a yearly basis. The coupon payment 
period depends on the security. 
 
Covered Bond 
Covered bonds are conventional bonds (fixed or floating) issued by financial 
institutions that are backed by a separate group of loans, usually prime residential 
mortgages or public sector loans.  
 
Credit Rating 
A measure of credit worthiness of a borrower. A credit rating can be assigned to a 
country, organisation or specific debt issue/ financial obligation. There are a number of 
credit ratings agencies but the main 3 are Standard & Poor’s, Fitch and Moody’s. 
 
Credit risk 
This is the risk that the issuer of a security becomes temporarily or permanently 
insolvent, resulting in its inability to repay the interest or to redeem the bond. The 
solvency of the issuer may change over time due to various factors. 
 
Debt Management Office (DMO) 
Debt Management Office is an executive agency of HM Treasury. They are 
responsible for debt management in the UK, in the form of issuing Treasury Bills and 
Gilts. 
 
Financial Strength Rating 
Rating criteria used by Moody’s ratings agency to measure a bank’s intrinsic safety 
and soundness.    
 
 

Page 166



  
 

 

   

 

 

Floating Rate Note (FRN) 
An instrument issued by Banks, Building Societies and Supranational organisations 
which has a coupon that re-sets usually every 3 months. The refix will often be set at a 
premium to 3 month LIBOR. 
 
Gilt 
A UK Government Bond, sterling denominated, issued by HM Treasury 
 
Index Linked Gilts 
A government bond issued by the DMO whose coupon and final redemption payment 
are related to movement in the RPI (Retail Price Index) 
 
Interest Rate Risk 
The risk that an investment’s value will change due to a change in the absolute level 
of interest rate. Interest rate risk affects the value of bonds more directly than stocks, 
and it’s a major risk to all bond holders. As interest rates rise, bond prices fall and vise 
versa. The rationale is that as interest rates increase, the opportunity cost of holding a 
bond decreases since investors are able to realise greater yields by switching to other 
investments that reflect the higher interest rate 
 
LIBOR 
London Interbank Offered Rate: set on a daily basis. The rate at which banks lend to 
each other for different periods 
 
Long Term 
Duration in excess of 1 year 
 
Net Asset Value (NAV) 
Often used when funds or investment assets are valued. This term generally means 
the total assets less total liabilities. 
 
Premium 
The sale/purchase of an asset at a level that is above the par value or original price. If 
a security is trading at a premium, current market interest rates are likely to be below 
the coupon rate of the security. 
 
Short Term 
Duration of up to1 year 
 
Support Rating  
Fitch Ratings Agency’s assessment of extraordinary support given to a financial 
institution either by the parent and or sovereign.    
 
 
 

Page 167



  
 

 

   

 

 

Supranational Bond 
A bond issued by a Supranational organisation (multi-lateral development banks). 
They are AAA rated organisations in which the share capital is jointly owned and 
guaranteed by leading developed nations in their respective region. 
 
Treasury Bill (T-Bills) 
A Treasury Bills is a short dated instrument issued by HM Treasury. They are issued 
at a discount, therefore they are not coupon bearing. 
 
Viability Ratings 
Assessment of a bank’s intrinsic creditworthiness applied by Fitch Ratings Agency. Its 
aim was to enhance visibility on benefits of support. This replaced the individual 
ratings.   
 
Yield Curve 
The yield curve represents the relationship between yield and maturity. The 
conventional shape being that as the maturity lengthens, the yield will increase. Each 
security will have its own yield curve, depending on the yield in every time period 
available.             

Page 168



 

 

 

 

Business Plan 2016-2019 

Merton Development Company Ltd 

IN HOUSE 

 

 

 

Page 169



 

2 
 

Contents  

Background           3 

Introduction          4 

Current Market conditions        5 

The Merton context         6 

The PRS sector          10 

Market segment          10 

Target groups          11 

Competitors          12 

Merton Development Company’s Approach      20 

Merton Development Company’s Development strategy    21 

Future Sites          23 

Governance           24 

Financials           25 

Sites            29 

Risk Register          30 

Appendix 1: Financial Tables       32 

Appendix 2: Shareholder Agreement        

Appendix 3: Articles of Association  

Appendix 4: BPP Surveyors Report        
   

 

   

 

 

Page 170



 

3 
 

Background  

In October 2015 the regeneration team, Future Merton, started the initial business plan 

work to develop the concept of building to rent (PRS) as an option to help develop out 

council owned sites. The objective, to generate the council income and deliver a quality 

housing product for the private market to rent.  

The team researched and visited other borough’s and found the most efficient way of 

delivering this concept is through a wholly owned council company whose specific business 

purpose is to build out council owned or purchased sites for either housing or commercial 

rent. The rationale behind the choice to set up a company was to give the company the 

agility and expertise to respond to a buoyant housing market where property values have 

increased significantly in recent years and created, a healthy, but still immature housing 

rental market.  

The growth of the local rental market brings its own challenges as most landlords are 

individuals. Theinconsistencies with quality, overcrowding, and rogue land lords creates the 

perfect opportunity for a high quality rental product to intervene in to the local market and 

deliver better quality residential properties with high quality and responsive management.  

The council no longer has a housing revenue account (HRA). The London Borough of Merton 

transferred all its housing stock to Circle Housing Ltd in 2010. The Local Authority Property 

Company (LAPC) as part of the business plan will develop sites to be as policy complaint as 

viably possible and these will then be sold on to registered providers (RP’s).  

 

 

Page 171



 

4 
 

Introduction 

Merton Development Company Ltd(name to be confirmed) is the council’s wholly owned 

company that will specialise in developing high quality housing (and commercial property) 

for market rent.  

Merton Development Company Ltd will be a commercially driven vehicle looking to 

maximise profits and income back to the council, assisting the council in delivering 

additional housing and stimulating growth and investment opportunities through delivering 

commercial property in the form of office, retail, and industrial where the opportunity 

presents itself.  

The company will be a wholly owned company with the council as the single (golden share) 

shareholder, however the company will act like a commercial entity, competing for market 

segment by delivering a better quality product to customers then traditional private 

landlords. Merton Development Company Ltd will have a competitive advantage by being 

the council’s preferred residential (PRS) developer.  

The relationship with the council will be based on a sound commercial footing. The Council 

will act as Banker for Merton Development Company supplying working capital and 

development finance (on commercial terms) for the development and acquisition of sites 

(council or private).  

The council, to begin with, will provide the loan finance to the company to fund the 

construction of the sites where schemes have demonstrated to being commercially viable 

through the company’s financial model and will deliver a sound return on investment to the 

council.  

As the sole shareholder the council will receive:  

 A margin on the interest financing of the company  

 An equity stake in the company (the development land value) that can be released 

when required 

 A Shareholder dividend  

 The benefit of capital growth in the portfolio over time  

 A contribution through planning agreements to affordable housing 

 Cash windfalls where market conditions are commercially advantageous 

 

 

 

Page 172



 

5 
 

This business plan outlines the development pipeline that the council will allow the 

company access to. The initial business plan will aim to deliver 77 units for its first projects. 

Once the company gains momentum the regeneration of Morden town centre will be the 

company’s major project with a potential 600 units being developed in the town centre.  

The primary purpose of the company is to deliver the council a sound return on investment 

through rental on private or commercial properties, however where market sale supports 

cash flow and financial viability, this will be included to ease any financial burdens the 

company or the council may face in the current macro environment.  

Current Market conditions  

The London housing market temporarily slowed during the 2008 recession however it was 

fairly well insulated due the level of demand for housing in the capital;  prices temporarily 

dropped but quickly returned within a year. The effect of the crash slowed sales and 

development. Government spending since the crash has been severely curtailed, with 

councils facing unprecedented cuts to funding and no longer able to offer stimulus 

investment into the sector, which has heightened the sectors commercial approach 

resulting in very low levels of affordable housing supply being provided from the sector.  

The government’s recent changes to the right to buy rules has seen housing supply reduce 

even further with Registered Providers (RPs) now included in this new government’s 

legislation many developments created by RPs have been halted temporarily whilst they 

reconfigure there company’s business plan to allow for the new legislation.  

The government’s recent changes to stamp duty for buy to lets and new tax rules on buy to 

let properties has slowed the investment in private rental market. 

The financial sector has seen stricter rules imposed on banks by government which has had 

a knock on impact on the accessibility of mortgages, with lenders being stricter and 

requesting higher deposits for individual mortgages this has made purchasing more difficult 

for first time buyers with average deposits in London ranging from £40-50,000.  

These factors have contributed to accelerate trends away from owner occupation and 

fuelled the rental market.  

The government have put in place help to buy to enable first time buyers to get on the 

ladder, however due to the level of deposit required by the bank and rent accounting for 

60% of the average Londoners salary, saving for a deposit is still a challenge for first time 

buyers. Property prices are also being driven up by foreign investment into the sector.  

 

 

Page 173



 

6 
 

The Merton context 

The London Borough of Merton has very few company based landlords with predominantly 

social housing providers selling the service in Merton.  

 

According to the Greater London Authority (GLA) London data store the London Borough of 

Merton has approximately 207,000 residents living in approximately 83,400 properties. In 

terms of employment the GLA data store shows the Borough has some healthy economic 

statistics, with 88% of the residents in the borough being of working age, with 79% of that 

total being gainfully employed.  

For one of London’s smallest populations and one of the lowest housing stocks across 

London it has a strong local economy with 87,000 employed people working within 11,225 

active businesses within the borough. In the London Borough of Merton the Public sector 

only accounts for 12% of the boroughs jobs, this is very healthy statistic when compared to 

other London Borough’s such as Newham which has 23% employed by the public sector.   

The salaries earned in the borough are in line with the London average for women and 

above the London average for Males earning an average salary of over £36,000.  The median 

household income for the borough is approximately £57,000, which is a reasonable income 

and explains how 29% (GLA 2016) of the borough can afford to privately rent with the 

percentage of people buying their home just above at 32%. With house prices increasing 

steadily the average first time buyer deposit in London is now approximately £91,000 

according to research carried out by Halifax Bank (2016), potentially strengthening demand 

for Private rented properties being likely to continue as Londoners struggle to save large 

deposits.  

The above statistics demonstrate the conditions for a new entry into the PRS market locally.  

 

0 0 

14% 

59% 

27% Social Housing

Owner Occupation

Private Rented Sector

Breakdown of Housing Tenure in Merton 
(December 2015) 

Page 174



 

7 
 

The Private Rented Sector (PRS) 

The Private rented sector is growing in the UK , and more significantly in London. The 

private rented sector consists of 2.7m dwellings in the United Kingdom or 10% of the total 

housing stock, of this total, 2.4m is in England, representing 12% of the English housing 

stock.  

The sector has grown by over 10% in the last ten years and, according to the Centre for 

Economics and Business Research, and forecast to grow by a further 40% over the coming 

ten years.  

In 2010 the government ran a large scale survey of the Private Rented Sector and analysed 

the social and economic spread of private landlords. Some key findings were: 

 Eighty-nine per cent of landlords were private individual landlords responsible for 71% 

of all private rented dwellings, with a further 5% of landlords being company landlords 

responsible for 15% of dwellings. 

 More than three quarters (78%) of all landlords only owned a single dwelling for rent, 

with only 8% of landlords stating they were full-time landlords. 

 Over three-quarters (77%) of all dwellings in the PRS were purchased by the landlord, 

9% were inherited and 8% were built by the landlord. 

 Eighty-nine per cent of landlords were private individual landlords, 5% were company 

landlords, and 6% were ‘other organisation’ landlords. These were responsible for 71%, 

5% and 14%, respectively, of all dwellings in the sector. 

 Twenty-two per cent of landlords had let properties for three years or less with two-

thirds (69%) for 10 years or less. Only 5% had let for more than 40 years. 

 In terms of formal letting and management practices, nearly all landlords and agents 

(97%) made use of a written tenancy agreement, with 91% requiring a deposit, and 84% 

requiring tenants to provide a reference. 

 

Since 2002, the private rented sector has almost doubled, from 10% to 19% in 2014-15. By 

contrast, the social rented sector has nearly halved, from 31% of all households in 1980, to 

17% in 2014-15. 

The decrease in social housing is due to the government’s refresh of right to buy, with few 

houses sold being replaced.  The increase in the private rental sector is also partly 

attributable to right to buy, a recent Central Government select committee report 

revealed 40% of properties bought through right to buy are now in the private rented sector 

(English Housing Survey 2016). 

Page 175



 

8 
 

 

 
Figure 1 – CLG Landlords survey 2010 

The above chart (Figure 1) demonstrates that the bulk of PRS is currently provided by 

private individuals acting as “amateur landlords”, so much so that many local authorities 

have set up and implemented a property licensing scheme for these landlords to ensure 

minimum standards are met on health and safety and property management.  

The introduction of licensing schemes is an indicator that PRS is a relatively immature 

market in parts, with plenty of space to enter with a much better product which is 

professionally run and well managed.  

The table on the next page is a description of each of the different types of landlord in the 

market. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

89% 

5% 
6% 

CLG Landlords Survey 2010  

Private Landlords

Company landlords

Other

Page 176



 

9 
 

 

Type of landlord Description 

Private 
individuals 
and couples 

The largest group of landlords in the PRS. This will include those that have 
chosen to purchase a single property for buy-to-let purposes, chosen to let 
a property that they no longer need to live in or have over time developed 
small portfolio of properties to let.  

The quality of landlords within this group will vary significantly. At the top 
end will be those who are letting high quality apartments and houses, 
through to exploitative landlords offering sub-standard properties. 

Partnerships Partnerships will typically include those private individuals that have chosen 
to set up a small business to manage their property portfolio.  

Similar comments on the quality of accommodation let by the private 
individual group of landlords will apply to partnerships.  

Private and 
listed 
companies 

Accounting for around 5% of the landlords in the PRS this group will include 
large publically listed companies (e.g. Grainger) as well as other private 
companies.  

Large organisations such as Grainger have national large portfolios (e.g. 
circa 4,000properties) of stock. There are however very few of these types 
of landlords in the UK. Other private landlord companies may specialise in 
specific types of accommodation e.g. student housing, hospital related 
accommodation etc.  

A number of developers and Registered Providers have entered this market 
in London in recent years (see key competitors below) 

Public sector 
and charitable 
organisations  

This group of landlord covers housing associations that have become 
involved in the PRS. It will also include other parts of the public sector that 
have legacy property portfolios which they let out to residents (e.g. 
universities, hospitals etc.). 

A number of Housing associations have recently expanded their portfolios 
of stock rented at market rent levels. They already have strong housing 
management practices and believe there are significant benefits to be 
achieved through expansion into the sector.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 177



 

10 
 

PRS tenants Market segments  

PRS in London typically accommodates those that are aged between 18-35 and are unable 

to afford the purchase of their own home, however this is simplifying a more complex 

picture of individual market segments which are set out below, along with the key features 

of each of the PRS market segments.  (Table 1 – PRS Market Segments) 

Market 
segment 

Description 

Students Aged 18 – 21 and attending College / University. Properties are typically located 
near to an education establishment. The PRS offers this segment affordable 
housing costs alongside flexible tenancies, which landlords have adapted to meet 
the specific needs of students.  

Households in this market segment are typically characterised as being cost 
effective and includes sharers. 

Young 
professionals 
(singles / 
couples and 
sharers) 

This group has largely been created through an increase in mobility and affluence at 
an earlier age. This group tends to relocate aware from the family home soon after 
university to seek employment elsewhere. This means, that compared to 20 or 30 
years ago, new households are now being formed earlier. And then as home 
ownership becomes increasingly difficult to access, this group remains in rented 
accommodation for longer. 

This group will typically live in accommodation that has a location close to a range 
of local amenities (transport, nightlife etc.) and will include individuals living along, 
couples and sharers. 

Generation rent People typically aged under 35 and have good incomes and choose to live in rented 
accommodation due to lifestyle choice. People typically aged under 35 (but can be 
older), with good incomes but are unable to raise a deposit to gain a mortgage or 
are seeking to remain mobile for career reasons. 

Young families Parents aged in their 20s or 30s with children aged under 10. Renting may not be a 
first choice to this group, but they may not be able to access / afford a mortgage to 
buy a property. Traditionally this group may have attempted to seek some form of 
social housing but are now unable to access it.  

One major concern for this group is on the lack of stability around renting, where 6 
months tenancy agreements with private landlords are the norm. 

‘Empty nesters’ A smaller market segment, it includes couples (usually over the age of 50 – 55) who 
are looking to downsize as their children have left home. They may be looking to 
swap a large family home for more modern accommodation close to town centres, 
or are looking for temporary accommodation to meet the needs of a job / specific 
phase in life / to provide greater freedom in an attempt to sell a family home. The 
PRS therefore offers flexibility and choice to this market segment. 

Housing benefit  This is a diverse group of residents and for example will include; pensioners, 
families, singles, those unable to access work through sickness / disability etc.  

Not all PRS landlords will let their properties to this market and those that do tend to 
provide a specific focus on this group. 

Migrants For new migrants to UK, the PRS is typically the only accessible form of housing 
available – social housing will not apply and homeownership may be out of reach 
for many. An increase in this market segment has also been observed as migration 
in recent years from the EU has increased. 

Although this segment is highly diversified - due to pressures on costs a large part 
of this market segment typically has less choice and may as a result live in less 
desirable properties in the PRS. 

Page 178



 

11 
 

Merton Development Company Target groups  

Merton Development Company’s target customers are highlighted in Table 1 above. They 

are young professionals and families looking to rent property that is of a good standard and 

willing to pay full market rent for this security and comfort.  

The majority of our target market is below the age of 35 who are looking for modern 

facilities to come as part of the property, this includes features such as:  

 Broadband/Wi-Fi  

 Bike/sports equipment storage  

 Resident Gym’s - Advanced 

 Concierge services – Advanced  

 Good on site security arrangements  

 TV packages such as freeview and Sky on discount 

The above list of features is a general list and certain advanced items e.g. concierge and gym 

services can only be achieved if the property itself has over 100 units in the same 

development or adjacent developments.  

The first tranche of sites will deliver 77 homes across four sites. The initial developments are 

unlikely to offer the advanced items to prospective tenants, however the remaining items 

could become standard as part of the PRS offer from Merton Development Company.  

The introduction of Wi-Fi and TV package deals as standard items saves time on 

management administration costs, and stops residents from sourcing their own solutions 

and thus making the building look untidy as different customers start to use different 

providers for different products e.g. Sky satellite dishes etc 

This target market group, apart from young families, are sharers, whom will often be looking 

for equal sized bedrooms and ensuite facilities as part of the standard offer.  

 

 

Page 179



 

12 
 

Competitors  

Merton Development Company’s key competitors are the 6% that are private limited 

companies and 5% which are charities and other public organisations such as registered 

providers who are now changing their business model to enable them to operate in the 

market rent part of the PRS market.  

These main competitors are: 

Be:here 

About / Experience  

 Established in early 2013, be:here is a principle subsidiary of Wilmott Dixon operating 

within its regeneration division. It represents its PRS business.  

Rent strategy  

 Be:here plans to create over 5,000 PRS homes over the next few years. 

Development/purchase pipeline 

 be:here has two schemes. It’s fist scheme, East India in Tower Hamlets, offers 158 
studio, 1 and 2 bed apartments and is due for completion in early 2015. It forms part of 
the multiphase Aberfeldy regeneration project. This development was undertaken with 
Poplar HARCA, who retains the freehold but has granted a 250-year leasehold on the 
land to M&G Investments. The latter are funding the development through be:here but 
the units will be let under the be:here brand. Poplar HARCA will be responsible as the 
landlord for the management of the tenancies, including all outgoings, maintenance 
and repairs during the lease term. 

 More recently be:here has teamed up with Invesco Real Estate (IRE). The latter will 

acquire 118 PRS units for £32.5m in Hayes, West London, on behalf of a UK local 

authority pension fund. IRE's client will purchase the site's freehold from be:here and 

fund the development of the scheme. be:here will manage the units following 

completion in 2016.  

 be:here in the process of acquiring further sites across London and at central locations 

in Manchester, Birmingham, Bristol and Leeds; each capable of accommodating single 

developments of 100 to 400 apartments.  

Units in management -All schemes are currently in the development phase. 

Indicative Rents – Their first properties are not due to be let until January 2015, but be: here 
anticipate a 1 bed studio at their East India scheme will be roughly £1000-1300 per month, 
and a 2 bed between £1500-1900 per month. 

Target market & Services 

“Flexible apartments, designed to work for singles, sharers and families” 

Be: here is developing homes specifically designed for young professionals, targeting 'in-
betweeners' who want to live in high quality homes close to their work but cannot afford to 

Page 180



 

13 
 

buy and don't qualify for social housing.  Its services have been developed using feedback 
from this target group, including: 

 Ample storage space, with additional secure storage available on-site to rent  

 High-speed broadband, cable TV and telephone ready to use  

 Sharers enjoy large, equal-sized bedrooms and a bathroom each 

 Rent, rent increases and charges that are fair, reasonable and transparent  

 Flexible communication methods - online, phone, text, email or on-site manager 

 Flexible approach to tenancies  

 Support finding a flat-mate  

 Taking in parcels and dry cleaning  

Finances 

 Its model is predicated on sale and lease back financing, working on a “develop build 

and sell continuum”. As its income is brought in progressively over successive 

construction phases, its benefit to Wilmott Dixon will not be felt for a while.  

 be:here’s agreement with M&G Investments on its East India scheme represents one 

of the first examples of institutional investment in the PRS. There is growing 

recognition among institutional funds of the PRS market’s investment potential.  

 
Fizzy Living  

About 

 Fizzy Living, a commercial Subsidiary of Thames Valley Housing association (TVH), 

launched in early 2012 and has made a genuine effort to capture a modern brand 

position.  

Rent Strategy  

 Fizzy plans to buy 1,000 new build properties over three years. It buys blocks between 
60 and 150 units, all to be let at market rents. Currently its preferred area of operation 
is London and the South East, but there are plans to take the product nationwide in the 
mid-term.  

 In the future it will deliver mainly 2-3 bedroom units, with the bedrooms around the 
same size. They will be designed for sharers, which will reduce the cost of the 
tenancies.  

 Plans are to re- invest income into social housing.TVH intends to hold onto the 
portfolio but the option of selling will be there; in the future it may consider selling it 
into a real estate investment trust. 

 Their full portfolio will be managed and let by Fizzy 
 
Development/purchase pipeline 
 Fizzy’s fifth acquisition in Lewisham recently took place; acquiring 136 units. The 

acquisition takes their portfolio to 382 apartments and moves it closer to its target of 
1,000 units. 

 Fizzy has launched schemes in Epsom, Stepney Green and Canning Town. 

 

Page 181



 

14 
 

Units in management (as at today) –They currently manage approximately 180 units.  

Indicative Rents - A one bed flat in Poplar costs from £1,325 per month. A two bed from 

£1,560 per month, and three bed from £2,000 per month.  

Target Market& Services 

“Re-inventing renting” 

Fizzy has marketed its product at aspirational young professionals, referred to as 
‘rentysomethings’. Its offer has been developed with this client group in mind, for instance: 

 Each block has its own property manager called 'Bob', the equivalent of an American 

“super”, who arranges access for repairs and takes deliveries 

 Two weeks free rent is available on some schemes. They also offer discounts to tenants 

who accept longer term tenancies to increase retention 

 A resident's gym and concierge free of charge 

 Self-serve (rent statements available online etc.) 

 Fizzy manages utility charges on behalf of tenants at some buildings, recharged at cost 

and there are no middlemen or agency fees 

 Social media and IT to help tenants find flat mates and free WiFi for the life of the 

tenancy &Free TV set top box / Freeview channels 

Finances 

 Plans are to fund this £200m investment programme with £120m debt (from banks) 

and £80m equity, with £30 million of equity from TVH. Fizzy plans to attract a further 

£50 million of equity from institutions such as pension funds and smaller private 

investors. It will be grown into a £15 million-a-year turnover business. 

 Fizzy has a forecasted internal rate of return of 15 per cent. In February 2013 Fizzy 

obtained £40 million of finance from Macquarie Capital. In March 2014 it secured 

£200m from Silver Arrow, an investment entity ultimately owned by the Abu Dhabi 

Investment Authority (ADIA). 

 

 

Grainger plc.  

About 

 Grainger has been in operation since 1912 starting in Newcastle, and is the UK’s largest 

listed specialist residential landlord and property manager. It manages a good portion 

of its property, but outsources much of its stock to RP partners, as it is unable to 

sustain a national management presence.  

Rent Strategy  

 A good part of its successful growth is based on property trading – buying when the 

market is low or adding value through investment and trading when property prices 

rise. For this reason the Grainger product is not a settled PRS product. It has to saleable 

to non-renters. 

Page 182



 

15 
 

 Part of its current strategy consists of leading the residential market and creating new 

business opportunities, as well as maximising returns by actively managing assets and 

ensuring they are located in the best economic areas. Grainger are actively increasing 

the size of their market rented portfolio, as the business focuses on increasing their 

rental income. 

Development/purchase pipeline 

 Grainger are currently developing an array of mixed tenure schemes (e.g. 197 private 

units in Haringey due for completion in 2015). 

 In terms of build to rent, they are currently active in the ‘doughnut’ zones around 

central London to acquire large-scale build to rent opportunities. Their first build to 

rent scheme is under construction in Barking.  

 APG, the Dutch pension fund group, has recently invested in a £430m fund with 

Grainger, for developments amounting to 1,700 homes. 

 Grainger are actively looking to expand their PRS portfolio in Newham, having already 

teamed up with Bouygues UK to begin work on a site in November 2014.  

Units in management (as at today) – Across the UK Granger owns and manages 4,007 
market rented assets that have a market value of £446 million.  

Indicative Rents – unavailable 

Target Market& Services 

“For our tenants we are a local, responsible and professional landlord” 

 Grainger provides a generic rental offer and doesn’t appear to have a specific target 

market.  

 Properties are usually let on a fixed term, usually on an annual basis, but they may also 

agree a minimum term of six months in some circumstances and periods of five years 

for some tenancy types.  

Finances  

 Grainger owns a significant portfolio of residential property assets across the United 

Kingdom and Germany worth c. £1.8bn as at 30 September 2013. In the UK, 60% of 

their assets are located in London and the South East.  Their assets provide strong and 

resilient cash flows through sales and rental income.  

 In fact, their net rents equate to £48.5m, the second largest source of their income 

after profits from sales (£77.7m). Historically, the types of assets they owned provided 

strong sales income and relatively lower rental income, but as they deliver on their 

strategy, focusing on the private rented sector, a greater proportion of revenue will 

come from rents.  

Page 183



 

16 
 

Essential Living  

About 

 Essential Living is a developer and operator of private rental homes in the UK.  

 Backed by long-term institutional capital, Essential Living intends to "rewrite the rules 

on rental" by becoming the UK's first buyer, developer and operator of rented homes. 

Rent Strategy  

 They aim to deliver 5,000 units of private rental stock over the next decade  

 They build to rent but also renovate office buildings  

 Essential Living’s strategy is based on replicating the successful multi-family lettings 
sector in the U.S. through buying up land to develop rental homes. Essential Living will 
directly manage these units over the long term.  
 

Development/purchase pipeline 

 At present Essential Living have a pipeline of 1,500 homes across London.  

 They are currently developing 345 units in Canary Wharf – ready in 2017, as well as 149 

residential units in Bethnal green, available in 2016. They also have high profile 

developments such as London 360 in Elephant & Castle, The Helix in Docklands and 

100 Avenue Road in Swiss Cottage. 

 It has bought its seventh site in Greenwich, SE8 and will submit a planning application 

later this year for a new scheme with more than 200 flats in a 17-storey tower. 

Units in management (as at today) – All schemes are currently in the development phase. 

Indicative Rents – unavailable (schemes not due for completion until 2015) 

Target Market& Services 

“Our vision is to bring exceptional quality, sustainability and customer service to our 

residents." 

Essential Living recognizes that most renters are young but that many are increasingly likely 
to have families, and that there has been increase in single parent households. They have 
developed their brand with this in mind. Their core values are responsibility, inclusivity and 
commitment. Solutions are also developed on four key factors: time, space, freedom and 
trust. They encourage community and offer long-term tenancies 

Their offer includes: 

 Rooftop communal terraces, storage rooms, cold room storage 

 Fitness centres 

 Residents’ bike stores & landscaped communal terraces 

 Crèches and children’s play space 

 Professional, round the clock onsite service 

 Quality IT services  

 Sites are no more than a 10-minute walk to transport links 

 

Page 184



 

17 
 

Finances  

 Essential Living is backed by Evergreen Real Estate Partners in association with M3 
Capital Partners who have given $200m of equity. The latter manage U.S. institutional 
funds.  

 They claim their funding stream enables them to quickly acquire land without needing 

to raise debt. 

 

 

Get Living London (GLL) 

About experience 

Rent strategy  

 Get Living London launched its first scheme in May 2013 and is committed to being 

the market leader in private rental in London. 

Development/purchase pipeline 

 Currently GLL own and manage a new site in East Village located in Stratford, which 
used to be part of the Olympic Park. East Village has the following amenities on its 
doorstep: Westfield, Stratford International Station, Chobham Academy, and 27 
hectares parkland 

 East Village contains 2,818 homes in 11 distinct developments Get London Living 
own 1,439 units, and occupancy began in 2013. 

 GLL has not released details of any future developments, however it is apparent that 
they have not been shortlisted for Round 2 of the Build to Rent Fund.  

Units in management  

 In June 2014 GLL had 500 units in management.  

Indicative Rents  

 1 bedroom apartment-furnished£355 pw 

 1 bedroom apartment-furnished£380 pw 

 2 bedroom apartment-unfurnished£405 pw 

 2 bedroom apartment-furnished£410 pw 

 2 bedroom apartment-unfurnished£410 pw 

 3 bedroom apartment-unfurnished£518 pw 

 3 bedroom apartment-furnished£540 pw 

 There are no 4 bedroom homes currently available  

Target market & Services 

“A better way of renting” 

 GLL offer 1, 2, 3 & 4 bedroom properties, furnished or unfurnished. Their target 

market, with 1 and 2-bedroom apartments aimed at young professionals and 

Page 185

http://www.getlivinglondon.com/find-a-home/1-beds-14-glade-walk-london-e20-0.aspx
http://www.getlivinglondon.com/find-a-home/1-beds-7-glade-walk-london-e20-0.aspx
http://www.getlivinglondon.com/find-a-home/2-beds-22-de-coubertin-street-london-e20-0-1.aspx
http://www.getlivinglondon.com/find-a-home/2-beds-15-mirabelle-gardens-london-e20-0.aspx
http://www.getlivinglondon.com/find-a-home/2-beds-22-de-coubertin-street-london-e20-2-0.aspx
http://www.getlivinglondon.com/find-a-home/3-beds-15-scarlet-close-london-e20-0.aspx
http://www.getlivinglondon.com/find-a-home/3-beds-15-scarlet-close-london-e20-2-0-2.aspx


 

18 
 

couples. 3 and 4-bedroom apartments/ townhouses are designed for sharers and 

families. 

Their offer includes: 

 Eco-friendly living in London – marketed as greener place to live e.g. water recycling  

 Flexible tenancy agreements: choose from one, two or three-year terms. 

 Ability to up or downsize within East Village with no extra fees to pay 

 Quality management - their team is located nearby, next to Stratford International 

Station and are available 7 days a week. They also have an emergency response 

team, located at East Village, who are available 24/7.  

 Take parcel deliveries for tenants when they’re out, give information about the 

neighbourhood and forthcoming events. 

 Finances  

 GLL is owned by Delancey and Qatari Diar as part of a joint partnership Qatari 
DiarDelancey 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 186



 

19 
 

Merton Development Company’s Approach  

The organised PRS market in London is very competitive with a very different product to 

traditional buy to let landlords. Merton Development Company’s approach will be to focus 

on high quality developments that are maintained and managed to a good standard.  

Some of the main strengths of Merton’s Development Company will be:  

Geography  

The London Borough of Merton unlike other boroughs has a very under developed market 

for company run PRS. The company will start by focusing in the London Borough of Merton. 

Focusing locally to start with will allow the company to establish a branded product that is 

recognised for quality through reputation.  

Finance  

The LB Merton will finance the company at a commercial rate and enable the company to 

get established. The access to relatively low risk finance gives the company some shield 

against financial market pressures as the council is the guarantor of the loan. The company 

will only draw down finance as and when it’s needed to ensure no additional borrowing 

charges are incurred to the company or the council.  

Mixed Developments  

Merton Development Company will develop both residential and commercial property as 

part of its remit, this mix in tenures will allow the company on smaller sites to establish 

facilities new renters look for such as cafes, gyms, dry cleaners etc in the form of retail units 

on the ground floor.  

Extended Tenure  

Merton Development Company will offer longer tenancies then traditional landlords with 

more security for renters. The longer tenancies will come with fixed increases which will 

give the customer comfort of no unexpected increases in rent and gives the company an 

even cash flow with less bad debt and void periods.  

Pipeline  

The company will have access to the council’s pipeline of sites. The sites will be subject to 

viability testing and other council pressures on land, however having access to a pipeline 

that can be tested will allow the company to pursue only sites that are financially viable and 

reduces the risk the company would be exposed to if the company where to purchase a 

sites.  

 

Page 187



 

20 
 

Merton Development Company’s Development Strategy  

Pipeline 

Merton Development Company has agreed access to a pipeline of potential council sites in 

order to create a development pipeline for both housing and commercial purposes. The first 

tranche of sites selected will all require planning permission for housing, with commercial 

property where necessary, and will look to develop units across four medium sized sites in 

the first tranche. 

Merton Development Company will also transfer other smaller sites and one off properties 

into the company. The smaller sites are a mixture of houses that are currently rented 

commercially through a third party arrangement, and small pieces of land available for a 

single house development. The company will let, manage and maintain these individual 

properties giving the council a better return then what they currently achieve.  

The company will take a pragmatic approach to providing additional services such as gyms, 

cafes, retail space within developments to ensure the rent prices can be set competitively 

and customers get a good deal. The focus will be on the quality of the internal furnishings of 

the properties to ensure the units are comfortable and contain all modern fixtures.  

Affordable Housing  

Merton Development Company Ltd will comply with the council’s affordable housing policy, 

subject to the planning requirements to demonstrate viability, however PRS development 

schemes do not offer an immediate cash return. PRS developments hold more risk and debt 

for longer, and the company is likely to go through two property cycles during the 30 year 

period that borrowing it is currently modelled on, therefore the way in which its assessed at 

planning stage needs to be reviewed and any affordable housing carefully negotiated to 

ensure viability of the company is maintained.  

The company will sell any units developed for affordable housing to registered providers 

and will not retain any social or affordable housing within its business model. The retention 

of affordable housing puts the company at risk to current government legislation around the 

right to buy and any further changes. It’s the intention that the company will operate on a 

purely commercial footing and only offer discounts where as part of any incentives where,  

market conditions require.  

 

 

 

 

Page 188



 

21 
 

Market Sale 

Merton Development Company Ltd may sell a proportion of the units in some developments 

to boost the company’s balance sheet by paying debt down quicker.If the opportunity 

presents itself in the market where the company can sell properties off at peak values, this 

will be considered and presented to the council on a development by development basis.  

Development Pipeline  

The tables below show the medium and small sites that the company could have access to.  

Merton Development Company Pipeline – Medium sites pipeline 

Sites  Status  PRS/Affordable  Units  

Raleigh Gardens  Pre Planning PRS   22 

Land at Canons  Pre Planning PRS  22 

Elm Nursery Car Park Pre Planning PRS  24 

Farm Road Church  Pre Planning PRS  9 

West Barnes Library  Pre Planning Affordable  21 

Wilson Avenue Shops  Pre Planning Affordable  20 

Worsford House  Pre Planning PRS  60 

  
Total  178 

 

Merton Development Company - Small Sites Pipeline 

Kenilworth Road Pre Planning PRS 2 

Land at Westside Common Pre Planning Sale 1 

    Total  3 

 

The first four sites have been modelled and will cost approximately £11.8 million to 

construct out based on current market costs. Construction inflation has risen in the last 18 

months, this will need to be considered further and reviewed once prices are returned 

through the procurement process, as the financial model has estimated values that the 

properties can be built for per square foot, if these fall outside of the current envelope, the 

model will need to be reviewed and revisions made as appropriate. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 189



 

22 
 

Future sites  

The below is a list of other larger sites that the Company could have first refusal on as future 

development sites.  

Merton Development Company Pipeline - Future Sites  

Sites  Status  PRS/Affordable  Units  

Morden Regeneration  Pre Planning PRS  600-800 

Leatherhead  Pre Planning PRS 250 

Chaucer centre  Pre Planning PRS 40 

Kenley Railway Car Park Pre Planning PRS 20 

    Total  910-1110 

 

The council also has a large portfolio of commercial sites (light industrial) in the western 

part of the borough located in Wimbledon. This site sits adjacent to the railway line and has 

huge potential to be redeveloped in to alternative uses such as high quality serviced office 

space similar to developments like prologis science parks that house hubs for high tech start 

ups and internet companies like Amazon. 

High Quality Management  

Merton Development Company Ltd is committed to providing a high quality management 

service to all customers. Merton Development Company’s objectives are to take rental 

products to the next level, ensuring that customers are happy with the service and the word 

spreads quickly across our target market. The company will select a strong local agent 

through a competitive selection process, to manage the lettings process ensuring that all 

customers are vetted and the product is not compromised by poor processes from the 

outset.  

The Agents responsibility will be:  

 Lettings 

 Negotiations 

 Tenancy management 

 Block management administration 

As the company progresses, these may be changed and additional duties may be passed 

over to the agent after their track record has been proven.  

 

 

 

 

Page 190



 

23 
 

Rents/Tenancies 

The company is yet to agree a rental policy for the company, however rents are set at 

market rates in the model and increased only by inflation each year which is likely to be the 

stance the company takes to ensure customers get a fair and transparent rental product. 

The rents included in the business plan are estimates based on advice provided by BPP 

Regeneration.  

Affordable rents will be something that will be passed over to registered providers as the 

company will not retain affordable properties.  

Rentals will be set at market levels at their specific locations by the managing agents, based 

on existing rental levels, based on location, the below is expected;  

 High value rental: Wimbledon  

 Medium value rental: Morden/Colliers Wood 

 Low to medium value rental: Mitcham 

Merton Development Company will offer longer tenancies then what traditional landlords 

offer with less volatility on price increases and rental periods. Merton Development 

Company will be an exemplar landlord and ensure all customers have assured shorthold 

tenancy contracts for the specified period and notice periods that allow the tenant enough 

time to move. Merton Development Company may offer incentives for prospective tenants 

and tenants coming up for renewal.  

Built to Last  

Merton Development Company’s mission is to develop a robust and sustainable PRS 

product which will require a higher specification during construction, ensuring that products 

purchased and installed are built to last and stand the test of time. The layout of the built 

product will be designed in a way that maximises the use of space without requiring further 

modification later on.  

Sales  

Merton Development Company’s business model is based on developing a long term rental 

product. Sales may be built into the viability model to ensure more debt is paid earlier so 

the company is under less strain from debt recharges and produces a dividend earlier. 

However changes in the market may also require the company to sell some units in positive 

and negative market changes.  

 Positive- if the market peaks and the opportunity presents itself for a dividend to be 

given back to the shareholder.  

 Negative - or the market slumps and the sale of one or two units are required to 

ensure cash flow of the company is protected.  

Page 191



 

24 
 

Asset management strategy  

Merton Development Company’s asset management strategy is to maintain the stock to a 

good standard to ensure tenants are kept happy, the assets are always in an attractive 

condition and up to date with the most modern features to attract renters. To retain its 

exemplar landlord status, the company will do via its retained managing agents, by:  

 A highly responsive repairs and maintenance service allowing customers to report 

online and having a repairs response line active for the longest period of the day 

possible.  

 Planned preventative maintenance, ensuring facilities do not fall below an 

acceptable level before being serviced, this also avoids higher costs further down the 

line when the product fails.  

 Annual inspections of properties to ensure the terms of the tenancy agreement are 

being adhered to, to spot early any condition issues and breeches of tenancy.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 192



 

25 
 

Governance  

Merton Development Company will be structured in a way that allows flexible and agile 

decision making to ensure the company can take advantage of market opportunities.  

The company will consist of three directors to start with, as recommended by the South 

London Legal Partnership (SLLP) legal team.  As the company grows the company will have 

the flexibility to add additional directors.  

The Board of Directors will initially meet monthly to discuss matters arising from the 

company.  

As the sole share holder the council will set up a shareholder sub-committee through the 

cabinet process to discuss shareholder matters. The sub-committee will nominate a 

shareholder representative who will then represent the council at board meetings to ensure 

that the company is on target to deliver the anticipated returns to the council.  

All Major financial and resourcing decisions will require sign off by the council’s shareholder 

sub-committee or shareholder representative. A list of the key decisions is captured as 

reserved matters in the company’s shareholder agreement.  

Resourcing  

The company will have part time seconded employees from the council to start with to get 

the company and projects up and running providing strong project management, financial 

and design and planning skills. Professional skills we be brought in on an ad hoc basis. The 

company will have a service level agreement with the council to provide support services, 

such as financial, IT and legal. Once the initial scheme is up and running and further sites are 

agreed, additional time will be required to manage the existing portfolio and to work up the 

next tranche of sites. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 193



 

26 
 

Finances 

Introduction  

The financial model utilised by Merton Development Company, has been constructed using 

Price Waterhouse Coopers (PWC) housing model. PWC have supplied Models to various 

other councils and are now the market leader for financial advice around wholly owned 

council housing/property company set ups in the country. The inputs to the model have 

been supplied by the council’s independent regeneration surveyors BPP Regeneration Ltd.  

Further information and additional financial tables can be found at the back in Appendix 1.  

BPP Regeneration reviewed the existing information that was compiled together previously 

with other advisors and internal staff. They also visited the sites to check the original 

assumptions that were made. The site visits resulted in a reduction in the numbers of units 

assumed at each site to be cautious as some of the sites are very difficult construction sites 

where higher densities may be difficult to achieve due to the layout of the site. Once the 

sites have been fully designed it may be possible to achieve some additional units. 

The first financial estimates below are based on the first four sites.  The first four sites below 

produce 77 units:  

 Raleigh Gardens (22) 

 Elm Nursery Car Park (24) 

 Land at Cannons (22) 

 Farm Road Church (9) 

The model is based on a 30 year loan period with the sale of any affordable housing units 

going to registered providers.  

Below are the various funding tables showing the loan required, interest and debt 

repayments, cash flow from the company to the council and a sales and income position the 

modelling is based on.  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 194



Financial Tables  

Table 1: LAPC Balance Sheet  Years 1 to 5 
     

 
Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 

 
£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s 

Land 8,190  4,074  0  0  0  

Cash (0) (0) (0) (0) (0) 

Capitalised interest 20  272  851  668  682  

WIP/Stock 136  3,379  4,567  0  0  

Investment properties 337  9,295  19,097  19,097  19,097  

Corporation tax creditor 0  0  0  0  0  

Long term loan  (640) (7,373) (13,966) (10,301) (10,315) 

Equity cash element 155  1,775  3,256  3,256  3,256  

Equity land element 8,190  8,190  8,190  8,190  8,190  

P&L Reserve (301) (318) (897) (1,982) (1,982) 

 

Table 2: LAPC Balance Sheet - in 5 year periods 
     

 
Year 5 Year 10 Year 15 Year 20 Year 25 Year 30 

 
£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s 

Land 0  0  0  0  0  0  

Cash (0) 33  54  (0) (0) 9,328  

Capitalised interest 682  682  682  682  682  (0) 

WIP/Stock 0  0  0  0  0  0  

Investment properties 19,097  19,097  19,097  19,097  19,097  0  

Corporation tax creditor 0  (33) (89) (169) (281) (9,328) 

Long term loan  (10,315) (9,881) (8,298) (5,540) (905) 0  

Equity cash element 3,256  3,256  3,256  3,256  3,256  3,256  

Equity land element 8,190  8,190  8,190  8,190  8,190  8,190  

P&L Reserve (1,982) (1,548) 0  2,624  7,147  (11,446) 

 

 

P
age 195



 

2 
 

Table 3: LAPC Income and Expenditure - Years 1 to 5 
    

 
Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 

 
£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s 

Profit/(Loss) on sales (200) 0  (1,001) (800) 0  

Net rental income (101) (17) 422  622  655  

Net Interest/(Cost) 0  0  0  (908) (655) 

Interest income on surplus cash balance 0  0  0  0  0  

Profit/(Loss) before tax (301) (17) (579) (1,086) 0  

Corporation tax 0  0  0  0  0  

Profit/(Loss) after tax (301) (17) (579) (1,086) 0  

Dividends 0  0  0  0  0  

 

Table 4: LAPC Income and Expenditure Impact in 5 Year Periods 
    

 
Years 1-5 Years 6-10 Years 11-15 Years 16-20 Years 21-25 Years 26-30 

 
£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s 

Profit/(Loss) on sales (2,000) 0  0  0  0  51,126  

Net rental income 1,581  3,838  4,949  6,350  8,110  10,343  

Net Interest/(Cost) (1,563) (3,319) (3,042) (2,373) (1,257) (59) 

Interest income on surplus cash balance 0  0  1  0  0  0  

Profit/(Loss) before tax (1,982) 518  1,908  3,977  6,853  61,410  

Corporation tax 0  (85) (324) (676) (1,165) (10,687) 

Profit/(Loss) after tax (1,982) 434  1,583  3,301  5,688  50,723  

Dividends 0  0  (35) (676) (1,165) (69,316) 

  

Table 5: LBM Income and Expenditure - Years 1 to 5 
    

 
Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 

 
£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s 

Investment income 0  0  0  0  0  

Interest payable (13) (158) (416) (550) (419) 

Interest receivable 20  252  672  908  670  

Net I&E Surplus (excl MRP) 8  95  256  358  251  

 

P
age 196



 

3 
 

Table 6: LBM Income and Expenditure - In 5 year periods 
     

 
Years 1-5 Years 6-10 Years 11-15 Years 16-20 Years 21-25 Years 26-30 

 
£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s 

Investment income 0  (0) 35  676  1,165  57,870  

Interest payable (1,554) (1,951) (1,581) (964) (161) 0  

Interest receivable 2,521  3,319  3,042  2,373  1,257  59  

Net I&E Surplus (excl MRP) 967  1,368  1,497  2,085  2,262  57,929  

 

 

 

 

 P
age 197



Sites  

Farm Rd Church (9 Units) 

 

Canons Leisure Centre (22 Units)  

 

Raleigh Gardens (22 Units) 

 

Page 198



Risk Register  

Risk ID Risk Title Risk Description Likelihood 

 

Impact 
Risk 
Score 

Mitigation Actions 

1 
Deterioration of Relationship 
With Council 

It   is   anticipated   that   there   will   be   
challenges   within   the relationship between the 
company and the council.  Whilst  the shareholder  
agreement  offers the company a good deal of 
autonomy  it also  retains  key  decisions  for  the  
Shareholder,  which incentives  the company  to  
resolve  any  difficulties.   

2 

 

4 8 
The management   of the relationship   will 
need   to be  reviewed particularly when key 
appointments are made. 

2 
Collapse of the Residential 
Property Market  

The property market is susceptible to fluctuations. 
The risk is that the value of the company’s portfolio 
will fall while the market is at a low. 

2 

 

2 4 

The company is a long term venture and 
would expect to survive any fluctuations  in 
the market. However, were market rent 
levels to fall substantially, the company 
could take a view on sales to ride the 
downturn or seek a greater subsidy input 
from LBM to utilize a greater proportion of 
properties at affordable rents. 

P
age 199



 

2 
 

3 
Loss of London as a World 
City 

London's residential property market is closely 
related to London as a world city therefore the loss 
of London as a city would greatly impact the 
company. 

1 

 

4 4 
London’s  growth  is key to the growth  of 
the UK economy  and therefore its global 
status is a matter of national priority. 

4 
Severe Decline in Demand 
for Rental Properties 

Over recent years, there has been a shift in tenure 
patterns. Owner occupation has been in decline 
while renting has increased. It is possible that the 
market may see a reversal of this state. 

2 

 

4 8 

In  severe  circumstances,   the company  
can  mitigate  financial  losses through a 
number of measures including converting 
properties to shared ownership and/or 
outright sale, and leasing properties to 
housing associations, LBM and/or other 
London councils. 

5 
Skill Deficit of Local 
Authority Property Company 
(LAPC) Staff 

Skill Deficit of the company Staff will leave it 
unable to compete. 

2 

 

4 8 

The company will develop a competitive 
pay commensurate with those offered by 
private sector competitors. Skills 
development will be a key objective of the 
company 

6 
Failure to Secure Planning 
Consent 

There may be a failure to secure planning consent 
for viable schemes. 

2 

 

3 6 
The company will work in partnership with 
LB Merton planners in order that pressures 
and priorities on both sides are understood.  

7 Cash Flow Crisis 
The company is a rental business, therefore it may 
suffer from issues that arise as a result of the slow 
influx of rental income. 

3 

 

3 9 
Conversion  of market rent properties  to 
outright market sale to bridge cash flow 
difficulties 

8 
Failure to Stay True to 
Mission 

A failure to stay true to their mission may lead to 
loss of community confidence, damage to 
reputation. 

2 

 

2 4 
Always stay on top of market trends within 
PRS and target audience  

P
age 200



 

3 
 

9 
Tranche 2 Schemes Become 
Unviable 

It is possible that some sites can no longer be built 
on as a result of unknown elements. This is a 
greater concern if it occurs to multiple sites as 
opposed to single sites. 

3 

 

2 6 
Monitor sites and ensure that there are 
alternative plans for the portfolio. 

10 Collapse of Contracts  

It is possible that the company may fall out of 
contract with architects, planners or constructors. 
This would result in loss of time and will affect 
progress. 

1 

 

2 2 

Strong project management. Maintain 
constant communication with all teams in 
order to ensure that concerns are 
addressed before they become 
problematic. 

11 Changes in Policy 
Changes may occur to policy relating to private 
rented accommodation which would alter the 
organisation's mission. 

1 

 

4 4 
Stay abreast of the political situation and 
ensure the companies interests are 
considered before any decisions are made. 

12 Fail of Loan Covenants 
The company may fall fail of loan covenants. This 
would put it in default so the loan would need to 
be paid back. 

2 

 

4 8 Renegotiate the loan. 

13 Deterioration of Stock Value The value of the stock may fall below long term 
value ratio. This would become an impairment to 
the accounts, as well as to the council's accounts. 

2 

 

4 8 
Need to be constantly conscious of rental 
and sales values . 

14 
Inability to Meet Viability 
Targets 

Mid-way through the development, a scheme may 
be unable to meet the assumed viability model. 

2 

 

4 8 
Properties could be sold, however 
assistance from the council may be 
required. 

15 Working Capital Prior to funding approval, increasing working 
capital requirements which exceed LBM budget 
would lead to a reduction of activity on projects. 

4 

 

4 16 

Working capital facility is set at a minimum 
of £4m. A recovery strategy has been 
implemented to maintain the solvency of 
the company 

P
age 201



 

4 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

16 
Increasing Construction 
Costs 

Estimated construction costs may increase during 
the pre-construction stage. This will also result in 
an increase in the pre-construction professional 
fees. 

3 

 

4 12 
Development of a robust cost control 
mechanism, with Gateway approval points 
for authorisation 

P
age 202



 

5 
 

Appendix 1 – Shareholder Agreement  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 203



 

6 
 

Appendix 2 – Articles of Association 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 204



 

7 
 

Appendix 3 – BBP Surveyors Report  

P
age 205



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

[V.28/09/2016]  DATED                           2016 

------------ 

SHAREHOLDER AGREEMENT 

 

between 

 

THE MAYOR AND BURGESSES OF THE LONDON BOROUGH OF MERTON 

 

and 

 

[LAPC LTD] 

Page 207



CONTENTS 

CLAUSE 

1. Interpretation ............................................................................................................... 1 

2. Business of LAPC ....................................................................................................... 5 

3. Completion ................................................................................................................... 5 

4. Matters requiring consent of the Council ................................................................. 6 

5. Directors and management ....................................................................................... 7 

6. Finance for LAPC and Land ...................................................................................... 8 

7. Compliance with Procurement Law ......................................................................... 9 

8. Restrictions on the Parties ........................................................................................ 9 

9. Anti-corruption ............................................................................................................. 9 

10. Business Plan .............................................................................................................. 9 

11. Accounting and other Information .......................................................................... 11 

12. Dividend policy .......................................................................................................... 12 

13. Tax Matters ................................................................. Error! Bookmark not defined. 

14. Issue of further shares ............................................................................................. 12 

15. Intellectual Property .................................................................................................. 12 

16. Termination and liquidation ..................................................................................... 13 

17. Status of the agreement .......................................................................................... 14 

18. Confidentiality, FOIA and EIRs ............................................................................... 14 

19. Data Protection ......................................................................................................... 17 

20. Announcements ........................................................................................................ 17 

21. Warranties .................................................................................................................. 17 

22. Assignment and other dealings .............................................................................. 18 

23. Dispute Resolution ................................................................................................... 18 

24. Entire agreement ...................................................................................................... 18 

25. Variation and waiver ................................................................................................. 19 

26. Costs ........................................................................................................................... 19 

27. No partnership or agency ........................................................................................ 19 

28. Notices........................................................................................................................ 20 

29. Severance .................................................................................................................. 21 

30. Agreement survives Completion............................................................................. 22 

31. Third party rights ....................................................................................................... 22 

32. Counterparts .............................................................................................................. 22 

33. Rights and remedies ................................................................................................ 22 

34. Inadequacy of damages .......................................................................................... 23 

35. Governing law and jurisdiction ................................................................................ 23 

 

SCHEDULE 

SCHEDULE 1 MATTERS RESERVED FOR SHAREHOLDER APPROVAL .................................... 24 

SCHEDULE 2 DEED OF ADHERENCE ..................................................................................... 27 

 

Page 208



1 

THIS  AGREEMENT is dated [                                  ] 2016. 

PARTIES 

(1) THE MAYOR AND BURGESSES OF THE LONDON BOROUGH OF 

MERTON, of Civic Centre, London Road, Morden, SM4 5DX (the COUNCIL). 

(2) [LAPC LIMITED] incorporated and registered in England and Wales with 

company number [NUMBER] whose registered office is at [REGISTERED 

OFFICE ADDRESS] (LAPC). 

BACKGROUND 

(A) LAPC is a newly formed company incorporated in England and Wales on [             

] and has one ordinary share of £1 in issue, which is registered in the name of 

and the beneficial ownership of the Council. 

(B) LAPC has been established for the purpose of making profit by way of 

building or acquiring housing and commercial units for either sale or rental at 

full market rates (in relation to housing units on assured shorthold tenancies) 

(with affordable housing as required by the local planning authority 

conditions). 

(C) LAPC shall carry on business in accordance with the terms and conditions of 

this Agreement. 

(D) THE COUNCIL shall exercise its rights as shareholder in relation to LAPC in 

accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement. 

AGREED TERMS 

1. INTERPRETATION 

1.1 The definitions and rules of interpretation in this clause apply in this 

Agreement. 

Act: the Companies Act 2006. 

Adequate Procedures: adequate procedures, as referred to in section 7(2) 

of the Bribery Act 2010 and any guidance issued by the Secretary of State 

under section 9 of the Bribery Act 2010. 

Articles: the articles of association of [LAPC] in agreed form to be adopted 

on or prior to Completion as amended or superseded from time to time. 

Associated Person: a person (including an employee or agent) who 

performs services for or on behalf of [LAPC]. 

Board: the board of Directors of the [LAPC] as constituted from time to time. 

Business: has the meaning given in clause 2. 

Business Day: any day other than a Saturday, Sunday or public holiday in 

England when banks in London are open for business. 

Business Plan: has the meaning given in clause 10. 

Page 209



2 

Chairman: means the Council Director appointed by the Council to preside 

over a meeting of the Directors. 

Completion: the completion of the formation of [LAPC]. 

Confidential Information: means any information or data in whatever form 

disclosed, which by its nature is confidential or which the disclosing party 

acting reasonably states in writing to the receiving party is to be regarded as 

confidential, or which the disclosing party acting reasonably has marked 

‘confidential’ (including, without limitation, information concerning the 

business, affairs, customers, clients or suppliers of a party, financial 

information, or marketing or development or work force plans and information, 

and information relating to services or products) but which is not personal 

data (as defined in the Data Protection Act 1998), pursuant to an FOIA or 

EIRs request, or information which is published as a result of government 

policy in relation to transparency. 

Council Director: any Director appointed to the Board by the Council, 

excluding any Independent Director. 

Director: a director of [LAPC], including a managing Director or chief 

executive or other chief officer of [LAPC]. 

EIRs: the Environmental Information Regulations 2004 (SI 2004/3391) 

together with any guidance and/or codes of practice issued by the Information 

Commissioner or relevant government department in relation to such 

regulations. 

Encumbrance: any interest or equity of any person (including any right to 

acquire, option or right of pre-emption) or any mortgage, charge, pledge, lien, 

assignment, hypothecation, security interest, title retention or any other 

security agreement or arrangement. 

Executive Director: means a Director that is also an employee of [LAPC]. 

Finance Agreement: a finance agreement to be entered into by [LAPC] and 

the Council on or about the date of this Agreement and any other funding and 

security documentation which is entered into by the Council and [LAPC] 

pursuant to which the Council shall provide funding to [LAPC]. 

Financial Year: in relation to [LAPC], means its accounting reference period 

of 12 months ending on the date given in clause 3.1(g) or such other date as 

[LAPC] may determine in accordance with section 392 of the Act but, in the 

first year in which [LAPC] is formed, means the period starting with the day 

[LACH] is formed and ending on the date given in clause 3.1(g), subject to the 

Act. 

FOIA: the Freedom of Information Act 2000, and any subordinate legislation 

made under that act from time to time, together with any guidance and/or 

codes of practice issued by the Information Commissioner or relevant 

government department in relation to such legislation. 

Page 210



3 

Independent Director: a Director that is not an Executive Director or an 

employee, officer or member of the Council. 

Intellectual Property Rights/IPR:  any and all patents, inventions, 

trademarks, logos, service marks, domain names, registered designs, utility 

models, copyright, moral rights, rights in design, know-how, confidential 

information and all or any other intellectual or individual property rights 

whether or not registered or capable of registration and whether now or in the 

future residing in the U.K. or any other part of the world together with all or 

any goodwill and accrued rights of action. 

Land Transfer Agreements:  agreements to be entered into by the [LAPC] 

and the Council, the first agreement to be signed on or about the date of this 

Agreement pursuant to which the Council will transfer land to [LAPC] as part 

of its equity investment in LAPC. 

Procurement Law: means all U.K. and European law relevant to public 

procurement activities including, without limitation the Public Contracts 

Regulations 2015 (SI 102/2015), the Treaty on the Functioning of the 

European Union, the Directive 2014/24/EU and all other relevant legislation, 

case law, guidance and codes of practice with which the Council is bound to 

comply (or any updates, re-enactments or replacements). 

Remuneration Policy: a policy adopted by the [LAPC] (following receipt of 

Council written approval) in relation to the provision of remuneration 

(including salary, bonus, the provision of benefits-in-kind or otherwise) for its 

employees, officers and consultants. 

Reserved Matters: the matters listed in Schedule 1. 

Subsidiary: has the meaning given in section 1159 of the Act. 

Support Agreement: the agreement pursuant to which the Council provides 

support services to [LAPC], to be entered into by LAPC and the Council in 

agreed form. 

Support Services: the support services to be provided by the Council to 

[LAPC] as set out in the Support Agreement. 

1.2 Clause, Schedule and paragraph headings shall not affect the interpretation 

of this Agreement. 

1.3 Unless otherwise stated to the contrary, references to clauses and Schedules 

are to clauses of and Schedules to this Agreement and references to 

paragraphs are to paragraphs of the relevant Schedule. 

1.4 The Schedules form part of this Agreement and shall have effect as if set out 

in full in the body of this Agreement. Any reference to this Agreement includes 

the Schedules. 

Page 211



4 

1.5 A reference to this Agreement or to any other agreement or document 

referred to in this Agreement is a reference to this Agreement or such other 

agreement or document as varied or novated in accordance with its terms 

from time to time. 

1.6 Unless the context otherwise requires, words in the singular shall include the 

plural and in the plural shall include the singular. 

1.7 Unless the context otherwise requires, a reference to one gender shall 

include a reference to the other genders. 

1.8 A person includes a natural person, corporate or unincorporated body 

(whether or not having separate legal personality). 

1.9 A reference to any party shall include that party's successors and permitted 

assigns. 

1.10 Unless otherwise stated to the contrary, a reference to writing or written 

includes email and faxes. 

1.11 In construing this Agreement, the ejusdem generis rule does not apply and 

the interpretation of general words following the terms including, include, in 

particular, for example or any similar expression shall be construed as 

illustrative and shall not limit the sense of the words, description, definition, 

phrase or term preceding those terms. 

1.12 Where the context permits, other and otherwise are illustrative and shall not 

limit the sense of the words preceding them. 

1.13 References to a document in “agreed form” are to that document in the form 

agreed by the parties and initialled by them or on their behalf for identification. 

1.14 A reference to a statute or statutory provision is a reference to it as amended, 

consolidated, extended or re-enacted from time to time (whether made before 

or after the date of this Agreement). 

1.15 A reference to a statute or statutory provision shall include all statutory 

instruments and subordinate legislation (as defined in section 21(1) of the 

Interpretation Act 1978) or orders made from time to time under that statute or 

statutory provision (whether made before or after the date of this Agreement). 

1.16 A reference to a statutory or regulatory body shall include its successors and 

any substituted body. 

1.17 Any obligation on a party not to do something includes an obligation not to 

allow that thing to be done. 

Page 212



5 

1.18 Unless the context requires otherwise, words and expressions defined in the 

Articles shall have the same meaning when used in this Agreement. 

2. BUSINESS OF [LAPC] 

2.1 The business of [LAPC] is: 

(a) to operate as a commercial company; 

(b) primarily to build and acquire housing and commercial units for either 

sale or to be rented at full market rates (in relation to housing units 

on assured shorthold tenancies) (with affordable housing only as 

required by local planning authority conditions)  . 

together with any activities reasonably incidental to the above (“Business”). 

2.2 The principle place of business of and for management of [LAPC] shall be 

within the London Borough of Merton, unless otherwise agreed in writing by 

the Council. 

2.3 In order to maximise the potential of successful lettings/sales of the homes to 

potential tenants/owners the Company shall ensure that the homes are 

available to a modern standard and are well managed and maintained. 

2.4 [LAPC] shall circulate a draft Remuneration Policy to the Council on or before 

[ ] 2016 (or such later date as shall be agreed between the parties). The 

Council shall use reasonable endeavours to respond to confirm whether it has 

approved the Remuneration Policy within twenty (20)]Business Days of its 

receipt 

2.5 Following approval of the Remuneration Policy by the Council the [LAPC] 

shall comply with the Remuneration Policy in making remuneration payments 

to all personnel, including consultants, architects and others, who are entitled 

to receive remuneration payments from the [LAPC].  

3. COMPLETION 

3.1 At Completion the parties shall procure that such [shareholder resolution] and 

board meetings of [LAPC] are held as may be necessary to: 

(a) adopt the Articles in agreed form; 

(b) give the Directors the authority to allot the Council its share[s] in 

accordance with clause 3.2; 

(c) appoint: 

(i) Fiona Thomsen and Paul Dale Council Directors; and 

(ii) James McGinlay as Executive Director; 

Page 213



6 

(d) resolve that the registered office of [LAPC] shall be the Council’s 

address at the heading of this Agreement; 

(e) appoint PwC as the auditors of [LAPC]; 

(f) appoint [NAME] as the principal bankers to [LAPC]; and 

(g) resolve that [LAPC’s] Financial Year shall end on 31st March in each 

year. 

3.2 At Completion: 

(a) [LAPC] shall issue credited as fully paid one (1) share to the Council 

and enter the Council in the register of members of [LAPC] as the 

holder of such share and issue a share certificate to the Council in 

respect of such share; 

(b) in consideration for the issue to the Council of its share, the Council 

shall: 

(i) pay £1 to [LAPC]; 

(ii) enter into the Finance Agreement; 

(iii) enter into one or more Land Transfer Agreement(s); 

(iv) provide Support Services to [LAPC] in accordance with the 

terms of the Support Agreement. 

3.3 At Completion the parties shall adopt the Business Plan for the Financial Year 

in which [LAPC] is formedin agreed form. The Business Plan shall be revised 

annually, three calendar months before the end of the relevant Financial 

Year. 

3.4 At Completion the parties shall procure that the following agreements are 

executed in the agreed form: 

(a) the Support Agreement; 

(b) the Finance Agreement; 

(c) the Land Transfer Agreement; 

(d) [the Secondment Agreement]; 

(e) the Directors’ Service Agreements. 

3.5 The parties waive, or agree to procure the waiver of, any rights or restrictions 

which may exist in the Articles or otherwise which may prevent the allotment 

and issue of the share in [LAPC] pursuant to clause 3.2. 

4. MATTERS REQUIRING CONSENT OF THE COUNCIL 

[LAPC] shall not, without the prior written approval of the Council, carry out 

any of the Reserved Matters. 

Page 214



7 

5. DIRECTORS AND MANAGEMENT 

5.1 The Board has responsibility for the supervision and management of [LAPC] 

and its Business, subject to clause 4. 

5.2 Without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing, the Directors will determine 

the general policies of the Company and the manner in which the Business is to 

be carried out, subject to the Business Plan, to the Reserved Matters (requiring 

Council consent pursuant to clause 4) and to any other express provisions of this 

Agreement. In particular, but without limitation to the generality of the foregoing, 

the Directors shall exercise all voting rights and other powers of control available 

to them in relation to [LAPC] so as to procure (in so far as they are able in the 

exercise of such rights and power) that, at all times during the term of this 

Agreement, the Company shall: 

(a) carry on and conduct its business and affairs in a proper and efficient 

manner, for its own benefit and in accordance with the Business Plan 

and with good business practices; and 

(b) transact all its business on arm's length terms. 

5.3 Subject to clause 5.5, the Council may appoint a Director and remove a 

Director, by giving notice in writing to [LAPC], and to the Director being 

removed, in the case of removal of a Director. Such appointment or removal 

shall take effect on the date on which the notice is given. 

5.4 In the event that the number of directors is reduced to one (1) and such 

director is not the Executive Director the Council shall be entitled to appoint 

an Executive Director to be the managing director 

5.5 The parties shall agree on the appointment the Independent Director. 

5.6 The Council shall indemnify and keep indemnified [LAPC] against any claim 

connected with the removal by the Council of any Director from office. 

5.7 Unless the Council shall determine otherwise, there shall be a minimum 

number of three (3) Directors on the Board made up of two (2) Council 

Directors and an Executive Director. 

5.8 The post of Chairman shall be held by a Council Director. The Chairman shall 

have a casting vote. If the Chairman for the time being is unable to attend or 

to vote on any matter at any meeting of the Board, the Chairman shall be 

entitled to appoint another Council Director to act as Chairman at the meeting 

or in relation to that matter and such person shall have the casting vote. 

5.9 Unless agreed otherwise, the parties intend there to be a meeting of Directors 

at least four (4) times each year, with a period of not more than twelve (12) 

weeks between any two meetings. 

Page 215



8 

5.10 The parties shall use their respective reasonable endeavours to ensure that 

any meeting of the Board (or meeting of a committee of the Board) has the 

requisite quorum. 

5.11 [LAPC] shall be entitled to reimburse any Independent Director his or her 

reasonable expenses arising in connection with his/her role as Independent 

Director. 

6. FINANCE FOR LAPC AND LAND 

6.1 The parties shall procure that [LAPC] arranges a loan facility for its initial 

working capital (Facility) from the Council (or such bank or financial 

institution as the Board shall select if it offers more favourable terms (Bank)). 

The amount of the Facility shall be £[AMOUNT] and shall be on the terms set 

out in the Finance Agreement. 

6.2 Unless set out otherwise in the Finance Agreement, there is no obligation on 

the Council to provide any further finance to [LAPC] but if it does so this shall 

be on the same terms as set out in the Finance Agreement unless the parties 

agree otherwise in writing. 

6.3 If [LAPC] requires any additional loan facility, this may be financed, as far as 

is practicable, from external funding and on such terms as agreed between 

the Board, the Council and the relevant third parties. The parties agree that 

any security required in relation to such external funding shall, if possible, be 

provided by [LAPC]. 

6.4 Any loan facility to be provided by a Bank or other third party shall be 

provided on the basis that the Bank or other third party will not acquire the 

right to participate in the share capital of [LAPC] or otherwise in [LAPC’s] 

business. 

6.5 The parties shall enter into such Land Transfer Agreements as are 

considered appropriate from time to time. If [LAPC] wishes to enter into any  

agreements for the acquisition of land (whether freehold or leasehold) from 

any third party, it shall: 

(a) prepare a business case setting out the rationale and supporting 

arguments for acquiring the land; 

(b) not, without the prior agreement of the Council, enter into any 

agreement to acquire the land where the acquisition price is in 

excess of £[1,000,000 (one million pounds)] or such other lower or 

higher figure as the Council may from time to time agree; 

(c) irrespective of the acquisition price, retain and make available for 

inspection by the Council, any business case prepared pursuant to 

clause (a). 

Page 216



9 

7. COMPLIANCE WITH PROCUREMENT LAW 

7.1 [LAPC] shall in carrying out any relevant procurement exercise, comply with 

all Procurement Law and shall, upon request, provide evidence to the Council 

of such compliance. 

7.2 Without prejudice to clause 7.1, [LAPC] shall permit the Council at any time to 

monitor any procurement exercise to which Procurement Law applies (or 

which the Council reasonably considers may apply). 

8. RESTRICTIONS ON THE PARTIES 

8.1 Neither party shall, during the times specified below, offer employment to, 

enter into a contract for the services of, or attempt to solicit or seek to entice 

away from the other party any individual who is at the time of the offer or 

attempt, a Director, officer or employee [holding an executive or managerial 

position] with the other party or procure or facilitate the making of any such 

offer or attempt by any other person. The times during which the restrictions 

apply are: 

(a) any time when the Council is a shareholder; and 

(b) for a period of twelve (12) months after the Council ceases to be a 

shareholder in [LAPC]. 

9. ANTI-CORRUPTION 

9.1 LAPC undertakes to the Council that: 

(a) it will not, and will procure that all Associated Persons do not, in the 

course of the operation of the Business, engage in any activity, 

practice or conduct which would constitute an offence under sections 

1, 2 or 6 of the Bribery Act 2010; 

(b) it has and will maintain in place Adequate Procedures designed to 

prevent any Associated Person from undertaking any conduct that 

would give rise to an offence under section 7 of the Bribery Act 2010; 

and 

(c) from time to time, at the reasonable request of the Council, it will 

confirm in writing that it has complied with its undertakings under 

clause 9.1(a) and clause 9.1(b) and will provide any information 

reasonably requested by the Council in support of such compliance. 

10. BUSINESS PLAN 

10.1 The Business Plan is an annual business plan (unless otherwise agreed by 

the Council) for [LAPC] prepared by the Board and it shall include in relation 

to the Financial Year to which it relates: 

Page 217



10 

(a) a cashflow statement giving: 

(i) an estimate of the working capital requirements; and 

(ii) an indication of the amount (if any) that it is considered 

prudent to retain, for the purpose of meeting those 

requirements, out of those profits of the previous Financial 

Year that are available for distribution to the Council as 

shareholder; 

(b) a monthly projected profit and loss account; 

(c) an operating budget (including capital expenditure requirements) and 

balance sheet forecast; 

(d) a management report setting out: 

(i) business objectives for the year; 

(ii) Land Transfer Agreements and Finance Agreements 

proposed to be entered into; and 

(iii) proposals for acquisition of any land (freehold or leasehold) 

from any third party; and 

(e) a financial report which shall include an analysis of the estimated 

results of [LAPC] for the previous Financial Year compared with the 

Business Plan for that year, identifying variations in sales, revenues, 

costs and other material items. 

10.2 The Business Plan for the Financial Year in which [LAPC] is formed shall be 

that identified in clause 3.3. 

10.3 The Business Plan for every other Financial Year shall, subject to clause 

10.4, be: 

(a) prepared by the Board and circulated to the Council at least twenty 

eight (90) Business Days before the end of the preceding Financial 

Year; 

(b) approved or commented upon by the Council as soon as reasonably 

possible and in any event the Council shall use reasonable 

endeavours to approve/comment within ten (20) Business Days of 

receipt; 

(c) updated by the Board if required to reflect any comments provided by 

the Council pursuant to clause (b) within five (5) Business Days of 

receipt of any comments from the Council; and 

(d) adopted by the Board following approval by the Council. 

10.4 Where the Business Plan includes a proposal to enter into a Land Transfer 

Agreement, Finance Agreement or incur capital borrowing above £1 million 

pounds, the Business Plan shall be circulated to the Council at least 30 

Page 218



11 

Business Days before the end of the preceding Financial Year and the 

timescale for approval or comment by the Council set out in clauses 10.3(b) 

shall be increased by ten (10) Business Days. 

10.5 For the avoidance of doubt, no Business Plan shall be adopted, varied or 

replace without the prior written approval of the Council. 

10.6 For the any period when a proposed Business Plan circulated pursuant to 

clause 10.3(a) has not been approved by the Council and adopted by the 

Board in accordance with this Agreement, the relevant existing Business Plan 

shall continue to be the Business Plan of the Company. 

11. ACCOUNTING AND OTHER INFORMATION 

11.1 [LAPC] shall at all times maintain effective and appropriate control systems in 

relation to its financial, accounting and record-keeping functions. Without 

prejudice to the generality of the foregoing, [LAPC] shall at all times maintain 

accurate and complete accounting and other financial records including all 

corporation tax computations and related documents and correspondence 

with HM Revenue & Customs in accordance with the requirements of all 

applicable laws and generally accepted accounting principles applicable in 

the United Kingdom. 

11.2 The Council and its authorised representatives shall be allowed access at all 

reasonable times to examine the books, accounts, documents and records of 

[LAPC] and to discuss [LAPC’s] affairs, finances and accounts with its 

Directors and senior management and the Company shall permit such 

persons to discuss such matters with the Council and its authorised 

representatives. The Council and its authorised representatives shall be 

entitled to make copies of such books, accounts, documents and records as 

it/they consider appropriate. 

11.3 [LAPC] shall supply the Council with the financial and other information 

necessary to keep the Council informed about how effectively the Business is 

performing and in particular shall supply the Council with: 

(a) a copy of each year's Business Plan for approval in accordance with 

clause 10.3; 

(b) a copy of each business case prepared pursuant to clause 6.5(a); 

(c) a copy of the audited accounts of [LAPC] prepared in accordance 

with the laws applicable in and the accounting standards, principles 

and practices generally accepted in the United Kingdom, within two 

(2) months of the end of the year to which the audited accounts 

relate; 

(d) monthly management accounts of [LAPC] to be supplied within ten 

(10) Business Days of the end of the month to which they relate and 

Page 219



12 

the accounts shall include a profit and loss account, a balance sheet 

and a cashflow statement and such other information as the Council 

may reasonably require; and 

(e) a copy of a report prepared by [LAPC] in respect of each Financial 

Year, demonstrating the implementation by [LAPC] of Adequate 

Procedures, such report to be provided within forty (40) Business 

Days of the end of the Financial Year to which it relates. 

11.4 [LAPC] shall, as soon as possible, comply with any request made by the 

Council, to provide any documents, information and correspondence 

necessary to enable the Council to comply with filing, elections, returns or any 

other requirements of HM Revenue & Customs or of any other revenue or tax 

authority. 

11.5 The Company shall not carry out any activity which would render the holding 

of shares by the Council unlawful provided that where a proposed change of 

law would render such shareholding unlawful shall use its reasonable 

endeavours to take such steps as are necessary to allow it to continue 

lawfully to hold its shares. 

11.6 The Company shall, if it requires any approval, consent or licence for the 

carrying on of its Business in the manner in which it is from time to time 

carried on or proposed to be carried on, use all reasonable endeavours to 

obtain and maintain the same in full force and effect. 

11.7 The Company shall not breach nor cause the Council to be in breach of the 

Local Authorities (Companies) Order 1995. 

12. DIVIDEND POLICY 

12.1 Any decision relating to the distribution or otherwise of a dividend shall be a 

Reserved Matter. 

13.  NOT USED 

14. ISSUE OF FURTHER SHARES 

Any decision relating to the issue of any shares or other equity securities 

(within the meaning of section 560(1) of the Act) shall be a Reserved Matter. 

15. INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY 

15.1 The Council shall retain ownership of all IPR arising from the operation of the 

Business by [LAPC]. 

Page 220



13 

15.2 The Council grants to [LAPC] a fully paid up, non-exclusive, royalty-free, non-

transferable licence to use the IPR for the term of this Agreement. 

15.3 [LAPC] shall promptly, at the Council’s request, do (or procure the doing of) 

all such acts and things and execute (or procure the execution of) all such 

documents as the Council may from time to time require for the purpose of 

securing for the Council all its rights, title and interest in and to the IPR. 

16. TERMINATION AND LIQUIDATION 

16.1 Subject to clause 16.2, this Agreement shall terminate: 

(a) upon written agreement of the parties in accordance with the agreed 

terms; or 

(b) when the Council ceases to hold any shares in [LAPC]; 

(c) when a resolution is passed by the Council or creditors, or an order 

is made by a court or other competent body or person instituting a 

process that shall lead to [LAPC] being wound up and its assets 

being distributed among [LAPC’s] creditors, shareholder or other 

contributors. 

16.2 On termination of this Agreement, the following clauses shall continue in 

force: 

(a) Clause 1 (Interpretation); 

(b) Clause 7 (Restrictions on Parties); 

(c) Clause Error! Reference source not found. (Tax Matters); 

(d) this clause; 

(e) Clause 18 (Confidentiality); 

(f) Clause 22 (Assignment and Other Dealings); 

(g) Clause 23 (Entire Agreement); 

(h) Clause 25 (Variation and Waiver); 

(i) Clause 26 (Costs); 

(j) Clause 27 (No Partnership or Agency); 

(k) Clause 28 (Notices); 

(l) Clause 29 (Severance); 

(m) Clause 34 (Inadequacy of Damages); 

(n) Clause 35 (Governing Law and Jurisdiction); [and OR.] 

(o) [INCLUDE ANY OTHER RELEVANT PROVISIONS. 

Page 221



14 

16.3 Termination of this Agreement shall not affect any rights, remedies, 

obligations or liabilities of the parties that have accrued up to the date of 

termination, including the right to claim damages in respect of any breach of 

the agreement which existed at or before the date of termination. 

16.4 Where, following an event referred to in clause 16.1(c), [LAPC] is to be wound 

up and its assets distributed, the parties shall endeavour to ensure that, 

before dissolution: 

(a) all existing contracts of [LAPC] are performed to the extent that there 

are sufficient resources; 

(b) [LAPC] shall not enter into any new contractual obligations; 

(c) [LAPC’s] assets are distributed as soon as practical; and 

(d) any assets transferred to [LAPC] pursuant to any relevant agreement 

shall be returned to the Council or dealt with as the Council directs. 

17. STATUS OF THE AGREEMENT 

17.1 Each party shall, to the extent that it is able to do so, exercise all its voting 

rights and other powers in relation to [LAPC] to procure that the provisions of 

this Agreement are properly and promptly observed and given full force and 

effect according to the spirit and intention of this Agreement. 

17.2 If there is an inconsistency between any of the provisions of this Agreement 

and the provisions of the Articles, the provisions of this Agreement shall 

prevail as between the parties. 

17.3 The parties shall, when necessary, exercise their powers of voting and any 

other rights and powers they have to amend, waive or suspend a conflicting 

provision in the Articles to the extent necessary to permit [LAPC] and its 

Business to be administered as provided in this Agreement. 

18. CONFIDENTIALITY, FOIA AND EIRS 

18.1 In this clause, Confidential Information excludes the information in clause 

18.2. 

18.2 Information is not Confidential Information if: 

(a) it is or becomes generally available to the public (other than as a 

result of its disclosure in breach of this Agreement); or 

(b) either party can establish to the reasonable satisfaction of the other 

party that it found out the information from a person not connected 

with the other party and that such person is not under any obligation 

of confidence in respect of the information; or 

Page 222



15 

(c) either party can establish to the reasonable satisfaction of the other 

party that the information was known to the first party before the date 

of this Agreement and that it was not under any obligation of 

confidence in respect of the information; or 

(d) the parties agree in writing that it is not confidential. 

18.3 Each party shall at all times keep confidential (and [use all reasonable 

endeavours to] ensure that its employees, agents, subsidiaries, and the 

employees and agents of such subsidiaries shall keep confidential) any 

Confidential Information and shall not use such Confidential Information 

except for the purpose of exercising or performing its rights and obligations 

under or in connection with this Agreement, and shall not disclose such 

Confidential Information except: 

(a) to a party's professional advisers where such disclosure is for a 

purpose related to the operation of this Agreement; or 

(b) with the written consent of the party that the information relates to; or 

(c) as may be required by law or by the rules of any recognised stock 

exchange, or governmental or other regulatory authority or by a court 

or other authority of competent jurisdiction, including pursuant to the 

FOIA or EIRs; or 

(d) a party may, provided it has reasonable grounds to believe that the 

other party is involved in activity that may constitute a criminal 

offence under the Bribery Act 2010, disclose Confidential Information 

to the Serious Fraud Office without first informing the other party of 

such disclosure; or 

(e) to any tax authority to the extent reasonably required for the 

purposes of the tax affairs of the party concerned [or any party 

connected with that party]. 

18.4 Each party shall inform (and shall use all reasonable endeavours to procure 

that any connected party shall inform) any officer, employee or agent or any 

professional adviser advising it in relation to the matters referred to in this 

Agreement, or to whom it provides Confidential Information, that such 

information is confidential and shall require them: 

(a) to keep it confidential; and 

(b) not to disclose it to any third party (other than those persons to whom 

it has already been disclosed in accordance with the terms of this 

Agreement). 

18.5 On termination of this Agreement, each party shall (and shall use all 

reasonable endeavours to procure that its subsidiaries, and its officers and 

employees and those of its subsidiaries shall): 

Page 223



16 

(a) return to the other party all documents and materials (and any 

copies) containing, reflecting, incorporating or based on the other 

party's Confidential Information; and 

(b) erase all the other party's Confidential Information from computer 

and communications systems and devices used by it, including such 

systems and data storage services provided by third parties (to the 

extent technically and legally practicable), 

provided that a recipient party may retain documents and materials 

containing, reflecting, incorporating or based on the other party's Confidential 

Information to the extent required by law or any applicable governmental or 

regulatory authority. 

18.6 The provisions of this clause 18 shall continue to apply after termination of 

this Agreement for any cause. 

Freedom of Information and Environmental Information Regulations 

18.7 Each party acknowledges that the other party is subject to the requirements 

of the FOIA and the EIRs and each party shall assist and co-operate with the 

other party to enable that other party to comply with its obligations under the 

FOIA and the EIRs. This shall include complying with any timescales set by 

the relevant party for providing information and/or assistance and providing all 

such information and/or assistance as the relevant party shall request to 

enable the relevant party to comply with its obligations under the FOIA and 

the EIRs. 

18.8 Where a party (the “Recipient”) receives a request for information in relation 

to information which it is holding on behalf of the other party in relation to this 

Agreement, it shall: 

 

(a) transfer the request for information to the other party as soon as 

practicable after receipt and in any event within two (2) Business 

Days of receiving a request for information; 

(b) provide the other party with a copy of all information in its possession 

or power in the form that the other party requires within ten (10) 

Business Days (or such longer period as the other party may specify) 

of the other party requesting that information; and 

(c) provide all necessary assistance as is reasonably requested by the 

other party to enable it to respond to a request for information within 

the time for compliance set out in the FOIA or the EIRs. 

18.9 The parties acknowledge that (notwithstanding the provisions of clause 18.3 

and notwithstanding any information designated as Confidential Information 

by a party) the Recipient may, acting in accordance with the Department of 

Page 224



17 

Constitutional Affairs' Code of Practice on the Discharge of Functions of 

Public Authorities under part I of the Freedom of Information Act 2000, be 

obliged under the FOIA or the Environmental Information Regulations to 

disclose Information concerning the other Party: 

(a) in certain circumstances without consulting with the other Party; or 

(b) following consultation with the other Party and having taken their 

views into account. 

19. DATA PROTECTION 

19.1 The parties undertake to comply with the provisions of the Data Protection Act 

1998 in so far as the same relates to any subject matter of this Agreement. 

20. ANNOUNCEMENTS 

20.1 Subject to clause 20.2 and clause 20.3, neither party shall make, or permit 

any person to make, any public announcement, communication or circular 

(announcement) concerning this Agreement without the prior written consent 

of the other party [(such consent not to be unreasonably withheld or 

delayed)]. The parties shall consult together on the timing, contents and 

manner of release of any announcement. 

20.2 Where an announcement is required by law or any governmental or 

regulatory authority (including, without limitation, any relevant securities 

exchange), or by any court or other authority of competent jurisdiction, the 

party required to make the announcement shall promptly notify the other 

party. The party concerned shall make all reasonable attempts to agree the 

contents of the announcement before making it. 

20.3 On the signing of this Agreement the parties shall issue a joint announcement 

about the formation of [LAPC] in agreed form. 

21. WARRANTIES 

21.1 Each party warrants and represents to the other that, at the date of this 

Agreement, [LAPC] has not carried on any business, has no assets or 

liabilities, has no employees and is not a party to any contracts except as 

necessary to comply with clause 2.4. 

21.2 Each party warrants and represents to the other party that: 

(a) it has full power and authority and has obtained all necessary 

authorities and consents to enter into and perform its obligations 

under this Agreement and such other agreements and arrangements 

referred to in this Agreement; and 

Page 225



18 

(b) the signing of this Agreement and the performance of its obligations 

under this Agreement and the other agreements and arrangements 

referred to in this Agreement will not result in a breach of any other 

agreement or arrangement to which it is a party, nor give rise to any 

right of termination of any other agreement or arrangement to which 

it is a party. 

22. ASSIGNMENT AND OTHER DEALINGS 

22.1 Neither party shall assign, transfer, mortgage, charge, sub-contract, declare a 

trust over or deal in any other manner with any or all of its rights and 

obligations under this Agreement (or any other document referred to in it) 

without the prior written consent of the other party [(such consent not to be 

unreasonably withheld or delayed)]. 

22.2 Each party confirms that it is acting on its own behalf and not for the benefit of 

any other person. 

23. DISPUTE RESOLUTION 

23.1 The parties shall endeavour to resolve a dispute arising in connection with 

this Agreement by referring the dispute for resolution to internal 

representatives of the parties and escalating as appropriate to relevant senior 

officers. If such persons are unable to resolve the dispute either party may 

request mediation by serving a notice for mediation (“Mediation Notice”) on 

the other party and sending a copy to the Centre for Effective Dispute 

Resolution (CEDR) or to such alternative mediator as the parties may agree.  

Unless otherwise agreed between the parties, the mediator will be nominated 

by CEDR. The mediation will start not later than ten (10) Business Days after 

the date of the Mediation Notice, and the costs of such mediation shall be 

borne in such proportions as the mediator may determine to be fair and 

reasonable in all the circumstances or if the mediator makes no such 

determination by the parties in equal proportions. 

23.2 No party may commence any court proceedings/arbitration in relation to any 

dispute arising out of this Agreement until the dispute resolution process 

provided for in this clause 23 has ended or the other party has failed to 

participate in the dispute resolution process, provided that the right to issue 

proceedings is not prejudiced by a delay. 

24. ENTIRE AGREEMENT 

24.1 This Agreement (together with any documents referred to in it) constitutes the 

entire agreement between the parties and supersedes and extinguishes all 

previous discussions, correspondence, negotiations, drafts, agreements, 

promises, assurances, warranties, representations, arrangements and 

Page 226



19 

understandings between them, whether written or oral, relating to its subject 

matter. 

24.2 Each party acknowledges that in entering into this Agreement (and any 

documents referred to in it), it does not rely on, and shall have no remedies in 

respect of, any statement, representation, assurance or warranty (whether 

made innocently or negligently) that is not set out in this Agreement or those 

documents. 

25. VARIATION AND WAIVER 

25.1 No variation of this Agreement shall be effective unless it is in writing and 

signed by the parties (or their authorised representatives). In the context of 

this clause, writing does not include email. 

25.2 A waiver of any right or remedy under this Agreement or by law is only 

effective if it is given in writing and is signed by the person waiving such right 

or remedy. Any such waiver shall apply only to the circumstances for which it 

is given and shall not be deemed a waiver of any subsequent breach or 

default. 

25.3 A failure or delay by any person to exercise any right or remedy provided 

under this Agreement or by law shall not constitute a waiver of that or any 

other right or remedy, nor shall it prevent or restrict any further exercise of 

that or any other right or remedy. 

25.4 No single or partial exercise of any right or remedy provided under this 

Agreement or by law shall prevent or restrict the further exercise of that or 

any other right or remedy. 

25.5 A person that waives any right or remedy provided under this Agreement or 

by law in relation to one person, or takes or fails to take any action against 

that person, does not affect its rights or remedies in relation to any other 

person. 

26. COSTS 

Except as expressly provided in this Agreement, each party shall pay its own 

costs and expenses incurred in connection with the negotiation, preparation, 

execution and performance of this Agreement (and any documents referred to 

in it). 

27. NO PARTNERSHIP OR AGENCY 

Nothing in this Agreement is intended to, or shall be deemed to, establish any 

partnership between the parties or constitute any party the agent of another 

party. 

Page 227



20 

28. NOTICES 

28.1 A notice given to a party under or in connection with this Agreement:  

(a) shall be in writing and in English; 

(b) shall be signed by or on behalf of the party giving it; 

(c) shall be sent to the relevant party for the attention of the contact and 

to the address, fax number or email address specified in clause 28.2, 

or such other address, fax number, email address or person as that 

party may notify to the other in accordance with the provisions of this 

clause 28; and 

(d) shall be: 

(i) delivered by hand; or 

(ii) sent by fax; or 

(iii) sent by pre-paid first class post, recorded delivery or special 

delivery; or 

(iv) sent by email provided that the subject heading of the email 

must be stated as a notice being sent pursuant to this 

Agreement and the email must be tagged as “high 

importance” (or similar); and 

(e) unless proved otherwise is deemed received as set out in clause 

28.4. 

28.2 The addresses and fax numbers for service of notices are: 

(a) Council: 

(i) address: Civic Centre, London Road, Morden, SM4 5DX ] 

(ii) for the attention of: Chris Lee, Director of Environment and 

Regeneration 

(iii) fax number: [NUMBER] 

(iv) email address: [EMAIL ADDRESS]; 

(b) [LAPC]: 

(i) address: [ADDRESS] 

(ii) for the attention of: [NAME] 

(iii) fax number: [NUMBER] 

(iv) email address: [EMAIL ADDRESS]. 

28.3 A party may change its details for service of notices as specified in clause 

28.2 by giving notice to the other party, provided that the address for service 

is an address in the United Kingdom following any change. Any change 

notified pursuant to this clause shall take effect at 9.00 am on the later of: 

Page 228



21 

(a) the date (if any) specified in the notice as the effective date for the 

change; or 

(b) five (5) Business Days after deemed receipt of the notice. 

28.4 Delivery of a notice is deemed to have taken place (provided that all other 

requirements in this clause have been satisfied): 

(a) if delivered by hand, on signature of a delivery receipt; or 

(b) if sent by fax, at the time of transmission provided the sender has 

received a successful transmission report; or 

(c) if sent by pre-paid first class post, recorded delivery or special 

delivery to an address in the United Kingdom, at 9.00 am on the 

second Business Day after posting; or 

(d) if sent by email, one (1) hour after the notice was sent; and 

(e) if deemed receipt under the previous paragraphs of this clause 28.4 

is not within business hours (meaning 9.00 am to 5.30 pm on a 

Business Day), at 9.00 am on the next Business Day. 

28.5 To prove service, it is sufficient to prove that: 

(a) if delivered by hand the notice was delivered to the correct address; 

or 

(b) if sent by fax, a transmission report was received confirming that the 

notice was successfully transmitted to the correct fax number; or 

(c) if sent by post, the envelope containing the notice was properly 

addressed, paid for and posted; or 

(d) if sent by email, the notice was properly addressed (as described in 

clause 28.1(d)(iv) and sent to the email address of the recipient. 

28.6 This clause 28 does not apply to the service of any proceedings or other 

documents in any legal action or, where applicable, method of dispute 

resolution. 

29. SEVERANCE 

29.1 If any provision or part-provision of this Agreement is or becomes invalid, 

illegal or unenforceable, it shall be deemed modified to the minimum extent 

necessary to make it valid, legal and enforceable. If such modification is not 

possible, the relevant provision or part-provision shall be deemed deleted. 

Any modification to or deletion of a provision or part-provision under this 

clause shall not affect the validity and enforceability of the rest of this 

Agreement. 

Page 229



22 

29.2 If one party gives notice to the other of the possibility that any provision or 

part-provision of this Agreement is invalid, illegal or unenforceable or if it is 

agreed or determined to be the case, the parties shall negotiate in good faith 

to amend such provision so that, as amended, it is legal, valid and 

enforceable, and, to the greatest extent possible, achieves the intended 

commercial result of the original provision. 

30. AGREEMENT SURVIVES COMPLETION 

This Agreement (other than obligations that have already been fully 

performed) remains in full force after Completion. 

31. THIRD PARTY RIGHTS 

31.1 A person who is not a party to this Agreement shall not have any rights under 

the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999 to enforce any term of this 

Agreement. 

31.2 The rights of the parties to terminate, rescind or agree any variation, waiver or 

settlement under this Agreement are not subject to the consent of any person. 

32. COUNTERPARTS 

32.1 This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of 

which when executed shall constitute a duplicate original, but all the 

counterparts shall together constitute the one agreement. 

32.2 Transmission of an executed counterpart of this Agreement (but for the 

avoidance of doubt not just a signature page) by: 

(a) fax; or 

(b) email (in PDF, JPEG or other agreed format), 

shall take effect as delivery of an executed counterpart of this Agreement. If 

either method of delivery is adopted, without prejudice to the validity of the 

agreement thus made, each party shall provide the other with the original of 

such counterpart as soon as reasonably possible thereafter. 

32.3 No counterpart shall be effective until each party has executed at least one 

counterpart. 

33. RIGHTS AND REMEDIES 

The rights and remedies provided under this Agreement are in addition to, 

and not exclusive of, any rights or remedies provided by law. 

Page 230



23 

34. INADEQUACY OF DAMAGES 

Without prejudice to any other rights or remedies that a party may have, each 

party acknowledges and agrees that damages alone would not be an 

adequate remedy for any breach of the terms of clause 7 or clause 18 by that 

party. Accordingly, the other party shall be entitled to the remedies of 

injunction, specific performance or other equitable relief for any threatened or 

actual breach of the terms of clause 7 or clause 18 of this Agreement. 

35. GOVERNING LAW AND JURISDICTION 

35.1 This Agreement and any dispute or claim arising out of or in connection with it 

or its subject matter or formation (including non-contractual disputes or 

claims) shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the law of 

England and Wales. 

35.2 Each party irrevocably agrees that the courts of England and Wales shall 

have exclusive jurisdiction to settle any dispute or claim that arises out of or in 

connection with this Agreement or its subject matter or formation (including 

non-contractual disputes or claims). 

 

This Agreement has been entered into on the date stated at the beginning of it. 

Page 231



24 

Schedule 1 Matters reserved for shareholder approval 

1. Altering in any respect the Articles or the rights attaching to any of the shares 

in [LAPC] (except as provided in clause 17.3 of the agreement). 

2. Permitting the registration of any person as a member of [LAPC] other than 

the Council. 

3. Increasing the amount of [LAPC]'s issued share capital, granting any option or 

other interest (in the form of convertible securities or in any other form) over 

or in its share capital, redeeming or purchasing any of its own shares or 

effecting any other reorganisation of its share capital. 

4. Incurring expenditure or entering into any arrangement, contract or 

transaction in excess of: 

(a) other than in relation to any land acquisition, £500,000 (five hundred  

thousand pounds); 

(b) in relation to any land acquisition, £[1,000,000 (one million 

pounds)unless otherwise agreed.  

5. Issuing any loan capital in [LAPC] or entering into any commitment with any 

person with respect to the issue of any loan capital. 

6. Making any borrowing [other than [the initial loan for working capital purposes 

from its bankers in the ordinary and usual course of business. 

7. Applying for the listing or trading of any shares or debt securities on any stock 

exchange or market. 

8. Passing any resolution for its winding up or presenting any petition for its 

administration (unless it has become insolvent). 

9. Altering the name of [LAPC] or its registered office. 

10. Adopting or amending the Business Plan in respect of each Financial Year. 

11. Changing the nature of [LAPC]'s Business or commencing any new business 

by [LAPC] which is not ancillary or incidental to the Business. 

12. Forming any Subsidiary or acquiring shares in any other company or 

participating in any partnership or joint venture (incorporated or not). 

13. Amalgamating or merging with any other company or business undertaking. 

Page 232



25 

14. Making any acquisition or disposal by [LAPC] of any material asset(s) 

otherwise than in the ordinary course of business. 

15. Creating or granting any Encumbrance over the whole or any part of the 

Business, undertaking or assets of [LAPC] or over any shares in [LAPC] or 

agreeing to do so other than liens arising in the ordinary course of business or 

any charge arising by the operation or purported operation of title retention 

clauses and in the ordinary course of business. 

16. Making any loan (otherwise than by way of deposit with a bank or other 

institution the normal business of which includes the acceptance of deposits 

or in the ordinary course of business) or granting any credit (other than in the 

normal course of trading) or giving any guarantee (other than in the normal 

course of trading) or indemnity. 

17. Altering any mandate given to [LAPC]'s bankers relating to any matter 

concerning the operation of [LAPC]'s bank accounts other than by the 

substitution of any person nominated as a signatory by the party entitled to 

make such nomination. 

18. Appointing any agent or other intermediary to conduct any of [LAPC]'s 

Business. 

19. Giving notice of termination of any arrangements, contracts or transactions 

which are material in the nature of [LAPC]'s Business, or materially varying 

any such arrangements, contracts or transactions. 

20. Adopting or amending any standard terms of business (including prices) on 

which [LAPC] is prepared to provide goods or services to third parties. 

21. Granting any rights (by licence or otherwise) in or over any intellectual 

property owned or used by [LAPC]. 

22. Factoring or assigning any of the book debts of [LAPC]. 

23. Changing the auditors of [LAPC] or its Financial Year end. 

24. Making or permitting to be made any change in the accounting policies and 

principles adopted by [LAPC] in the preparation of its audited and 

management accounts except as may be required to ensure compliance with 

relevant accounting standards under the Act or any other generally accepted 

accounting principles in the United Kingdom. 

25. Dealing with any surpluses of [LAPC]. 

26. Making any decision relating to the distribution or otherwise of a dividend. 

Page 233



26 

27. Establishing or amending any profit-sharing, share option, bonus or other 

incentive scheme of any nature for Directors or employees. 

28. Establishing or amending any pension scheme or granting any pension rights 

to any Director, officer, employee, former Director, officer or employee, or any 

member of any such person's family. 

29. Dismissing any officer or employee in circumstances in which [LAPC] incurs 

or agrees to bear redundancy or other costs in excess of £30,000 (thirty 

thousand pounds) in total. 

30. Appointing or dismissing any Director or Chairman. 

31. Amending the Remuneration Policy. 

32. Agreeing to remunerate (by payment of fees, the provision of benefits-in-kind 

or otherwise) any officer of, or consultant to, [LAPC] at a rate in excess of 

£100,000 (one hundred thousand pounds) per annum or increasing the 

remuneration of any such person to a rate in excess of £100,000 (one 

hundred thousand pounds)  per annum. 

33. Agreeing to remunerate (by payment of fees, the provision of benefits-in-kind 

or otherwise) any Independent Director. 

34. Entering into or varying any contract of employment providing for the payment 

of remuneration (including pension and other benefits) in excess of a rate of 

£100,000 (one hundred thousand pounds)  per annum or increasing the 

remuneration of any staff (including pension and other benefits) to a rate in 

excess of £100,000 (one hundred thousand pounds)  per annum. 

35. Instituting, settling or compromising any [material] legal proceedings (other 

than debt recovery proceedings in the ordinary course of business) instituted 

or threatened against [LAPC] or submitting to arbitration or alternative dispute 

resolution any dispute involving [LAPC]. 

36. Making any agreement with any revenue or tax authorities or making any 

claim, disclaimer, election or consent for tax purposes in relation to [LAPC] or 

its business. 

37. Purchasing any housing or commercial unit(s) or land which is situated 

outside of the Council’s administrative area. 

Page 234



27 

Schedule 2 Deed of adherence 

Page 235



28 

AS WITNESS the hands of the parties or their duly authorised representatives 

the day and year first written above 

 

Executed as a deed by affixing the 

common seal of  

THE LONDON BOROUGH OF 

MERTON 

 

In the presence of: 

 

 

………………………. 

Authorised signatory 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Executed as a deed by 

[LAPC] 

acting by …………….. 

 

 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

) 

) 

) 

)………………………….. 

 

Director 

 

 

 

…………………………… 

 

Director/Secretary 

 

  

 

Page 236



Sites Capacity Availability Dependencies Planning Rag

Large Sites Prs Sale AH

Abbotsbury 600 2018-2022 HZ/GLA/CHMP/TfL √ SPD/LDP √ √ √

Leatherhead 250 2019-2024 Appeal at Mole Valley √ Application √ √ √

Civic Wings 70 2020-2024 Morden Regen/Leases √ Morden SPD √ √ √

Medium Development sites

Hallowfield Way 14 2016-2019 SITA/Leases/ownership  √  Application  -  -

Wilson avenue shops 15 2019-2021 Leases/VP/Acquisition √  Application  - √ √

West Barnes Library 21 2015-2017  - √ Application √ √ √

CWCC 20 2016-2019 CC Audit/Lib/GP/Decant √  Application √ √ √

Kenley  Railway 20 2018-2022 P decant/Mϴ/hz √ Morden SPD √ √ √

P3 60 2019-2021 FW masterplan/Alt √ application √ √ √

Total

Potential School sites

Chaucer Centre 40 2018-2020 Asset Review/Decant Q4's √ Application - √ √

Whatley Avenue MAE 20 2016-2019 MAE/Schools/Free sch/Mrt √ Application √ √ √

Worsfold House 55 2016-2018 Schools/Grenfell Lease √ Application  - √ √

Smaller Development Sites

Kenilworth Road 2 2016-2019 Asset review Q4's √ Application √ √ √

Land at Westside Common 1 2016-17 √  Application √

Overall Total 1188

Property Company Sites 

Elm Nursery 24 Units 2016-2018   - √ Application  - √ √

Raleigh Gardens 22 Units 2017-2019 St Marks P lease and refurb √ Application  - √ √

Land at Canons 22 Units 2017-2020 HLF M'Plan √ Cons area  - √ √

Farm Road Church 9 Units 2016-2018
Community use/Church 

lease/VP √ Application  - √ √

Tranche 1 Total 77 Units Total 

9 Units

77 Units

Market Position

Additional Units (Actual)

24 Units

22 Units

22 Units

P
age 237



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

[V.28/09/2016]              SCHEDULE 1   Regulation 2 

 

ARTICLES FOR PRIVATE COMPANIES LIMITED BY 

SHARES 

 
INDEX TO THE ARTICLES 

 

PART 1 

INTERPRETATION AND LIMITATION OF LIABILITY 
 

1. Defined terms 

2. Liability of members 

  

PART 2 

 DIRECTORS  
DIRECTORS’ POWERS AND RESPONSIBILITIES 

 

3. Directors’ general authority 

4. Shareholders’ reserve power 

5. Directors may delegate 

6. Committees 

DECISION-MAKING BY DIRECTORS 

7. Directors to take decisions collectively 

8. Unanimous decisions 

9. Calling a directors’ meeting 

10. Participation in directors’ meetings 

11. Quorum for directors’ meetings 

12. Chairing of directors’ meetings 

13. Casting vote 

14. Conflicts of interest 

15. Records of decisions to be kept 

16. Directors’ discretion to make further rules 

APPOINTMENT OF DIRECTORS 

17. Methods of appointing directors 

18. Termination of director’s appointment 

19. Directors’ remuneration 

20. Directors’ expenses 

 

PART 3 

SHARES AND DISTRIBUTIONS 
SHARES 

21. All shares to be fully paid up 

22. Powers to issue different classes of share 

23. Company not bound by less than absolute interests 

24. Share certificates 

25. Replacement share certificates 

Page 239



 

26. Share transfers 

27. Transmission of shares 

28. Exercise of transmittees’ rights 

29. Transmittees bound by prior notices 

DIVIDENDS AND OTHER DISTRIBUTIONS 

30. Procedure for declaring dividends 

31. Payment of dividends and other distributions 

32. No interest on distributions 

33. Unclaimed distributions 

34. Non-cash distributions 

35. Waiver of distributions 

CAPITALISATION OF PROFITS 

36. Authority to capitalise and appropriation of capitalised sums 

 

PART 4 

DECISION-MAKING BY SHAREHOLDERS 
ORGANISATION OF GENERAL MEETINGS 

37. Attendance and speaking at general meetings 

38. Quorum for general meetings 

39. Chairing general meetings 

40. Attendance and speaking by directors and non-shareholders 

41. Adjournment 

VOTING AT GENERAL MEETINGS 

42. Voting: general 

43. Errors and disputes 

44. Poll votes 

45. Content of proxy notices 

46. Delivery of proxy notices 

47. Amendments to resolutions 

 

PART 5 

ADMINISTRATIVE ARRANGEMENTS 

 
48. Means of communication to be used 

49. Company seals 

50. No right to inspect accounts and other records 

51. Provision for employees on cessation of business 

DIRECTORS’ INDEMNITY AND INSURANCE 

52. Indemnity 

53. Insurance 

 

 

 

 

Page 240



 

PART 1 

INTERPRETATION AND LIMITATION OF LIABILITY 

 
Defined terms 

1. In the articles, unless the context requires otherwise— 

“articles” means the company’s articles of association; 

“bankruptcy” includes individual insolvency proceedings in a jurisdiction other 

than England and Wales or Northern Ireland which have an effect similar to that 

of bankruptcy; 

“chairman” has the meaning given in article 12; 

“chairman of the meeting” has the meaning given in article 39; 

“Companies Acts” means the Companies Acts (as defined in section 2 of the 

Companies Act 2006), in so far as they apply to the company; 

“Council” means the Mayor and Burgesses of the London Borough of Merton 

“Council director” means a director appointed by the Council excluding any 

Independent Director 

“Director” means a director of the company, and includes any person occupying 

the position of director, by whatever name called; 

“distribution recipient” has the meaning given in article 31; 

“document” includes, unless otherwise specified, any document sent or supplied 

in electronic form; 

“electronic form” has the meaning given in section 1168 of the Companies Act 

2006; 

“Executive Director” means a Director that is also an employee of the Company 

“fully paid” in relation to a share, means that the nominal value and any premium 

to be paid to the company in respect of that share have been paid to the company; 

“hard copy form” has the meaning given in section 1168 of the Companies Act 

2006; 

“holder” in relation to shares means the person whose name is entered in the 

register of members as the holder of the shares; 

“instrument” means a document in hard copy form; 

“Officer of the Council” means an officer who is an employee of the Council 

“ordinary resolution” has the meaning given in section 282 of the Companies Act 

2006; 

Page 241



 

“paid” means paid or credited as paid; 

“participate”, in relation to a directors’ meeting, has the meaning given in article 

10; 

“proxy notice” has the meaning given in article 45; 

“shareholder” means a person who is the holder of a share; 

“shares” means shares in the company; 

 “special resolution” has the meaning given in section 283 of the Companies Act 

2006; 

“subsidiary” has the meaning given in section 1159 of the Companies Act 2006; 

“transmittee” means a person entitled to a share by reason of the death or 

bankruptcy of a shareholder or otherwise by operation of law; and 

 “writing” means the representation or reproduction of words, symbols or other 

information in a visible form by any method or combination of methods, whether 

sent or supplied in electronic form or otherwise. 

Unless the context otherwise requires, other words or expressions contained in these 

articles bear the same meaning as in the Companies Act 2006 as in force on the date 

when these articles become binding on the company. 

 

Liability of members 

 

2.   The liability of the members is limited to the amount, if any, unpaid on the 

shares held by them. 

 

PART 2 

DIRECTORS 

DIRECTORS’ POWERS AND RESPONSIBILITIES 

 

Directors’ general authority 

 

3. Subject to the articles, the directors are responsible for the management of the 

company’s business, for which purpose they may exercise all the powers of the 

company. 

 

Shareholders’ reserve power 

 

4.—(1) The shareholders may, by special resolution, direct the directors to take, or 

refrain from taking, specified action. 

(2) No such special resolution invalidates anything which the directors have done 

before the passing of the resolution. 

 

 

Page 242



 

Directors may delegate 

 

5.—(1) Subject to the articles, the directors may delegate any of the powers which are 

conferred on them under the articles— 

(a) to such person or committee; 

(b) by such means (including by power of attorney); 

(c) to such an extent; 

(d) in relation to such matters or territories; and 

(e) on such terms and conditions; 

as they think fit. 

(2) If the directors so specify, any such delegation may authorise further delegation of 

the 

directors’ powers by any person to whom they are delegated. 

(3) The directors may revoke any delegation in whole or part, or alter its terms and 

conditions. 

 

Committees 

 

6.—(1) Committees to which the directors delegate any of their powers must follow 

procedures which are based as far as they are applicable on those provisions of the 

articles which govern the taking of decisions by directors. 

(2) The directors may make rules of procedure for all or any committees, which 

prevail over rules derived from the articles if they are not consistent with them. 

(3) Where a provision of the articles refers to the exercise of a power, authority or 

discretion by the Directors and that power, authority or discretion has been 

delegated by the Directors to a Committee, the provision shall be construed as 

permitting the exercise of the power, authority or discretion by the Committee 

 

DECISION-MAKING BY DIRECTORS 

 

Directors to take decisions collectively 

 

7.—(1) The general rule about decision-making by directors is that any decision of the 

directors must be either a majority decision at a meeting or a decision taken 

inaccordance with article 8. 

(2) If— 

(a) the company only has one director, and 

(b) no provision of the articles requires it to have more than one director, 

the general rule does not apply, and the director may take decisions without regard to 

any of the provisions of the articles relating to directors’ decision-making. 

 

Unanimous decisions 

 

8.—(1) A decision of the directors is taken in accordance with this article when all 

eligible directors indicate to each other by any means that they share a common view 

on a matter. 

(2) Such a decision may take the form of a resolution in writing, copies of which have 

been signed by each eligible director or to which each eligible director has otherwise 

indicated agreement in writing. 

Page 243



 

(3) References in this article to eligible directors are to directors who would have been 

entitled to vote on the matter had it been proposed as a resolution at a directors’ 

meeting. 

(4) A decision may not be taken in accordance with this article if the eligible directors 

would not have formed a quorum at such a meeting. 

 

Calling a directors’ meeting 

 

9.—(1) Any director may call a directors’ meeting by giving notice of the meeting to 

the directors or by authorising the company secretary (if any) to give such notice. 

 (2) Notice of any directors’ meeting must indicate— 

(a) its proposed date and time; 

(b) where it is to take place; and 

(c) if it is anticipated that directors participating in the meeting will not be in the 

same place, how it is proposed that they should communicate with each other 

during the meeting. 

(3) Notice of a directors’ meeting must be given to each director, but need not be in 

writing. 

(4) Notice of a directors’ meeting need not be given to directors who waive their 

entitlement to notice of that meeting, by giving notice to that effect to the company 

not more than 7 days after the date on which the meeting is held. Where such notice is 

given after the meeting has been held, that does not affect the validity of the meeting, 

or of any business conducted at it. 

 

Participation in directors’ meetings 

 

10.—(1) Subject to the articles, directors participate in a directors’ meeting, or part of 

a directors’ meeting, when— 

(a) the meeting has been called and takes place in accordance with the articles, 

and 

(b) they can each communicate to the others any information or opinions they 

have on any particular item of the business of the meeting. 

(2) In determining whether directors are participating in a directors’ meeting, it is 

irrelevant where any director is or how they communicate with each other. 

(3) If all the directors participating in a meeting are not in the same place, they may 

decide that the meeting is to be treated as taking place wherever any of them is. 

 

Quorum for directors’ meetings 

 

11.—(1) At a directors’ meeting, unless a quorum is participating, no proposal is to be 

voted on, except a proposal to call another meeting. 

(2) The quorum for directors’ meetings may be fixed from time to time by a decision 

of the directors, but it must never be less than two (made up of at least one Council 

director and at least one  executive director), and unless otherwise fixed it is two. 

(3) If the total number of directors for the time being is less than the quorum required, 

the directors must not take any decision other than a decision to call a general meeting 

so as to enable the shareholders to appoint further directors. 

(4) A directors’ meeting shall not be quorate if the number of executive directors and 

independent directors attending a meeting or participating in a vote at a meeting 

exceeds the number of Council directors attending or participating in a vote. 

Page 244



 

 

 

 

Chairing of directors’ meetings 

 

12.—(1) The directors may appoint a director to chair their meetings. 

(2) The person so appointed for the time being is known as the chairman. 

(3) The directors may terminate the chairman’s appointment at any time. 

(4) If the chairman is not participating in a directors’ meeting within ten minutes of 

the time at which it was to start, the participating directors must appoint one of 

themselves to chair it. 

 

Casting vote 

 

13.—(1) If the numbers of votes for and against a proposal are equal, the chairman or 

other director chairing the meeting has a casting vote. 

 

(2) Any person appointed in accordance with article 12(4) in place of the Chairman 

shall not have the casting vote in the circumstances described in 13 (1). 

 

(3) Article 13.1 will not apply if, in accordance with the articles, the chairman or other 

director is not to be counted as participating in the decision-making process for 

quorum or voting purposes. 

 

Conflicts of interest 

 

14.—(1) If a proposed decision of the directors is concerned with an actual or 

proposed transaction or arrangement with the company in which a director is 

interested, that director is not to be counted as participating in the decision-making 

process for quorum or voting purposes. 

 (2) But if paragraph (3) applies, a director who is interested in an actual or proposed 

transaction or arrangement with the company is to be counted as participating in the 

decision-making process for quorum and voting purposes. 

(3) This paragraph applies when— 

(a) the company by ordinary resolution disapplies the provision of the articles 

which would otherwise prevent a director from being counted as participating in 

the decision-making process; 

(b) the director’s interest cannot reasonably be regarded as likely to give rise to 

a conflict of interest; or 

(c) the director’s conflict of interest arises from a permitted cause. 

(4) For the purposes of this article, the following are permitted causes— 

(a) a guarantee given, or to be given, by or to a director in respect of an 

obligation incurred by or on behalf of the company or any of its subsidiaries; 

(b) subscription, or an agreement to subscribe, for shares or other securities of 

the company or any of its subsidiaries, or to underwrite, sub-underwrite, or 

guarantee subscription for any such shares or securities; and 

(c) arrangements pursuant to which benefits are made available to employees 

and directors or former employees and directors of the company or any of its 

subsidiaries which do not provide special benefits for directors or former 

directors. 

Page 245



 

(5) For the purposes of this article, references to proposed decisions and decision-

making processes include any directors’ meeting or part of a directors’ meeting. 

(6) Subject to paragraph (7), if a question arises at a meeting of directors or of a 

committee of directors as to the right of a director to participate in the meeting (or part 

of the meeting) for voting or quorum purposes, the question may, before the 

conclusion of the meeting, be referred to the chairman whose ruling in relation to any 

director other than the chairman is to be final and conclusive. 

(7) If any question as to the right to participate in the meeting (or part of the meeting) 

should arise in respect of the chairman, the question is to be decided by a decision of 

the directors at that meeting, for which purpose the chairman is not to be counted as 

participating in the meeting (or that part of the meeting) for voting or quorum 

purposes. 

 

Authorisation of directors' conflicts of interest 

 

(8) For the purposes of section 175 of the Companies Act, shareholders shall have the 

power to authorise any matter which would or might otherwise constitute or give rise 

to a breach by a director of the duty to avoid conflicts of interest set out in that section 

of the Companies Act.  Any reference in these articles to a conflict of interest includes 

a conflict of interest and duty and a conflict of duties.   

 

(9) Unless otherwise determined by the shareholders, any authorisation of a matter 

under article 14.8 shall extend to any actual or potential conflict of interest of the 

director in question and any other interested director (together the "Interested 

Directors") which may reasonably be expected to arise out of the matter so authorised. 

 

(10) Any authorisation of a matter under article 14.8 shall be on such terms and/or 

conditions as the shareholders may determine, whether at the time such authorisation 

is given or subsequently and may be varied or terminated by the shareholders at any 

time. Such terms or conditions may include (without limitation) terms and conditions 

as to the duration, renewal and/or revocation of the authorisation, and/or the exclusion 

of the Interested Directors from all information and discussion of the matter in 

question.  A director shall comply with any obligations imposed on him by the 

shareholders pursuant to any such authorisation. 

 

 

(11) A director, notwithstanding his office, may be a director or other officer of, 

employed by, a member of or otherwise interested (including by the holding of 

shares) in, the Council or in a shareholder who has appointed him as a director of the 

Company, or any other member of such shareholder's group, or an employee of 

another local authority placed at the disposal of the Council [pursuant to section 113 

of the Local Government Act 1972], and no authorisation under article 14.8 shall be 

necessary in respect of any such interest. 

 

(12) Any director shall be entitled from time to time to disclose to a shareholder that 

appointed that director such information concerning the business and affairs of the 

company as he shall at his discretion see fit. 

 

Page 246



 

(13) If a director receives or has received any information otherwise than by virtue of 

his position as a director of the company and in respect of which he owes a duty of 

confidentiality to another person, the director is under no obligation to: 

 

14.13(1) disclose any such information to the company, the directors or any 

other director or employee of the company; or 

 

14.13(2) use or apply any such information in connection with the 

performance of his duties as a director; 

 

provided that to the extent that such duty of confidentiality arises out of a situation or 

relationship which would or might otherwise constitute or give rise to a breach by the 

director of the duty to avoid conflicts of interest set out in section 175 of the 

Companies Act, this article shall apply only if such situation or relationship has been 

authorised by the shareholders under article 14(8). 

 

(14) A director shall not, save as otherwise agreed by him, be accountable to the 

company for any benefit which he (or a person connected with him) derives from any 

matter authorised by the directors under article 14.8 and any contract, transaction or 

arrangement relating thereto shall not be liable to be avoided on the grounds of any 

such benefit." 

 

 

Records of decisions to be kept 

 

15. The directors must ensure that the company keeps a record, in writing, for at least 

10 years from the date of the decision recorded, of every unanimous or majority 

decision taken by the directors. 

 

Directors’ discretion to make further rules 

 

16. Subject to the articles, the directors may make any rule which they think fit about 

how they take decisions, and about how such rules are to be recorded or 

communicated to directors. 

 

 

APPOINTMENT OF DIRECTORS 

 

Methods of appointing directors 

 

17.—(1) Any person who is willing to act as a director, and is permitted by law to do 

so, may be appointed to be a director by ordinary resolution.  

(2) Notwithstanding any other provision of these articles, the holder or holders of a 

majority in nominal value of the issued ordinary shares in the capital of the company 

may, for as long as it is a member of the company, at any time and from time to time: 

 

(a) appoint any person to be a director (provided that any such appointment does not 

cause the number of directors to exceed a number fixed by or in accordance with 

these articles as the maximum number of directors); or 

 

Page 247



 

(b) remove any director from office, 

 

and every such appointment or removal shall be effected by notice in writing to the 

company and shall take effect immediately (or on such later date, if any, specified in 

the notice).  Any such notice of appointment or removal may consist of several 

documents in similar form, each signed by or on behalf of one or more holders. 
 

(3) For the purposes of paragraph (2), where 2 or more shareholders die in 

circumstances rendering it uncertain who was the last to die, a younger shareholder is 

deemed to have survived an older shareholder. 

 

Termination of director’s appointment 

 

18. A person ceases to be a director as soon as— 

(a) that person ceases to be a director by virtue of any provision of the Companies 

Act 2006 or is prohibited from being a director by law; 

(b) a bankruptcy order is made against that person; 

(c) a composition is made with that person’s creditors generally in satisfaction of 

that person’s debts; 

(d) a registered medical practitioner who is treating that person gives a written 

opinion to the company stating that that person has become physically or 

mentally incapable of acting as a director and may remain so for more than three 

months; 

(e) notification is received by the company from the director that the director is 

resigning from office, and such resignation has taken effect in accordance with its 

terms. 

(f) that a person ceases to be an Officer of the Council. 

(g) the Company receives written notice to that effect from the Council. 

 

Directors’ remuneration 

 

19.—(1) Directors may undertake any services for the company that the directors 

decide. 

(2) Directors are entitled to remuneration as agreed by the board of directors and the 

agreed remuneration policy— 

(a) for their services to the company as directors, and 

(b) for any other service which they undertake for the company. 

(3) Subject to the articles, a director’s remuneration may— 

(a) take any form, and 

(b) include any arrangements in connection with the payment of a pension, 

allowance or gratuity, or any death, sickness or disability benefits, to or in respect 

of that director. 

(4) Unless the directors decide otherwise, directors’ remuneration accrues from day to 

day. 

(5) Unless the directors decide otherwise, directors are not accountable to the 

company for any remuneration which they receive as directors or other officers or 

employees of the company’s subsidiaries or of any other body corporate in which the 

company is interested. 

 

 

Page 248



 

 

Directors’ expenses 

 

20. The company may pay any reasonable expenses which the directors properly incur 

in connection with their attendance at— 

(a) meetings of directors or committees of directors, 

(b) general meetings, or 

(c) separate meetings of the holders of any class of shares or of debentures of the 

company, or otherwise in connection with the exercise of their powers and the 

discharge of their responsibilities in relation to the company. 

 

 

PART 3 

SHARES AND DISTRIBUTIONS 

SHARES 

 

 

All shares to be fully paid up 

 

21.—(1) No share is to be issued for less than the aggregate of its nominal value and 

any premium to be paid to the company in consideration for its issue. 

(2) This does not apply to shares taken on the formation of the company by the 

subscribers to the company’s memorandum. 

 

Powers to issue different classes of share 

 

22.—(1) Subject to the articles, but without prejudice to the rights attached to any 

existing share, the company may issue shares with such rights or restrictions as may 

be determined by ordinary resolution. 

(2) The company may issue shares which are to be redeemed, or are liable to be 

redeemed at the option of the company or the holder, and the directors may determine 

the terms, conditions and manner of redemption of any such shares. 

 

Company not bound by less than absolute interests 

 

23. Except as required by law, no person is to be recognised by the company as 

holding any share upon any trust, and except as otherwise required by law or the 

articles, the company is not in any way to be bound by or recognise any interest in a 

share other than the holder’s absolute ownership of it and all the rights attaching to it. 

 

Share certificates 

 

24.—(1) The company must issue each shareholder, free of charge, with one or more 

certificates in respect of the shares which that shareholder holds. 

(2) Every certificate must specify— 

(a) in respect of how many shares, of what class, it is issued; 

(b) the nominal value of those shares; 

(c) that the shares are fully paid; and 

Page 249



 

(d) any distinguishing numbers assigned to them. 

(3) No certificate may be issued in respect of shares of more than one class. 

(4) If more than one person holds a share, only one certificate may be issued in 

respect of it. 

(5) Certificates must— 

(a) have affixed to them the company’s common seal, or 

(b) be otherwise executed in accordance with the Companies Acts. 

 

Replacement share certificates 

 

25.—(1) If a certificate issued in respect of a shareholder’s shares is— 

(a) damaged or defaced, or 

(b) said to be lost, stolen or destroyed, that shareholder is entitled to be issued 

with a replacement certificate in respect of the same shares. 

(2) A shareholder exercising the right to be issued with such a replacement 

certificate— 

 

(a) may at the same time exercise the right to be issued with a single certificate or 

separate certificates; 

(b) must return the certificate which is to be replaced to the company if it is 

damaged or defaced; and 

(c) must comply with such conditions as to evidence, indemnity and the payment 

of a reasonable fee as the directors decide. 

 

 

Share transfers 

 

26.—(1) Shares may be transferred by means of an instrument of transfer in any usual 

form or any other form approved by the directors, which is executed by or on behalf 

of the transferor. 

(2) No fee may be charged for registering any instrument of transfer or other 

document relating to or affecting the title to any share. 

(3) The company may retain any instrument of transfer which is registered. 

(4) The transferor remains the holder of a share until the transferee’s name is entered 

in the register of members as holder of it. 

 

Transmission of shares 

 

27.—(1) If title to a share passes to a transmittee, the company may only recognise 

the transmittee as having any title to that share. 

 

 (2) A transmittee who produces such evidence of entitlement to shares as the 

directors may properly require— 

(a) may, subject to the articles, choose either to become the holder of those shares 

or to have them transferred to another person, and 

(b) subject to the articles, and pending any transfer of the shares to another 

person, has the same rights as the holder had. 

(3) But transmittees do not have the right to attend or vote at a general meeting, or 

agree to a proposed written resolution, in respect of shares to which they are entitled, 

Page 250



 

by reason of the holder’s death or bankruptcy or otherwise, unless they become the 

holders of those shares. 

 

Exercise of transmittees’ rights 

 

28.—(1) Transmittees who wish to become the holders of shares to which they have 

become entitled must notify the company in writing of that wish. 

(2) If the transmittee wishes to have a share transferred to another person, the 

transmittee must execute an instrument of transfer in respect of it. 

(3) Any transfer made or executed under this article is to be treated as if it were made 

or 

executed by the person from whom the transmittee has derived rights in respect of the 

share, and as if the event which gave rise to the transmission had not occurred. 

 

Transmittees bound by prior notices 

 

29. If a notice is given to a shareholder in respect of shares and a transmittee is 

entitled to those shares, the transmittee is bound by the notice if it was given to the 

shareholder before the transmittee’s name has been entered in the register of 

members. 

 

 

DIVIDENDS AND OTHER DISTRIBUTIONS 

 

Procedure for declaring dividends 

 

30.—(1) The company may by ordinary resolution declare dividends, and the 

directors may decide to pay interim dividends. 

(2) A dividend must not be declared unless the directors have made a 

recommendation as to its amount. Such a dividend must not exceed the amount 

recommended by the directors. 

(3) No dividend may be declared or paid unless it is in accordance with shareholders’ 

respective rights. 

(4) Unless the shareholders’ resolution to declare or directors’ decision to pay a 

dividend, or the terms on which shares are issued, specify otherwise, it must be paid 

by reference to each shareholder’s holding of shares on the date of the resolution or 

decision to declare or pay it. 

(5) If the company’s share capital is divided into different classes, no interim dividend 

may be paid on shares carrying deferred or non-preferred rights if, at the time of 

payment, any preferential dividend is in arrear. 

(6) The directors may pay at intervals any dividend payable at a fixed rate if it appears 

to them that the profits available for distribution justify the payment. 

(7) If the directors act in good faith, they do not incur any liability to the holders of 

shares 

conferring preferred rights for any loss they may suffer by the lawful payment of an 

interim dividend on shares with deferred or non-preferred rights. 

 

Payment of dividends and other distributions 

 

Page 251



 

31.—(1) Where a dividend or other sum which is a distribution is payable in respect 

of a share, it must be paid by one or more of the following means— 

(a) transfer to a bank or building society account specified by the distribution 

recipient either in writing or as the directors may otherwise decide; 

(b) sending a cheque made payable to the distribution recipient by post to the 

distribution recipient at the distribution recipient’s registered address (if the 

distribution recipient is a holder of the share), or (in any other case) to an address 

specified by the distribution recipient either in writing or as the directors may 

otherwise decide; 

(c) sending a cheque made payable to such person by post to such person at such 

address as the distribution recipient has specified either in writing or as the 

directors may otherwise decide; or 

(d) any other means of payment as the directors agree with the distribution 

recipient either in writing or by such other means as the directors decide. 

(2) In the articles, “the distribution recipient” means, in respect of a share in respect of 

which a dividend or other sum is payable— 

(a) the holder of the share; or 

(b) if the share has two or more joint holders, whichever of them is named first in 

the register of members; or 

(c) if the holder is no longer entitled to the share by reason of death or 

bankruptcy, or 

otherwise by operation of law, the transmittee. 

 

No interest on distributions 

 

32. The company may not pay interest on any dividend or other sum payable in 

respect of a share unless otherwise provided by— 

(a) the terms on which the share was issued, or 

(b) the provisions of another agreement between the holder of that share and the 

company. 

 

Unclaimed distributions 

 

33.—(1) All dividends or other sums which are— 

(a) payable in respect of shares, and 

(b) unclaimed after having been declared or become payable, 

may be invested or otherwise made use of by the directors for the benefit of the 

company until claimed. 

(2) The payment of any such dividend or other sum into a separate account does not 

make the company a trustee in respect of it. 

(3) If— 

(a) twelve years have passed from the date on which a dividend or other sum 

became due for payment, and 

(b) the distribution recipient has not claimed it, 

the distribution recipient is no longer entitled to that dividend or other sum and it 

ceases to remain owing by the company. 

 

Non-cash distributions 

 

Page 252



 

34.—(1) Subject to the terms of issue of the share in question, the company may, by 

ordinary resolution on the recommendation of the directors, decide to pay all or part 

of a dividend or other distribution payable in respect of a share by transferring non-

cash assets of equivalent value (including, without limitation, shares or other 

securities in any company). 

(2) For the purposes of paying a non-cash distribution, the directors may make 

whatever arrangements they think fit, including, where any difficulty arises regarding 

the distribution— 

 

 (a) fixing the value of any assets; 

(b) paying cash to any distribution recipient on the basis of that value in order to 

adjust the rights of recipients; and 

(c) vesting any assets in trustees. 

 

Waiver of distributions 

 

35. Distribution recipients may waive their entitlement to a dividend or other 

distribution 

payable in respect of a share by giving the company notice in writing to that effect, 

but if— 

(a) the share has more than one holder, or 

(b) more than one person is entitled to the share, whether by reason of the death 

or 

bankruptcy of one or more joint holders, or otherwise,  

the notice is not effective unless it is expressed to be given, and signed, by all the 

holders or persons otherwise entitled to the share. 

 

 

 

CAPITALISATION OF PROFITS 

 

Authority to capitalise and appropriation of capitalised sums 

 

36.—(1) Subject to the articles, the directors may, if they are so authorised by an 

ordinary resolution— 

(a) decide to capitalise any profits of the company (whether or not they are 

available for distribution) which are not required for paying a preferential 

dividend, or any sum standing to the credit of the company’s share premium 

account or capital redemption reserve; and 

(b) appropriate any sum which they so decide to capitalise (a “capitalised sum”) 

to the persons who would have been entitled to it if it were distributed by way of 

dividend (the “persons entitled”) and in the same proportions. 

(2) Capitalised sums must be applied— 

(a) on behalf of the persons entitled, and 

(b) in the same proportions as a dividend would have been distributed to them. 

(3) Any capitalised sum may be applied in paying up new shares of a nominal amount 

equal to the capitalised sum which are then allotted credited as fully paid to the 

persons entitled or as they may direct. 

Page 253



 

(4) A capitalised sum which was appropriated from profits available for distribution 

may be applied in paying up new debentures of the company which are then allotted 

credited as fully paid to the persons entitled or as they may direct. 

(5) Subject to the articles the directors may— 

(a) apply capitalised sums in accordance with paragraphs (3) and (4) partly in one 

way and partly in another; 

(b) make such arrangements as they think fit to deal with shares or debentures 

becoming distributable in fractions under this article (including the issuing of 

fractional certificates or the making of cash payments); and 

(c) authorise any person to enter into an agreement with the company on behalf of 

all the persons entitled which is binding on them in respect of the allotment of 

shares and debentures to them under this article. 

 

 

PART 4 

DECISION-MAKING BY SHAREHOLDERS 

ORGANISATION OF GENERAL MEETINGS 

 

Attendance and speaking at general meetings 

 

37.—(1) A person is able to exercise the right to speak at a general meeting when that 

person is in a position to communicate to all those attending the meeting, during the 

meeting, any information or opinions which that person has on the business of the 

meeting. 

(2) A person is able to exercise the right to vote at a general meeting when— 

(a) that person is able to vote, during the meeting, on resolutions put to the vote 

at the meeting, and  

(b) that person’s vote can be taken into account in determining whether or not 

such resolutions are passed at the same time as the votes of all the other persons 

attending the meeting. 

(3) The directors may make whatever arrangements they consider appropriate to 

enable those attending a general meeting to exercise their rights to speak or vote at it. 

(4) In determining attendance at a general meeting, it is immaterial whether any two 

or more members attending it are in the same place as each other. 

(5) Two or more persons who are not in the same place as each other attend a general 

meeting if their circumstances are such that if they have (or were to have) rights to 

speak and vote at that meeting, they are (or would be) able to exercise them. 

 

Quorum for general meetings 

 

38. No business other than the appointment of the chairman of the meeting is to be 

transacted at a general meeting if the persons attending it do not constitute a quorum. 

 

Chairing general meetings 

 

39.—(1) If the directors have appointed a chairman, the chairman shall chair general 

meetings if present and willing to do so. 

Page 254



 

(2) If the directors have not appointed a chairman, or if the chairman is unwilling to 

chair the meeting or is not present within ten minutes of the time at which a meeting 

was due to start— 

(a) the directors present, or 

(b) (if no directors are present), the meeting, 

must appoint a director or shareholder to chair the meeting, and the appointment of 

the chairman of the meeting must be the first business of the meeting. 

(3) The person chairing a meeting in accordance with this article is referred to as “the 

chairman of the meeting”. 

 

 

Attendance and speaking by directors and non-shareholders 

 

40.—(1) Directors may attend and speak at general meetings, whether or not they are 

shareholders. 

(2) The chairman of the meeting may permit other persons who are not— 

(a) shareholders of the company, or 

(b) otherwise entitled to exercise the rights of shareholders in relation to general 

meetings, 

to attend and speak at a general meeting. 

 

Adjournment 

 

41.—(1) If the persons attending a general meeting within half an hour of the time at 

which the meeting was due to start do not constitute a quorum, or if during a meeting 

a quorum ceases to be present, the chairman of the meeting must adjourn it. 

(2) The chairman of the meeting may adjourn a general meeting at which a quorum is 

present if— 

(a) the meeting consents to an adjournment, or 

(b) it appears to the chairman of the meeting that an adjournment is necessary to 

protect the safety of any person attending the meeting or ensure that the business 

of the meeting is conducted in an orderly manner. 

(3) The chairman of the meeting must adjourn a general meeting if directed to do so 

by the meeting. 

(4) When adjourning a general meeting, the chairman of the meeting must— 

(a) either specify the time and place to which it is adjourned or state that it is to 

continue at a time and place to be fixed by the directors, and 

(b) have regard to any directions as to the time and place of any adjournment 

which have been given by the meeting. 

(5) If the continuation of an adjourned meeting is to take place more than 14 days 

after it was adjourned, the company must give at least 7 clear days’ notice of it (that 

is, excluding the day of the adjourned meeting and the day on which the notice is 

given)— 

(a) to the same persons to whom notice of the company’s general meetings is 

required to be given, and 

(b) containing the same information which such notice is required to contain. 

(6) No business may be transacted at an adjourned general meeting which could not 

properly have been transacted at the meeting if the adjournment had not taken place. 

 

 

Page 255



 

 

 

 

 

 

VOTING AT GENERAL MEETINGS 

 

Voting: general 

 

42. A resolution put to the vote of a general meeting must be decided on a show of 

hands unless a poll is duly demanded in accordance with the articles. 

 

 

 

Errors and disputes 

 

43.—(1) No objection may be raised to the qualification of any person voting at a 

general 

meeting except at the meeting or adjourned meeting at which the vote objected to is 

tendered, and every vote not disallowed at the meeting is valid. 

(2) Any such objection must be referred to the chairman of the meeting, whose 

decision is final. 

 

Poll votes 

 

44.—(1) A poll on a resolution may be demanded— 

(a) in advance of the general meeting where it is to be put to the vote, or 

(b) at a general meeting, either before a show of hands on that resolution or 

immediately after the result of a show of hands on that resolution is declared. 

(2) A poll may be demanded by— 

(a) the chairman of the meeting; 

(b) the directors; 

(c) two or more persons having the right to vote on the resolution; or 

(d) a person or persons representing not less than one tenth of the total voting 

rights of all the shareholders having the right to vote on the resolution. 

(3) A demand for a poll may be withdrawn if— 

(a) the poll has not yet been taken, and 

(b) the chairman of the meeting consents to the withdrawal. 

(4) Polls must be taken immediately and in such manner as the chairman of the 

meeting directs. 

 

Content of proxy notices 

 

45.—(1) Proxies may only validly be appointed by a notice in writing (a “proxy 

notice”) 

which— 

(a) states the name and address of the shareholder appointing the proxy; 

(b) identifies the person appointed to be that shareholder’s proxy and the general 

meeting in relation to which that person is appointed; 

Page 256



 

(c) is signed by or on behalf of the shareholder appointing the proxy, or is 

authenticated in such manner as the directors may determine; and 

(d) is delivered to the company in accordance with the articles and any 

instructions contained in the notice of the general meeting to which they relate. 

(2) The company may require proxy notices to be delivered in a particular form, and 

may specify different forms for different purposes. 

(3) Proxy notices may specify how the proxy appointed under them is to vote (or that 

the proxy is to abstain from voting) on one or more resolutions. 

(4) Unless a proxy notice indicates otherwise, it must be treated as— 

(a) allowing the person appointed under it as a proxy discretion as to how to vote 

on any ancillary or procedural resolutions put to the meeting, and 

(b) appointing that person as a proxy in relation to any adjournment of the general 

meeting to which it relates as well as the meeting itself. 

 

Delivery of proxy notices 

 

46.—(1) A person who is entitled to attend, speak or vote (either on a show of hands 

or on a poll) at a general meeting remains so entitled in respect of that meeting or any 

adjournment of it, even though a valid proxy notice has been delivered to the 

company by or on behalf of that person. 

(2) An appointment under a proxy notice may be revoked by delivering to the 

company a notice in writing given by or on behalf of the person by whom or on 

whose behalf the proxy notice was given. 

(3) A notice revoking a proxy appointment only takes effect if it is delivered before 

the start of the meeting or adjourned meeting to which it relates. 

(4) If a proxy notice is not executed by the person appointing the proxy, it must be 

accompanied by written evidence of the authority of the person who executed it to 

execute it on the appointor’s behalf. 

 

Amendments to resolutions 

 

47.—(1) An ordinary resolution to be proposed at a general meeting may be amended 

by ordinary resolution if— 

(a) notice of the proposed amendment is given to the company in writing by a 

person entitled to vote at the general meeting at which it is to be proposed not less 

than 48 hours before the meeting is to take place (or such later time as the 

chairman of the meeting may determine), and  

(b) the proposed amendment does not, in the reasonable opinion of the chairman 

of the meeting, materially alter the scope of the resolution. 

(2) A special resolution to be proposed at a general meeting may be amended by 

ordinary resolution, if— 

(a) the chairman of the meeting proposes the amendment at the general meeting 

at which the resolution is to be proposed, and 

(b) the amendment does not go beyond what is necessary to correct a 

grammatical or other non-substantive error in the resolution. 

(3) If the chairman of the meeting, acting in good faith, wrongly decides that an 

amendment to a resolution is out of order, the chairman’s error does not invalidate the 

vote on that resolution. 

 

 

Page 257



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

PART 5 

ADMINISTRATIVE ARRANGEMENTS 

Means of communication to be used 

 

48.—(1) Subject to the articles, anything sent or supplied by or to the company under 

the articles may be sent or supplied in any way in which the Companies Act 2006 

provides for documents or information which are authorised or required by any 

provision of that Act to be sent or supplied by or to the company. 

(2) Subject to the articles, any notice or document to be sent or supplied to a director 

in 

connection with the taking of decisions by directors may also be sent or supplied by 

the means by which that director has asked to be sent or supplied with such notices or 

documents for the time being. 

(3) A director may agree with the company that notices or documents sent to that 

director in a particular way are to be deemed to have been received within a specified 

time of their being sent, and for the specified time to be less than 48 hours. 

 

Company seals 

 

49.—(1) Any common seal may only be used by the authority of the directors. 

(2) The directors may decide by what means and in what form any common seal is to 

be used. 

(3) Unless otherwise decided by the directors, if the company has a common seal and 

it is affixed to a document, the document must also be signed by at least one 

authorised person in the presence of a witness who attests the signature. 

(4) For the purposes of this article, an authorised person is— 

(a) any director of the company; 

(b) the company secretary (if any); or 

(c) any person authorised by the directors for the purpose of signing documents to 

which the common seal is applied. 

 

No right to inspect accounts and other records 

 

50. The Council shall be entitled to inspect any of the company’s accounting or other 

records or documents upon request.. 

 

Provision for employees on cessation of business 

 

51. The directors may decide to make provision for the benefit of persons employed 

or formerly employed by the company or any of its subsidiaries (other than a director 

or former director or shadow director) in connection with the cessation or transfer to 

any person of the whole or part of the undertaking of the company or that subsidiary. 

 

Page 258



 

52. Objects 

 

The Company’s objects are unrestricted. The Company will review alternative 

housing tenures, such as homelessness, subject to viability. 

 

 

 

DIRECTORS’ INDEMNITY AND INSURANCE 

 

Indemnity 

 

53.—(1) Subject to paragraph (2), a relevant director of the Company or an associated 

company may be indemnified out of the Company’s assets against— 

(a) any liability incurred by that director in connection with any negligence, 

default, breach of duty or breach of trust in relation to the Company or an 

associated company, 

(b) any liability incurred by that director in connection with the activities of the 

Company or an associated company in its capacity as a trustee of an occupational 

pension scheme (as defined in section 235(6) of the Companies Act 2006), 

(c) any other liability incurred by that director as an officer of the Company or an 

associated company. 

(2) This article does not authorise any indemnity which would be prohibited or 

rendered void by any provision of the Companies Acts or by any other provision of 

law. 

(3) In this article— 

(a) companies are associated if one is a subsidiary of the other or both are 

subsidiaries of the same body corporate, and 

(b) a “relevant director” means any director or former director of the company or 

an associated company. 

 

Insurance 

 

54.—(1) The directors may decide to purchase and maintain insurance, at the expense 

of the company, for the benefit of any relevant director in respect of any relevant loss. 

(2) In this article— 

(a) a “relevant director” means any director or former director of the company or 

an associated company, 

(b) a “relevant loss” means any loss or liability which has been or may be 

incurred by a relevant director in connection with that director’s duties or powers 

in relation to the company, any associated company or any pension fund or 

employees’ share scheme of the company or associated company, and 

(c) companies are associated if one is a subsidiary of the other or both are 

subsidiaries of the same body corporate. 

Page 259



This page is intentionally left blank



Committee: Council
Date: 12 April 2017 
Subject:  Changes to Membership of Committees and related matters
Lead officer: Ged Curran, Chief Executive
Contact officer: Democratic Services, 020 8545 3357 - democratic.services@merton.gov.uk  

Recommendations:  
1. That the Council notes the changes to the membership of Committees that were 

approved under delegated authority since the last meeting of the Council.
2. That Council appoints Councillor John Bowcott as Vice-Chair of the Heritage and 

Design Working Group.

1 PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
1.1. This report asks Council note changes made to committee membership under 

delegated authority since the publication of the agenda for the Council meeting 
held on 1 February.

1.2. The report asks Council to appoint Councillor John Bowcott Vice-Chair of the 
Heritage and Design Working Group. 

2 DETAILS
2.1. The following membership changes have been made under delegated authority in 

accordance with section 1.4 of part 3F of the Constitution:

Page 261

Agenda Item 15

mailto:democratic.services@merton.gov.uk


2.2 Following the changes in allocation of seats to committees, agreed at Council on 
1 February, Councillor Abdul Latif resigned his seat on the Heritage and Design 
Working Group.  As he was the Vice-Chair, Council is asked to agree the 
appointment of Councillor John Bowcott as Vice-Chair.  

3 CONSULTATION UNDERTAKEN OR PROPOSED
3.1 None for the purposes of this report. 

4 FINANCIAL, RESOURCE AND PROPERTY IMPLICATIONS
4.1. None for the purposes of this report.

5 LEGAL AND STATUTORY IMPLICATIONS
5.1. The information regarding membership changes in this report complies with legal 

and statutory requirements.  Council is required to accept nominations made by 
political groups.

6 HUMAN RIGHTS, EQUALITIES AND COMMUNITY COHESION 
IMPLICATIONS

6.1. None for the purposes of this report.

7 CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS

Committee Member 
resigning

Replaced by Date

Sustainable 
Communities Overview 
and Scrutiny Panel

Abdul Latif John Bowcott 25.01.17

Heritage and Design 
Working Group

Abdul Latif n/a 02.02.17

Planning Applications 
Committee

Laxmi Attawar Judy Saunders 03.02.17

Sustainable 
Communities Overview 
and Scrutiny Panel

John Bowcott Abdul Latif 23.02.17

Overview and Scrutiny 
Commission

Imran Uddin Mike Brunt 06.03.17

Sustainable 
Communities Overview 
and Scrutiny Panel

Janice Howard Stephen Crowe 08.03.17

Planning Applications 
Committee

Judy Saunders Laxmi Attawar 16.03.17

Sustainable 
Communities Overview 
and Scrutiny Panel

Stephen Crowe Janice Howard 16.03.17

Page 262



7.1. None for the purposes of this report.

8 RISK MANAGEMENT AND HEALTH AND SAFETY IMPLICATIONS
8.1. N/A

9 APPENDICES – THE FOLLOWING DOCUMENTS ARE TO BE PUBLISHED 
WITH THIS REPORT AND FORM PART OF THE REPORT

9.1 None.

10 BACKGROUND PAPERS
Documents from the authorised officer confirming approval of the membership 
changes agreed under delegated authority.

Page 263



This page is intentionally left blank



Committee: Council
Date: 12 April 2017 
Subject:  Petitions
Lead officer: Paul Evans, Assistant Director, Corporate Governance.
Lead member: Leader of the Council, Councillor Stephen Alambritis.
Contact officer: Democratic Services, democratic.services@merton.gov.uk   

Recommendation: 
That Council receive petitions (if any) in accordance with Part 4A, paragraph 18.1 of 
the Council’s Constitution.

1 PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
1.1. This report invites Council to receive petitions in accordance with Part 4A, 

paragraph 18.1 of the Council’s Constitution.
2 DETAILS
2.1. At the meeting held on 1 February 2017, no petitions were submitted.  
2.2. Members are invited to present petitions at this meeting, and a response will be 

provided to the next Council meeting on 12 July 2017.
3 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS
3.1. None for the purposes of this report.
4 CONSULTATION UNDERTAKEN OR PROPOSED
4.1. None for the purpose of this report.
5 TIMETABLE
5.1. None for the purpose of this report.
6 FINANCIAL, RESOURCE AND PROPERTY IMPLICATIONS
6.1. None for the purpose of this report.
7 LEGAL AND STATUTORY IMPLICATIONS
7.1. None for the purpose of this report.
8 HUMAN RIGHTS, EQUALITIES AND COMMUNITY COHESION 

IMPLICATIONS
8.1. None for the purpose of this report.
9 CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS
9.1. None for the purpose of this report.
10 RISK MANAGEMENT AND HEALTH AND SAFETY IMPLICATIONS
11 APPENDICES
11.1. None.
12 BACKGROUND PAPERS

Page 265

Agenda Item 16

mailto:democratic.services@merton.gov.uk


12.1. None.

Page 266



COUNCIL 
Date: 12 April 2017
Wards: Cannon Hill; St. Helier

Subject:  Morden Leisure Centre 
Lead officer: Christine Parsloe, Leisure & Culture Development Manager
Lead members: Councillor Nick Draper, Cabinet Member for Community & Culture
Contact officer: Christine Parsloe, Leisure & Culture Development Manager

Recommendations: 
1. To approve £2.708m of Merton’s strategic Community Infrastructure Levy funding 

to be used towards the provision of the new Morden Leisure Centre project.
2. To increase the Morden Leisure Centre project capital scheme from £11 million to 

£13.708 million, this increase funded by Community Infrastructure Levy 
contributions of £2.708 million.

1 PURPOSE OF REPORT 
1.1. The purpose of this report is to approve £2.708m of Merton’s strategic Community 

Infrastructure Levy funding to be used towards the provision of the new Morden 
Leisure Centre project and to add this to the Council’s Morden Leisure Centre 
project capital scheme budget of £11 million to create a new total project budget 
of £13.708m.

2 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
Morden Leisure Centre (MLC)

2.1. The Council set aside £11m to replace the existing Morden Park Pools (Capital 
Programme, 2010). A decision was taken in 2014 to create a new leisure centre at 
Morden and, once this was open, to demolish the existing facility and reinstate the 
landscape.

2.2. The outcome of public consultations set priorities for facilities, and these were 
used by the professional design and technical team to produce plans for  
approval. Planning approval was gained in June 2016 and a construction 
company was appointed for a two-stage design and build contractual 
arrangement. 

2.3. We knew in May 2016 that there were some costs that were to be incurred above 
and beyond the £11m on this project (due to c.£0.5m on furniture, fixtures and 
equipment), we are now clearer that there are other increased costs that we were 
not able to predict at that time.  The report to Cabinet in May 2016 identified that 
we were working to achieve as much as possible within the £11m but also stated 
that:

Page 267

Agenda Item 18



“…It should be stressed that the pricing response received from any given 
Supplier does not reflect the anticipated final Contract value, as this is 
developed in the second stage of the tender process …”1

2.4. As a result of increased costs (see Table 4), the project team have worked with 
Greenwich Leisure Limited (GLL) as the incumbent operator for MLC and Merton 
Officers, always guided by the community’s expressed priorities to consider a 
number of options (see Table 6). Of these Option A1 stands out as being optimal 
in giving the best facility mix to meet the community’s needs whilst providing 
potential for the best revenue stream for the Council.  This solution requires an 
additional capital investment to the project of £2,708,000.
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)

2.5. Since Merton Council started to collect Merton’s Community Infrastructure Levy 
(CIL) in April 2014, the Council has accumulated nearly £5million in CIL receipts 
to spend on infrastructure.  CIL regulations have been subject to frequent change 
since their inception, but Government continues to encourage council’s to use the 
levy towards priority infrastructure projects. 

2.6. This report recommends that £2.708m of Merton’s strategic CIL is allocated to the 
Morden Leisure Centre project. This project is considered the highest priority for 
investment from CIL funding, is a significant infrastructure project that is approved 
for delivery, is ready to go on site and is requesting this investment to spend 
during 2017-18.

3 DETAIL 
Morden Leisure Centre Construction (MLC)

3.1. The appointed new MLC contractor, Pellikaan Construction Limited, have been 
developing the design and securing sub-contractors indicative prices in order to 
submit the Second Stage Tender Price with the aim of producing a design that 
can be built for the lowest possible capital cost, whilst still being in accordance 
with the existing planning approvals. The main reasons for the increases in costs 
are detailed in para 8.5, Table 4. 

3.2. The project team and contractor have considered a number of radical options to 
reduce the capital costs. Some have already been included but others have not 
since they would have resulted in fewer and/or smaller sports facilities which, in 
turn, would have a detrimental impact on the operational revenue benefits of the 
centre and also the quality of the facility that residents and users expect. They 
have also considered alternative, cheaper materials for construction; however 
these have not been included due to lifecycle costs, anticipated wear and tear, 
potential for increased revenue costs and due to planning approval requirements.

3.3. The design and facility mix being proposed to be taken forward, subject to the 
approval of CIL funding, is the planning approved design with changes to the 
internal layout and some ‘non material’ amendments to the planning approval 
which, when combined, provides the greatest facility mix and has the potential to 
provide the largest revenue benefit. It does result in an increase in capital cost to 
the project of £2.708m. The facilities that the Council intends to provide, based on 
the public’s priority order, comprise of:  

 Café

Page 268



 13m x 15m smaller pool with moveable floor  with flexibility for a range of water 
based activities and suitable for diving

 6 lane x  25m swimming pool 

 3 x Changing rooms - male, female and family/group

 Large studio / community room

 Spectator seating overlooking the main pool

 100 station health and fitness facility

 Alternative roof structure (Appendix 1)

 The 4 badminton court sports hall is not included at this stage.
3.4. Pellikaan Construction Ltd was procured through an OJEU, Two Stage Design 

and Build process. In the first stage, preliminaries, overheads and profit were 
agreed and a pre-construction services agreement (PCSA) contract awarded by 
Cabinet on 18 May 2016. In the second stage, the works are tendered with the 
contractor’s supply chain on an open book* basis in order to agree a price as fixed 
as is possible for delivery of the works.  (*Open book – when parties have adopted 
a transparent approach on the figures which make up the contract sums).

3.5. Pellikaan have agreed to submit a Second Stage Tender price prior to tendering 
the works with their supply chain, hence, provided no changes are made to the 
scope and Pellikaan encounters no unexpected contractual Relevant Matters (NB 
– they have agreed to try to avoid any increase to the Final Price), this is likely to 
be the maximum price for the works. In the event that the overall tendering of the 
works results in a price lower than the Second Stage Tender Price, this will 
represent a saving to the Council’s project fund.

3.6. Providing the request for CIL funding is approved, the award of the construction 
contract to Pellikaan will be carried out as a Key Decision in accordance with the 
Cabinet approval given on 18th May 2016
“… C. Delegate to the Director of Environment & Regeneration, in consultation 

with the Lead Member, the authority to finalise the award following the 
planning approval …”1

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)
3.7. Merton’s CIL charging schedule started in April 2014. In November 2014 the 

Council consulted on what CIL could be spent on (known as the draft Regulation 
123 list). 

3.8. In 2016 and 2017 officers reviewed the 2014 consultation results and the projects 
to ensure they are still timely. This publication of this listing will come forward for 
councillor approval in the coming months. 

3.9. As at March 2017, the MLC project was identified by officers (taking account of 
the consultation outcomes) as being considered an immediate high priority for the 
allocation of CIL funding.  The key reasons for this are:

 It is a key infrastructure project that aligns with the priorities set out in 
Merton’s infrastructure planning list set out in the Council’s adopted Core 
Strategy as needed to support the development of the area, and Regulation 
123 list

Page 269



 It is a large strategic infrastructure project, this being the type of project that 
has been identified as good practice for the allocation of CIL

 It is approved for delivery by Council, considerably advanced and requires 
funding during 2017-18.  In addition to this, the Greater London Authority 
(GLA) stated in their consultation response to the 2016 planning permission 
for the project that the GLA could support Morden Leisure Centre as it was a 
necessary piece of key infrastructure to support the new residential 
development coming forward in Morden town centre.

4 PROCUREMENT
4.1. Following approvals by Merton’s Procurement Board, a restricted two-stage OJEU 

compliant procurement procedure was employed whereby the OJEU notice was 
published on 11 December 2015.

4.2. The tendering process was carried out in accordance with the Council’s Standing 
Orders and in accordance with the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 and the EU 
Procurement Directive 2014/24/EC. 

4.3. The tender was managed via the Council’s web based Electronic Tendering 
System, Pro-Contract.  The exercise was carried out and supported throughout by 
the Corporate Procurement Team to ensure a robust approach that adopted good 
practice. Advice and expertise was also provided by the Project Management 
Company, Currie & Brown UK Ltd (formerly Sweett UK Ltd) and lawyers, Blake 
Morgan LLP when requested to do so.

4.4. Following the Cabinet decision on the 18 May 2016 the Council entered into a 
Pre-Construction Services Agreement with Pellikaan and the Stage 2 
Procurement Process commenced. During this stage the sub-contractors were 
engaged by the main contractor, value engineering took place, and the final 
construction details are now being finalised.  

5 OPTIONS
5.1. Three funding options have been considered:

Table 1 – Funding Options

Funding Option Impact Recommendation

(a) Approve CIL 
funding request

Build a new Morden Leisure 
Centre with facility mix 

identified in paragraph 3.3
Recommended

(b)

Not approve CIL 
funding but 

consider additional 
borrowing from 

Council’s capital 
programme

Additional cost of borrowing to 
fund the proposed additional 

costs is summarised in Table 9, 
para 8.21.

Not recommended
Merton has collected c. £5m of 

strategic CIL; has consulted on a 
draft list of projects; this is a 

priority project; better for Merton’s 
financial management and 

reputation to allocate strategic CIL

(c) Not approve CIL 
funding

Do not build a new Morden 
Leisure Centre. Operate 

existing Morden Park Pools 
until it fails and at that time let a 

Not recommended 
All demolition costs would be a 

one-off revenue cost to be borne 

Page 270



demolition contract, demolish 
building and landscape the site

in one financial year. Loss of 
community leisure facility

NB None of the options include the sports hall and spinning studio as the inclusion of these would increase 
costs further.

6 CONSULTATION UNDERTAKEN OR PROPOSED
6.1. In November 2014 Merton Council consulted on Strategic CIL in line with 

Government regulations and received 123 responses. 
http://www.merton.gov.uk/merton_s_strategic_infrastructure_questionnaire_oct14.pdf

6.2. Since Cabinet’s approval to award the MLC pre-construction services agreement 
contract, further public consultation has taken place as part of the formal planning 
application process and was reported at the Planning Committee on 16 June 
2016.  

6.3. Meetings with Morden Park Playing Fields Community Trust (MPPFCT) occur 
every eight weeks to progress both this and their proposed project for the adjacent 
land.  A meeting with the committee of the Morden Park Playing Fields 
Association and attendance at their AGM to explain the project and some of the 
ecological issues has also been undertaken.

6.4. An officer has also attended Morden Area Forums to keep the community updated 
and provided verbal updates at all Sustainable Communities & Transport Scrutiny 
meetings until they advised that such updates were no longer required.

6.5. Newsletters and press releases have been published whenever there have been 
newsworthy items.  

7 TIMETABLE
7.1. There has been a delay against the original construction timetable initially caused 

by the finding of Great Crested Newts (GCNs) in a pond within Morden Park and 
in the proximity of the site of the new Morden Leisure Centre.  GCNs are a 
protected species and once found requires an EU licence to be gained against a 
detailed mitigation plan, which fully takes account of the actions this project will 
need to take to protect the species and give due regard to their habitat and life-
cycle.

7.2. Whilst this work was being progressed the project team took extra time to work 
with the contractor to conclude the Pre-Construction Services Agreement (PCSA), 
and to develop alternative options for consideration.  The project team also 
procured further specialist surveys to feed into the design and to develop the 
plans.  Other work was undertaken towards discharging planning conditions in 
readiness for starting on site.

7.3. During this time it became clear that the project budget was insufficient to be able 
to deliver everything that this project expected and thus time has been taken to 
value engineer the design as much as possible as well as considering more 
radical facility reduction options to reduce capital costs.

7.4. All of these matters have delayed the project.  The new timetable for construction 
of the Morden Leisure Centre is as follows:

Page 271

http://www.merton.gov.uk/merton_s_strategic_infrastructure_questionnaire_oct14.pdf


Table 2 – Timetable for Construction of Morden Leisure Centre

Activity Date

Full Council 12 Apr 2017

Discharge of planning conditions April/May 2017

Contractual arrangements in place May/June 2017

Site set-up June 2017

Construction works commences Early July 2017

Completion Aug 2018

Operator Mobilisation Period Aug 2018

Opening  of Morden Leisure Centre to public Sept 2018

Demolition of Morden Park Pools commences Oct  2018

8 FINANCIAL, RESOURCE AND PROPERTY IMPLICATIONS
CAPITAL 

8.1. A capital budget of £11m was agreed as part of the Council’s Capital programme 
on 3 March 2010.  It should be noted that this amount was based on soft market 
testing of the Sport England Affordable Leisure Centres models which were at that 
time being developed to specify low-cost, high quality model community sports 
facilities. So far the following sums have been spent on the scheme:
Table 3 – Budget Spent to Date

Year £

2014-15 24,316

2015-16 507,723

2016-17     
(Up to 31/01/17) 370,969

Total 903,008

8.2. The budget, when originally set, was considered to be sufficient to replace the 
existing Morden Park Pools (MPP) (minus the FF&E) with a new family friendly 
Morden Leisure Centre (MLC) and to demolish the existing MPP.  The Sport 
England indicative prices on which the MLC project was based included a number 
of assumptions, which have proved not to be applicable in our case.  All of these 
have contributed to increased costs, including: 

Page 272



 A green field site with no abnormal ground conditions - Morden Park 
substructure is London Clay with a relatively high water table and is a site of 
archaeological interest  

 External works included as a notional allowance – heritage area with many 
ecological restrictions including Great Crested Newts, natural grassland and 
tree protections, etc.

 Drainage beyond the building footprint is site dependent and included within 
the notional external works allowance – the drainage beyond the site 
boundaries are in poor condition and need to be replaced as part of this 
project in order to be appropriate for this project

 Incoming services assessed as a notional value, assuming availability from 
existing infrastructure – the new centre location does not have any existing 
incoming services within the vicinity hence the notional value to connect up to 
is not sufficient for the particular circumstances of this project.

8.3. The furniture, fixtures and equipment (FF&E) would ordinarily be funded by the 
centre operator (GLL) and therefore these costs were not included in the original 
£11m budget.   In January 2017 GLL advised that they did not have capital to 
invest at this time.   Had GLL been able to invest capital it would have resulted in 
reduced revenue to the Council and poorer value for money over time.  The cost 
of FF&E is £573,000, and this amount is part of the £2.708m requested from CIL.

8.4. The car charging points are required as part of a Government directive.  In order 
to meet London Plan objectives, the Mayor of London / GLA has made this a 
requirement of the MLC planning permission.

8.5. Earlier assumptions were valid at the time that they were considered, but costs 
have increased and Table 4 provides the value of those increases and the 
reasons behind them.
Table 4 - Reasons for Increased Costs 

Item Cost               
£

Initial Project Budget –         
Anticipated Costs

£11.000m

Extra Costs Reasons
1. Add Furniture, Fixtures & 

Equipment (FF&E)
£0.573m This cost has never been part of the £11m capital 

budget and it is now appropriate to be funded from 
capital

2. Increased allocation to 
fees

£0.300m Includes increased costs for reports, surveys, 
assessments, specialist professional fees on a 
range of aspects required in delivery of this project, 
including:
Topographical; Ecological; Pool Filtration; Drainage; 
Flood Risks; Planning - MOL; Archaeological; 
Heritage; Geo-technical; etc. 

3. Increased building area £0.118m The building had to be increased in size in order to 
maximise the higher income generating areas on 
the upper floor and provide improved room space 
on ground floor. This was included prior to planning 
approval. This figure also includes an inflation 

Page 273



adjustment.

4. Increased scope of work 
to car park charging

£0.270m This includes allowance for a separate substation 
to the car park, external car park lighting, car 
charging points and associated infrastructure

5. Repairs to local drain 
infrastructure

£0.038m The surface water drainage system in the (council 
owned) access road was discovered to be in a poor 
condition and not suitable for the drainage needs of 
the new leisure centre. Repairs/replacement is 
therefore required.

Total Cost Plan -         
Stage 4

£12.299m

6. Pellikaan Second Stage 
Tender Cost Plan increase

Figure 1 in 
exempt 

appendix 2

Including :

Increased costs on construction methods due to 
detailed findings from the land surveys and the 
resultant construction methods that are required to 
build swimming pools.  

Diving pool construction methodology requiring 
sheet piling.

Packaging of the works i.e. pool tank, filtration and 
finishes all as one package versus smaller 
packages of works - being revisited in final tenders

External works are estimated at a high cost. 
Reasons include: planning requirements, the 
historical and heritage nature of the site; ecological 
habitats within this location and the surrounding 
areas; etc.

Replacement of existing drainage infrastructure as 
it is not of a sufficient quality, size and standard to 
support the new MLC.

Provision of new utility supplies and services to 
support the new building as there are no existing 
services to link into within the existing vicinity. 

Increased costs of materials e.g. steel, requirement 
to use wood and glass rather than cheaper 
construction materials – as required by the 
planning committee

This is further exacerbated by the economic climate 
particularly in the leisure centre construction 
market, which is currently very buoyant. Some of 
the specialist packages of work are only provided 
by a small number of sub-contractors, hence prices 
remain high.

Includes a reduction of £340k for an alternative roof 
design, which will be the subject of a ‘non-material 
change’ application to Planning.

7. Removal of spoil from site 
and ground conditions– 
previously assumed all 
would be retained

£0.055m The previous assumption was that all material 
would be retained on site in mounds or used as 
infill to the existing pool after demolition. 

Total Forecast Project Cost: Figure 2 in exempt Appendix 2

Page 274



8.6. The project team have significant experience within the leisure and construction 
markets.  The team are engaged in other projects across the country that have 
either experienced similar scenarios to the cost scenario that Merton currently 
finds itself in. 

8.7. Examples where leisure centres have cost more than originally intended include: 

Table 5 – Leisure Centre Cost Overruns

8.8.  The project team and contractors have considered a number of radical options to 
reduce the capital costs and also considered the risks and the impact on future 
revenue. Table 6 details the build and not to build options, whilst Table 7 identifies 
the risks and Table 8 the revenue impacts. All need to be considered in the round 
to gain a holistic view of the project.

Table 6 – Facilities Options 
This Table contains exempt information and has therefore been moved to an 
exempt Appendix (Appendix 2)

Leisure Centre Locality
Down Leisure Centre Newry, Mourne & Down Council

Fleming Park Leisure Centre Eastleigh, Hampshire CC

Letchworth Leisure Centre (extension) North Herts District Council

Stone Leisure Centre Stafford BC

St. Sidwell’s Point Exeter Council

Tenby Leisure Centre (Refurbishment), Pembrokeshire CC

Woodford Leisure Centre Hull City Council

Waltham Forest Leisure Centre LB Waltham Forest

Page 275



Table 7 – Summary of Risks
Option Planning Financial – Capital Financial – Revenue Reputational

Recommended - Option A1

A
LOW

(outstanding conditions only)

HIGH

(significantly above the 
current project budget)

LOW

(optimum scheme for 
revenue position)

LOW 

(fully meets public 
expectations)                 

1*

MEDIUM

(is not as approved roof 
design, but informal planning 
advice is that an application 

for some ‘non-material 
changes’ will be required but  

that it is unlikely to be 
sufficiently material enough 
to require a new planning 

permission)

LOW    

(produces a saving against 
the capital costs)

LOW

(little impact on revenue 
subject to health & fitness & 
other useable floor areas as 
original size, however there 

may be energy saving 
efficiencies of a lower height 

pool hall)

 MEDIUM

(is a change to the visual 
impact of the roof and an  
internal mezzanine floor 

over the café – but 
neither detract 

significantly from original 
plans)

Not Recommended - Option B

B

LOW                    

(outstanding conditions only 
for demolition and land re-

instatement)

LOW                        

(Demolition could not be 
capitalised as no new 

leisure facility, hence all 
costs would be revenue)

                 HIGH

  (all of the project capital 
currently spent on the project 

c. £1m would become 
revenue and the cost of 
demolishing separately 

would also be revenue as it 
is no longer linked to the re-

development scheme)

HIGH

(complete loss of leisure 
facility is likely to cause 
public petitions, whilst it 

would put increased 
pressure on other 

facilities to meet school 
swimming curriculum 

requirements)

* There is a risk that planning do not approve the roof design when the formal request is made and this could result in an additional 
project cost.

8.9. This table does not consider other non-financial, non-reputational risks such as:

 being unable to deliver sufficient curriculum swimming (statutory requirement 
for local schools)

 levels of participation in physical activity
 health and well-being benefits
 user and resident satisfaction, etc.

8.10. There is a financial risk that the current demolition costs are insufficient.  These 
costs have been based on benchmark costs for similar works. It is recognised that 
there is risk to this sum in the event that asbestos contamination is significant. 
This is noted as a key risk on the risk register and any additional costs that are 
incurred here will need to be funded.  It is currently intended that this would have 
to be by the overall project contingency allowance, held by the client, however the 
project team are currently getting demolition companies to provide indicative 
prices. 

8.11. The contractors are now carrying out open-book tendering of the works packages 
with the project team in order to produce a final price, which will be as fixed as is 
possible at this stage upon the information available for the Morden Leisure 
Centre construction and associated works ("the Final Price").  The intention is that 

Page 276



this Final Price will be no greater than the Second Stage Tender Price included in 
this report. 

8.12. The Second Stage Tender Price submitted by Pellikaan combined with additional 
project costs, inflation and other economic reasons has resulted in an increase in 
total project costs of up to £2.708m.  

8.13. Once the contract has been entered into, changes will only be those that are 
essential to the success of the project.  These will be issued through a change 
order regime once costs are known and deemed affordable within the budgets 
available. A suitable contingency sum has been set aside for this purpose, which 
will be held and managed by the client team during the construction period to 
account for any essential changes required.

8.14. External funding opportunities have already been explored without success.  The 
options to meet the capital shortfall are there for either additional borrowing and/or 
to use some of the Council’s CIL for this project.

8.15. Further project savings could be made if the Council were able to allocate other 
Council capital spend to deliver in support of this project – should that be 
appropriate e.g. charging points, tree planting, photo-voltaic installation, etc.  
However, the total cost would still be one for the Council as a whole.
REVENUE

8.16. The operational contract is required to generate efficiencies of £100k, which are 
already agreed as part of the Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy 2015/18, 
to take effect from April 2018.  This would reduce the net revenue surplus 
available for further borrowing against the capital shortfall. The potential revenue 
surpluses in Table 8 take account of this £100k savings requirement.

8.17. The operation of the centre will be by Greenwich Leisure Limited (GLL).  When 
the last leisure centre contract was let it allowed for the closure of Morden Park 
Pools and for the operation of a replacement leisure centre.  Once the scope of 
the new facility was decided and planning permission gained, the Council has 
been able to work with GLL so that they could prepare a revised Leisure 
Operators Base Trading Account (LOBTA).   

8.18. GLL has provided a number of indicative options for a new LOBTA, all of which 
produce further savings when compared to the current cost of the service.  The 
figures shown represent an average annual revenue saving against the current 
budget 2016/17.  The figures do not take account of the £100k savings already 
agreed as part of the council’s MTFS due to come out in 2018/19.  (NB These 
figures are also still the subject of negotiation).
Table 8 – Revenue Implications 
This Table contains exempt information and has therefore been moved to an 
exempt Appendix (Appendix 2)
 

8.19. This paragraph contains exempt information and has therefore been moved to an 
exempt Appendix (Appendix 2)

8.20. There would also be a one-off revenue sum equivalent to the total capital project 
costs currently expended plus any project liabilities still due, since this expenditure 

Page 277



could no longer be capitalised.  This figure would be in excess of £900k, which is 
not budgeted for.  

8.21. All demolition costs would be a revenue cost (all borne in one financial year) as 
these costs would no longer be linked to a re-provision and therefore cannot be 
capitalised. 

8.22. This paragraph contains exempt information and has therefore been moved to an 
exempt Appendix (Appendix 2).

8.23. Should the Council wish to consider additional borrowing rather than CIL, the 
additional cost of borrowing to fund the proposed additional costs is summarised 
in the table below (all figures in this table are £’000s):

Table 9 – Additional Costs of Borrowing

External Interest Rate Used in the Model Maximum  Per £1 
Million

 £ £
Estimated Additional Cost 2.708  1,000
  
Financing Costs p.a.  
   MRP @ 29.3 years 93 34
   External Interest in Model @ 2.0%* 54 20
Total 147 54
*  PWLB rates on 28-02-17 and the equal instalment rate is 2.58% for a repayment over 29.3 

years

8.24. Utilisation of CIL would reduce the annual impact on revenue (debt charges) by 
removing the MRP element of costs. It is envisaged that there would be an 
opportunity cost in respect of interest as Merton’s balances are utilised to 
generate interest. 

8.25. The life of a new leisure facility should be expected to be 50-60 years.
PROPERTY

8.26. None for the purposes of this report.
FUNDING

8.27. The initial costs of the scheme of £11 million will be met from borrowing. 
8.28. This report requests additional funding towards the MLC project of £2.708m from 

the CIL strategic infrastructure fund.

9 LEGAL AND STATUTORY IMPLICATIONS
Morden Leisure Centre (MLC)

9.1. The procurement process has been undertaken in accordance with the Council’s 
Contract Standing Orders, the Council’s Procurement Strategy, the Public 
Contracts Regulations 2015 and the EU Procurement Directive 2014/24/EC.

Page 278



9.2. The Pre Construction Services Agreement (PCSA) has been entered into with 
Pellikaan Construction Ltd. and the main construction contract will be progressed 
following the final agreement to the contract sum, centre design and final scope of 
services to be included.

9.3. Blake Morgan has been appointed to provide legal advice in response to specific 
queries raised by the Council's project management team.  Blake Morgan has 
provided advice and assistance in response to such specific requirements 
throughout the tendering process. 
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)

9.4. Under Regulation 59 of the CIL Regulations and government guidance strategic 
CIL (80% of local authority CIL received) is to be spent on “infrastructure to 
support the development of its area”.  

9.5. For the purposes of spending CIL “infrastructure” is defined under Section 216 of 
the Planning Act 2008 as amended by Regulation 63 of the Community 
Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended) (CIL Regulations) as 
including:

“ (a) roads and other transport facilities,
(b) flood defences,
(c) schools and other educational facilities,
(d) medical facilities,
(e) sporting and recreational facilities, and
(f) open spaces”2

9.6. Regulation 123 of the CIL Regulations states that CIL charging authorities, like 
Merton Council must do the following:

 base their CIL charge on the strategic infrastructure projects that it may fund 
through CIL: in Merton, this list is found in Merton Core Planning Strategy 
2011 (see table 27.2 – Infrastructure).  

 and, publish this in a “Regulation 123 list” to state which projects or types of 
infrastructure that it may fund through CIL.  In Merton, this Regulation 123 list 
is found on Merton’s website here: 
http://www.merton.gov.uk/regulation_123_list_version_1-2.pdf 

9.7. Publication of the Regulation 123 list is not a statement that all of the projects will 
be put forward for funding or of the funding priorities, at any particular time.

9.8. This proposal has been identified within the infrastructure projects list set out in 
the Merton’s adopted Core Strategy (table 27.2) as necessary to support the 
development of the borough, so accords with Regulation 59 of the CIL 
Regulations, which states that charging authorities must apply CIL to funding 
infrastructure to support the development of its area.

9.9. Regulation 60 (1) permits the application of CIL to reimburse expenditure already 
incurred on infrastructure so CIL may be spent on expenditure already incurred 
upon the Morden Leisure Centre project.

9.10. With the absence of a Secretary of State direction permitting a percentage of CIL 
to be spent on repayment of loans, Regulation 60 (2) does not currently permit 

Page 279

http://www.merton.gov.uk/regulation_123_list_version_1-2.pdf


such expenditure, should that be sought with respect of the Morden Leisure 
Centre project.

10 HUMAN RIGHTS, EQUALITIES AND COMMUNITY COHESION IMPLICATIONS
10.1. There are not expected to be any human rights implications.
10.2. The design and technical team have been required to design a facility that is not 

only Equality Act 2010 compliant but also designing in elements to make the 
facilities easy to use and appealing from a family friendly and inclusivity 
perspective. 

10.3. The facility is designed to be open and welcoming to all, recognising personal 
preferences and accommodating for those in a respectful and appropriate way so 
as to create a place where all people can engage together in a community setting, 
harmoniously supporting the community cohesion of Merton.

11 CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS
11.1. During the design process the design team worked with the Metropolitan Police 

Officer with responsibility for designing out crime. The designs at RIBA Stage 3 
have met with their approval.

11.2. The openness of the exterior of the design creates a welcoming approach, whilst 
the interior leads to activity spaces with limited corridors and corners to dwell in.

11.3. CCTV coverage will be provided both internally and externally.

12 RISK MANAGEMENT AND HEALTH AND SAFETY IMPLICATIONS
12.1. Risk, assumptions, issues and dependencies are being actively managed as part 

of the programme.
12.2. Health and safety implications are paramount in such a construction contract and 

these are overseen on the projects behalf by the Principal Designer.
12.3. The contractor will be responsible for insurance and will be required to provide 

copies of their policies to the council as part of the contract, prior to any works 
commencing.

13 TABLES
13.1. Table 1 – Funding Options
13.2 Table 2 – Timetable for Construction of Morden Leisure Centre
13.3. Table 3 – Budget Spent To Date
13.4. Table 4 – Reasons for Increased Costs
13.5. Table 5 – Leisure Centre Cost Overruns
13.6. Table 6 – Facilities Options
13.7. Table 7 – Summary of Risks
13.8. Table 8 – Revenue Implications
13.9. Table 9 – Additional Costs of Borrowing

Page 280



14 APPENDICES – THE FOLLOWING DOCUMENTS ARE TO BE PUBLISHED 
WITH THIS REPORT AND FORM PART OF THE REPORT

14.1. Appendix 1 – Alternative Roof Elevation
14.2    Appendix 2 (EXEMPT) – contains information that is exempt from publication by 

virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 
1972

15 BACKGROUND PAPERS
15.1. Morden Leisure Centre Project files
15.2. Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended)
15.3. Government’s Planning Practice Guidance on CIL
15.4. Merton’s Regulation 123 list 
15.5. Cabinet Report – Morden Leisure Centre, 10 November 2014
15.6. Cabinet Report – Morden Leisure Centre, 18 May 2016

16 REFERENCES
1.         Cabinet Report – Morden Leisure Centre, 18 May 2016
2. Section 216 of the Planning Act 2008 as amended by Regulation 63 of the 

Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended) (CIL Regulations)

Page 281

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/community-infrastructure-levy#regulation-123-infrastructure-list
http://www.merton.gov.uk/regulation_123_list_version_1-2.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 283

Agenda Item 20
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the previous meeting
	7b Strategic theme: Main report
	8 Report from Raynes Park Community Forum
	9 Report from Mitcham Community Forum
	10 Report from Wimbledon Community Forum
	12 Conservative Motion 1
	13 Equality Strategy 2017-21
	14 Local Authority Property Company
	LAPC Appendix Treasury Management
	LAPC Appendix 1
	LAPC Appendix 2
	LAPC Appendix 3
	LAPC Appendix 4

	15 Changes to membership of committees and related matters
	16 Petitions
	18 Morden Leisure Centre
	20 Morden Leisure Centre - Appendix 2

